In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Legislation some supporting forms may have been removed from this dissertation.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the dissertation.

# SAFETY STUDIES WITH PROTEOLYTIC *CLOSTRIDIUM* BOTULINUM IN HIGH-MOISTURE BAKERY PRODUCTS PACKAGED UNDER MODIFIED ATMOSPHERES

**Daphne Phillips** 

Department of Food Science and Agricultural Chemistry Macdonald Campus of McGill University, Montreal

November, 2002

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment for the requirements for the degree of Doctorate of Philosophy

copyright © Daphne Phillips 2002



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisisitons et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-612-88554-2 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-612-88554-2

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou aturement reproduits sans son autorisation.

# Canadä

Suggested short title:

--- .

C. botulinum in bakery products

#### FOREWORD

This thesis is written in a manuscript-based format. The first chapter consists of a general introduction and literature review of the theory and background information relevant to this topic. The following seven chapters and appendices A and B, each a complete manuscript, form the body of the thesis. The final chapter provides a general conclusion and summary. This thesis format has been approved by the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research of McGill University and follows the conditions outlined in the "Guidelines for Thesis Preparation", section C. "Manuscript-based thesis", which are: "1). Candidates have the option of including, as part of the thesis, the text of one or more papers submitted, or to be submitted, for publication, or the clearly-duplicated text (not the reprints) of one or more published papers. These texts must conform to the "Guidelines for Thesis Preparation" with respect to font size, line spacing and margin sizes and must be bound together as an integral part of the thesis (Reprints of published papers can be included in the appendices at the end of the thesis); 2) The thesis must be more than a collection of manuscripts. All components must be integrated into a cohesive unit with a logical progression from one chapter to the next. In order to ensure that the thesis has continuity, connecting texts that provide logical bridges between the different papers are mandatory; 3) The thesis must conform to all other requirements of the "Guidelines for Thesis Preparation" in addition to the manuscripts. The thesis must include the following: (a) a table of contents; (b)

iii

an abstract in English and French; (c) an introduction which clearly states the rationale and objectives of the research; (d) a comprehensive review of the literature (in addition to that covered in the introduction to each paper); (e) a final conclusion and summary; 4) As manuscripts for publication are frequently very concise documents, where appropriate, additional material must be provided (e.g., in appendices) in sufficient detail to allow a clear and precise judgement to be made of the importance and originality of the research reported in the thesis; 5) In general, when co-authored papers are included in a thesis the candidate must have made a substantial contribution to all papers included in the thesis. In addition, the candidate is required to make an explicit statement in the thesis as to who contributed to such work and to what extent. This statement should appear in a single section entitled: "Contributions of Authors" as a preface to the thesis. The supervisor must attest to the accuracy of this statement at the doctoral oral defence. Since the task of the examiners is made more difficult in these cases, it is in the candidate's interest to clearly specify the responsibilities of all the authors and the co-authors of the co-authored papers."

While the work described in this thesis is the sole responsibility of the candidate, the research project was supervised by Dr. James P. Smith of the Department of Food Science and Agricultural Chemistry, Macdonald Campus of McGill University as principal supervisor and by Dr. John W. Austin of the Bureau of Microbial Hazards of the Food Directorate of the Health Products and Food Branch of Health Canada as co-supervisor.

iv

#### ABSTRACT

Initial challenge studies with spores of proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum* types A and B (~10<sup>4</sup> spores/g) showed that while air- and gas-packaged English-style crumpets (a<sub>w</sub> 0.990) and pizza crust (a<sub>w</sub> 0.960) were toxic after 42-days storage at ambient temperature (25°C), no neurotoxin was detected in bagels (a<sub>w</sub> 0.944). Further challenge studies with similarly packaged crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum* (~10<sup>2</sup> spores/g), pre- or post-baking, demonstrated that all crumpets were toxic within 4 to 6 days at 25°C and that toxigenesis preceded spoilage. Furthermore, reformulating crumpets to pH 8.3 and packaging in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> had little effect in delaying the growth of *C. botulinum* compared to crumpets formulated to pH 6.5 and packaged in 60% CO<sub>2</sub>.

Subsequent studies were directed at determining the levels of additional barriers that could be used to ensure the safety of high-moisture MAP crumpets. While ethanol vapour proved to be an effective additional barrier in crumpets (100-g, [a<sub>w</sub> 0.990, pH 6.5]) challenged with ~10<sup>2</sup> spores/g of *C. botulinum*, spoilage preceded toxigenesis due to absorption of ethanol from the package headspace by crumpets. Modelling studies in Trypticase Peptone Glucose Yeast (TPGY) broth confirmed the anti-botulinal nature of ethanol and showed that a level of ~4% (vol/vol) could be used for complete inhibition of this pathogen, depending on the a<sub>w</sub> and pH of the growth medium. However, while ethanol vapour could be used to inhibit the growth of *C. botulinum* in high-moisture

V

crumpets, its anti-botulinal efficacy was influenced by the method of crumpet leavening (yeast *v* chemical).

Preliminary studies were also done to assess the potential of mastic oil, a novel inhibitor, against *C. botulinum*. While direct and indirect application of ethanolic extracts of mastic oil inhibited the growth of *C. botulinum in vivo*, they failed to do so in crumpets.

#### RÉSUMÉ

Les études initiales portant sur la souche protéolytique de *Clostridium* botulinum de type A et B (~10<sup>4</sup> spores/g) ont démontré que contrairement aux crumpets de style anglais (a<sub>w</sub> 0.990) et aux croûtes de pizza (a<sub>w</sub> 0.960) emballées avec de l'air ou sous atmosphère controllée, qui étaient toxiques après 42 jours de rangement à température ambiante, aucune toxine n'était détectée dans les bagels (a<sub>w</sub> 0.944). Des études subséquentes effectuées avec des crumpets pré- ou post-cuisson inoculés avec *C.botulinum* (~10<sup>2</sup> spores/g) emballés sous conditions similaires ont démontré que tous les crumpets devenaient toxiques en 4 à 6 jours à 25°C et que la toxigénèse précédait la déterioration. Qui plus est, la reformulation des crumpets pour obtenir un pH de 8.3 de même que leur emballage sous atmosphère 100% CO<sub>2</sub> eurent peu d'effet pour ce qui est de retarder la croissance de *C. botulinum* si on la compare avec les crumpets reformulés afin d'obtenir un pH de 6.5 et emballés sous atmosphère contenant 60% CO<sub>2</sub>.

Des études subséquentes furent entamées afin de déterminer les niveaux de barrières additionnelles nécessaires afin d'assurer la consommation sécuritaire des crumpets emballés sous atmosphère controllée. Alors que la vapeur d'éthanol s'avèra être une barrière additionnelle de grande efficacité pour les crumpets (100-g, [aw 0.990, pH 6.5]) soumis à une inoculation aux environs de 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g de *C. botulinum*, la déterioration précéda la toxigénèse à cause de l'absorption de l'éthanol présent dans l'espace d'emballage résiduel

Vİİ

par les crumpets. Des études modelisées dans du bouillon de Levure de Glucose Tryptique Peptoné (TPGY) ont confirmé la nature anti-botulinale de l'éthanol et démontré qu'un niveau d'environ 4% (vol/vol) pourrait être utilisé pour obtenir une inhibition complète de ce pathogène, tout dépendamment de l'a<sub>w</sub> et du pH du milieu de croissance. Cependant, alors que la vapeur d'éthanol pourrait être mise à profit pour inhiber la croissance de *C. botulinum* dans les crumpets à haut niveau d'humidité, son efficacité anti-botulinale se trouve influencée par la méthode utilisée pour faire lever les crumpets (levure v chimique).

Des études préliminaires furent aussi faites pour évaluer le potentiel de l'huile de mastic, un nouvel inhibiteur, envers *C. botulinum*. Alors que l'application directe et indirecte d'extraits éthanoliques d'huile de mastic résulta en l'inhibition de la croissance de *C. botulinum in vivo*, elle échoua à obtenir le même résultat avec les crumpets.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Although I was solely responsible for the work presented in this thesis, this project was greatly facilitated by the tremendous physical, emotional and financial support which was generously offered to me by many-for which I am sincerely grateful.

Drs. Jim Smith and John Austin, as co-supervisors, have given endless support and encouragement, and have provided constant direction and insight throughout this study. I thank them both for their kind patience, humour and friendship, in addition to providing a supportive atmosphere that greatly facilitated learning and allowed this project to develop and unfold.

Invaluable technical advice and assistance were contributed by Mrs. Ilsemarie Tarte and Mr. Bernard Cayouette as well as by Mr. Burke Blanchfield, Mr. Greg Sanders, and Ms. Brigitte Cadieux of Health Canada. I thank them all for their warm friendship and for giving so freely of their time. My appreciation is also extended to the many at McGill, especially Sameer Al-Zenki, Wassim El-Khoury, John Koukoutsis, Barbara Butler, and Sharon Rutherford who have offered constant support and friendship. Sincere thanks to Bernard Cayouette for translating the abstract and to Julie Smith for assisting with proof-reading.

I am also grateful for the support and direction that I have received from the members of my thesis defence committee: Drs. Inteaz Alli, John Austin, Ashraf Ismail, Jim Smith, and Fred van de Voort.

ix

Financial support, provided as scholarships by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, Institute of Food Technologists, Canadian Institute of Food Science and Technology and the Canadian Federation of University Women is gratefully acknowledged.

Finally, it cannot be overstated that this work would not have been possible without the unquestionable love of all those with whom I am fortunate to share my life. They have nurtured in me a desire to learn, believed in me, and unselfeshly have allowed me the freedom to pursue these studies. I return their love.

## CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS OF MANUSCRIPTS AND PUBLICATIONS RESULTING FROM THIS WORK

- 1. Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, B. Cadieux, G. Sanders, and J. W. Austin. 2003. Challenge studies with proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum* in yeast- and chemical-leavened crumpets packaged under modified atmospheres. J. Food Safety. (submitted for publication).
- Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, B. Cadieux, G. Sanders, and J. W. Austin. 2003. Effect of ethanol on the growth of *Clostridium botulinum*. J. Food Prot. 66(3) (In press).
- Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, W. El-Khoury, A. A. El-Khoury, and J. Koukoutsis. 2003. Shelf life and safety concerns of minimally processed bakery products. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutrit. (In press).
- Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, and W. El-Khoury. 2003. Are minimally processed, high moisture bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres a botulism risk? International Food Information Services, Food Science Central, *FoodInfo Online Features* 6 January http://www.foodsciencecentral.com/library.html#ifis/11610.
- Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, W. El-Khoury, and J. W. Austin. 2002. Microbial safety of bakery products. pp. 3-33. *In* J. Novak, G. M. Sapers, and V. K. Junega (eds.). Safety of minimally processed foods. Technomic Publishing Co. Inc., Lancaster, PA.
- Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, W. El-Khoury, and J. Koutkousis. 2002. Food borne illnesses associated with bakery products. American Institute of Baking. Volume XXIV(4).

- Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, I. Tarte, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin.
   2000. Effect of ethanol vapor on growth and neurotoxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in a high moisture bakery product. J. Food Safety. 20:113-127.
- Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 1999. Effect of pH and CO<sub>2</sub> on growth of *Clostridium botulinum* in Englishstyle crumpets packaged under modified atmosphere. J. Food Prot. 62:1157-1161.
- 9. Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 1999. Challenge studies with *Clostridium botulinum* in bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres. Food Austral. 51:507-511.
- 10. Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 1999. Growth and neurotoxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in English-style crumpets packaged under modified atmospheres. J. Food Prot. 62:349-355.

The candidate, Daphne Phillips (Daifas), was primarily responsible for conducting all the research reported in these co-authored papers. However, Drs. Jim P. Smith and John W. Austin approved the research protocols and between them, edited all of the manuscripts. Burke Blanchfield assisted with preparation of spores of *C. botulinum* and sample inoculation, Brigitte Cadieux assisted in the preparation of growth curves while Greg Sanders processed micrographs of *C. botulinum*. All three of these co-authors also helped with the testing of samples for botulinum neurotoxin using the mouse bioassay. In addition,

Ilsemarie Tarte assisted with sample inoculation and the measuring of headspace ethanol. Finally, Jim Smith, Anis El-Khoury, John Koukoutsis, and Wassim El-Khoury contributed significantly to the review papers with sections relevant to their research areas (*B. cereus* and shelf-life extension of bakery products).

#### CLAIM OF ORIGINAL RESEARCH

This is the first comprehensive study that :

- Demonstrates the potential of high-moisture, MAP bakery products to support the growth of and neurotoxin production by proteolytic *C. botulinum* and justifies the need for additional barriers to enhance the safety of such packaged bakery products.
- 2. Models the combined effect of ethanol concentration, a<sub>w</sub> and pH on the probability of growth and neurotoxin production by proteolytic *C. botulinum* in broth studies and demonstrates that the inhibitory effect of ethanol is reversible.
- 3. Demonstrates the effectiveness of ethanol vapour generating sachets (Ethicap®) as potential additional barriers to the growth of and neurotoxin production by proteolytic *C. botulinum* in high-moisture crumpets and shows that the anti-botulinal efficacy of ethanol vapour is dependent on the method of crumpet leavening.
- 4. Demonstrates the strain-specific activity of mastic oil against proteolytic *C. botulinum* in media studies and the potential of mastic oil in combination with ethanol as vapour phase inhibitors against this pathogen.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Forewardiii
Abstract v
Résumé vii
Acknowledgements ix
Contributions of authors of manuscripts and publications resulting from this work
Claim of original research xiv
List of tables xxiv
List of figures xxvi
Contents of appendices xxix
List of tables in appendices
List of figures in appendices xxxi
Abbreviations used xxxii
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW
1.1 INTRODUCTION
1.2 LITERATURE REVIEW 6
1.2.1 Safety concerns in bakery products
1.2.2 Potential hazards associated with bakery products
1.2.2.1 Minimal processing
1.2.2.2 Hazardous products and/or ingredients
1.2.2.3 Storage conditions 12
1.2.2.4 Modified atmosphere packaging
1.2.2.5 Recent market trends
1.2.3 Causative agents of foodborne illness
1.2.3.1 Moulds
1.2.3.2 Viruses

	1.2.3.3 Bacteria	ĺ
1.2.4	Vegetatative pathogenic bacteria 21	
	1.2.4.1 Salmonella species 21	
	1.2.4.2 Staphylococcus aureus24	
	1.2.4.3 Listeria monocytogenes	,
1.2.5	Spore forming pathogenic bacteria	•
	1.2.5.1 <i>Bacillus cereus</i>	)
	1.2.5.2 Clostridium perfringens	•
1.2.6	Clostridium botulinum	)
1.2.7	Contamination of bakery ingredients and final baked products with proteolytic spores or vegetative cells of <i>C. botulinum</i>	;
	1.2.7.1 Flour	;
	1.2.7.2 Spices, herbs, fruits, and vegetables	)
	1.2.7.3 Other ingredients	•
	1.2.7.4 Final baked products	,
1.2.8	Effect of heat treatment on spore survival	,
1.2.9	Growth of and neurotoxin production by <i>C. botulinum</i> in modified-atmosphere-packaged bakery products	)
	1.2.9.1 Packaging conditions	)
	1.2.9.2 Substrate	•
1.2.10	Acceptability and consumption of products containing pre- formed botulinum neurotoxin	•
	1.2.10.1 Sensory and shelf-life studies	;
	1.2.10.2 Effect of heating on pre-formed neurotoxin	)
1.2.11	Measures to control growth of <i>C. botulinum</i>	)
	1.2.11.1 Water activity and pH 70	)
	1.2.11.2 Selected additional barriers to the growth of <i>C. botulinum</i>	,
	1.2.11.3 Potential novel barriers	

.

/

1.-

-

1.3 RESE	ARCH OBJECTIVES	79
Preface to chap	oter 2.0	81
2.0 CHALLEN HIGH-MC MODIFIE	NGE STUDIES WITH <i>CLOSTRIDIUM BOTULINUM</i> IN DISTURE BAKERY PRODUCTS PACKAGED UNDER D ATMOSPHERES	82
2.1 INTRO	DDUCTION	82
2.2 <b>M</b> ATE	RIAL AND METHODS	84
2.2.1	Bakery products	84
2.2.2	Water activity	85
2.2.3	Preparation of spore inoculum/sample inoculation	85
2.2.4	Packaging	86
2.2.5	Headspace gas	87
2.2.6	Sensory analysis	87
2.2.7	Enumeration of C. botulinum	88
2.2.8	Toxin assay	88
2.2.9	Changes in pH	89
2.2.10	Statistical analysis	90
2.3 RESU	ILTS AND DISCUSSION	91
2.3.1	Headspace gas	91
2.3.2	Sensory evaluation	93
2.3.3	Changes in pH	94
2.3.4	Growth and Neurotoxin Production by C. botulinum	95
2.4 CONC	CLUSION	101
Preface to chap	oter 3.0	102
3.0 GROWTH CLOSTRI	OF AND NEUROTOXIN PRODUCTION BY	
PACKAG	ED UNDER MODIFIED ATMOSPHERES	103
3.1 INTRO	DUCTION	103
3.2 MATE	RIALS AND METHODS	105

,---

\_\_\_\_

3.2.1	Crumpets	5
3.2.2	Preparation of spore inoculum/sample inoculation	5
3.2.3	Packaging	6
3.2.4	Headspace gas	7
3.2.5	Sensory analysis	8
3.2.6	Sampling of crumpets 10	8
3.2.7	Enumeration of <i>C. botulinum</i> 108	8
3.2.8	Neurotoxin assay	9
3.2.9	Changes in pH	0
3.2.10	Lethality of thermal process to spores of <i>C. botulinum</i>	0
3.2.11	Predicted time to toxigenesis	1
3.2.12	Statistical analysis	1
3.3 Result	s and Discussion	2
3.3.1	Time to toxicity studies: post-baking contamination	2
	3.3.1.1 Headspace gas composition	2
	3.3.1.2 Sensory analysis 114	4
	3.3.1.3 Changes in pH 11	6
	3.3.1.4 Enumeration of <i>C. botulinum</i>	6
	3.3.1.5 Neurotoxin assay 11	8
3.3.2	Time to toxicity studies: pre-baking contamination	1
	3.3.2.1 Enumeration of <i>C. botulinum</i>	1
	3.3.2.2 Neurotoxin assay 12	7
3.4 CONC	LUSION	8
Preface to chap	oter 4.0	0
4.0 EFFECT ( PRODUC STYLE CI	OF pH AND CO₂ ON GROWTH OF AND NEUROTOXIN TION BY <i>CLOSTRIDIUM BOTULINUM</i> IN ENGLISH- RUMPETS PACKAGED UNDER MODIFIED ATMOS-	
PHERES		1
4.1 INTRO	DDUCTION	1

 $\sim$ 

\_

4.2	MATE	RIALS AND METHODS	3
	4.2.1	Crumpets	3
	4.2.2	Preparation of spore inoculum and sample inoculation	3
	4.2.3	Packaging 134	1
	4.2.4	Headspace gas	5
	4.2.5	Sensory analysis	3
	4.2.6	Neurotoxin assay	3
	4.2.7	Changes in sample pH 137	7
	4.2.8	Statistical analysis	7
4.3	RESU	ILTS AND DISCUSSION	3
	4.3.1	Changes in carbon dioxide and pH 138	3
	4.3.2	Neurotoxin detection	)
	4.3.3	Sensory analysis	3
4.4	CONC	CLUSION	3
Preface	to cha	oter 5.0	9
5.0 EFF TOX	ECT ( KIN PR	OF ETHANOL VAPOUR ON GROWTH OF AND NEURO- RODUCTION BY CLOSTRIDIUM BOTULINUM IN A HIGH-	
MO	ISTUR	E BAKERY PRODUCT 150	)
5.1	INTRO	DDUCTION	)
5.2	MATE	RIALS AND METHODS	2
	5.2.1	Formulation of crumpets	2
	5.2.2	Preparation of spore inoculum/sample inoculation	2
	5.2.3	Packaging	3
	5.2.4	Headspace oxygen and carbon dioxide analysis	4
	5.2.5	Oxidation-reduction potential of crumpets	4
	5.2.6	Headspace ethanol	5
	5.2.7	Sensory analysis	3
	5.2.8	Neurotoxin assay	3

\_\_\_\_\_

Changes in sample pH157
Ethanol content of crumpets 158
I Statistical analysis
JLTS AND DISCUSSION 159
Changes in headspace oxygen, carbon dioxide and oxidation-reduction potential
Headspace ethanol analysis
Sensory evaluation
Neurotoxin detection
Changes in pH
Ethanol content of crumpets 170
CLUSION
<i>pter</i> 6.0
OF ETHANOL ON THE GROWTH OF CLOSTRIDIUM
ODUCTION
ERIALS AND METHODS 179
Growth curves
6.2.1.1 Cultures and growth conditions
6.2.1.2 Data treatment
Combined effect of ethanol, water activity and pH
6.2.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum and inoculation of TPGY broths
6.2.2.2 Data treatment
Transmission electron microscopy
Transmission electron microscopy184Nature of the effect of ethanol184
Transmission electron microscopy184Nature of the effect of ethanol184Detection of neurotoxin185
Transmission electron microscopy184Nature of the effect of ethanol184Detection of neurotoxin185JLTS AND DISCUSSION186

~ ~

	6.3.1.1 Neurotoxin production19	1
6.3.2	Combined effect of ethanol, water activity and pH	3
6.3.3	Effect of ethanol on cells	4
	6.3.3.1 Nature of the effect of ethanol	6
6.4 CON	CLUSION	8
Preface to cha	pter 7.0	0
7.0 CHALLEN BOTULIN PACKAGE	NGÉ STUDIES WITH PROTEOLYTIC <i>CLOSTRIDIUM UM</i> INYEAST-AND CHEMICALLY-LEAVENED CRUMPETS ED UNDER MODIFIED ATMOSPHERES	1
7.1 INTRO	DDUCTION	1
7.2 <b>M</b> ATE	RIALS AND METHODS	3
7.2.1	Preparation of crumpets	3
7.2.2	Preparation of spore inoculum and sample inoculation	4
	7.2.2.1 <i>C. botulinum</i>	4
	7.2.2.2 S. cerevisiae	5
7.2.3	Packaging	6
7.2.4	Headspace oxygen and carbon dioxide analysis	7
7.2.5	Headspace ethanol	7
7.2.6	Enumeration of C. botulinum	8
7.2.7	Enumeration of S. cerevisiae	9
7.2.8	Neurotoxin assay	9
7.2.9	Changes in sample pH 22	0
7.2.10	) Statistical analysis	0
7.3 RESU	LTS AND DISCUSSION	1
7.3.1	Challenge studies with non-sterile crumpets	1
	7.3.1.1 Changes in headspace oxygen and carbon dioxide 22	1
	7.3.1.2 Headspace ethanol	3
	7.3.1.3 Changes in pH	5

~~~

\_\_\_\_

 $\sim$ 

| 7.3.1.4 Growth of yeast 22                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 26                                                                                     |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 7.3.1.5 Growth of <i>C. botulinum</i>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 28                                                                                     |
| 7.3.1.6 Neurotoxin detection                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           | 32                                                                                     |
| 7.3.2 Challenge studies in sterile crumpets                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            | 35                                                                                     |
| 7.3.2.1 Changes in headspace oxygen and carbon dioxide 23                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              | 37                                                                                     |
| 7.3.2.2 Growth of S. cerevisiae                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 39                                                                                     |
| 7.3.2.3 Growth of <i>C. botulinum</i>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 41                                                                                     |
| 7.3.2.4 Neurotoxin detection                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           | 44                                                                                     |
| 7.4 CONCLUSION                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 49                                                                                     |
| Preface to chapter 8.0                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 | 51                                                                                     |
| 8.0 STUDIES ON THE ANTI-BOTULINAL ACTIVITY OF MASTIC                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | 52                                                                                     |
| 8.1 INTRODUCTION                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 52                                                                                     |
| 8.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              | 54                                                                                     |
|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | - 4                                                                                    |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    | 54                                                                                     |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    | 54<br>55                                                                               |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum       25         8.2.2 Mastic       25         8.2.3 Media studies       25                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        | 54<br>55<br>55                                                                         |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum       25         8.2.2 Mastic       25         8.2.3 Media studies       25         8.2.3.1 Spot on the lawn       25                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              | 54<br>55<br>55<br>55                                                                   |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum       25         8.2.2 Mastic       25         8.2.3 Media studies       25         8.2.3.1 Spot on the lawn       25         8.2.3.2 Microtiter assay       25                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    | 54<br>55<br>55<br>55<br>56                                                             |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum       25         8.2.2 Mastic       25         8.2.3 Media studies       25         8.2.3 Media studies       25         8.2.3.1 Spot on the lawn       25         8.2.3.2 Microtiter assay       25         8.2.3.3 Vapour-phase inhibition agar plate study       25                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 55<br>55<br>55<br>56<br>57                                                             |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum       25         8.2.2 Mastic       25         8.2.3 Media studies       25         8.2.3.1 Spot on the lawn       25         8.2.3.2 Microtiter assay       25         8.2.3.3 Vapour-phase inhibition agar plate study       25         8.2.4 Transmission electron microscopy       25                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            | 54<br>55<br>55<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58                                                 |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum       25         8.2.2 Mastic       25         8.2.3 Media studies       25         8.2.3 Media studies       25         8.2.3 Media studies       25         8.2.3.1 Spot on the lawn       25         8.2.3.2 Microtiter assay       25         8.2.3.3 Vapour-phase inhibition agar plate study       25         8.2.4 Transmission electron microscopy       25         8.2.5 Challenge study       25                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 54<br>55<br>55<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59                                           |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum       24         8.2.2 Mastic       25         8.2.3 Media studies       25         8.2.3 Media studies       25         8.2.3 Media studies       25         8.2.3.1 Spot on the lawn       25         8.2.3.2 Microtiter assay       25         8.2.3.3 Vapour-phase inhibition agar plate study       25         8.2.4 Transmission electron microscopy       25         8.2.5 Challenge study       25         8.2.5.1 Sample preparation, inoculation and packaging       25                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 54<br>55<br>55<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>59                                     |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum       24         8.2.2 Mastic       24         8.2.3 Media studies       24         8.2.3.1 Spot on the lawn       24         8.2.3.2 Microtiter assay       24         8.2.3.3 Vapour-phase inhibition agar plate study       24         8.2.4 Transmission electron microscopy       24         8.2.5 Challenge study       24         8.2.5.1 Sample preparation, inoculation and packaging       24         8.2.5.2 Detection of neurotoxin       24                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  | 54<br>55<br>55<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>59<br>59<br>60                         |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum       24         8.2.2 Mastic       24         8.2.3 Media studies       24         8.2.3.1 Spot on the lawn       25         8.2.3.2 Microtiter assay       25         8.2.3.3 Vapour-phase inhibition agar plate study       25         8.2.4 Transmission electron microscopy       25         8.2.5 Challenge study       25         8.2.5.1 Sample preparation, inoculation and packaging       25         8.2.5.2 Detection of neurotoxin       26         8.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       26                                                                                                                                                                                      | 54<br>55<br>55<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>59<br>60<br>62                         |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum       24         8.2.2 Mastic       24         8.2.3 Media studies       24         8.2.3.1 Spot on the lawn       24         8.2.3.2 Microtiter assay       24         8.2.3.3 Vapour-phase inhibition agar plate study       24         8.2.4 Transmission electron microscopy       24         8.2.5 Challenge study       24         8.2.5.1 Sample preparation, inoculation and packaging       24         8.2.5.2 Detection of neurotoxin       26         8.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       26         8.3.1 Preliminary Screening       26                                                                                                    | 54<br>55<br>55<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>59<br>59<br>60<br>62<br>62             |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum       24         8.2.2 Mastic       24         8.2.3 Media studies       24         8.2.3.1 Spot on the lawn       24         8.2.3.2 Microtiter assay       24         8.2.3.3 Vapour-phase inhibition agar plate study       24         8.2.4 Transmission electron microscopy       24         8.2.5 Challenge study       24         8.2.5.1 Sample preparation, inoculation and packaging       24         8.2.5.2 Detection of neurotoxin       26         8.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       26         8.3.1 Preliminary Screening       26         8.3.2 Effect of mastic oil on growth of <i>C. botulinum</i> 26                             | 54<br>55<br>55<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>59<br>60<br>62<br>62<br>62<br>65       |
| 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum       24         8.2.2 Mastic       24         8.2.3 Media studies       24         8.2.3 Microtiter assay       24         8.2.3.2 Microtiter assay       25         8.2.3.3 Vapour-phase inhibition agar plate study       25         8.2.4 Transmission electron microscopy       25         8.2.5 Challenge study       25         8.2.5.1 Sample preparation, inoculation and packaging       25         8.2.5.2 Detection of neurotoxin       26         8.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION       26         8.3.1 Preliminary Screening       26         8.3.2 Effect of mastic oil on growth of <i>C. botulinum</i> 26         8.3.3 Effect of mastic volatiles on <i>C. botulinum</i> 26 | 54<br>55<br>55<br>55<br>56<br>57<br>58<br>59<br>59<br>60<br>62<br>62<br>62<br>62<br>63 |

| 8.3.5 Challenge study 273                                                                                                  |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 8.3.5.1 Neurotoxin detection                                                                                               |
| 8.4 CONCLUSION                                                                                                             |
| 9.0 GENERAL CONCLUSION 278                                                                                                 |
| References                                                                                                                 |
| Appendix A Comparison of two selective media for enumeration of         C. botulinum in challenge studies         A-1      |
| Appendix B Comparison of two assay methods for detection of botulinum neurotoxin in challenge studies with bakery products |

100

## LIST OF TABLES

| 1.1.  | Thermal resistance of some specific bacteria    9                                                                                        |
|-------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 1.2.  | Water activity range of selected bakery products                                                                                         |
| 1.3.  | pH range of selected bakery products 11                                                                                                  |
| 1.4.  | Advantages and disadvantages of oxygen absorbents                                                                                        |
| 1.5.  | Advantages and disadvantages of gas packaging                                                                                            |
| 1.6.  | Minimum growth requirements of pathogenic bacteria                                                                                       |
| 1.7.  | Characteristics of Salmonella species                                                                                                    |
| 1.8.  | Characteristics of Staphylococcus aureus                                                                                                 |
| 1.9.  | Characteristics of Listeria monocytogenes                                                                                                |
| 1.10. | Characteristics of Bacillus cereus                                                                                                       |
| 1.11. | Characteristics of <i>Clostridium perfringens</i>                                                                                        |
| 1.12. | Characteristics by group of neurotoxigenic clostridia causing foodborne botulism                                                         |
| 1.13. | Comparison of methods to detect botulinum neurotoxin                                                                                     |
| 1.14. | Foods implicated in selected examples of botulism outbreaks                                                                              |
| 1.15. | Range of microbial counts in flours from fifty Canadian mills                                                                            |
| 1.16. | Typical gas mixtures used in gas-packaged bakery products                                                                                |
| 2.1.  | Summary of changes in bakery products inoculated with 5 x 10 <sup>4</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> after 42-days storage (25°C)      |
| 2.2.  | Neurotoxin detection in bakery products inoculated with 5 x 10 <sup>4</sup> spores/g<br><i>C. botulinum</i> after 42-days storage (25°C) |
| 3.1.  | Summary of sensory analysis of post-baking inoculated crumpets<br>after seven-days storage at 25°C                                       |
| 3.2.  | Time of neurotoxin detection in crumpets inoculated and stored at 25°C 119                                                               |
| 3.3.  | Summary of sensory analysis of pre-baking inoculated crumpets<br>after seven-days storage at 25°C                                        |

| Effect of pH and packaging atmosphere on sensory quality and toxicity of crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> and stored at 25°C                                                                                              | 142                                                                                                                                                   |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Neurotoxin detection in crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g<br><i>C. botulinum</i> packaged in 60% or 100% CO <sub>2</sub> and stored at 25°C                                                                                                    | 144                                                                                                                                                   |
| Neurotoxin detection and shelf-life in crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> , packaged in air with ethanol and stored at 25°C                                                                                                 | 167                                                                                                                                                   |
| Time of first neurotoxin detection in trypticase peptone glucose yeast<br>broth containing 0% to 4% (wt/wt) ethanol inoculated with<br>~ $10^4$ cells/mL proteolytic <i>C. botulinum</i> at 37°C                                                   | 192                                                                                                                                                   |
| Effect of combinations of ethanol, water activity and pH on probability of growth and neurotoxin production of <i>C. botulinum</i> (10 <sup>3</sup> spores/mL) in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 25°C                                   | 196                                                                                                                                                   |
| Neurotoxin detection in crumpets inoculated with $10^3$ spores/g<br>C. botulinum, packaged in air with ethanol vapour or CO <sub>2</sub> and stored at<br>25°C                                                                                     | 233                                                                                                                                                   |
| Neurotoxin detection in sterile crumpets inoculated with <i>C. botulinum</i> or co-inoculated with <i>C. botulinum</i> and <i>S. cerevisiae</i> , packaged in air with ethanol vapour or $CO_2$ and stored at 25°C                                 | 246                                                                                                                                                   |
| Effect of resinous mastic on <i>C. botulinum</i>                                                                                                                                                                                                   | 263                                                                                                                                                   |
| Inhibitory index of oil-of-mastic on strains of proteolytic C. botulinum                                                                                                                                                                           | 266                                                                                                                                                   |
| Detection of botulinum neurotoxin in crumpets containing mastic<br>oil or resin added pre- or post-baking, inoculated with 500 spores/g<br><i>C. botulinum</i> , packaged with an oxygen absorbent and stored at<br>25°C, after seven-days storage | 274                                                                                                                                                   |
|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    | Effect of pH and packaging atmosphere on sensory quality and toxicity of crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> and stored at 25°C |

## LIST OF FIGURES

| 1.1. | Schematic showing the principle of detection of BoNT using the mouse<br>bioassay: symptoms of botulism or death in duplicate mice injected with<br>sample and survival of duplicate mice with simultaneous injection of<br>sample and antisera to BoNT                            |
|------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 2.1. | Relationship between counts (log CFU/g) of <i>C. botulinum</i> in and water activity of bakery products (pH 5.6-6.0) inoculated with 5 x 10 <sup>4</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> and stored for 42 days at 25°C                                                              |
| 3.1. | Changes in headspace gas composition ( $O_2$ , $CO_2$ ) of crumpets<br>inoculated post-baking with 5 x 10 <sup>2</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> and<br>packaged in air, in air with an oxygen absorbent and in $CO_2 / N_2$<br>(60:40) and stored at 25°C                     |
| 3.2. | Counts (log CFU/g) of <i>C. botulinum</i> in control crumpets and crumpets inoculated post-baking with $5 \times 10^2$ spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> and packaged in air, in air with an oxygen absorbent, and in $CO_2:N_2$ (60:40) and stored at 25°C                            |
| 3.3. | Changes in headspace gas composition ( $O_2$ , $CO_2$ ) of crumpets<br>inoculated pre-baking with 5 x 10 <sup>2</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> and<br>packaged in air, in air with an oxygen absorbent and in $CO_2:N_2$<br>(60:40) and stored at 25°C                        |
| 3.4. | Counts (log CFU/g) of <i>C. botulinum</i> in control crumpets and<br>crumpets inoculated prebaking with $5 \times 10^2$ spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i><br>and packaged in air, in air with an oxygen absorbent and in CO <sub>2</sub> :N <sub>2</sub><br>(60:40) and stored at 25°C |
| 3.5. | Heat profile and total lethality of crumpets                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |
| 4.1. | Changes in headspace gas composition of crumpets at pH 6.5<br>and pH 8.3 inoculated with 500 spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> , packaged<br>in 60% CO <sub>2</sub> or in 100% CO <sub>2</sub> , and stored at 25°C                                                                    |
| 4.2. | Changes in pH of crumpets at pH 6.5 and pH 8.3 inoculated with 500 spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> , packaged in 60% CO <sub>2</sub> or in 100% CO <sub>2</sub> , and stored at 25°C                                                                                                 |
| 5.1. | Changes in headspace $O_2$ and $CO_2$ in crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> , packaged in air without ethanol or with 2-G, 4-G, or 6-G Ethicap <sup>®</sup> or 2 g, 4 g, 6 g ethanol and stored at 25°C 160                                                |
| 5.2. | Changes in oxidation-reduction potential of crumpets packaged without and with 6-G Ethicap <sup>®</sup> at 25°C                                                                                                                                                                   |

~ ~

| <ul> <li>6.1. Effect of %(wt/wt) ethanol on growth as measured by optical density at 600 nm and, viable cell density (CFU/mL) of a composite mixture of proteolytic <i>C. botulinum</i> in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 37°C</li></ul>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | 5.3. | Changes in headspace ethanol in crumpets inoculated with 500<br>spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> , packaged in air without ethanol, with 2-G,<br>4-G, 6-G Ethicap <sup>®</sup> or with 2 g, 4 g, 6 g ethanol and stored at 25°C                                                     | 35 |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| <ul> <li>6.2. First and second derivative plots of growth curves shown in Figure</li> <li>6.1. Maximum absolute growth rates and the end of the lag phases for composite mixture of <i>C. botulinum</i> grown in 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4% ethanol</li> <li>6.3. Level of ethanol (%[wt/wt]) predicted to completely inhibit growth of a mixture of proteolytic <i>C. botulinum</i> in tripticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 37°C</li> <li>6.4. Proportion of replicate tubes showing growth and neurotoxin production by 10<sup>3</sup> spores/mL <i>C. botulinum</i> for selected combinations of 4% (wt/wt) ethanol, a, and pH in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 25°C</li> <li>6.5. Effect of 0%, 2%, and 4% (wt/wt) ethanol on vegetative cells of <i>C. botulinum</i> in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 37°C</li> <li>7.1. Changes in headspace oxygen and headspace carbon dioxide in yeast-leavened and chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i>, packaged in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> or in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> and stored at 25°C</li> <li>7.2. Headspace ethanol in yeast-leavened or chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i>, packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> and stored at 25°C</li> <li>7.3. Average growth of yeasts (log CFU/g) in yeast-leavened and chemically-leavened and chemically-</li></ul> | 6.1. | Effect of %(wt/wt) ethanol on growth as measured by optical density<br>at 600 nm and, viable cell density (CFU/mL) of a composite mixture<br>of proteolytic <i>C. botulinum</i> in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth<br>at 37°C                                            | 87 |
| <ul> <li>6.3. Level of ethanol (%[wt/wt]) predicted to completely inhibit growth of a mixture of proteolytic <i>C. botulinum</i> in tripticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 37°C</li></ul>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          | 6.2. | First and second derivative plots of growth curves shown in Figure 6.1. Maximum absolute growth rates and the end of the lag phases for composite mixture of <i>C. botulinum</i> grown in 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4% ethanol                                                            | 88 |
| <ul> <li>6.4. Proportion of replicate tubes showing growth and neurotoxin production by 10<sup>3</sup> spores/mL <i>C. botulinum</i> for selected combinations of 4% (wt/wt) ethanol, a<sub>w</sub> and pH in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 25°C</li></ul>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                | 6.3. | Level of ethanol (%[wt/wt]) predicted to completely inhibit growth<br>of a mixture of proteolytic <i>C. botulinum</i> in tripticase peptone<br>glucose yeast broth at 37°C                                                                                                      | 90 |
| <ul> <li>6.5. Effect of 0%, 2%, and 4% (wt/wt) ethanol on vegetative cells of <i>C. botulinum</i> in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 37°C</li></ul>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 6.4. | Proportion of replicate tubes showing growth and neurotoxin production<br>by 10 <sup>3</sup> spores/mL <i>C. botulinum</i> for selected combinations of 4%<br>(wt/wt) ethanol, a <sub>w</sub> and pH in trypticase peptone glucose yeast<br>broth at 25°C                       | 01 |
| <ul> <li>7.1. Changes in headspace oxygen and headspace carbon dioxide<br/>in yeast-leavened and chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated<br/>with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i>, packaged in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> or in air<br/>with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> and stored at 25°C</li></ul>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                | 6.5. | Effect of 0%, 2%, and 4% (wt/wt) ethanol on vegetative cells of <i>C. botulinum</i> in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 37°C                                                                                                                                           | 05 |
| <ul> <li>7.2. Headspace ethanol in yeast-leavened or chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i>, packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> and stored at 25°C</li></ul>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    | 7.1. | Changes in headspace oxygen and headspace carbon dioxide<br>in yeast-leavened and chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated<br>with 10 <sup>3</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> , packaged in 100% CO <sub>2</sub> or in air<br>with 2-G Ethicap <sup>®</sup> and stored at 25°C | 22 |
| <ul> <li>7.3. Average growth of yeasts (log CFU/g) in yeast-leavened and chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated with10<sup>3</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i>, packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub></li></ul>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    | 7.2. | Headspace ethanol in yeast-leavened or chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated with 10 <sup>3</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> , packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap <sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO <sub>2</sub> and stored at 25°C                                                  | 24 |
| <ul> <li>7.4. Average growth of <i>C. botulinum</i> (log CFU/g) in yeast-leavened and chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated with10<sup>3</sup> spores/g</li> <li><i>C. botulinum</i>, packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub></li> </ul>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             | 7.3. | Average growth of yeasts (log CFU/g) in yeast-leavened and chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated with10 <sup>3</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> , packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap <sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO <sub>2</sub> 22                                               | 27 |
|                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | 7.4. | Average growth of <i>C. botulinum</i> (log CFU/g) in yeast-leavened and<br>chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated with $10^3$ spores/g<br><i>C. botulinum</i> , packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap <sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO <sub>2</sub><br>and stored at 25°C                 | 20 |

| 7.5. | Changes in headspace oxygen and headspace carbon dioxide in<br>sterile yeast-leavened crumpets inoculated with 10 <sup>3</sup> spores/g<br><i>C. botulinum</i> and 5 x 10 <sup>5</sup> cells/g <i>S. cerevisiae</i> and chemically-<br>leavened crumpets inoculated with 10 <sup>3</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> ,<br>packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap <sup>®</sup> and stored at 25°C    |
|------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 7.6. | Growth (average log CFU/g) <i>S. cerevisiae</i> in yeast- or chemically-<br>leavened crumpets inoculated with 10 <sup>3</sup> spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> and<br>5 x 10 <sup>5</sup> cells/g <i>S. cerevisiae</i> , packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap <sup>®</sup> or in<br>100% CO <sup>2</sup> and stored at 25°C                                                                            |
| 7.7. | Average growth (log CFU/g) of <i>C. botulinum</i> in sterile yeast-leavened<br>crumpets inoculated with $10^3$ spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> and $5 \times 10^5$<br>cells/g <i>S. cerevisiae</i> and sterile chemically-leavened crumpets<br>inoculated with $10^3$ spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> packaged in air with 2-G<br>Ethicap <sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO <sub>2</sub> and stored at 25°C |
| 7.8. | Log count (CFU/g) <i>C. botulinum</i> in non-toxic and toxic non-sterile<br>and sterile yeast- or chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated<br>with $10^3$ spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> or $10^3$ spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> and<br>$5 \times 10^3$ cells/g <i>S.cerevisiae</i> , packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap <sup>®</sup> or<br>in 100% CO <sub>2</sub> and stored at 25°C               |
| 8.1. | Inhibitory effect of resinous mastic (0 to 3% [wt/wt]) in ethanol on<br><i>C. botulinum</i> 62A                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                |
| 8.2. | Effect of volatiles of 0.01% mastic with 0.05% ethanol, 0.1% mastic with 0.5% ethanol, 0.05% ethanol, and 0.5% ethanol (wt/wt) on a composite inoculum of proteolytic <i>C. botulinum</i> (5 x 10 <sup>1</sup> , 5 x 10 <sup>2</sup> , or $5 \times 10^3$ spores/g) grown on McClung Toabe agar at 37°C                                                                                        |
| 8.3. | Effect of 0%, 0.15%, and 0.30% (vol/wt) mastic oil on vegetative cells of <i>C. botulinum</i> 62A in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 37°C 271                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |

-----

275

## **CONTENTS OF APPENDICES**

| A. COMPARISON OF TWO SELECTIVE MEDIA FOR ENUMERATION                                                                     |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| OF C. BOTULINUM IN CHALLENGE STUDIES A-1                                                                                 |
| I. INTRODUCTION A-1                                                                                                      |
| II. MATERIALS AND METHODS A-3                                                                                            |
| 1. Preparation of media A-3                                                                                              |
| 2. Sample preparation and inoculation A-3                                                                                |
| 3. Detection of neurotoxin A-4                                                                                           |
| III. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION A-6                                                                                          |
| 1. Recovery of <i>C. botulinum</i> from spore inoculum A-6                                                               |
| 2. Recovery of <i>C. botulinum</i> from crumpets A-6                                                                     |
| IV. CONCLUSION A-12                                                                                                      |
| B. COMPARISON OF TWO ASSAY METHODS FOR DETECTION<br>OF BOTULINUM NEUROTOXIN IN CHALLENGE STUDIES WITH<br>BAKERY PRODUCTS |
| I. INTRODUCTION B-1                                                                                                      |
| II. MATERIALS AND METHODS B-3                                                                                            |
| 1. Sample preparation B-3                                                                                                |
| 2. Detection of neurotoxin using the ELISA-ELCA <sup>®</sup> B-3                                                         |
| a. Optimization of assay B-4                                                                                             |
| 3. Detection of neurotoxin using mouse bioassay                                                                          |
| 4. Statistical analyses B-5                                                                                              |
| III. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION                                                                                              |
| 1. Effect of ELCA incubation time on sensitivityB-7                                                                      |
| 2. Inoculated samples B-10                                                                                               |
| 3. Uninoculated samples B-14                                                                                             |
| IV. CONCLUSION                                                                                                           |

-

#### LIST OF TABLES IN APPENDICES

| A-1.         | Recovery of <i>C. botulinum</i> (5.6 x 10 <sup>5</sup> /mL) from modified McClung<br>Toabe (MMT) agar, <i>C. botulinum</i> isolation (CBI) agar and botulinum<br>selective medium (BSM)                                              |
|--------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| A-2.         | Comparison of <i>C. botulinum</i> isolation (CBI) agar and botulinum<br>selective medium (BSM) for enumeration of <i>C. botulinum</i> from<br>crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> types A and<br>proteolytic B |
| B-1.         | Effect of varying each enzyme-linked coagulation assay (ELCA) step<br>on the limit of detection for botulinum neurotoxin types A and B                                                                                               |
| <b>B-2</b> . | Comparison of the mouse bioassay and ELISA-ELCA® methods for detection of botulinum neurotoxin in crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g <i>C. botulinum</i> types A and proteolytic B and stored at 25°C                             |

## LIST OF FIGURES IN APPENDICES

| B-1.         | Standard curve using enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay-enzyme<br>linked coagulation assay (ELISA-ELCA®) specific for type A and type<br>B botulinum neurotoxin |
|--------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| <b>B-2</b> . | Detection of BoNT by the mouse bioassay and the immunoassay specific for BoNT/A, or BoNT/B                                                                     |

## **ABBREVIATIONS USED**

| a <sub>w</sub> | water activity                                                    |
|----------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------|
| A              | absorbance                                                        |
| ACMSF          | Advisory Committee for the Microbiological Safety of Food         |
| ANOVA          | analysis of variance                                              |
| AOAC           | American Organization of Analytical Chemists                      |
| BoNT           | botulinum neurotoxin                                              |
| BSM            | botulinum selective medium                                        |
| CBI            | Clostridium botulinum isolation                                   |
| CDC            | Centers for Disease Control                                       |
| CFU            | colony forming units                                              |
| CMGA           | Chios Mastic Grower's Association                                 |
| D              | decimal reduction time (minutes)                                  |
| ELCA           | enzyme-linked coagulation assay                                   |
| ELISA          | enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay                                 |
| ERH            | equilibrium relative humidity                                     |
| Fo             | total lethality                                                   |
| FSIS           | Food Safety and Inspection Service                                |
| GMP            | good manufacturing processes                                      |
| GRAS           | generally regarded as safe                                        |
| HAACP          | hazards analysis and critical control points                      |
| ICMSF          | International Commission for the Microbiological Specification of |
| 1.1.           | inhibitory index                                                  |
| i.p.           | intraperitoneal                                                   |
| IST            | Iso-sensitest                                                     |
| LAB            | lactic acid bacteria                                              |

хххіі

| MYPD              | malt yeast peptone dextrose                |
|-------------------|--------------------------------------------|
| MAP               | modified atmosphere packaging (packaged)   |
| MLD <sub>50</sub> | minimum lethal dose-50%                    |
| MMT               | modified McClung Toabe                     |
| NCYC              | National Collection of Yeast Cultures      |
| NG                | no growth                                  |
| NLV               | Norwalk-like virus                         |
| NTHNN             | non-toxic hemagglutinin                    |
| OD                | optical density                            |
| ORP               | oxidation-reduction potential              |
| OGYEA             | oxytetracycline glucose yeast extract agar |
| PA                | putrifactive anaerobe                      |
| PCR               | polymerase chain reaction                  |
| PHA               | passive haemagglutination assay            |
| ppm               | parts per million                          |
| RCA               | royal clostridial agar                     |
| RH                | relative humidity                          |
| RIA               | radio immunoassay                          |
| spp.              | species                                    |
| TEM               | transmission electron microscopy           |
| TPGY              | trypticase peptone glucose yeast           |
| TSC               | sulfite cycloserine                        |
| USDA              | United States Department of Agriculture    |
| z                 | temperature sensitivity indicator          |

\_

· · · · · ·
## **1.0 INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### **1.1 INTRODUCTION**

The bakery industry, an important component of the North American economy, generates billions of dollars in revenue annually. In 1998, sales of bakery products in the United States exceeded 10 million metric tons and had a market value of ~\$ 27 billion dollars (US)-a 14.5% increase over the previous four years (Kohn, 2000). In Canada, the bread and bakery industry shipped ~\$2.3 billion dollars of products in 2000, an increase of 36.3% from 1988 levels and an amount that represented 4.2% of total food and beverage processing sector shipments (Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, 2000). This sustained growth has been driven by consumer demands for convenient, premium baked goods that are fresh, nutritious, conveniently packaged and shelf-stable. At the same time, there has been an increase in in-store bakeries and a renewed interest in "organic", ethnic and artisantype bakery products. Today, a diverse selection of bakery products can be found on supermarket shelves. Available products include unsweetened goods (breads, rolls, buns, crumpets, muffins and bagels), sweet goods (pancakes, doughnuts, waffles, cakes and cookies) as well as filled goods (fruit, cheese and meat pies, sausage rolls, pastries, sandwiches, cream cakes, pizza, and quiche). Most bakery products are marketed fresh and are stored at ambient temperature. However, other products, such as filled pies

and cakes, are stored under refrigerated conditions to achieve a longer shelf-life and to enhance their safety. Bakery products, like most processed foods, are subject to physical, chemical and microbiological spoilage. While physical spoilage (staling) and chemical spoilage (oxidative and/or hydrolytic rancidity) problems limit the shelf-life of low- and intermediate-moisture bakery products, microbiological spoilage, particularly mould growth, is the main concern in most high-moisture products. Losses due to mould spoilage vary between 1% and 5% of products depending on the season, product type, and method of processing (Mälkki and Rauha, 1978) and are therefore, of serious economic consequence to the bakery industry. Chemical preservatives such as sorbic acid, potassium sorbate and calcium propionate, are commonly used to prevent or retard mould spoilage in bakery products. However, with increasing consumer concerns about food preservatives, the bakery industry is now focusing its attention on modifiedatmosphere packaging (MAP) for product shelf-life extension.

MAP has been defined as "the enclosure of a food product in a high gas barrier film in which the gaseous environment has been changed or modified to slow respiration rates, reduce microbiological growth, and retard enzymatic spoilage with the intent of extending shelf-life" (Young et al., 1988). Methods most commonly used to modify the gas atmosphere within a product include vacuum packaging, gas packaging and packaging with oxygen absorbents. Vacuum packaging is not widely used as a method of atmosphere modification due to its crushability effect on most bakery products. However, it is used to prevent mould problems in flat breads (pita, naan etc.) and pizza crusts and is used to prevent rancidity problems in shortbread, a high fat product with a hard texture. Gas packaging, using mixtures of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub> has been used to extend the mould-free shelf-life and keeping quality of a wide variety of bakery products stored at ambient temperature. Presently, more than 150 European bakery companies use this technology to extend the shelf-life of rolls, cakes, pizza, baguettes and sliced bread (Smith and Simpson, 1995; 1996). In Asia, oxygen absorbents and/or gas-generating sachets are widely used to prevent mould problems in intermediate- and high-moisture bakery products and this method of atmosphere modification is slowly gaining acceptance in the North American market-place (Smith and Simpson, 1995; 1996).

Despite the increased use of MAP technology for shelf-life extension of high-moisture bakery products, there are safety concerns surrounding this technology. While physical and chemical hazards can compromise product safety, microbiological hazards, specifically foodborne pathogens, pose the greatest threat to consumer safety. A major microbiological hazard of concern in MAP high-moisture bakery products is the possible outgrowth of spores of strains of *Clostridium botulinum* types A and proteolytic B and subsequent neurotoxin production. Consumption of food in which *C. botulinum*, or closely related strains, has grown and produced neurotoxin often results in botulism, a rare but potentially fatal neuromuscular illness (Hatheway, 1993; Meng et al., 1997). The factors that contribute to the

concern over botulism resulting from high-moisture MAP bakery products are based on:

- the ability of these spores, if present in flour or other ingredients, to survive the baking process;
- ii. the anaerobic packaging conditions in MAP products which would be conducive to the growth of *C. botulinum*; and
- iii. the inhibition of mould growth, the common indicator of spoilage in high-moisture bakery products.

In addition, several challenge studies have shown that this pathogen can grow to hazardous levels in gas-packaged food stored at ambient temperature while products remain organoleptically acceptable to the consumer at the time of toxigenesis (Hintlian and Hotchkiss, 1986; Farber, 1991). Recent product recalls in the U.S.A. and in Canada of MAP glutenfree breads containing potato flour and in Canada of naan breads would appear to exacerbate these safety concerns. However, since high-moisture MAP-bakery products have been on the marketplace for several years and have never been implicated in any botulism outbreaks, are these safety concerns justified? Do MAP high-moisture bakery products represent a serious botulism risk to consumers?

A risk has been defined as "the probability of a hazard occurring" (International Commission for the Microbiological Specification of Food [ICMSF], 1988) and Eklund (1993) has described several conditions that are critical in order for foods to be considered a botulism risk. These conditions include the food (or ingredients) being contaminated with *C. botulinum* spores or vegetative cells either from the environment or during further processing;

inadequate processing such that spores of *C. botulinum* are not inactivated (or the product becoming contaminated post-processing); the food supporting growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*; and the food being acceptable and being consumed without further heating that would inactivate preformed neurotoxin.

Each of these conditions must be reviewed in detail in order to assess the botulism risk of MAP high-moisture bakery products stored at ambient temperature. If such products are indeed determined to pose a risk of botulism, then barriers to the growth of *C. botulinum* need to be incorporated into these products to prevent toxicity.

## **1.2 LITERATURE REVIEW**

This review will focus on the potential hazards associated with bakery products, the microbiological causative agents of foodborne illness with specific reference to *C. botulinum* and the potential of high-moisture bakery products to support growth of and neurotoxin production by this pathogen as well as possible control measures.

## 1.2.1 Safety concerns in bakery products

Foodborne illness, which has been defined as "any illness associated with, or in which the causative agent is obtained by the ingestion of food" (Oblinger, 1988), can range from mild to fatal. Mead et al. (1999) estimated that, in the United States, there are approximately 76 million foodborne illnesses, including 325,000 hospitalizations and 5,000 deaths each year. While foods such as meat, fish, poultry, eggs and dairy products are the most common vehicles of foodborne illness worldwide, bakery products have also been implicated in foodborne disease outbreaks (Todd, 1996). In the United States, between 1988 and 1992, bakery products accounted for 29 outbreaks involving 820 cases out of a total of 2,423 reported foodborne disease outbreaks (Bean et al., 1996). In Canada, pizza, cheesecake, pies and tarts, bread, and muffins have all been implicated in outbreaks of foodborne illness (Todd, 1996), while high-moisture English-style crumpets have posed safety concerns in Australia (Jenson et al., 1994).

The rest of the world is also subject to foodborne illnesses caused by bakery products. Todd (1996) reported that 35% to 47% of all foodborne disease outbreaks in Poland, Portugal, Bulgaria and Switzerland were caused by the consumption of bakery products, while several outbreaks in Brazil were traced to cream filled cakes (Potter et al., 1997). Ombui et al. (2001) identified maize flour, bread, scones and other wheat products, and lemon-pie pudding as major foods responsible for foodborne illness in Kenya between 1970 and 1993.

#### 1.2.2 Potential hazards associated with bakery products

Several factors affecting the involvement of bakery products in foodborne illnesses are briefly discussed below:

## **1.2.2.1 Minimal processing**

In order to achieve desirable textural and quality attributes, most bakery products only receive a minimal heat treatment. For example, although bread is baked at a high temperature, during baking the temperature in the center of the crumb rarely exceeds 100°C for more than a few minutes. Furthermore, cream, cold custard, icing, spices, nuts, or fruit toppings or fillings, which may be incorporated in finished products may be prepared without any heating. According to Bryan et al. (1997), vegetative pathogenic microorganisms should be readily destroyed during baking because of their low thermal resistance (D-values) as shown in Table 1.1. However, spore-forming bacteria, which have much higher D-values (Table 1.1) will readily survive baking, and may grow to hazardous levels if packaging and storage conditions are conducive to their outgrowth (Bryan et al., 1997). While vegetative pathogens, such as Salmonella spp. and Staphylococcus aureus, as well as moulds and viruses, should be destroyed during baking, products may become contaminated postbaking from the air, equipment and handlers (Sugihara, 1977). Furthermore, cross-contamination may occur if bakery products are prepared or stored in the same area as raw foods such as eggs, meat or milk.

## 1.2.2.2 Hazardous products and/or ingredients

According to Farkas (1997), potentially hazardous foods have a pH of >4.5 and an  $a_w$  of >0.84. Many bakery products and ingredients have pH and  $a_w$  levels below this hazardous classification (Tables 1.2 and 1.3), and thereby, restrict microbial growth. Other products and

| Bacteria                         | Heat Resistance in Minutes |                                |                                 |
|----------------------------------|----------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| -                                | D <sub>70</sub> °c         | D <sub>90</sub> ° <sub>C</sub> | D <sub>121</sub> ° <sub>C</sub> |
| Vegetative                       |                            |                                |                                 |
| Campylobacter jejuni             | 0.0001                     |                                |                                 |
| Escherichia coli                 | 0.001                      |                                |                                 |
| Listeria monocytogenes           | 0.3                        |                                |                                 |
| Salmonella spp.                  | 0.001                      |                                |                                 |
| Staphylococcus aureus            | 0.1                        |                                | (<1)                            |
| Vibrio parahaemolyticus          | 0.001                      | _                              | —                               |
| Yersinia enterocolitica          | 0.01                       | —                              | —                               |
| Spore-forming <sup>b</sup>       |                            |                                |                                 |
| Bacillus cereus                  |                            | 10                             |                                 |
| Clostridium botulinum (Group I)  | —                          | _                              | 0.2                             |
| Clostridium botulinum (Group II) |                            | 1.5                            | —                               |
| Clostridium perfringens          | <u> </u>                   | _                              | 0.15                            |

## TABLE 1.1. Thermal resistance of some specific bacteria

Adapted from Report on Vacuum Packaging and Associated Processes (1992)

\* Value in parentheses refers to the toxin

<sup>b</sup> Values refer to the spores

| Product                       | aw        |
|-------------------------------|-----------|
| Low-moisture content          |           |
| Cookies                       | 0.20-0.30 |
| Crackers                      | 0.20-0.30 |
| Intermediate-moisture content |           |
| Chocolate coated doughnuts    | 0.82-0.83 |
| Danish pastries               | 0.82-0.83 |
| Cream filled cake             | 0.78-0.81 |
| Soft cookies                  | 0.50-0.78 |
| High-moisture content         |           |
| Bread                         | 0.96-0.98 |
| Pita bread                    | 0.90      |
| Fruit pies                    | 0.95-0.98 |
| Carrot cake                   | 0.94-0.96 |
| Cheese cake                   | 0.91-0.95 |
| Pizza crust                   | 0.94-0.95 |
| Pizza                         | 0.99      |

TABLE 1.2. Water activity range of selected bakery products

Adapted from Smith and Simpson (1995)

| Product             | pH range | Reference                    |  |
|---------------------|----------|------------------------------|--|
| High-acid           | <u> </u> |                              |  |
| Sourdough bread     | 4.2-4.6  | Martinez-Anaya et al. (1990) |  |
| Apple pie           | 4.2      | Smith and Simpson (1995)     |  |
| Low-acid            |          |                              |  |
| White bread         | 5.7      | Rosenkvist and Hansen (1995) |  |
| Whole wheat bread   | 5.6      | Rosenkvist and Hansen (1995) |  |
| Chocolate nut bread | 6.2-6.6  | Denny et al. (1969)          |  |
| Date nut bread      | 6.1-6.7  | Denny et al. (1969)          |  |
| Non-acid            |          |                              |  |
| Crumpets            | 6-8      | Jenson et al. (1994)         |  |
| Banana nut bread    | 7.2-7.9  | Aramouni et al. (1994)       |  |
| Carrot muffin       | 8.7      | Smith and Simpson (1995)     |  |
|                     |          |                              |  |

# TABLE 1.3. pH range of selected bakery products

\_\_\_\_

ingredients; however, have levels conducive to the growth of microorganisms that are present in bakery ingredients. For example, the pH of custard, which is used in many filled baked products, is 5.8 to 6.6 and is ideal for the growth of *Salmonella* spp. (Bryan, 1976). Icing, which has a low a<sub>w</sub>, is not usually conducive to microbial growth. However, the interface between the cake and icing may have a much higher a<sub>w</sub> which enhances growth of microorganisms. Silliker and McHugh (1967) reported such an incident in which *S. aureus* grew at the interface of cake and icing. In addition, it is important to note that both the pH and the a<sub>w</sub> of products may change during storage.

## 1.2.2.3 Storage conditions

Most bakery products, with the exception of cream-, custard- and meat-filled products, are held at ambient temperature for maximum storage quality; however, such non-refrigeration storage conditions may be conducive to microbial growth and may compromise safety. English-style crumpets, a high-moisture snack-food product typically stored at ambient temperature, have been implicated in several food poisoning outbreaks involving *B. cereus* (Jenson et al., 1994). Furthermore, since most products are "cook-and-hold products" and are not heated prior to consumption, there is no safety margin for destroying bacteria that may survive the baking process or may have

been introduced during handling or storage. For in-store bakeries, products are often displayed in bins or are loosely wrapped in paper. While this form of product display may be appealing to consumers, there is a potential for contamination of these products from selfserve bins if they are handled without the use of tongs or glassine paper.

Products such as cream-, meat- and cheese-filled cakes have an established history as vehicles of foodborne illness. While holding at refrigeration temperatures will delay microbial growth in these filled products, it may not be sufficient to prevent the growth of psychro-trophic pathogens such as *Listeria monocytogenes*. Furthermore, there is always a potential for temperature abuse at all stages of the processing, distribution and storage chain as well as in the home. If products are frozen, bacterial growth will be slowed, but once the product is thawed, growth may resume as has been shown in outbreaks involving *Salmonella* spp. (Schmidt and Ridley, 1985).

## 1.2.2.4 Modified atmosphere packaging

Modified-atmosphere packaging (MAP), using carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>)-enriched gas atmospheres, vacuum packaging or oxygen absorbents, can extend the mould-free shelf-life and keeping-quality of a wide variety of high-moisture bakery products stored at ambient

temperature. Advantages and disadvantages of oxygen absorbent technology and gas packaging as methods of atmosphere modification for shelf-life extension of bakery products are outlined in Tables 1.4 and 1.5 respectively. Examples of gas-packaged products on the marketplace include bread, crumpets, sandwiches, pizza and muffins. Some flat breads (pita and naan bread) are packaged under vacuum while other products are packaged with oxygen absorbents (tortillas) or with combinations of gases and oxygen absorbents (gluten-free products). However, there are concerns about the safety of MAP technology since many pathogens can grow under a wide range of a<sub>w</sub>, pH, temperature and packaging conditions as shown in Table 1.6. One pathogen of major concern in MAP products is C. botulinum which, if present in the raw ingredients, will readily survive the baking process. This concern would appear justified since this pathogen has been shown to grow to hazardous levels in MAP foods stored at ambient temperature while products were still organoleptically acceptable to the consumer (Hintlian and Hotchkiss, 1986; Farber, 1991; Korkeala et al., 1998; Lawlor et al., 2000). While MAP is widely used in Europe and is gaining acceptance in North America for extending the shelf-life of high-moisture, minimally-processed bakery products, there is a paucity of data on the safety of MAP bakery products stored at ambient temperature.

| Advantages                                                       | Disadvantages                                                                                                                 |
|------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Inexpensive and simple to use                                    | Free airflow around sachet is<br>needed                                                                                       |
| Non-toxic and safe to use                                        | Cause package collapse                                                                                                        |
| Prevent aerobic microbiological<br>spoilage                      | <ul> <li>May promote growth of</li> <li><i>C. botulinum</i></li> <li>May cause flavour changes in:</li> </ul>                 |
| Prevent rancidity/ off-flavours in<br>fats and oils              | <ul> <li>High moisture food</li> </ul>                                                                                        |
| Maintain flavour by preventing<br>oxidation of flavour compounds | <ul> <li>High fat foods</li> <li>Consumer resistance to sachet<br/>use in packages. Possible<br/>mis-use of sachet</li> </ul> |
| Maintain quality without additives                               |                                                                                                                               |
| Increase product shelf-life                                      |                                                                                                                               |
| Increase distribution radius                                     |                                                                                                                               |
| Reduce distribution losses                                       |                                                                                                                               |
| Replace chemical pesticides to<br>prevent insect damage of foods |                                                                                                                               |

Adapted from Smith and Simpson (1995)

-----

|   | Advantages                                | Disadvantages |                                                             |
|---|-------------------------------------------|---------------|-------------------------------------------------------------|
| a | Increased shelf-life                      |               | Initial high cost of films, equip-<br>ment                  |
| ۵ | Increased market area                     | ۵             | Discoloration of meat pigments                              |
|   | Reduction in production/<br>storage costs |               | Leakage                                                     |
|   | Improved presentation                     |               | Fermentation and swelling                                   |
|   | Fresh appearance                          |               | Potential growth of organisms of public health significance |
|   | Clear view of the product                 |               |                                                             |
|   | Easy separation of slices                 |               |                                                             |

## TABLE 1.5. Advantages and disadvantages of gas packaging

Adapted from Smith and Simpson (1995)

| Bacteria                | Temperature |       | ~      | Gaseous                 |
|-------------------------|-------------|-------|--------|-------------------------|
|                         | (°C)        | рп    | aw .   | conditions <sup>b</sup> |
| B. cereus               | 4           | 4.3   | 0.91   | Facultative             |
| C. jejuni               | 32          | 4.9   | 0.99   | Microaerophilic         |
| C. botulinum (Group I)  | 10          | 4.6   | 0.95   | Anaerobic               |
| C. botulinum (Group II) | 3.3         | 5.0   | 0.97   | Anaerobic               |
| C. perfringens          | 15          | 5.0   | 0.95   | Facultative             |
| E. coli                 | 7           | 4.4   | 0.95   | Facultative             |
| L. monocytogenes        | 0           | 4.3   | 0.92   | Facultative             |
| Salmonella spp.         | 6           | 4.0   | 0.94   | Facultative             |
| S. aureus               | 6           | 4.5   | 0.86   | Facultative             |
|                         | (10)        | (5.2) | (0.90) |                         |
| V. parahaemolyticus     | 5           | 4.8   | 0.94   | Facultative             |
| Y. enterocolitica       | -1          | 4.2   | 0.96   | Facultative             |

| TABLE 1.6. | Minimum | growth | requirements | of | ' pathogenic | bacteria* |
|------------|---------|--------|--------------|----|--------------|-----------|
|------------|---------|--------|--------------|----|--------------|-----------|

Adapted from Smith et al. (2002b)

\* Under optimal growth conditions

- <sup>b</sup> Anaerobic, able to live in the absence of free oxygen; facultative, able to adapt to varying environments; microaerophilic, requiring very little free oxygen
- <sup>c</sup> Values in parentheses refer to the production of enterotoxin

### 1.2.2.5 Recent market trends

Recent consumer trends have resulted in novel products such as preservative-free, low-fat and reduced-calorie baked-goods. However, modification of a product's formulation may also influence its a<sub>w</sub> or pH to levels conducive to the growth of foodborne pathogens. Such novel products may be safe, but their safety must be assessed on an individual basis. This is even more critical if such products are packaged under modified atmospheres and stored at ambient temperature.

### 1.2.3 Causative agents of foodborne illness

Foodborne illnesses from bakery products can be caused by physical and chemical contamination of the final product. However, the majority of foodborne illnesses involving bakery products are caused by microorganisms, specifically moulds, viruses, and bacteria.

## 1.2.3.1 Moulds

Moulds, which often limit the shelf-life of high- and intermediatemoisture bakery products, can also be of public-health concern. Although mouldy bakery products will be rejected by consumers, some moulds, including *Alternaria, Aspergillus, Fusarium* and *Penicil*- *lium* spp., may secrete potentially hazardous mycotoxins without visible signs of spoilage. Mycotoxins have been found in many foods, including cereals and grain products, nuts, fruits, vegetables and dairy products (Malloy and Marr, 1997). In a survey of flour, Weidenborner et al. (2000) found that *Aspergillus* species were the predominant isolates with 93.3% of these isolates being toxigenic.

The main mycotoxin producing moulds of concern in bakery products and their methods of control have been reviewed in detail in a recent American Institute of Baking technical publication (Bullerman, 2000) and therefore will not be discussed further in this review.

## **1.2.3.2 Viruses**

Like moulds, viruses are ubiquitous in the environment and can cause viral gastroenteritis through the consumption of bakery products that are prepared or handled under unsanitary conditions (Hedberg and Osterholm, 1993). Norwalk-like viruses (NLVs) have been responsible for outbreaks in foodborne illness involving frosted bakery products, crumb cake, pie and rolls, hamburger buns and cookies, and custard slices (Kuritsky et al., 1984; Bean et al., 1996; Arness et al., 1999).

Another virus which can be transmitted from infected handlers to bakery products is Hepatitis A. Outbreaks of Hepatitis A have been

attributed to unbaked sherry trifle, breads, rolls and sandwiches and glazed pastries (Chaudhuri et al., 1975; Sockett et al., 1993). More recently, a community outbreak in 1994 in New York was traced to an infected bakery worker who had contaminated cooked doughnuts while applying a sugar glaze (Weltman et al., 1996). Methods to control viral gastroenteritis from bakery products include education of food handlers, good personal hygiene and proper sanitation practices.

## 1.2.3.3 Bacteria

While moulds and viruses have been implicated in outbreaks of foodborne illness involving bakery products, bacteria are by far the greatest source of concern. Foodborne illnesses caused by bacteria can be classified as either intoxication or infection. Foodborne bacterial intoxication is "any illness caused by the ingestion of food containing pre-formed bacterial toxin resulting from bacterial growth in food" (Oblinger, 1988). Foodborne infection, on the other hand, is caused by "the ingestion of food containing viable bacteria which then grow and establish themselves in the host resulting in illness" (Oblinger, 1988). Vegetative pathogenic bacteria, and spore-forming bacteria, which are of particular concern in high-moisture minimallyprocessed bakery products, will be reviewed. In addition, preventative measures to enhance the safety of such products will be briefly discussed.

#### 1.2.4 Vegetatative pathogenic bacteria

Vegetative bacteria (i.e., non-spore forming bacteria) are most often implicated in outbreaks of foodborne illnesses. The vegetative bacteria of concern in high-moisture, minimally-processed bakery products are *Salmonella* spp., *S. aureus*, and *L. monocytogenes*.

## 1.2.4.1 Salmonella species

Numerous foodborne illnesses involving bakery products have been caused by *Salmonella* spp. (Table 1.7). The major sources of *Salmonella* in bakery products are unpasteurized eggs (Board, 1969; FSIS, 1998) which, although a potentially hazardous bakery ingredient, are invaluable for their foaming, emulsifying, and binding properties. In addition to unpasteurized eggs, a variety of other ingredients have been shown to be sources of *Salmonella* contamination of bakery products (Table 1.7).

Salmonella spp. are heat labile, and consequently, they should be inactivated during baking or cooking. However, for minimallyprocessed products such as cheesecake, or custard and meringue-

# TABLE 1.7. Characteristics of Salmonella species

| Sources of contamination | Raw eggs/dairy products, flour, cocoa and chocolate, coconut, peanut butter, fruit spices, and yeast flavourings |
|--------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Symptoms of disease      | Nausea, vomiting, abdominal cramps, diarrhea, fever, and headache                                                |
| Causative agent          | Infection                                                                                                        |
| Onset of illness         | 6 to 48 hours                                                                                                    |
| Duration of illness      | 2 to 7 days                                                                                                      |
| Associated bakery        | Bread pudding, custard filled cakes and pastries,                                                                |
| products                 | quiche, meringue pies, cheesecake, apple pie,                                                                    |
|                          | tiramisu, and mousse                                                                                             |
| Preventative measures    | Use of properly pasteurized eggs/dairy products,                                                                 |
|                          | adequate processing temperature/time of                                                                          |
|                          | products, proper refrigerated storage of raw                                                                     |
|                          | ingredients/finished products (<4°C), good                                                                       |
|                          | manufacturing practices (GMPs), good personal                                                                    |
|                          | hygiene/sanitation, ongoing hygiene training,                                                                    |
|                          | and hazard analysis critical control point                                                                       |
|                          | (HACCP) application                                                                                              |

Adapted from Smith et al. (2002a)

type pies, puddings or fillings, the mild heat-treatment necessary to produce an acceptable product may be inadequate for complete destruction of this pathogen (Hao et al., 1999). Other ingredients, such as cold custard, puddings, icings and toppings, may also support the growth of *Salmonella* spp. Although the a<sub>w</sub> of some icings may provide a barrier to growth, the interface between the icing and the baked product may be conducive to growth (Silliker and McHugh, 1967). Infected eggs or other ingredients may also cross-contaminate equipment and result in multiple outbreaks. *Salmonella* spp. resist desiccation and can survive for long time periods in foods of very low a<sub>w</sub>, such as spray-dried eggs, which may pose a safety concern when reconstituted (Dack, 1961).

Several bakery products have been implicated in foodborne outbreaks involving *Salmonella* spp. (Table 1.7). In addition, acidic products, such as fruit pies, have also been implicated (Table 1.7). Although the low pH (3.6) of the baked pie filling should have prevented the growth of this pathogen, cross-contamination of pies may have occurred during packaging. Another explanation could be that the egg glaze may have seeped through the high-fat pastry resulting in growth of *S. enteritidis* at the product's interface.

The most important control measures used to prevent Salmonella outbreaks in bakery products include the use of pasteurized

eggs, prevention of cross-contamination and strict temperature control of all hazardous raw ingredients and finished products.

#### 1.2.4.2 Staphylococcus aureus

Staphylococcal food poisoning results from the consumption of food in which *S. aureus* (Table 1.8) has grown to sufficient numbers (~10<sup>6</sup> CFU/g) to produce enterotoxin. The illness is characterized by nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain and diarrhea, two to eight hours after eating food containing the enterotoxin (Tranter, 1990).

Since *S. aureus* is often isolated from cuts and nasal passages, as well as from skin and hair, food handlers are a major source of contamination of bakery products. *S. aureus* is also ubiquitous in air, water, raw milk, sewage, and on food contact surfaces. Several ingredients, such as inadequately pasteurized milk and cream, may also be sources of high numbers of *S. aureus* or its enterotoxin.

The main bakery products associated with foodborne outbreaks involving *S. aureus* have been baked goods containing fresh or synthetic cream (Table 1.8). Although imitation cream on its own does not contain sufficient nutrients to support the growth of this pathogen, growth can occur at the interface of the cream and the baked product (McKinley and Clarke, 1964). Due to good manufac-

# TABLE 1.8. Characteristics of Staphylococcus aureus

| Sources of contamination   | Hair, hands, skin, throat, and nasal passages of<br>humans, infected wounds, lesions, air, water, work<br>surfaces, inadequately pasteurized milk/cream,<br>and dried milk                                                                                                                    |
|----------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Symptoms of disease        | Nausea, vomiting, abdominal cramps, diarrhea, fever, and chills                                                                                                                                                                                                                               |
| Causative agent            | Toxin in food                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |
| Onset of illness           | 2 to 8 hours                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |
| Duration of illness        | 1 to 2 days                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |
| Associated bakery products | Cream filled pastries (synthetic and fresh cream),<br>apple muffins, cream puffs, long johns, flat bread,<br>pizza, and coconut fillings                                                                                                                                                      |
| Preventative measures      | Use of adequately pasteurized dairy products,<br>strict personal hygiene/sanitation, good manufac-<br>turing practices (GMPs), strict temperature control<br>of raw ingredients/finished products (<4°C), use of<br>chemical preservatives (e.g., sorbates), and<br>on-going hygiene training |

Adapted from Smith et al. (2002a)

- حار

turing practices, these products are now seldom implicated in outbreaks of *S. aureus* food poisoning in North America (Todd et al., 1983). However, they continue to be a major source of illness in many temperate countries where refrigeration is inadequate (do Carmo and Bergdoll, 1990). Other bakery products which have also been implicated in outbreaks of staphylococcal food poisoning are oatmeal raisin cookies, apple muffins, cream puffs and long johns (Sumner et al., 1993). Pizza is also frequently involved, with contamination usually occurring as a result of poor manufacturing practices. Additionally, *S. aureus* can grow in high salt concentrations as found in many pizza ingredients.

Although *S. aureus* is destroyed by heating, its enterotoxin is heat resistant and is not inactivated by pasteurization (Bergdoll, 1989). Therefore, food poisoning outbreaks by *S. aureus* may still occur, even in the absence of viable cells, if pre-formed enterotoxin is present in the product as a result of temperature abuse of ingredients and/or fillings prior to baking.

There is an increasing variety of goods available from in-store bakeries which are held at ambient temperature. These products are often stored in self-serve bins and handled manually by both employees and customers. This combination of temperature and handling increases the potential for contamination by *S. aureus* and subsequent growth and/or enterotoxin production.

The number of staphylococcal food poisoning outbreaks attributed to the consumption of cream and custard filled pastries in the United States, has decreased dramatically in recent years. This is likely due to improved sanitation, temperature control, modification of product formulation and the use of preservatives. Good manufacturing practices (GMPs) have also effectively reduced the level of contamination by *S. aureus* of frozen cream-pies in North America. One survey of all plants manufacturing frozen pies in the United States reported that levels of *S. aureus* were consistently <10 CFU/g (Todd et al., 1983).

Other measures essential to the control of *S. aureus* inlcude the use of preservatives (Bryan, 1976), adherence to adequate temperature/time processes (Husseman and Tanner, 1947; Angelotti et al., 1961), and strict temperature control (<4°C) to restrict growth and enterotoxin production (Bryan, 1976).

### 1.2.4.3 Listeria monocytogenes

*Listeria monocytogenes* (Table 1.9) is widespread in nature– occurring in soil, vegetation, and water, as well as in many animal and plant products (Lovett and Twetd, 1988). Furthermore, it can grow over wide pH, a<sub>w</sub>, and temperature ranges. Outbreaks of listeriosis have resulted from the consumption of soft cheese, cream and

# TABLE 1.9. Characteristics of Listeria monocytogenes

| Sources of contamination   | Raw or inadequately pasteurized dairy products,<br>bakery environment and/or post-processing<br>contamination, and raw poultry and meat products                                                                                                                                                                     |
|----------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Symptoms of disease        | Mild flu-like symptoms, septicemia, meningitis,<br>encephalitis, and abortion in pregnant women                                                                                                                                                                                                                      |
| Causative agent            | Infection                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            |
| Onset of illness           | 2 to 35 days                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         |
| Duration of illness        | 1 to 90 days                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         |
| Associated bakery products | Pastries                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |
| Preventative measures      | Use of properly pasteurized dairy products, strict<br>temperature control of raw/finished products<br>(<2°C), additional barriers (pH, water activity reduc-<br>tion, chemical preservatives), strict personal<br>hygiene/sanitation, good manufacturing practices<br>(GMPs), and ongoing hygiene training and HACCP |

Adapted from Smith et al. (2002a)

butter (Linnan et al., 1988; Lyytikäinen et al., 2000) and therefore, *L. monocytogenes* is of potential concern in bakery products containing dairy ingredients. *L. monocytogenes* is also classified as a psychrotrophic pathogen (Table 1.9), which means that it can readily grow at the refrigerated storage conditions of cream- and cheesefilled pastries. Furthermore, since *L. monocytogenes* is ubiquitous in the bakery environment, post-processing contamination of finished products is possible. In a survey of 300 pastries from 100 bakeries in France, Ferron and Michard (1993) found that 14% of all pastries were contaminated with *L. monocytogenes*. One sample contained 7 x 10<sup>5</sup> CFU/g–a level that can cause listeriosis. The authors concluded that the risk of listeriosis from pastries was at least equivalent to that of meat and delicatessen products.

Control methods include adequate heating and baking of products to destroy this vegetative pathogen. Richter et al. (1991) demonstrated that heating flour inoculated with *L. monocytogenes* for five minutes at 80°C was sufficient to destroy the pathogen. *L. monocytogenes* is also unlikely to survive boiling of custards used in the preparation of certain filled products.

Strict hygiene and temperature control are essential in preventing contamination and growth of this pathogen. However, since temperature abuse is commonplace in the food industry, temperature alone is not an adequate barrier to ensure the safety of

contaminated products. *L. monocytogenes* can also grow in the presence of elevated levels of  $CO_2$  used in gas-packaging. While the use of additional barriers is recommended to control the growth of *L. monocytogenes*, it can still grow at low pH and low a<sub>w</sub> (Table 1.6). However, this method of control may not be commercially viable since reformulation to these levels of pH and a<sub>w</sub> may result in sensory and textural changes of the finished product.

## 1.2.5 Spore-forming pathogenic bacteria

Spore-forming bacteria such as *Bacillus* and *Clostridium* spp., produce spores that readily survive the baking process. *B. cereus, B. subtilis* and *B. licheniformis* have been implicated in several outbreaks of foodborne illness involving bakery products (Todd, 1982; Kramer and Gilbert, 1989; Jenson et al., 1994; te Giffel et al., 1996).

## 1.2.5.1 Bacillus cereus

*Bacillus cereus* has been implicated in several outbreaks of foodborne illness involving bakery products in Australia (Jenson et al., 1994). There are two distinct forms of *B. cereus* toxin-mediated gastroenteritis. The emetic type is generally associated with cereal based foods while the diarrheal type is most frequently associated with proteinaceous foods (Table 1.10).

## TABLE 1.10. Characteristics of Bacillus cereus

| Sources of contamination   | Flour, dairy products, spices, dried eggs, soy<br>protein, yeast, improvers, dried fruits, cocoa, and<br>rice                                                                                                                                                                                                         |                                                              |  |
|----------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------|--|
|                            | Type I (diarrheal type)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               | Type II (emetic type)                                        |  |
| Symptoms of disease        | Watery diarrhea, cramps,<br>and occasionally nausea                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   | Nausea, vomiting,<br>malaise, and occasion-<br>ally diarrhea |  |
| Causative agent            | Toxin produced in the intestine                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       | Toxin produced in food                                       |  |
| Onset of illness           | 8 to 20 hours                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         | 1 to 5 hours                                                 |  |
| Duration of illness        | 1 day                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 | 1 day                                                        |  |
| Associated bakery products | Naan bread, English-style crumpets, pikelets,<br>vanilla slices, meat-filled bakery products,<br>pumpkin pie, and rice-filled pastries                                                                                                                                                                                |                                                              |  |
| Preventative measures      | Cool hot food rapidly (within 2 hours) to <15°C,<br>strict temperature control of raw<br>ingredients/finished products (<4°C), use of<br>chemical preservatives (e.g., vinegar,<br>propionates, calcium acetate), lactic acid<br>sourdough cultures, bio-preservatives (nisin), and<br>additional barriers (pH, salt) |                                                              |  |

Adapted from Smith et al. (2002a)

*Bacillus* spores are ubiquitously found in soils, dust and water, and are commonly found in flour and flour-based products as well as in the bakery environment (Granum, 1997). Other sources of *Bacillus* spores in bakery ingredients include cream, dried milk, and whey concentrate, spices, dried eggs, soy protein, rice, yeast and improvers, dried fruits, and cocoa. The level of *B. cereus* required to produce toxin is approximately 10<sup>5</sup> spores/g of food (Lund, 1990). Foodborne illness caused by *Bacillus* species is under-reported as symptoms are generally mild and self-limiting (Table 1.10).

Although low numbers of spores may be present initially in flour, spores, which readily survive the baking process, can grow rapidly in products held under suitable conditions (Kaur, 1986; Rosenkvist and Hansen, 1995). Although the potential health hazard of *B. cereus* in bread is minimal, this pathogen is of greater concern in bakery products that receive a minimal surface heat-treatment (Lee, 1988; Cowden et al., 1995). Examples of such griddle-baked products include ethnic flat breads, crumpets, and waffles. Outbreaks of *B. cereus* gastroenteritis have been attributed to naan bread, crumpets and pikelets. Growth of *B. cereus* in these products is difficult to control since the heat treatment is insufficient to destroy spores and may actually act as a heat-shock, which enhances spore outgrowth at ambient storage temperature. *B. cereus* has also caused outbreaks of foodborne illness through the consumption of

bakery products containing dairy based custards or creams (Pinegar and Buxton, 1977).

Conventional methods of control include proper sanitation and testing of raw materials to reduce initial spore counts; however, these measures will not eliminate all spores or prevent germination and growth of *Bacillus* spp. in finished products. Growth of *Bacillus* spp. however, can be controlled by use of preservatives (propionates, sorbates, and acetates), sourdough, and strict temperature control (Kaur, 1986; Rosenkvist and Hansen, 1998). However, up to 14% of *B. cereus* strains may be psychrotrophic (i.e., capable of growing at refrigeration temperatures) (Granum, 1997). Thus, temperature alone may not be a practical control measure. Nisin, a commercially available bacteriocin, is approved for use in Australia to control the growth of *B. cereus* in high-moisture English-style crumpets.

## 1.2.5.2 Clostridium perfringens

Another spore-forming bacterium that is of potential concern, particularly in meat- and chicken-filled baked products (pies, sausage rolls, etc.), is *C. perfringens* (Table 1.11). Food poisoning due to *C. perfringens* (mainly toxin type A) usually occurs within six to 24 hours of ingestion of bakery products containing greater than 10<sup>6</sup> CFU/g. The illness follows ingestion of contaminated food and is

# TABLE 1.11. Characteristics of Clostridium perfringens

| Sources of contamination   | Beef, turkey, chicken, cooked ground meat, gravies, and sauces                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    |
|----------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Symptoms of disease        | Nausea, occasional vomiting, diarrhea, and intense abdominal pain                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 |
| Causative agent            | Toxin produced in the intestine                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |
| Onset of illness           | 6 to 24 hours                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |
| Duration of illness        | 1 to 2 days                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |
| Associated bakery products | Meat-filled bakery products                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |
| Preventative measures      | Proper cooking of meat fillings, cooling baked<br>products to <10°C within 2 to 3 hours, strict<br>temperature control of stored products, reheat-<br>ing refrigerated products to reach an internal<br>temperature of 75°C, strict personal<br>hygiene/sanitation, good manufacturing<br>practices (GMPs), ongoing hygiene training and<br>HACCP |

Adapted from Smith et al. (2002a)

caused by the production of an intracellular enterotoxin *in situ* by sporulating bacterial cells. Symptoms of the illness generally include severe abdominal pain and diarrhea that lasts about two days (McClane, 1997).

Since *C. perfringens* cannot grow below 15°C, rapid cooling of meat-filled products after baking and refrigerated storage of products are critical to prevent growth of this pathogen to hazardous levels. Furthermore, refrigerated products should be reheated to an internal temperature of 75°C prior to serving to destroy any vegetative cells remaining in the product (Labbe, 1989). Meat- and chicken-filled bakery products used to be a major cause of food poisoning by *C. perfringens.* However, by adhering to the above guidelines, very few incidents of *C. perfringens* involving these products have occurred in recent years. Good hygiene and personal sanitation are also essential to control the growth of this pathogen in meat-filled bakery products (McClane, 1997).

## 1.2.6 Clostridium botulinum

Foodborne botulism is a rare, potentially fatal neuromuscular illness that can result from the consumption of food in which *C. botulinum* has grown and produced neurotoxin (Hatheway, 1993; Meng et al., 1997). Infant botulism results when germinating spores of neurotoxigenic clostridia colonize the infant intestine and produce neurotoxin *in situ* (CDC, 1998; Dodds, 1993c). Botulism has also resulted from similar colonization in people who are immuno-compromised (Griffin et al., 1997) and in addition, there is evidence that neurotoxigenic clostridial colonization may precipitate central nervous system (CNS) disorders (Siarakas et al., 1999; Sandler et al., 2000).

Belonging to the genus Clostridium, C. botulinum shares with it the following properties: i) the formation of heat- and chemical-resistant endospores; ii) the existence of a gram-positive cell wall structure in vegetative cells; iii) an anaerobic, fermentative metabolism, and iv) a low guanine: cytosine content (Johnson and Bradshaw, 2001). C. botulinum spp., and certain strains of C. baratii, and C. butyricum, as well as C. argentinense, have the ability to produce seven serotypes (A through G) of botulinum neurotoxin (BoNT) (Sugiyama, 1980). Types A, B, E, and F are the main causes of human botulism while types C and D are responsible for botulism in animals (Hatheway, 1993). Although these serotypes vary in their pathogenicity (Johnson and Bradshaw, 2001), all BoNTs, which are zinc-peptidases, are extremely specific for neurons (Schiavo et al., 2000) and are highly toxic ([~0.2 ng/kg in mice] Hatheway, 1993). Characteristics of Group I (A, B, and F) and Group II (B, E, and F) C. botulinum are summarized in Table 1.12. The neurotoxins are synthesized intracellularly during growth as single inactive proteins (~150 kDa) that are released during bacterial cell lysis and can
|                                              | Group                          |                               | C. butyricum* |  |
|----------------------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------|--|
|                                              | 1                              | 11                            | _ •           |  |
| Neurotoxin type                              | A, B, F                        | B, E, F                       | E             |  |
| Proteolysis                                  | +                              | -                             | -             |  |
| Optimal growth temperature (°C)              | 35-40                          | 18-25                         | 25            |  |
| Minimal growth temperature (°C)              | 10                             | 3                             | 10-15         |  |
| Minimum a <sub>w</sub> for growth            | 0.95                           | 0.97                          | NR            |  |
| Minimum pH for growth                        | 4.5                            | 5.0                           | 4.0-5.2       |  |
| Spore heat resistance (D-100°c)<br>(minutes) | >15                            | <0.1                          | <1-5          |  |
| Similar atoxic organism                      | C. sporogenes<br>(D 112°C 1.2) | (no spp.<br>name<br>assigned) | C. butyricum  |  |

TABLE 1.12. Characteristics by group of neurotoxigenic clostridia causing foodborne botulism

\* Strains producuing BoNT/E

Adapted From Hatheway (1993); Austin and Dodds (2001); Anniballi et al. (2002); Peck (2002)

NR not reported

be proteolytically cleaved to form an activte dichain molecule (Austin, 2001). Neurotoxin, *via* the blood stream, binds irreversibly at the neuromuscular junctions of motor neurons, where it penetrates the plasma membrane, probably by receptor-mediated endocytosis. Within the nerve cell, the light chain of the BoNT acts specifically on proteins involved in neuroexocytosis to prevent the release of acetylcholine (Schiavo et al., 1992; Schiavo et al., 1993; Yamasaki et al., 1994). Foodborne botulism is characterized by bilateral descending flaccid paralysis and impaired motor and respiratory functions. Immediate treatment with anti-neurotoxin in addition to respiratory support has significantly decreased the fatality rate (Austin, 2001).

The toxicity of the neurotoxins that cause botulism necessitates a reliable method of detecting them. The mouse bioassay is typically used to detect BoNT, and this method relies on i.p. injection of mice along with neutralization with type-specific antisera to BoNT (Figure 1.1). Survival of mice protected with antisera in addition to symptoms of botulism in and/or death of unprotected mice indicates that neurotoxicity is attributable to *C. botulinum* (Austin and Blanchfield, 1996). Neutralization is necessary since false-positive results may occur due to the action of non-specific toxins (eg. toxins produced by *C. perfringens*). Although the bioassay is highly sensitive–detecting approximately five mouse 50% minimum lethal dose units (5 MLD.<sub>50</sub>)–there are several disadvantages associated with the method (Table 1.13). Completing the test requires up



FIGURE 1.1. Schematic showing the principle of detection of BoNT using the mouse bioassay: A, symptoms of botulism or death in duplicate mice injected with sample; and B, survival of duplicate mice with simultaneous injection of sample and antisera to BoNT

| Method                                                              | Principle                                                                                                                                    | Sensitivity                                       | Advantages                  | Disadvantages                                                                                                                                                            | Reference(s)                                       |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------|
| In vivo                                                             |                                                                                                                                              |                                                   |                             | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·                                                                                                                                    |                                                    |
| Mouse bioas-<br>say                                                 | Following intraperito-<br>neal injection with<br>BoNT, mice protected<br>with antisera to BoNT<br>survive while unpro-<br>tected mice do not | 5-10<br>MLD₅₀/mL                                  | Commonly used,<br>sensitive | Involves use of live<br>animals; requires up<br>to 72 hours for detec-<br>tion plus 2 to 3 days<br>for typing; not specific<br>(requires neutraliza-<br>tion); expensive | Austin and<br>Blanchfield (1996);<br>AOAC (1995)   |
| <i>In vitro</i><br>Passive<br>haemagglutina-<br>tion assay<br>(PHA) | RBCs coupled to anti-<br>neurotoxin aggregate in<br>presence of specific<br>BoNT                                                             | 0.8-2.0<br>MLD₅₀                                  | Reaction visible to eye     | Cross reactions<br>between serotypes;<br>inability to distinguish<br>between serotypes                                                                                   | Johnson et al.<br>(1966); Balding et<br>al. (1973) |
| Radioimmuno-<br>assay (RIA)                                         | Competitive binding to specific anti-neurotoxin by radiolabeled BoNT                                                                         | 400-3,000<br>MLD₅₀/mL<br>to<br>80-100<br>MLD₅₀/mL | Specificity                 | Poor sensitivity, use<br>of radioactive materi-<br>als                                                                                                                   | Boroff and Chen<br>(1973); Ashton et<br>al. (1985) |

### TABLE 1.13. Comparison of methods to detect botulinum neurotoxin

)

-----

| TABLE 1.13. | Comparison of methods | to detect botulinum | neurotoxin | (cont'd) |
|-------------|-----------------------|---------------------|------------|----------|
|-------------|-----------------------|---------------------|------------|----------|

j.

|    | Method                                          | Principle                                                                                                                                         | Sensitivity                                     | Advantages                                                                                                                                                                     | Disadvantages                                                                                                                                                                                   | Reference(s)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        |
|----|-------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
|    | Gel diffusion<br>assay                          | BoNT diffuses through<br>gel to form complex<br>(precipitin) with bound<br>antisera                                                               | 0.2-2.5<br>MLD₅₀/mL<br>to<br>10-100<br>MLD₅₀/mL | Specificity                                                                                                                                                                    | Poor sensitivity; time<br>consuming, complex<br>procedure                                                                                                                                       | Vermilyea et al.<br>(1968); Guilfoyle<br>and Mestrandrea<br>(1980)                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |
| 41 | Enzyme-linked<br>immunosorbant<br>assay (ELISA) | BoNT is captured<br>(directly or indirectly) by<br>anti-neurotoxin to solid<br>plate and then detected<br>with another labeled<br>anti-neurotoxin | 50-100<br>MLD₅₀/mL<br>to<br><10 pg/mL           | simple, rapid, high<br>throughput capacity;<br>amplification steps<br>can increase sensitiv-<br>ity; polyclonal antibod-<br>ies can increase<br>specificity; ease of<br>typing | expensive reagents;<br>inability to distinguish<br>between active and<br>inactive BoNT; cross<br>reactivity with other<br>serotypes or NTHNN<br>complex proteins; low<br>sensitivity (possibly) | Notermans et al.<br>(1978); Dezfulian<br>and Bartlett (1984;<br>1991);Ferreira et<br>al. (1987); Modi et<br>al. (1988); Gibson<br>et al. (1987;1988);<br>Potter et al. (1993);<br>Doellgast et al.<br>(1994); Ekong et<br>al. (1995); Szilagyi<br>et al. (1999);<br>Ferreira (2001) |
|    | Selective<br>media/<br>immunoblot/<br>ELISA     | BoNT produced by<br><i>C. botulinum</i> colonies<br>isolated with selective<br>agar are detected by<br>ELISA                                      | 10-10,000<br>MLD₅₀/mL                           | rapid (2⁺ days), high<br>through put                                                                                                                                           | low sensitivity                                                                                                                                                                                 | Dezfulian and<br>Bartlett (1985);<br>Goodnough et al.<br>(1993); Rodriguez<br>and Dezfulian<br>(1997)                                                                                                                                                                               |

74

| TABLE 1.13. | Comparison of methods to detect botulinum neurotoxin (c | cont'd) |
|-------------|---------------------------------------------------------|---------|
|-------------|---------------------------------------------------------|---------|

| Method                                           | Principle                                                                                                               | Sensitivity                                               | Advantages                                                                                                   | Disadvantages                                 | Reference(s)                                                                                         |
|--------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Endopeptidase<br>- ELISA/ fluoro-<br>genic assay | detects proteolytic<br>cleavage of peptide<br>substrates (solution or<br>solid phase) by BoNT<br>using ELISA            | 0.1-0.2<br>ng/mL<br>to 0.6-4.5<br>ng/mL to<br>3.5-5 pg/mL | rapid, simple, sensi-<br>tive, specific, can<br>estimate neurotoxin<br>activity; minimal cross<br>reactivity | expensive; not<br>commercially avail-<br>able | Hallis et al. (1996);<br>Ekong et al.<br>(1997); Witcome et<br>al. (1999a, b);<br>Anne et al. (2001) |
| PCR and DNA probes                               | DNA-antiBoNT antibod-<br>ies react with BoNT and<br>are amplified by PCR                                                | 5 pg                                                      | rapid, sensitivity,<br>specificity                                                                           | false negatives from sequence variability     | Ferreira et al.<br>(1992; 1994);<br>Szabo et al.<br>(1994); Wu et al.<br>(2001)                      |
| Slot blot                                        | Membrane immobilized<br>BoNT is probed with<br>anti-BoNT antibodies<br>and detected with<br>immuno-<br>chemiluminesence | 100 pg<br>2 to 16<br>MLD                                  | rapid, simple,<br>inexpensive, can<br>quantitate neurotoxin,<br>excellent specificity                        | low sensitivity                               | Cadieux (2001)                                                                                       |

MLD<sub>50</sub> (minimum lethal dose: the highest dilution that results in the death of 50% of mice)

NTHNN: Non-toxic hemagglutinin

to 72 hours, and a further 2 to 3 days may be required for neurotoxin typing. Another disadvantage of the bioassay is the use of live animals (Table 1.13). Therefore, several alternatives to the mouse bioassay have been suggested (Table 1.13). These alternative methods have relied mainly on immunological reactivity using enzyme-linked coagulation assays (ELISAs), or catalytic activity. While such assays are promising and may offer advantages over the mouse bioassay including simplicity, rapidity, the capacity for high throughput, as well as increased specificity, these methods need to be individually standardized against the bioassay before they are adopted (Johnson and Bradshaw, 2001).

Spores of *C. botulinum* are widely distributed in the environment although type-specific distribution varies with location (Dodds, 1993a). This pathogen is commonly isolated from soil and since spores are resistant to environmental stresses, they are also found, at various levels, in a wide number of food products (Dodds, 1993b). In addition, several foods including meats, fish, vegetables as well as prepared and processed foods have been implicated in outbreaks of foodborne botulism (largely attributed to *C. botulinum* types A, B, and E) throughout the world (Hauschild, 1993 [Table 1.14]). Although most outbreaks of botulism resulting from vacuum-packaged foods have involved the production of type E neurotoxin in vacuum-packaged fish (Korkeala, 1998), vacuumpackaged ready-to-eat foods have also been involved (Table 1.14). Food packaged under MAP has been identified as a risk factor for the growth

1

TABLE 1.14. Foods implicated in selected examples of botulism outbreaks

| T/A                                                |
|----------------------------------------------------|
| T/B                                                |
| T/B                                                |
| T/B                                                |
| T/A                                                |
| T/A                                                |
|                                                    |
| T/A                                                |
|                                                    |
| BoNT/E                                             |
| T/A                                                |
| T/B                                                |
| BoNT/E                                             |
| T/A                                                |
| 1.<br>1.<br>1.<br>1.<br>1.<br>1.<br>1.<br>1.<br>1. |

<sup>a</sup> Commercially prepared unless otherwise stated

Adapted from Aureli et al., (1996); Chaudhry et al., (1998); Korkeala (1998); IASR (1999); Peck (2002)

of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* (Farber, 1991; Hintlian and Hotchkiss, 1986; Eklund, 1993). According to Eklund (1993), several conditions must be met for foods to be considered a botulism hazard. These conditions are:

- i. the food (or ingredients) must be contaminated with *C. botulinum* spores or vegetative cells either from the environment or during further processing;
- ii. the process treatment must be inadequate to inactivate *C. botulinum* spores or the product must become contaminated after processing;
- iii. the food must support the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum;* and
- iv. the food must be acceptable and must be consumed without further cooking, or after insufficient heating, to inactivate pre-formed neurotoxin.

Each of these conditions must be reviewed in detail in order to assess the botulism risk of MAP high-moisture bakery products stored at ambient temperature. Microbiological challenge testing of foods is valuable for providing information on the kinds of micororganisms that will grow in a food product as well as identifying the conditions under which growth can occur and therefore can be useful in assessing the risk of botulism in bakery products. If such products are indeed determined to pose a risk of botulism, then barriers to the growth of *C. botulinum* need to be incorporated into these products to prevent toxicity.

# 1.2.7 Contamination of bakery ingredients and final baked products with proteolytic spores or vegetative cells of *C. botulinum*

Contamination of finished bakery products could potentially result from the presence of spores in the bakery ingredients or from post-processing environmental contamination.

#### 1.2.7.1 Flour

*Clostridium botulinum* types A and B spores are ubiquitously found in soil and in agricultural and animal products (Austin and Dodds, 2001; Austin, 2001). Since wheat-flour is the major ingredient used in most bakery formulations, it could be a potential source of contamination of spores of *C. botulinum*.

Several extensive surveys have been conducted on the microbiology of flour (Holtman, 1935; Castell, 1944; James and Smith, 1948; Thatcher et al., 1953; Hesseltine and Graves, 1966; Capparelli and Mata, 1975; Rogers and Hesseltine, 1978; Seiler 1988; Rosenkvist and Hansen, 1995). All of these surveys have shown a consistent pattern of contamination of flour with a heterogeneous mixture of moulds, yeasts and bacteria. In an extensive survey of flours from fifty Canadian mills, Thatcher et al. (1953) reported that the microflora of flour consisted of moulds, mesophilic nonsporeforming and spore-forming bacteria as well as aerobic and anaerobic thermophilic spores (Table 1.15). The dominant mould species were *Asper*-

gillus and Penicillium spp. while Flavobacterium, Bacillus, Achromobacter and Serratia spp. were the predominant bacteria found in the finished flours (Thatcher et al. 1953). Capparelli and Mata (1975) examined the microflora of corn flour used to make tortillas. A similar contamination profile of wheat flour was observed with yeasts, coliforms, *B. cereus*, *Staphylococcus* spp. and facultative, non-pathogenic thermophilic clostridia being isolated from all corn-flour samples tested (Capparelli and Mata, 1975). Rogers and Hesseltine (1978) examined the microflora of both wheat and wheat flour from six areas of the United States. Bacterial counts were low and ranged from 5,000 to 10,000 CFU/g with aerobic thermophilic sporeforming and thermophilic flat-sour spore-forming bacteria being detected, albeit it in low numbers (<10 spores/g [Rogers and Hesseltine, 1978]). Seiler (1988) examined a large number of flours from UK mills over an eight year period. These results confirmed previous surveys that found flours to be contaminated with mostly mould spores, non-spore-forming bacteria (pseudomonads, Erwinia spp., Escherichia coli and S. aureus), with Bacillus spp. being the predominant spore-forming bacteria found. More recently, Rosenkvist and Hansen (1995) found B. subtilis (70%), B. licheniformis (24%), B. pumilus (2%), and B. cereus (2%) to be the predominant spp. in wheat flour used in the manufacture of whole wheat bread. Accordinging to Elliot (1980), the "occasional spores of C. botulinum would be expected to be present in flour". Furthermore, Bell and Kyriakides (2000) have also suggested that "the contamination of both wheat and flour with C. botulinum

| Microbial group       | Counts (per g) |  |
|-----------------------|----------------|--|
| Mesophiles            |                |  |
| Total bacterial count | 400-4,516,000  |  |
| Bacterial spores      | 0-3,600        |  |
| Moulds                | 0-18,500       |  |
| Thermophiles          |                |  |
| Aerobic spores        | 0-68           |  |
| " Flat-sour" spores   | 0-32           |  |
| Anaerobic spores      | 0-23+          |  |

TABLE 1.15. Range of microbial counts in flours from fifty Canadian mills

Adapted from Thatcher et al. (1953)

*~*.,

types A and B spores is inevitable". Hauschild et al. (1988) found that out of 40 samples of dry rice-, oat-, barley- and mixed cereal, one sample of rice cereal was contaminated with spores of C. botulinum. Spores of proteolytic C. botulimun type B have been found in barley, rye and other grain haylage as well as bakery waste fed to cattle that fatally contracted botulism (Divers et al., 1986; Notermans et al., 1981b, Keltch et al., 2000). Similarly, C. botulinum type C or D has been isolated from corn and bakery waste fed to cows that died from bovine botulism (Gray and Bulgin, 1982; Heider et al., 2001). While C. botulinum types C and D do not cause human botulism, the fact that they have been found in grain and bakery products does suggest the possibility of types A and B spores also being present. However, none of these surveys specifically reported the presence of spores of proteolytic C. botulinum in wheat or in flour. Indeed, while several extensive surveys have been done on the microbiology of flour, there is a paucity of data regarding both the incidence and levels of C. botulinum in grain-based bakery ingredients. While clostridial spores have been detected in flour, the species tend to be thermophilic in nature and more of a spoilage concern, particularly in canned products where they may be used as ingredients (Elliot, 1980). This does not mean that spores of proteolytic C. botulinum are absent in these ingredients since the methodology used in all of the previous microbiological surveys of flour and spices would not specifically detect C. botulinum. This can only be achieved by adding designated quantities of these ingredients directly to broth medium capable of

supporting the growth of *C. botulinum* (i.e., cooked meat medium [CMM] or trypticase peptone glucose yeast [TPGY] broth) and incubating at  $35^{\circ}$ C to  $37^{\circ}$ C for several days. Cultures would then have to be assayed for botulinum neurotoxin (BoNT) using the mouse bioassay. Only cultures that were toxic to mice, and subsequently neutralized with appropriate typespecific antisera to BoNT, would be considered positive for *C. botulinum*. However, according to Notermans et al. (1997), even though statistically valid sampling plans may be used in surveys, they are unlikely to provide a reliable indication of the true level of contamination since i) only a small proportion of food can be tested and ii) the microorganisms in foods are rarely uniformly distributed. In the absence of sound empirical data confirming the presence and levels of spores of proteolytic *C. botulinum* in flour, spices, and other ingredients, it is impossible to determine the probability of contamination by this pathogen or accurately assess the botulism risk of these bakery ingredients.

#### 1.2.7.2 Spices, herbs, fruits, and vegetables

While flour is the main ingredient in most bakery products, other ingredients such as spices, herbs as well as fresh or dried fruits or vegetables could be potential sources of contamination by spores of proteolytic *C. botulinum* (Bell and Kyriakides, 2000). According to the Advisory Committee for the Microbiological Safety of Food (ACMSF, [2000]), "the addition of spices to some par-baked breads stored at ambient temperature could potentially contaminate the products with spores of *C. botulinum*, as well as leading to localized areas of higher a<sub>w</sub> and/or pH".

Extensive surveys have also been done to assess the microbiological quality of dried spices and herbs. According to Pivnick (1980) spices are not major contributors to foodborne disease. However spore-forming microorganisms capable of causing foodborne illness (i.e., B. cereus and C. perfringens) have been found in small numbers in several spices. Kim and Goepfert (1971) examined a large number of spices and other dry food ingredients and found *B. cereus* in most products at levels between 1,000 and 5,000 CFU/g. The incidence of contamination with this sporeforming pathogen was seasoning mixes (55%), spices (40%), dry potatoes (40%) and milk powder (37.5%). Kadis et al. (1971) examined several spices used in the production of gravy bases and found anaerobic, thermophilic sporeforming bacteria in all spices tested and concluded that the risk of foodborne illnesses from gravies prepared from commercial gravy bases was minimal. Julseth and Deibel (1974) examined the microbial profile of selected spices and herbs at import, and while thermophilic spore-formers were found, no pathogenic bacteria were found in the products tested. Powers et al. (1976) examined several commercial spices including bay leaves, red pepper, chili powder, cinnamon, garlic powder, mustard powder and oregano. C. perfringens was found in 15% of samples with counts ranging from 50 to 2,850 CFU/g. However, B. cereus was again the predominant spore-forming microorganism isolated, and was found in 53% of spices-with counts ranging from 50 to 8,500 CFU/g. Draughton et al. (1980) examined the microbial flora of spices used in the formulation of Mexicanstyle sauces. The most commonly isolated microorganisms were again *Bacillus* spp. (83% of samples) while *C. perfringens* was present in low numbers in a few samples. Rozanova et al. (cited by Notermans [1993]) isolated *C. botulinum* from fresh parsley and dill. However, although *C. botulinum* spores are frequently isolated from fresh produce, there are few specific reports of their presence in herbs and spices. As with surveys of flour, this paucity of information on the incidence of *C. botulinum* may be a result of the methodology used in surveys of spices.

Even if *C. botulinum* is present in spices in low numbers, there is some evidence that certain spices and their essential oils may have an antibotulinal effect (De Wit et al., 1979; Huhtanen, 1980; Hall and Maurer, 1985; Ismaiel and Pierson, 1990a,b; Kim and Foegeding, 1993a). Hall and Maurer (1985) reported that extracts of mace (31-ppm), bay leaf (125-ppm) and nutmeg (125-ppm) inhibited neurotoxin production by proteolytic strains of *C. botulinum* in turkey frankfurter slurries. Ismaiel and Pierson (1990b) studied the effects of clove, thyme, black pepper, pimenta, origanum, garlic, onion and cinnamon oils on the growth and germination of *C. botulinum* types A, B and E. They found that while garlic best inhibited spore germination, 50% to 100% inhibition of growth of *C. botulinum* resulted from clove, thyme, cinnamon, pimento and origanum oils at levels of 100 ppm to 200 ppm (Ismaiel and Pierson, 1990b). Liu (2000) has also shown an antibotulinal effect of spices in formulated value-added seafood products. However, the anti-botulinal effect of spices and/or their essential oils cannot be assumed to negate the potential hazard of outgrowth of contaminating spores of *C. botulinum*. Outbreaks of botulism have resulted from consumption of garlic bread prepared from a garlic-in-oil product (Solomon and Kautter, 1988; Morse et al., 1990) and fried onions (MacDonald et al., 1985; Solomon and Kautter, 1986) although both oils have been shown to have an anti-botulinal effect (De Wit et al., 1979; Ismaiel and Pierson, 1990).

Fruits and vegetables, particularly those in contact with soil or organic material, may be contaminated with *C. botulinum* spores (Notermans, 1993; Hauschild, 1989). Although good agricultural and horticultural practices may reduce the level of contamination, according to Notermans (1993), the "presence of *C. botulinum* on raw fruits and vegetables must always be considered". Growth of *C. botulinum* and neurotoxin production has been demonstrated in several fruits and vegetables including potatoes, spinach, carrots, mushrooms, pumpkin, squash, tomato, apricots, and figs particularly under non-acid conditions (Insalata et al., 1970; Hauschild et al., 1975; Ito et al., 1978; Dodds, 1989; Notermans, 1993; Austin et al., 1998). Furthermore, outbreaks of foodborne botulism have been caused by a variety of fruits and vegetables (potatoes, peppers, tomatoes, potatoes, mushrooms, onions, garlic, olives, peanuts, and hazelnut purée (Chou et al.1988; Angulo et al., 1998; Barker et al., 1977; O'Mahony et al., 1990; Casillas et al., 1978;

Solomon and Kautter, 1988; Notermans, 1993) all of which have been used in the production of sweet and savory bakery foods. Several cases of botulism have been linked to the consumption of garlic-buttered bread. The causative agent in this case was garlic-in-oil which had not been stored at refrigerated conditions and contained pre-formed botulinum neurotoxin (St. Louis et al., 1988; Morse et al., 1990).

#### 1.2.7.3 Other ingredients

While the presence of *C. botulinum* spores in flour has never been specifically reported, they have been occasionally isolated from other potential bakery ingredients when appropriate methodology was used to detect this pathogen in foods. Dairy products, which are used in many bakery formulations, have an extremely low incidence of *C. botulinum* spores and are seldom implicated in outbreaks of foodborne botulism (Collins-Thompson and Wood, 1993). However, spores of proteolytic *C. botulinum* type B were recovered from powdered baby formula milk that was implicated in a case of infant botulism (Peck, 2002). Although soft cheeses have occasionally been responsible for outbreaks (Meyer and Eddie, [cited in Collin-Thompson and Wood, 1993]), a recent survey of dairy foods in Italy found no spores of *C. botulinum* in raw, pasteurized or clotted milk, butter, pasteurized cream or ricotta cheese. However, low levels (<10 spores/g) of this pathogen were found in mozzarella and soft- and processed-cheeses

commonly used as pizza ingredients. Furthermore, 32% of 1,017 samples of mascarpone cream-cheese were contaminated with *C. botulinum* spores (Franciosa et al., 1999). Botulinum neurotoxin type A was also detected in seven of 878 samples of mascarpone produced at a plant involved in an outbreak of foodborne botulism (Aureli et al., 1996; Franciosa et al., 1999).

Honey is also used in some bakery formulations such as breads, cakes, cookies, muffins and bagels. Schocken-Iturrino et al. (1999) found 7% of 85 honey samples contaminated with proteolytic *C. botulinum*. Honey has also been shown to contain low levels (<1 to 10 spores/kg) of *C. botulinum* spores (Hauschild et al., 1988; Dodds, 1993b) although higher levels ( $10^3$  to  $10^4$  spores/kg) have been reported in honey associated with infant botulism (Dodds, 1993a). Therefore, while flour and spices appear to be relatively low botulism risk ingredients, other bakery ingredients may represent a higher botulism risk based on the incidence and levels of *C. botulinum* found in these ingredients. For this reason, it is best to assess the botulism risk of each bakery product independently based on the ingredients used in its formulation.

#### 1.2.7.4 Final baked products

Although bakery products have contributed to foodborne illness (Bean et al., 1996; Todd, 1996; Potter et al., 1997; Jenson et al., 1994), and MAP high-moisture bakery products have been on the North American market-

place for over twenty years, there has never been a reported outbreak of botulism involving these products, or indeed any high-moisture bakery product (Todd, 1996). While this suggests that *C. botulinum* occurs rarely, if ever, in bakery products, the number of studies that have specifically examined bakery products for *C. botulinum* are very few. Early challenge studies with *C. botulinum* type A and B spores in bread failed to detect neurotoxin in any of the uninoculated control samples (Kadavy and Dack 1951; Wagenaar and Dack 1954; Wagenaar and Dack 1959). Again, these control studies do not mean that endogenous spores of *C. botulinum* were absent in these bakery products. Spores may have been present in extremely low numbers and either failed to grow or produce neurotoxin to levels detectable by the mouse bioassay.

While outbreaks of botulism caused by bakery products have not occurred in North America, in India, a suspected outbreak of foodborne botulism that affected 34 children and resulted in three fatalities was attributed to the growth and production of botulinum neurotoxin type E by *C. butryicum* in sevu, a crisp flat-bread prepared from gram- (pulse) flour. Growth and neurotoxin production was attributed to improper storage of the implicated crisp-bread (Chaudhry et al., 1998). In Italy, an outbreak of botulism resulted from the consumption of tiramisu, a composed (i.e., un-baked) bakery product made with contaminated mascarpone cheese (Aureli et al., 1996).

While sales of bakery products with extended shelf-life are increasing in today's global marketplace, epidemiology suggests that the botulism risk of such products may be low. However, despite the outstanding safety track record of the bakery industry world wide with respect to botulism, there is still concern that the safety of high-moisture, MAP bakery products "may be reliant on a low likelihood of spores being present, which would not be a satisfactory basis for safety" (ACMSF, 2000). Furthermore, according to Lioutas (1988) "an extremely low probability of contamination does not negate the hazard of botulism, it only reduces the risk".

#### 1.2.8 Effect of heat treatment on spore survival

The second condition for foodborne botulism to occur is that the treatment process must be inadequate to inactivate any *C. botulinum* spores that are present, or the product must become contaminated with spores or vegetative cells after processing (Eklund, 1993).

Inadequate thermal processing and consequently, survival of spores of *C. botulinum* in canned products has resulted in outbreaks of botulism (Townes et al., 1996; Franciosa et al., 1997; Squarcione et al., 1999). In order to achieve desirable textural and quality attributes, most bakery products receive only a minimal heat treatment. Bread, for example, is baked at high temperature (~200°C); however, during baking, the temperature in the centre of the loaf rarely exceeds 100°C for more than a few minutes. Therefore, such heat treat-

ments will be inadequate to inactivate spores of many spore-forming bacteria due to their high thermal resistance (D-values [Bryan et al., 1997]). Spores of proteolytic C. botulinum are very heat resistant with some strains having a reported D<sub>-100°C</sub> value of 25 minutes (Austin and Dodds, 2001; Austin, 2001). Since the internal temperature of bread during baking rarely reaches >100°C. these spores will readily survive baking and have the potential to germinate, outgrow and produce neurotoxin in products stored under favourable conditions (Soloski and Cryns, 1950; Denny et al., 1969; Marston and Wannan, 1976). Aramouni et al. (1994) monitored the heating profile of home-style canned quick-breads inoculated with C. sporogenes PA-3679 (10<sup>4</sup> spores/g), a non-toxigenic clostridium that is closely related to proeteolytic strains of C. botulinum. Temperatures at the centres of the quick-breads reached 106°C. 107°C and 108°C when baked in Mason jars at oven temperatures of 177°C, 191°C and 204°C respectively for 50 minutes. These internal temperatures are higher than those desirable to produce breads of acceptable quality. Nevertheless, C. sporogenes spores survived the baking process and subsequently grew when products were stored at 35°C. These studies show that spores of proteolytic C. botulinum, if present in the flour or any other raw ingredient, could readily survive baking temperatures and could grow to toxic levels under suitable conditions. This scenario has been illustrated by an outbreak of botulism resulting from the consumption of foil-wrapped potatoes that had been baked and then held at ambient temperature prior to being used in the preparation of salad (Angulo et al., 1998). Furthermore, if products are

contaminated with either *C. botulinum* spores or vegetative cells post-processing, *C. botulinum* could grow and produce neurotoxin in the packaged products when stored at ambient temperature.

## 1.2.9 Growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in modified atmosphere packaged bakery products

The third criterion for MAP bakery products to be implicated in foodborne botulism is that both the product and the surrounding packaging atmosphere must support the growth of and neurotoxin production by C. botulinum (Eklund, 1993). High-moisture bakery products typically have a between 0.95 and 0.99 (Smith and Simpson, 1995) which exceeds the growth-limiting aw of 0.94 and 0.97 for proteolytic and non-proteolytic strains of C. botulinum respectively (Table 1.12 and Austin and Dodds, 2001). While some high-moisture bakery products such as fruit pies and sourdough breads may have low pH (<4.5), which restricts the growth of C. botulinum, most products have pH levels conducive to the growth of this important pathogen. However, it is also important to understand that both the pH and a<sub>w</sub> of bakery products may fluctuate during storage. Such changes may result from moisture redistribution, and chemical or microbiological activity, and can therefore play a critical role in product safety. For example, icing which has a low aw, is not usually a microbiological problem. However, the interface between cake and icing may have a much higher aw due to moisture migration which encourages microbial growth. Silliker and McHugh (1967) reported such an incident in which S. aureus grew at the interface of

cake and icing. The microbial ecology of a product can also influence product pH. Although lactic acid bacteria may reduce the pH and enhance product safety (Lyver et al., 1998; 1999), yeasts and moulds such as *Penicillium, Mycoderma, Trichosporon*, and *Cladosporium* spp. may increase local pH to levels conducive to growth, although the overall pH may remain <4.6 (Odlaug and Pflug, 1979; Notermans, 1993). Botulinum neurotoxin was detected in low acid tomatoes (<pp 4.6) in which *B. licheniformis* had grown and increased product pH to levels favorable to the growth of *C. botulinum* (Montville, 1982). These studies show that food is a complex substrate and that the effect of possible physical, chemical, enzymatic and microbiological events need to be taken under consideration when assessing the potential of the product to support growth of *C. botulinum*.

#### 1.2.9.1 Packaging conditions

Packaging conditions such as gas packaging that excludes  $O_2$ , vacuum packaging, or packaging in airtight conditions including jars or cans in which spoilage organisms may consume residual headspace  $O_2$ , also favour the growth of *C. botulinum* (Aramouni et al., 1994; Austin et al., 1998). Packaging atmospheres for MAP bakery products include  $CO_2$ . Microorganisms differ considerably in their sensitivity to  $CO_2$  and this sensitivity is related to their requirements for  $O_2$ . The antimicrobial effect of  $CO_2$  is influenced by the microbial load, the stage of growth, the concentration of  $CO_2$ , temperature and package permeability (Smith et al., 1990). Carbon dioxide is most effective against aerobic bacteria and moulds, with concentrations of CO<sub>2</sub> as low as 5% to 10% being used to suppress growth of these microorganisms (Legan and Voysey, 1991; Ooraikul, 1991; Smith, 1992). However, gas-packaged bakery products are typically stored with higher amounts of CO<sub>2</sub> (Table 1.16). C. botulinum is not inhibited by elevated levels of CO<sub>2</sub> commonly used in gas-packaging of bakery products and spore germination may actually be stimulated by elevated levels of this gas. Although Coyne (1933) reported that CO<sub>2</sub> inhibited C. sporogenes, Parekh and Solberg (1970) reported no difference on the growth of C. perfringens in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> or 100% N<sub>2</sub>. Doyle (1983) showed that growth and neurotoxin production by vegetative cells of C. botulinum were delayed with one atm  $pCO_2$  relative to one atm  $pN_2$ ; however, even at elevated pressures (8.8 atm  $pCO_2$ ), neurotoxin production was not completely prevented. Furthermore, there is evidence that  $CO_2$  enhances germination of spores and growth of C. botulinum depending on the concentration (Foegeding and Busta, 1983; Kim and Foegeding, 1993b).

Although most atmospheres used for gas-packaged bakery products are composed of mixtures of  $CO_2$  and  $N_2$  only, the exclusion of  $O_2$  in the package atmosphere is not a prerequisite for growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*. There is substantial evidence that *C. botulinum* can grow in air-packaged foods and in products containing high levels (20% to 100% [vol/vol]) of  $O_2$  in the package headspace (Snyder, 1996; Clavero et

|                 |     | % Gas (vol/vol) |                |
|-----------------|-----|-----------------|----------------|
|                 | CO2 | N <sub>2</sub>  | O <sub>2</sub> |
| Sliced bread    | 100 |                 |                |
| Rye bread       | 100 |                 |                |
| Buns            | 100 |                 |                |
| Brioche         | 100 |                 | —              |
| Cakes           | 100 | _               |                |
| Maderia cake    | 65  | 35              |                |
| Madeira cake    | 80  | 20              |                |
| Tea cakes       | 50  | 50              |                |
| Danish pastries | 50  | 50              |                |
| Crèpes          | 60  | 40              | _              |
| Croissants      | 100 |                 |                |
| Crumpets        | 100 |                 |                |
| Crumpets        | 60  | 40              |                |
| Pita bread      | 99  | 1               | _              |
| Pita bread      | 73  | 27              |                |

TABLE 1.16. Typical gas mixtures used in gas-packaged bakery products

Adapted from Goodburn and Halligan (1988); Ooraikul (1991)

al., 2000; Dufresne et al., 2000a, b). Whiting and Naftulin (1992) found that spores of proteolytic *C. botulinum* germinated in  $\leq$ 1% oxygen and that vegetative cells could grow in 15% oxygen. Spore germination can occur at higher oxidation-reduction growth. However, once germination is initiated, growth may be rapid as the ORP is rapidly reduced due to spore metabolic activitymination can occur at higher oxidation-reduction potential (ORP) values than (Kim and Foegeding, 1993b). Furthermore, pockets of food may be sufficiently anaerobic, or have ORPs conducive to germination and growth and although the optimum ORP for growth is -350 mV, growth may be initiated at +30 to +250 mV (Kim and Foegeding, 1993b). Several researchers have recommended that atmospheres containing altered levels of CO<sub>2</sub> be considered cautiously (Hintlian and Hotchkiss, 1986; Farber, 1991; Austin et al., 1998). It is also important to realize that respiratory and fermentative activity by spoilage microorganisms can contribute to the CO<sub>2</sub> level within the packaged product (Smith and Simpson, 1995).

#### 1.2.9.2 Substrate

The potential of bakery products to be a suitable substrate for the growth of proteolytic strains of *C. botulinum* has been well established in several inoculation studies. Although Edmonston et al. (1923) were unable to recover *C. botulinum* from two loaves of bread that had been inoculated before baking and then stored at room temperature for two days, Bever and

Halvorson (1947) demonstrated that neurotoxin could be produced by C. botulinum in a medium of sterile bread crumbs containing calcium or sodium propionate at levels of 0.2% to 1.4% when the pH of the medium was between 4.5 and 9.6. Concern was also expressed about the safety of canned bread intended for military rations (Soloski and Cryns, 1950). Subsequent studies confirmed that canned bread could support growth and neurotoxin production and determined that the conditions necessary for the safe production of this product would be a pH <5.4 and a moisture content of 35% (corresponding to a of ~0.95 [Ulrich and Halvorson, 1949; Soloski and Cryns, 1950; Kadavy and Dack, 1951]). However, increasing the pH of the product, even slightly, resulted in toxigenesis. Growth and neurotoxin production was observed in inoculated canned bread of pH 5.8 and a moisture content >36% and in canned steamed chocolate nut-bread at pH 6.8 and 36% moisture (Wagenaar and Dack, 1954;1960). Bread of pH 4.8 was determined to be safe as no growth occurred, and furthermore, the number of inoculated spores decreased during ambient storage in an equilibrium relative humidity (ERH) of 97% (Ingram and Handford, 1957). However, the safety of the bread depended on maintaining its pH throughout storage as spores were still viable after six months. Temperature differences within the canned bread that occurred during freezing, thawing or reheating, resulted in moisture migration and uneven moisture distribution in the bread (Weckel et al., 1964). The pH of thawed canned bread was unchanged but the pH (5.5 to 6.7) of the moisture that developed within the can was high enough to support the growth of *C. botulinum*. These early studies demonstrate the need for the incorporation of multiple barriers into a food product to ensure its safety, particularly in products stored at ambient temperature. Canned military ration bread has been replaced by a bread product that is re- formulated to include preservatives and humectants and that is packaged with an oxygen absorbent (Powers and Berkowitz, 1990). Although bread is no longer canned for military rations, canned breads are commercially available in Japan and in South Africa (Lombard et al., 2000).

Home-style canned quick-breads, often containing fruits, nuts and vegetables, are baked sometimes in Mason jars and subsequently hermetically sealed before cooling to form a vacuum. Such breads are available by mail order and are promoted in magazines and on the Internet and claim to have a shelf-life at room temperature of six months or longer. Furthermore, although no longer recommended by suppliers of commercial canning jars, instructions for home preparation and storage of canned quick-bread and cake products are still available in print and on the Internet. Aramouni et al. (1994) demonstrated the survival and growth of *C. sporogenes* PA 3679 spores inoculated into home-style canned banana nut bread, and in addition, isolated endogenous spores of *C. sporogenes*. These authors concluded that further work was needed to determine the safe processing procedures for this type of product.

All of these challenge studies clearly demonstrate that many high-moisture bakery products, depending on their aw and pH, are ideal

substrates for the growth of *C. botulinum*. Furthermore, if contaminated with spores of proteolytic *C. botulinum*, either pre- or post-baking, spores could outgrow and produce neurotoxin regardless of the packaging atmosphere surrounding the product.

### 1.2.10 Acceptability and consumption of products containing pre-formed botulinum neurotoxin

The final condition necessary for botulism to result from consumption of contaminated bakery products is that the food must be acceptable and must be consumed without further cooking, or after insufficient heating, to inactivate pre-formed neurotoxin.

#### 1.2.10.1 Sensory and shelf-life studies

Although MAP can extend the shelf-life of bakery products by reduction of spoilage microorganisms, the loss of competitive microflora may enhance the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*. Consequently, toxigenesis may precede spoilage, which is a highly dangerous scenario. Toxigenesis has been shown to precede spoilage in fresh pasta (Glass and Doyle, 1991), in raw and vacuum-packaged baked potato (Sugiyama et al., 1981; Solomon et al., 1998), in N<sub>2</sub> packaged sandwiches (Kautter et al., 1981), and in cold- and hot-smoked fish packaged under various modified atmospheres (Dufresne et al., 2000b).

While MAP extends the shelf-life and keeping guality of high-moisture bakery products, secondary spoilage problems can still occur. Examples of these problems include discoloration, off-odors, staling and gas production by surviving spore-forming bacteria (e.g. C. sporogenes or Bacillus spp.) or by post-processing contaminants, such as heterofermentative strains of lactic acid bacteria or yeasts from the bakery environment. Such gas production can result in packages or cans having a blown appearance and being rejected by consumers (Powers et al., 1988; Aramouni et al., 1994; Smith and Simpson, 1995; 1996). Mould growth can also occur in MAP bakery products as a result of low levels of residual O<sub>2</sub> in the package headspace. Smith et al. (1986) showed that moulds were capable of growing in as low as 0.6% O<sub>2</sub>, and even grew in the presence of elevated levels (60% to 80%) of headspace  $CO_2$ . All of these spoilage problems can occur alone or in conjunction with each other to limit the sensory quality, and hence shelf-life of MAP bakery products. While MAP can extend shelf-life by reducing spoilage microorganisms, the loss of competitive microflora may enhance the growth of other spore-forming bacteria in addition to C. botulinum. Background microflora such as Bacillus spp. and Pænibacillus polymyxa may also influence product safety through production of peptides with anti-botulinal activity as shown in recent challenge studies with value-added fish nuggets (Lyver et al., 1998; 1999) and vegetable purées (Girardin et al., 2002).

Nevertheless, there is a paucity of data on the sensory acceptability and safety of MAP bakery products if they are contaminated with C. botulinum spores. Such information is critical to the determination of whether spoilage precedes toxigenesis or vice versa and the margin of safety in such MAP products. These studies confirm earlier studies that bakery products are a suitable substrate for the growth of C. botulinum. Furthermore, they demonstrate that if such high-moisture products are contaminated with C. botulinum, they could, depending on their shelf-life, pose a serious health hazard since they could be toxic yet still be acceptable to the consumer. In challenge studies, spoilage preceding toxigenesis is generally considered to decrease the risk of toxic products being consumed. However, overt spoilage cannot always be regarded as a reliable barrier of food safety. Fortunately, there have been no reported outbreaks of botulism caused by bakery products in North America. However, it must be assumed that the crisp-bread (sevu) involved in the reported outbreak of botulism in India was sensorially acceptable at the time of toxigenesis (Chaudhry et al., 1998 and Table 1.14) and in addition, the tiramisu responsible for a botulism outbreak in Italy was consumed although it was described as being malodourous at the time of consumption (Aureli et al., 1996 and Table 1.14).

Clearly, more research is required on the safety, shelf-life and sensory characteristics of high-moisture bakery products with extended shelf-life. Sensory data from one set of challenge studies cannot be extrapolated to other products due to differences in products' a<sub>w</sub>, pH, packaging and storage conditions.

#### **1.2.10.2 Effect of heating on pre-formed neurotoxin**

Since most bakery goods are "cook and hold" products and are not heated prior to consumption, there is no additional safety margin for destroying neurotoxin that may have been formed in a product during storage. While some products may be toasted and par-baked products may be minimally baked to brown the crust, temperatures, which would only reach 70°C to 80°C at the centres of these products, may be insufficient to inactivate all pre-formed neurotoxin. Simpson (1993) showed that microwave heating for five and ten minutes at half- and full-power in a domestic microwave oven (800-W) destroyed pre-formed neurotoxin in a sous-vide spaghetti-meat-sauce product. The internal temperature of products heated at half- and full-power for 5 and 10 minutes ranged from 85°C to 95°C and from 95°C to 99°C respectively. While the levels of neurotoxin were not measured either prior to or following microwave heating, it was evident from the mouse bioassay that microwaving denatured the pre-formed neurotoxin in the sous-vide product. However, microwave heating or any other form of heating, cannot be regarded as an additional safety factor to reduce the botulinum risk of MAP minimally-processed bakery products. This can only be achieved through

good manufacturing practices as well as the use of additional barriers to control the growth of *C. botulinum* in order to ensure product safety.

#### 1.2.11 Measures to control growth of C. botulinum

Although cases of foodborne botulism are rare, the severity of the intoxication means that the potential for growth of and neurotoxin production by this pathogen in bakery products should be seriously considered on a case-by-case basis and barriers to the growth of and neurotoxin production by this pathogen may need to be incorporated into the bakery product and/or its package to ensure product safety.

#### 1.2.11.1 Water activity and pH

The a<sub>w</sub> of bakery products is one of the most important factors influencing the growth and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*. Denny et al. (1969) demonstrated the importance of a<sub>w</sub> on the growth of proteolytic *C. botulinum*. In seven varieties of inoculated canned, low-acid fruit- and vegetable-breads stored for up to six years, neurotoxin was produced at a<sub>w</sub> >0.955 but not at a<sub>w</sub> ≤0.955. Of all breads with a<sub>w</sub> between 0.955 and 0.977, 50% became toxic within two years. *C. botulinum* did not grow or produce neurotoxin in low acid, apple coffee cake or spice cake with an a<sub>w</sub> of 0.93 when inoculated with 10<sup>5</sup> spores/g and incubated at 30°C (Powers et al., 1988). Reduction of a<sub>w</sub> can be achieved through the addition of solutes such as sugars, salts, polyalcohols or fractionated milk products. However, a limitation of this approach, particularly with high-moisture bakery products, is that the inhibitory level of required solutes may result in adverse changes to the sensory and textural properties of products. While the use of humec-tants (e.g., glycerol) may overcome this problem, it is a more costly approach.

Another barrier which can be used to enhance safety is pH. Reduction of pH can be achieved through the use of acidulants such as organic acids (e.g., citric, lactic, acetic acids) or cultures of lactic acid bacteria (e.g., sourdough cultures). Growth and neurotoxin production were inhibited in cooked shelf-stable noodles acidified to pH <4.6. However, neurotoxin production occurred in one sample of noodles in which the pH had increased as a result of microbial growth, demonstrating the importance of incorporating multiple barriers to the growth of *C. botulinum* (Ikawa, 1991).

Combinations of inhibitory factors often function interdependently in food. Studies in media (Baird-Parker and Freame, 1967; Montville, 1983) have demonstrated that decreasing either a<sub>w</sub> or pH has the effect of increasing the minimum level of the other factor required for growth of *C. botulinum*. Dodds (1989) reported that neurotoxin production in vacuum-packaged cooked potato was significantly affected by storage temperature, a<sub>w</sub>, pH as well as interactions between i) a<sub>w</sub> and pH; and ii) a<sub>w</sub> and storage time.

#### 1.2.11.2 Selected additional barriers to the growth of C. botulinum

Leistner (1994) has described how combinations of restrictive factors (a<sub>w</sub>, pH, temperature and competing microflora) can be used as multiple barriers that act in concert to provide a hurdle effect to microbiological growth by targeting distinct metabolic processes. Such hurdles may act individually, additively or synergistically to restrict growth.

Chemical or natural preservatives may have such action and as described by King (1981) should possess the following features: i) exhibit a broad antimicrobial spectrum; ii) be non-toxic to humans; iii) be effective at low concentrations; iv) have a minimal effect on pH of products; v) not affect the odour, colour, and/or flavour of products at the intended level of use; vi) be available in a dry form; vii) have good water solubility; viii) be non-corrosive; ix) be stable during storage; x) have no adverse effects on fermentation or loaf characteristics; and xi) be cost effective.

Sorbates and propionates have been traditionally used in bakery products as antimicrobial agents, largely to delay spoilage from moulds and *Bacillus* spp. (O'Leary and Kralovec, 1941; Seiler, 1968). The effectiveness of weak acid preservatives depends largely on the pH of the product and dissociation constant (pKa) of the acid since the undissociated molecule must penetrate the phospholipid bacterial cell wall. Factors which may decrease the effectiveness of preservatives in bakery products include pH >pKa of the preservative and decreased solubility at ambient temperature.
Propionic acid or its salts, at levels permitted in bread (0.2%), were ineffective in preventing neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in canned bread (pH 5.4 [Kadavy and Dack, 1951]) or in a medium of bread crumbs (Bever and Halvorson, 1947). However, propionates have been effective at higher concentrations (Miller et al., 1993). A level of 6% was needed before significant delay was observed. While higher levels of propionates may delay the growth of *C. botulinum*, such levels, even if they were legally permitted, would result in off-flavours and sensory rejection of baked products.

Sorbic acid can also inhibit growth and neurotoxin production at pH <6 (Ando, 1973; Smoot and Pierson, 1981). Lund et al. (1987) demonstrated that inhibition of *C. botulinum* by sorbic acid is mainly due to the undissociated acid and developed a model for the probability of growth of a single spore in media between pH 4.9 and 7.0. They concluded that 1,000 mg/kg sorbic acid, in combination with other inhibitory factors would likely provide effective control against the growth of *C. botulinum* in foods at pH 4.5 to 5.5. Briozzo et al. (1985) reported that 0.3% potassium sorbate effectively controlled *C. botulinum* neurotoxin production in a model cheese system when the  $a_w$  was reduced to 0.974 and the pH reduced to 5.7. However, since most bakery products, with the exception of sour-dough, have pH >5, chemical preservatives lose their antimicrobial effect due to their low dissociation constants.

#### 1.2.11.3 Potential novel barriers

Consumers are becoming more aware and concerned about the use of food preservatives, and consequently, are demanding more preservativefree food. In a recent survey conducted by Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, 75% of consumers were concerned about the levels of preservatives in food products while only 19% were concerned about irradiation. The response by the food industry to these concerns has been to use more natural preservatives such as cultured products and vinegar as well as MAP to extend the shelf-life of bakery products. Furthermore, the gases used in MAP ( $CO_2$ ,  $N_2$ ) are natural and do not need to be declared on a product's label (Smith and Simpson, 1996).

Ethanol, which is well known for its anti-mycotic effect, has been used in the shelf-life extension of MAP bakery products. Ethanol has been shown to increase the mould-free shelf-life of bread (Seiler, 1978; 1989; Seiler and Russell, 1991; Vora and Sidhu, 1987; Salminen et al., 1996), par-baked pizza (Seiler, 1989), pita bread (El-Khoury, 1999) and pasta (Giavedoni et al., 1994). Ethanol vapour has also been reported to inhibit fermentation in apple turnovers (Smith et al., 1987) as well as yeast and mould growth in pita bread (Black et al., 1993). Although Hall and Spencer (1964) observed a three- to five-day increase in the shelf-life of chickens that had been pre-dipped in ethanol, very little is known about the effect of ethanol on bacteria in food. In media, bacteria vary in their response to ethanol. Yamamoto et al. (1984) found that low levels (0 to 2%) of ethanol inhibited germination of spores of B. subtilis and B. pumilus to vegetative cells. Cook and Pierson (1983), using a nutrient broth, inhibited C. botulinum type A with 10% ethanol; however, a minimum inhibitory concentration was not reported. Furthermore, it was not clear whether inhibition was reversible or not. Ethanol has been shown to be more effective in the vapour phase than in the liquid phase (Shapero et al., 1978). Therefore, a practical and safe method of generating ethanol vapour in MAP bakery products is through the use of ethanol vapour-generating sachets. These commercially available interactive sachets (Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or Antimold<sup>®</sup> 102; Freund Company Ltd., Japan) consist of food grade alcohol (55% by weight) absorbed on to silicon dioxide powder (35%) and contained in a sachet made of a copolymer of paper/ethyl vinyl acetate copolymer. Vanilla is also added to mask the smell of ethanol. Sachet sizes range from 0.6-G to 6-G containing 0.3 g to 3 g ethanol that can be evaporated and the choice of sachet depends on i) product weight; ii) product aw; and iii) the desired product shelf-life. When food is packed with an Ethicap® sachet, moisture is absorbed from the food and ethanol vapour is released from encapsulation and permeates the package headspace. However, both the initial and final level of ethanol vapour in the package headspace is a function of sachet size and product aw. Another type of ethanol vapour generator produced by Freund, is Negamold<sup>®</sup>. This dual functional sachet absorbs oxygen and generates ethanol, albeit it at ~50% of the ethanol vapour generated by Ethicap<sup>®</sup>

sachets. Ethanol vapour may warrant investigation as an agent to control growth of *C. botulinum* in high-moisture bakery proucts. However, the effectiveness of ethanol vapour may be limited by the water activity of high-moisture bakery products since ethanol is more effective at low a<sub>w</sub> (Shapero et al., 1978).

Additional barriers to the growth of and neurotoxin production by C. botulinum in MAP bakery products, in addition to enhancing the safety and shelf-life of the food, should be ideally "natural barriers" since modifiedatmosphere packaging appeals to consumers' and processors' concerns about "preservative-free" foods. Many such antimicrobial compounds can be found from microbial, plant and animal sources. Other novel barriers investigation anti-botulinal barriers warrant as are which may bio-preservatives (e.g., nisin) and antimicrobial essential oils, such as oil of mastic. These barriers have both proven effective in the control of B. cereus, a spore-forming pathogen of concern in high-moisture crumpets (Koukoutsis, 2002).

Biologically based preservation of food has been achieved using lactic acid bacteria (LAB) and/or their metabolic products, to improve or ensure the safety and quality of foods including fermented meats, dairy products, cereals and breads and are perceived as natural and healthy. LAB may inhibit spoilage and/or pathogenic microorganisms through several modes i) *in situ* production of lactic and acetic acids which can be controlled by manipulating the fermentable carbohydrate and temperature, ii) production of diacetyl, hydrogen peroxide, and/or iii) production of bacteriocins. Sourdough cultures may have the potential to be used as an additional barrier to growth of *C. botulinum*. Sourdough bread is fermented by starter cultures which are characterised by lactic acid bacteria and yeasts which co-ferment to use otherwise unavailable carbohydrates and amino acids (Gobbetti and Corsetti, 1997). While there is abundant literature on the effects of sourdough on the flavour and improved shelf-life of bread, there is very little information available on the effect of sourdough culture on common foodborne pathogens and none to date on its effect on growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*.

Sourdough has the potential to provide an additional barrier to growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in bakery products because i) such cultures are already used in the bakery industry; ii) fermentation can be controlled to result in pH that limits growth and neurotoxin production; iii) LAB used in starter cultures produce lactic acid, acetic acid, and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> which may contribute an antibotulinal effect; and iv) inhibitory action may be achieved during fermentation and after baking. As well, adding sourdough has additional benefits of improving flavour, texture and colour (increased Maillard reaction) as well as reducing other microbial contamination.

Essential oils demonstrating antimicrobial activity generally contain a large number of compounds (Beuchat and Golden, 1989). Mastic "gum", a resinous exudate of *Pistacia lenticus* var. *chia*, is used as a food ingredient and flavoring agent, particularly in Mediterranean bakery products. Mastic

has antimicrobial activity which is largely associated with its high  $\alpha$ -pinene content (Magiatis et al., 1999). Although this essential oil has shown inhibitory activity against many bacteria and fungi including *S. aureus, Lactobacillus plantarum, B. cereus, S. enteritidis* (Tassou and Nychas, 1995; luak et al., 1996; Hussain and Tabji, 1997), the anti-botulinal effect of mastic is not known.

#### **1.3 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES**

This work has been undertaken in view of the previously justified safety concerns about high-moisture MAP bakery products stored at ambient temperature, and in addition, due to the paucity of data concerning the safety of these products with respect to *C. botulinum*. The overall objectives of this work are to determine the effect of selected additional barriers: a<sub>w</sub>, pH, level of inhibitors, ethanol, bio-preservatives, alone or in combination with each other on the growth of and neurotoxin production by proteolytic strains of *C. botulinum* in high-moisture bakery products packaged under selected modified atmospheres and stored at ambient temperature.

Specifically:

- i. To determine the potential of selected modified-atmosphere packaged high-moisture bakery products to support growth of and neurotoxin production by proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum* and to determine the timeto-toxicity of selected high-moisture bakery products packaged under various modified atmospheres.
- ii. To model the effects of a<sub>w</sub>, and pH, in combination with selected additional barriers, on the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in media and in a high-moisture bakery product.
- iii. To investigate whether the nature of the effect of ethanol against *C. botulinum* is static or cidal.

- iv. To determine the potential of mastic resin and oil as an additional barrier to the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*.
- v. To compare a rapid immunoassay with the mouse bioassay for the detection of botulinum neurotoxin in microbiological challenge studies with bakery products.

-

# **PREFACE TO CHAPTER 2.0**

A review of the literature has indicated that the potential exists for growth of *C. botulinum* in high-moisture bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres and stored at ambient temperature. Thus, a study was undertaken to determine if such bakery products could indeed support growth of and neurotoxin production by this pathogen.

#### 2.1 INTRODUCTION

Modified-atmosphere packaging (MAP) is a relatively new technology for the shelf-life extension of food. Several methods can be used to modify the atmosphere within the package including vacuum packaging, gas packaging with mixtures of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>, oxygen absorbents and ethanol vapour generators (Smith et al., 1986; Powers and Berkowitz, 1990; Smith and Simpson, 1995). Both vacuum and gas packaging have been used to extend the shelflife of fresh and processed foods in Europe and Australia, while oxygen absorbent and ethanol vapour generator technologies have been most commonly used in Japan, especially for the shelf-life extension of bakery products (Smith et al., 1990). Studies in our laboratory have shown that gas packaging and oxygen absorbent technology can be used, in conjunction with reformulation, to delay both mould growth and staling for approximately six weeks at ambient temperature (Assouad, 1996). However, little is known about the public-health safety of such reformulated/packaged bakery products. MAP conditions may favour the growth of pathogenic bacteria, particularly C. botulinum, which may grow to hazardous levels before the

food is overtly spoiled (Hintlian and Hotchkiss, 1986; Farber, 1991; Austin et al., 1998).

Although MAP of bakery products is a recent packaging technology, early studies have shown that canned bakery products are a suitable substrate for growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*. Bever and Halvorson (1947) demonstrated growth of *C. botulinum* in a medium of sterile canned bread crumbs, while others reported neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* types A and proteolytic B inoculated into canned bread (Ulrich and Halvorson, 1949; Kadavy and Dack, 1951; Wagenaar and Dack, 1954, 1959; Denny et al., 1969). However, very little is known about the ability of commercially available, modified-atmosphere packaged bakery products to support the growth of *C. botulinum*.

Therefore, the objective of this study was to determine the potential of selected high-moisture bakery products, packaged under various modified atmospheres and stored at ambient temperature, to support growth of and neurotoxin production by proteolytic *C. botulinum*.

#### **2.2 MATERIAL AND METHODS**

#### 2.2.1 Bakery products

Three high-moisture bakery products were used in this study: crumpets (a<sub>w</sub> 0.990, pH 6.00), pizza crust (a<sub>w</sub> 0.960, pH 5.62), and bagels (a<sub>w</sub> 0.944, pH 5.63). Crumpets were prepared from all-purpose flour, sugar, instant yeast, reconstituted dry milk, salt, baking soda, and antistaling amylase (Novamyl; Novo Nordisk; Danbury, CT) according to the method of Witty and Schneider Colchie (1979). Crumpets were baked by pouring 65 g of batter into greased, cylindrical moulds on an oiled griddle (Moffat Appliances; Montreal, QC) preheated to 204°C. Crumpets were baked for approximately 9 minutes until the surface was no longer wet and holes had formed on the top of the crumpets.

Pizza crusts were prepared from all-purpose flour, dry instant yeast, sugar, canola oil, salt, and amylase (Novamyl) as outlined by Hasan (1997). Pizza crusts were baked for 5 minutes at 177°C in a convection oven (Garland Convection Oven (t) TE-3,4-CH, Commercial Ranges Ltd; Mississauga, ON).

Bagels were formulated from hard-wheat white flour, malt, sugar, eggs, compressed yeast, canola oil, water, anti-staling amylase, honey and sesame seeds according to a commercial formulation. Bagels were baked on metal sheets for 18 minutes (9 minutes per side) in a Garland convection oven at 204°C.

Following baking, all bakery products were cooled to room temperature, placed in polyethylene bags, and stored at -28°C for one week until needed.

#### 2.2.2 Water activity

Water activities (a<sub>w</sub>) of crumpets, pizza crusts and bagels were determined using a previously calibrated Decagon CX-2 water activity metre (Decagon Devices, Inc; Pullman, WA).

### 2.2.3 Preparation of spore inoculum/sample inoculation

A composite inoculum of *C. botulinum* spores was prepared from four type A strains (A6, 17A, 62A, and CK2A) and five proteolytic type B strains (MRB, IB1-B, 13983IIB, 368B, and 426B). Spore crops of each strain were prepared separately, enumerated as described by Hauschild and Hilsheimer (1977), and stored at -80°C. An equal number of spores of each strain were then combined to form a single suspension of approximately  $3 \times 10^7$  spores/mL. The spore mixture was heat shocked at 75°C for 20 minutes prior to sample inoculation. Inoculum levels were verified prior to sample inoculation by plating appropriate dilutions, in duplicate, on McClung Toabe Agar (Difco, Becton-Dickinson; Sparks, MD) containing 0.5% yeast extract (Difco) and egg-yolk and incubating anaerobically in an atmosphere of 10% H<sub>2</sub>, 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, and 80% N<sub>2</sub> at 35°C for three days. Bakery products were stab inoculated at six distinct locations with 180  $\mu$ L (6 x 30  $\mu$ L) of inoculum to provide an inoculum level of 5 x 10<sup>4</sup> spores/g. Control samples were inoculated in a similar manner with an equivalent volume of 0.1% peptone water.

#### 2.2.4 Packaging

All inoculated and control crumpets, pizza, and bagels were packaged under the following atmospheres: i) air, ii) air with an AgelessFX<sup>®</sup><sub>200</sub> oxygen absorbent (Mitsubishi Gas and Chemical Company; Japan) or iii) CO<sub>2</sub>:N<sub>2</sub> (60:40). Samples (two crumpets, one pizza slice, or one bagel) (~85 to 90 g) were placed, in duplicate, in 210-mm x 210-mm high gas barrier Cryovac bags (O<sub>2</sub> transmission rate: 3 to 6 cc/m<sup>2</sup>/day, 1 atm at 4.4°C, 0% RH; Cryovac; Mississauga, ON). For air-packaged samples, bags were sealed using an impulse heat-sealer. For samples packaged in air with an oxygen absorbent, an AgelessFX<sup>®</sup><sub>200</sub> sachet was placed inside the bag prior to sealing with an impulse heatsealer. Gas packaging was achieved using a Multivac chamber type heat-seal packaging machine (model SP-300H; Multivac, Inc; Kansas City, MO) to obtain the desired mix of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub> (60:40). All packaged samples were stored at 25°C.

#### 2.2.5 Headspace gas

Packaged bakery products were sampled for headspace gas composition by withdrawing gas samples using a 0.5-mL gas-tight pressure-Lok<sup>®</sup> syringe (Precision Sampling Co; Baton Rouge, LA) through a septum previously attached to the outside of each package. Headspace gas was analysed with a Varian gas chromatograph (model 3300, Varian Canada, Inc; Montreal, QC), fitted with a thermal conductivity detector and using Porapack Q and molecular sieve 5A (80-100 mesh) columns (Chromatographic Specialities; Brockville, ON) in series. Peaks were recorded and analysed with a Varian integrator (model 4270, Varian Canada, Inc; Montreal, QC).

#### 2.2.6 Sensory analysis

Sensory analysis was carried out on packaged products by a three member untrained panel. Packages were evaluated subjectively for swelling and for the presence of visible mould growth. Products were also assessed for texture, colour and odour using a six-point hedonic scale (0 = no deterioration; 5 = extreme deterioration). To evaluate odour, packages were opened and the characteristic odour was described. For texture, colour and odour, a score of 2.5 was taken as the cut-off for acceptability and termination of shelf-life.

#### 2.2.7 Enumeration of C. botulinum

Each sample was aseptically transferred to a stomacher bag. A 1:3 dilution was prepared by adding twice the sample weight of 0.1% peptone water and then stomaching for two minutes using a Colworth Stomacher (Seward Medical Stomacher, London, UK). Decimal dilutions were subsequently prepared from this initial dilution.

Growth of *C. botulinum* was determined as described previously (Austin et al., 1998; Lyver et al., 1998). *C. botulinum* was enumerated by spread plating 0.1 mL of appropriate decimal dilutions of the 1:3 homogenised sample, in duplicate, on *Clostridium botulinum* Isolation (CBI) Agar (Dezfulian et al., 1981). CBI plates were incubated in an atmosphere of 10% H<sub>2</sub>, 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, and 80% N<sub>2</sub> for 72 hours at 35°C. Lipase-positive colonies, characteristic of *C. botulinum*, were enumerated and identification was confirmed by neurotoxin neutralisation assays on trypticase peptone glucose yeast extract (TPGY) broth cultures of randomly selected colonies.

#### 2.2.8 Neurotoxin assay

The remaining homogenised samples (1:3 dilution) were centrifuged at 23,500 x g for 20 minutes at 4°C. *C. botulinum* neurotoxin was detected as described previously (Austin et al., 1998). An aliquot of the sample supernatant was filtered through a 0.45-µm filter (Acrodisc, Gelman Sciences; Ann Arbor, MI) and 0.5 mL of this filtrate was injected intra-peritoneally into each of two 20- to 28-g mice (Charles River; QC). Mice were observed for up to 72 hours for typical signs of botulism including ruffled fur, pinched waist, laboured breathing, limb paresis and general paralysis. Mice showing severe distress were euthanised by asphyxiation with CO<sub>2</sub>. Neutralisation of neurotoxin was performed on randomly selected positive samples using antisera (Connaught Laboratories; North York, ON) to botulinum neurotoxins to confirm that toxicity was due to botulinum neurotoxin.

All raw ingredients used to formulate bakery products were screened for endogenous spores of *C. botulinum* as described by Austin and Blanchfield (1996). Detection of *C. botulinum* was confirmed by the mouse bioassay and neurotoxin neutralisation as described previously.

#### 2.2.9 Changes in pH

The pH was determined using a previously calibrated Fisher Accumet<sup>®</sup> pH meter (Fisher Scientific; Ottawa, ON). Portions of sample supernatant were transferred to sterile glass tubes and pH measurement was made by immersing the electrode directly into the tubes.

# 2.2.10 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) for a randomised complete block design (Steel and Torrie, 1980) using Prism 2.01 (GraphPad Software, Inc.; San Diego, CA).

#### 2.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In this screening study crumpets, pizza, and bagels were formulated with amylase to delay staling, inoculated with *C. botulinum* (5 x 10<sup>4</sup> spores/g), packaged in air and under MAP conditions and monitored for neurotoxin production after 42-days storage at ambient temperature (25°C). This storage period was chosen since previous studies had shown that bagels reformulated with amylase and packaged under MAP conditions could remain mould- and stale-free for up to 42 days at 25°C (Assouad, 1996).

#### 2.3.1 Headspace gas

Changes in headspace gas composition are summarised in Table 2.1. For air-packaged crumpets, with and without an oxygen absorbent, headspace  $O_2$  decreased to <1%, while  $CO_2$  increased to 73% to 75%. For gas-packaged ( $CO_2:N_2$  [60:40]) crumpets,  $CO_2$  remained at ~60% while headspace  $O_2$  was ~8% (Table 2.1), indicating leakage. Air-packaged crumpets, with and without oxygen absorbents, were visibly swollen, due to  $CO_2$  production within the packages. Similar changes in headspace gas were observed for all packaged pizza (Table 2.1). All packages of pizza were visibly swollen. The changes in headspace gas can be attributed to the growth of spoilage microorganisms, specifically yeasts, moulds and bacteria. Smith et al. (1983), reported  $CO_2$  production

| -   |                                          | Swelling Mould |   | Sensory Scores <sup>b</sup> |         |                  | pН   | % Headspace Gas (v/v) |                 |                |                 |
|-----|------------------------------------------|----------------|---|-----------------------------|---------|------------------|------|-----------------------|-----------------|----------------|-----------------|
|     |                                          |                |   | Colour                      | Texture | Odour            | -    | Initial               |                 | Final          |                 |
|     |                                          |                |   |                             |         |                  |      | O <sub>2</sub>        | CO <sub>2</sub> | O <sub>2</sub> | CO <sub>2</sub> |
|     | Crumpets                                 |                |   |                             |         |                  |      |                       |                 |                |                 |
|     | Air                                      | +              | + | 2                           | 5       | 5 <sup>f</sup>   | 5.74 | 20                    | <1              | <1             | 76              |
| .92 | Air + oxygen absorbent                   | +              | - | 1                           | 5       | 5 <sup>f</sup>   | 5.84 | 20                    | <1              | <1             | 73              |
|     | CO <sub>2</sub> / N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) | -              | + | 1                           | 5       | 5 <sup>f</sup>   | 5.71 | 0                     | 60              | 8              | 59              |
| I   | Pizza crust                              |                |   |                             |         |                  |      |                       |                 |                |                 |
|     | Air                                      | +              | + | 0                           | 4.5     | 4.5 <sup>f</sup> | 5.43 | 20                    | <1              | <1             | 41              |
|     | Air + oxygen absorbent                   | +              | - | 0                           | 3       | 4.5 <sup>f</sup> | 5.59 | 20                    | <1              | 6              | 50              |
|     | CO <sub>2</sub> / N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) | +              | - | 0                           | 2.5     | 2.5 <sup>f</sup> | 5.44 | 0                     | 60              | <1             | 84              |
| I   | Bagels                                   |                |   |                             |         |                  |      |                       |                 |                |                 |
|     | Air                                      | -              | + | 0                           | 2       | 3.5 <sup>s</sup> | 5.46 | 20                    | <1              | <1             | 21              |
|     | Air + oxygen absorbent                   | -              | - | 0                           | 2.5     | 1.5⁵             | 5.60 | 20                    | <1              | <1             | <1              |
|     | CO <sub>2</sub> / N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) | -              | + | 0                           | 2.5     | 1.5 <sup>s</sup> | 5.61 | 0                     | 60              | <1             | 43              |
| a   | Average of duplicate samples             |                |   | <sup>f</sup> Fruity odour   |         |                  |      |                       |                 |                |                 |

TABLE 2.1. Summary of changes<sup>a</sup> in bakery products inoculated with 5 x 10<sup>4</sup> spores/g C. botulinum after 42-days storage (25°C)

<sup>b</sup> Scale of 0 to 5; 0 = no deterioration, 5 = extreme deterioration

<sup>s</sup> Stale odour

and swelling in modified-atmosphere-packaged crumpets due to the growth of heterofermentative lactic acid bacteria. Similar, but less dramatic changes in headspace gas were observed for all packaged bagels. However, none of the packaged bagels were visibly swollen after 42 days (Table 2.1).

#### 2.3.2 Sensory evaluation

Changes in sensory analysis scores (colour, texture, and odour) for all packaged bakery products after 42 days are summarised in Table 2.1. All packaged crumpets were unacceptable after 42-days storage at ambient temperature. All crumpets, regardless of packaging conditions, were discoloured and had a soft, mushy texture, and a strong, sharp, "fruity" odour. Mould growth was observed on all crumpets with the exception of crumpets packaged in air with an oxygen absorbent. The presence of mould in CO<sub>2</sub> packaged crumpets can again be attributed to the leakage of headspace O<sub>2</sub> to levels conducive to mould growth.

Pizzas packaged in air with and without an oxygen absorbent, were sensorially unacceptable after 42 days at ambient temperature. Pizza had a crumbly texture and a strong "fruity" odour. Furthermore, mould growth was observed on all air-packaged pizza. However, pizza packaged in 60% CO<sub>2</sub> was marginally acceptable since both texture and odour scores approached the cut-off score for acceptability (>2.5). The

sensory deterioration of bagels at ambient temperature was less evident than the deterioration of either crumpets or pizza. Colour was unchanged after 42 days, and although odour scores were acceptable after 42 days, off-odours were described as "stale" and bagels had marginally acceptable texture scores. These results are in agreement with Assouad (1996) who extended the shelf life of bagels to approximately 42 days using a combination of amylase and MAP. Mould growth was again observed on air-packaged bagels and in one package of CO<sub>2</sub> packaged bagels that had elevated levels of headspace O<sub>2</sub> due to leakage.

#### 2.3.3 Changes in pH

Changes in pH for all packaged bakery products are shown in Table 2.1. For all products, pH decreased slightly after 42 days. For crumpets, pH decreased from 6.00 to 5.82; for pizza from 5.62 to 5.48, while for bagels, pH decreased from 5.63 to 5.56. The slight decreases in pH may be attributed to lactic acid production by spoilage organisms or dissolution of  $CO_2$  in the products. Since the minimum pH for growth of proteolytic *C. botulinum* is 4.6 (Dodds and Austin, 1997), the pH of all bakery products at the end of the 42-day storage period was conducive to the growth of this pathogen.

There was no significant difference between changes in headspace gas composition, pH and sensory evaluation scores for all inoculated and uninoculated bakery products (P<0.005).

#### 2.3.4 Growth and neurotoxin production by C. botulinum

Growth and neurotoxin production results are summarised in Table 2.2. With the exception of bagels, counts of *C. botulinum* increased from an initial inoculum level of 5 x 10<sup>4</sup> spores/g to between 10<sup>5</sup> and 10<sup>6</sup> CFU/g after 42-days storage at ambient temperature (Table 2.2). For bagels, counts of *C. botulinum* after 42 days at ambient temperature were approximately 10<sup>4</sup> CFU/g, i.e., almost identical to the initial inoculum level (Table 2.2). Although growth was not observed in any bagels, spores remained viable. Ingesting spores does not generally result in botulism except in cases of infant botulism (Dodds, 1993c), and rarely, in cases of adult intestinal tract colonisation (Griffin et al., 1997).

Neurotoxin was detected in all inoculated crumpets and pizza, regardless of packaging atmosphere (Table 2.2). However, neurotoxin was not detected in any inoculated bagels after 42 days at ambient storage temperature (Table 2.2) or in any uninoculated crumpets, pizza or bagels. As well, no endogenous spores were found in any of the raw ingredients, although low levels of spores have been occasionally associated with some of the ingredients, specifically milk (Collins-

| Packaging Treatment                      | Toxin⁵ | C. botulinum<br>(log CFU/g) |  |  |  |  |
|------------------------------------------|--------|-----------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Crumpets                                 |        |                             |  |  |  |  |
| Air                                      | 2/2    | 6.9                         |  |  |  |  |
| Air + oxygen absorbent                   | 2/2    | 6.5                         |  |  |  |  |
| CO <sub>2</sub> / N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) | 2/2    | 6.6                         |  |  |  |  |
| Pizza crust                              |        |                             |  |  |  |  |
| Air                                      | 2/2    | 5.0                         |  |  |  |  |
| Air + oxygen absorbent                   | 2/2    | 5.9                         |  |  |  |  |
| CO <sub>2</sub> / N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) | 2/2    | 5.6                         |  |  |  |  |
| Bagels                                   |        |                             |  |  |  |  |
| Air                                      | 0/2    | 4.5                         |  |  |  |  |
| Air + oxygen absorbent                   | 0/2    | 4.6                         |  |  |  |  |
| CO <sub>2</sub> / N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) | 0/2    | 4.7                         |  |  |  |  |

# TABLE 2.2. Toxin detection<sup>a</sup> in bakery products inoculated with $5 \times 10^4$ spores/g C. botulinum after 42-days storage (25°C)

<sup>a</sup> Average of duplicate samples

<sup>b</sup> Number of samples testing positive out of number of samples analysed by mouse bioassay.

Thompson and Wood, 1993) and flour (Elliot, 1980)

The main inter-related factors that can influence the growth of and neurotoxin production by C. botulinum in foods are temperature, pH, aw, redox potential, added preservatives and competing microflora. In this study, bakery products were stored at ambient temperature. Both product pH and storage temperature (25°C) were suitable for growth of and neurotoxin production by C. botulinum (Dodds and Austin, 1997). Crumpets (a<sub>w</sub> 0.990) and pizza (a<sub>w</sub> 0.960) supported growth and neurotoxin production while bagels with a lower aw of 0.944, did not. This latter aw approaches the limiting aw of 0.94 for the growth of proteolytic C. botulinum (Dodds and Austin, 1997). The results observed in this study are in agreement with Denny et al. (1969), who found neurotoxin production in canned bread of a<sub>w</sub> >0.950 but not in canned bread of a<sub>w</sub> ≤0.950. Similarly, Wagenaar and Dack (1959) reported neurotoxin production in canned chocolate nut roll of 42% moisture and 27% sucrose but not in nut roll of identical % sucrose but a lower moisture content (29%). The a<sub>w</sub> of these chocolate rolls were not reported. However, by using the equation of Money and Born (1951), developed for estimating a<sub>w</sub> of confections, the a<sub>w</sub> of the chocolate roll in which neurotoxin was detected would have been ~0.955, while the aw of the non-toxic roll would have been ~0.930. Glass and Doyle (1991) also reported an a<sub>w</sub> effect on neurotoxin production. Neurotoxin was detected in meat tortellini with aw of 0.99 and 0.95 (stored at 30°C) after two and

six weeks respectively. However, neurotoxin was not detected in tortellini with an  $a_w \leq 0.94$  stored at 30°C for 10 weeks.

It is evident from Figure 2.2 that counts of *C. botulinum* increased with increasing product a<sub>w</sub>. However, this neglects all other factors such as the effect of different ingredients on available nutrients, which may influence growth and neurotoxin production. The pH of both pizza and bagels were similar (pH 5.2); however, the pH of crumpets was higher (pH 6.00). Interactions between a<sub>w</sub> and pH have been reported (Dodds, 1989), and therefore, the observed increase in growth of *C. botulinum* with increasing product a<sub>w</sub> must be interpreted cautiously.

All three atmospheres used in this study, including air, supported growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*. It cannot be assumed that packaging in air or in MAP conditions that includes  $O_2$  in the package headspace will protect against the growth of *C. botulinum* since headspace  $O_2$  can become depleted due to the respiration of spoilage organisms. Most toxic crumpets had headspace  $O_2$  of <1% at the end of 42-days storage. However, some toxic crumpets and pizza packaged under modified-atmospheres, had residual levels of headspace  $O_2 > 5\%$  at the end of storage–indicating possible leakage. Neurotoxin production has been previously reported in foods packaged with  $O_2$  (Lambert et al., 1991a; Ikawa, 1991).



FIGURE 2.1. Relationship between counts (log CFU/g) of C. botulinum in and water activity ( $a_w$ ) of bakery products (pH 5.6-6.0) inoculated with 5 x 10<sup>4</sup> spores/g C. botulinum and stored for 42 days at 25°C

The actual time to neurotoxin production in packaged crumpets and pizza could not be determined from this study. After 42-days storage, most bakery products were visibly spoiled as shown by sensory analysis scores >2.5 (Table 2.1) and, on the basis of their organoleptic quality, would be rejected by consumers.

#### **2.4 CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, these studies have shown that high-moisture, low-acid crumpets and pizza can support the growth of C. botulinum, regardless of the packaging atmosphere. Since no endogenous spores of C. botulinum were found in uninoculated crumpets, pizza, bagels, or in any of the raw ingredients, it may be assumed that the probability of contamination of these high-moisture bakery products with C. botulinum is low. However, because of the serious nature of botulism, and the increasing use of MAP for bakery products, it is recommended that barriers to the growth of C. botulinum be included when bakery products are packaged in high gas-barrier films under modified atmospheres. Preliminary studies have shown that reformulation of crumpets to lower pH (~4.5) using lactic acid bacteria could be used to delay neurotoxin production (results not shown). As well, reformulation studies are suggested to examine the effect of higher pH (>8) on growth of and neurotoxin production of C. botulinum. Further studies are suggested to determine the effect of additional barriers (ethanol vapour, novel anti-microbial agents etc.) on the safety of MAP crumpets stored at ambient temperature.

#### **PREFACE TO CHAPTER 3.0**

The potential of high-moisture bakery products, specifically pizza crusts and crumpets, to support growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* was established in the previously described challenge study (Chapter 2.0). However, since it was not known from this study whether spoilage preceeded toxicity or *vice versa*, additional challenge studies were done to determine the safety, with respect to *C. botulinum*, of English-style crumpets packaged in air or under modified- atmospheres and stored at ambient temperature.

# 3.0 GROWTH OF AND NEUROTOXIN PRODUCTION BY CLOSTRIDIUM BOTULINUM IN ENGLISH-STYLE CRUMPETS PACKAGED UNDER MODIFIED ATMOSPHERES

#### **3.1 INTRODUCTION**

Bakery products are important staple foods in most countries and cultures. However, mould growth and staling are two problems limiting the shelf-life of both high- and intermediate-moisture bakery products (Brody, 1985; Parry, 1993; Smith and Simpson, 1995). Both problems can be overcome through reformulation and modified-atmosphere packaging (MAP), resulting in shelf-life extension of greater than six weeks at ambient temperature (Ooraikul, 1982; Smith et al., 1986; Smith et al., 1988; Powers and Berkowitz, 1990; Assoud, 1996). However, little is known about the publichealth safety of such reformulated/packaged bakery products. The major safety concern with modified-atmosphere-packaged products is that the atmospheres may inhibit the microbial indicators of spoilage while enhancing the growth of pathogens, particularly *C. botulinum* (Hintlian and Hotchkiss, 1986; Farber, 1991).

Although MAP of bakery goods is a recent packaging technology, early studies have shown that bakery products are a suitable substrate for growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*. Bever and Halvorson (1947) demonstrated growth of *C. botulinum* in a medium of sterile canned bread

crumbs, while others reported neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* types A and proteolytic B inoculated into canned bread (Ulrich and Halvorson, 1949; Kadavy and Dack, 1951; Wagenaar and Dack, 1954, 1959; Denny et al., 1969). Furthermore, initial challenge studies have shown that crumpets (water activity [a<sub>w</sub>] 0.990, pH 6.00) inoculated with a mixture of spores of proteolytic strains of *C. botulinum* (types A and B), packaged under MAP conditions and stored at ambient temperature were toxic after 42 days, while bagels (a<sub>w</sub> 0.944, pH 5.63) similarly inoculated, packaged and stored, were not toxic (Daifas et al., 1999a). After 42-days storage at ambient temperature, toxic crumpets were visibly spoiled, and on the basis of their organoleptic quality, would be rejected by consumers. However, the time of toxigenesis was not determined and therefore, it was not known whether or not toxigenesis preceded spoilage.

Therefore, the objective of this study was to determine the actual timeto-toxicity in crumpets inoculated pre- and post-baking with proteolytic strains of *C. botulinum*, packaged under various atmospheres, and stored at ambient temperature.

#### **3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 3.2.1 Crumpets

Crumpets used in this study were high-moisture English-style crumpets (a<sub>w</sub> 0.990, pH 6.50) that were prepared from all-purpose flour, sugar, instant yeast, reconstituted dry milk, salt, baking soda, and antistaling amylase (Novamyl; Novo Nordisk; Danbury, CT) according to the method of Witty and Schneider Colchie (1979). Crumpets were baked by pouring 65 g of batter into greased, cylindrical moulds on an oiled griddle (Moffat Appliances; Montreal, QC) preheated to 204°C. Baking time was approximately nine minutes, until the surface was no longer wet, and holes had formed on the top of the crumpets. Following baking, crumpets were cooled to room temperature, placed in polyethylene bags, and stored for one week at -28°C.

#### 3.2.2 Preparation of spore inoculum/sample inoculation

A composite inoculum of *C. botulinum* spores was prepared from four type A strains (A6, 17A, 62A, and CK2A) and five proteolytic type B strains (MRB, IB1-B, 13983IIB, 368B and 426B). Spore crops of each strain were prepared separately, enumerated as described by Hauschild and Hilsheimer (1977), and stored frozen at -80°C. Equal numbers of spores of each strain were then combined to form a single suspension of approximately 3 x 10<sup>5</sup> spores/mL. In the post-baking challenge study, the spore mixture was heat shocked at 75°C for 20 minutes prior to sample inoculation. Inoculum levels were verified prior to inoculation of samples by plating appropriate dilutions in duplicate on McClung Toabe Agar (Difco, Becton-Dickinson; Sparks, MD) containing 0.5% yeast extract (Difco) and egg-yolk and incubating anaerobically in an atmosphere of 10%  $H_2$ , 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, and 80%  $N_2$  at 35°C for three days. In the post-baking inoculation, crumpets were stab inoculated at six distinct locations with 180  $\mu$ L (6 x 30  $\mu$ L) spore suspension per 100-g sample to provide a final inoculum level of 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g. Pre-baking inoculation was achieved by replacing an appropriate volume of water in the formulation with an equivalent volume of spore suspension to give an inoculum level of  $5 \times 10^2$  spores/g (baked weight basis). Control samples were inoculated in a similar manner with an identical volume of 0.1% peptone water.

#### 3.2.3 Packaging

Both control and inoculated crumpets were packaged under the following atmospheres: i) air, ii) air with an AgelessFX<sup>®</sup><sub>200</sub> oxygen absorbent (Mitsubishi Gas & Chemical Company; Japan) or iii) CO<sub>2</sub>: N<sub>2</sub> (60:40). Samples (two crumpets weighing ~50 g each) were placed, in duplicate, in 210-mm x 210-mm high gas barrier Cryovac bags (O<sub>2</sub> transmission

rate: 3 to 6 cc/m<sup>2</sup>/day, 1 atm at 4.4°C, 0% RH.; Cryovac; Mississauga, ON). For air-packaged samples, bags were sealed using an impulse heat-sealer. For samples packaged in air with an oxygen absorbent, an Ageless FX<sup>®</sup><sub>200</sub> sachet was placed inside the bag prior to sealing with an impulse heat-sealer. Gas packaging was achieved using a Multivac chamber type heat-seal packaging machine (model SP-300H) (Multivac, Inc; Kansas City, MO) to obtain the desired mix of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub> (60:40). All packaged samples were stored at 25°C. Duplicate samples of crumpets were analysed at day 0 and daily until neurotoxin was detected or shelf-life was terminated.

#### **3.2.4 Headspace gas**

At day 0 and after each 24-hour storage interval, samples were analysed for changes in headspace gas composition. Gas samples were withdrawn using a 0.5-mL gas-tight pressure-Lok<sup>®</sup> syringe (Precision Sampling Co; Baton Rouge, LA) through a septum previously attached to the outside of each package. Headspace gas was analysed with a Varian gas chromatograph (model 3300, Varian Canada, Inc; Montreal, QC), fitted with a thermal conductivity detector and using Porapack Q and molecular sieve 5A (80-100 mesh) columns (Chromatographic Specialties; Brockville, ON) in series. Peaks were recorded and analysed with a Varian integrator (model 4270, Varian Canada, Inc.; Montreal, QC).

#### 3.2.5 Sensory analysis

Sensory analysis was carried out on packaged products at day 0 and daily by a six-member untrained panel. Packages were evaluated subjectively for swelling and for the presence of visible mould growth. Products were also assessed for texture, colour and odour using a six-point hedonic scale (0 = no deterioration; 5 = extreme deterioration). To evaluate odour, packages were opened and the characteristic odour described. A sensory score of 2.5 was taken as the cut-off for acceptability and termination of shelf-life.

#### 3.2.6 Sampling of crumpets

Each sample was aseptically transferred to a stomacher bag. A 1:3 dilution was prepared by adding twice the sample weight of 0.1% peptone water and then stomaching for two minutes using a Colworth Stomacher (Seward Medical Stomacher, London, UK). Decimal dilutions were subsequently prepared from this initial dilution.

#### 3.2.7 Enumeration of C. botulinum

Growth of *C. botulinum* was determined as described previously (Austin et al., 1998; Lyver et al., 1998). *C. botulinum* was enumerated by spread plating 0.1 mL of appropriate decimal dilutions of the 1:3
homogenized sample, in duplicate, on *Clostridium botulinum* Isolation (CBI) Agar (Dezfulian et al., 1981). CBI plates were incubated in an atmosphere of 10%  $H_2$ , 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, and 80% N<sub>2</sub> for 72 hours at 35°C. Lipase-positive colonies, characteristic of *C. botulinum*, were enumerated and identification was confirmed by neurotoxin neutralization assays on trypticase peptone glucose yeast extract (TPGY) broth cultures of randomly selected colonies.

### 3.2.8 Neurotoxin assay

The remaining homogenized samples (1:3 dilution) were centrifuged at 23,500 x g for 20 minutes at 4°C. Botulinum neurotoxin was detected as described previously (Austin et al., 1998). An aliquot of the sample supernatant was filtered through a 0.45- $\mu$ m filter (Acrodisc, Gelman Sciences; Ann Arbor, MI) and 0.5 mL of this filtrate was injected intraperitoneally into each of two 20- to 28-g mice (Charles River; QC). Mice were observed for up to 72 hours for typical signs of botulism, including ruffled fur, pinched waist, laboured breathing, limb paresis and general paralysis. As required by Health Canada, mice showing severe distress were humanely asphyxiated with CO<sub>2</sub>. Neutralization of neurotoxin was performed on the last positive samples of each treatment using antisera (Connaught Laboratories; North York, ON) to botulinum neurotoxins. All raw ingredients used in the crumpet formulations were screened for endogenous spores of *C. botulinum* as described by Austin and Blanchfield (1996).

## 3.2.9 Changes in pH

The pH was determined using a previously calibrated Fisher Accumet<sup>®</sup> pH meter (Fisher Scientific; Ottawa, ON). Portions of sample supernatant were transferred to sterile glass tubes and pH measurement was made by immersing the electrode directly into the tubes.

# 3.2.10 Lethality of thermal process to spores of C. botulinum

The temperature profile of crumpets was determined by inserting a thermocouple (Type T, Model 600-1020; Barnant, Barrington, IL) into the centre of crumpets during baking and cooling. Total lethality (F<sub>0</sub>) was determined using the Improved General Method as described by Ramas-wamy and Abdelrahim (1991). F<sub>0</sub>, the sum of the lethal rates (minutes at 121°C per minute at any measured temperature), was calculated as  $\Sigma[10^{(\frac{T-121C}{2})}]\Delta t$ , where the temperature (T) in Celsius degrees was measured each 0.5 minute ( $\Delta t$ ), and the temperature sensitivity indicator (z) for *C. botulinum* was 10°C.

# 3.2.11 Predicted time to toxigenesis

The predicted time to toxicity was generated using the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Pathogen Modeling Program (version 5.1) (Whiting and Call, 1993; Whiting and Oriente, 1997) for proteolytic strains of *C. botulinum*. Actual values of a<sub>w</sub>, pH, and inoculum used in this study were incorporated into the predictive model.

# 3.2.12 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) for a randomized complete block design (Steel and Torrie, 1980) using Prism 2.01 (GraphPad Software, Inc.; San Diego, CA).

# 3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Initial screening studies had determined that crumpets ( $a_w$  0.990, pH 6.00) packaged under similar atmospheres to this present study could support the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* (Daifas et al., 1999a). To determine the actual time until neurotoxin production and to determine if toxigenesis preceded spoilage, crumpets were inoculated with 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g of *C. botulinum* types A and B in two ways: i) post-baking in the first study and ii) pre-baking contamination by incorporating the spore inoculum directly into the batter prior to baking on the griddle in the second study.

# 3.3.1 Time to toxicity studies: post-baking contamination

# 3.3.1.1 Headspace gas composition

Changes in headspace gas composition for all post-baking inoculated crumpets are shown in Figure 3.1A-C. For both control and inoculated air-packaged crumpets, headspace O<sub>2</sub> decreased to <2% by day four, while CO<sub>2</sub> increased to ~40% by day seven (Figure 3.1A). All packages were slightly swollen due to CO<sub>2</sub> production. Smith et al. (1983) reported CO<sub>2</sub> production and swelling in modified atmosphere-packaged crumpets due to the growth of



FIGURE 3.1. Changes in headspace gas composition ( $\blacksquare O_2$ ,  $\boxdot CO_2$ ) of crumpets inoculated post-baking with 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g C. botulinum and packaged A, in air, B, in air with an oxygen absorbent or C, in  $CO_2/N_2$  (60:40) and stored at 25°C

heterofermentative lactic acid bacteria. Similar patterns were observed for both control and inoculated crumpets packaged in air with an oxygen absorbent (Figure 3.1B). Headspace O<sub>2</sub> decreased to ~2% to 5% after day 1, while  $CO_2$  increased gradually to ~2% by day 7 (Figure 3.1B). For all CO<sub>2</sub>-packaged crumpets, headspace CO<sub>2</sub> initially decreased at day 1 (~40%), then increased to ~60% of headspace gas by day 5 and then decreased to ~35% by the end of storage (Figure 3.1C). Slight swelling was observed in some packages. The initial decrease in headspace CO<sub>2</sub> was attributed to absorption of CO<sub>2</sub> by the crumpets while the final decrease was attributed to package leaks. Headspace O<sub>2</sub> levels ranged from 3% to 10% by day 7 in several packages and may be due to leakage. However, bakery products can retain large quantities of air inside their porous structure and residual headspace O<sub>2</sub> is often observed in bakery products packaged under MAP conditions (Piergiovanni and Fava, 1997).

# 3.3.1.2 Sensory analysis

Sensory scores at the end of seven-days storage (Table 3.1) were almost identical for all control and inoculated crumpets. All crumpets had colour scores of 0 (on a scale of 0 to 5) and no visible mould was observed on any of the packaged crumpets. For control

TABLE 3.1. Summary<sup>a</sup> of sensory analysis of post-baking inoculated crumpets after seven-days storage at 25°C

| Packaging Treatment                      | Swelling | Mould | Sensory scores <sup>c</sup> |         |                  |
|------------------------------------------|----------|-------|-----------------------------|---------|------------------|
|                                          |          |       | Colour                      | Texture | Odour            |
| Uninoculated crumpets                    |          |       |                             |         |                  |
| Air                                      | +        | -     | 0                           | 2       | 2 <sup>f</sup>   |
| Air + O <sub>2</sub> absorbent           | -        | -     | 0                           | 1.5     | 2 <sup>f</sup>   |
| CO <sub>2</sub> / N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) | -        | -     | 0                           | 1.5     | 1                |
| Inoculated crumpets <sup>b</sup>         |          |       |                             |         |                  |
| Air                                      | +        | -     | 0                           | 2       | 2 <sup>f</sup>   |
| Air + O <sub>2</sub> absorbent           | -        | -     | 0                           | 1.5     | 0.5              |
| CO <sub>2</sub> / N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) | +        | -     | 0                           | 1.5     | 1.5 <sup>f</sup> |

<sup>a</sup> Average of duplicate samples.

<sup>b</sup> Inoculated with 5 x  $10^2$  spores/g *C. botulinum* types A and B.

<sup>c</sup> Scale of 0 to 5; 0 = no deterioration, 5 = extreme deterioration.

<sup>f</sup> Fruity odour.

crumpets, and for inoculated crumpets, texture deterioration scores were slightly higher (score = 2) for air-packaged than for modifiedatmosphere-packaged crumpets (score = 1.5). Odour scores for all crumpets ranged from 0.5 to 2. Off-odours were described as "fruity" and all crumpets were rated as acceptable.

### 3.3.1.3 Changes in pH

The changes in pH of control and inoculated crumpets over the seven-day storage period were similar for all packaging conditions. By day 7, product pH was essentially unchanged from the initial pH of 6.50. The final pH values (day 7) for uninoculated control crumpets and for inoculated crumpets were 6.47 and 6.42, respectively. Since the minimum pH for growth of proteolytic *C. botulinum* is 4.6 (Dodds and Austin, 1997), the pH values of crumpets at the end of the seven-day storage period were conducive to the growth of this pathogen.

### 3.3.1.4 Enumeration of C. botulinum

Counts of *C. botulinum* (CFU/g) for all packaged crumpets are shown in Figure 3.2. Counts increased from 5 x  $10^2$  to 2.8 x  $10^5$ , 1.0 x  $10^5$ , and 2.6 x  $10^5$  after seven days in air-, air with an oxygen absorbent- and CO<sub>2</sub>-packaged crumpets, respectively (Figure 3.2),



FIGURE 3.2. Counts (log CFU/g) of C. botulinum in control crumpets  $(\Box, O, \triangle)$  and crumpets inoculated post-baking with  $5x10^2$  spores/g C. botulinum ( $\blacksquare$ ,  $\bullet$ ,  $\blacktriangle$ ) and packaged in air ( $\Box$ ,  $\blacksquare$ ), in air with an oxygen absorbent ( $O, \bullet$ ) or in  $CO_2 / N_2$  (60:40 [ $\triangle$ ,  $\blacktriangle$ ]) and stored at 25°C

clearly indicating that all three atmospheres supported growth of *C. botulinum*. *C. botulinum* was not detected in any control crumpets.

### 3.3.1.5 Neurotoxin assay

Neurotoxin was detected after days 4, 5, and 6 in crumpets packaged in CO<sub>2</sub>, in air with an oxygen absorbent and in air respectively (Table 3.2). Therefore, all three atmospheres, including air, supported growth of and toxigenesis by C. botulinum. Neurotoxin was not detected in any uninoculated control crumpets (Table 3.2). Neurotoxin production in foods packaged with O2 has been reported previously. Lambert et al. (1991a) reported botulinum neurotoxin production after 19 days in packaged inoculated pork containing up to 20% headspace O<sub>2</sub>. Similarly, Ikawa (1991) detected neurotoxin in inoculated cooked noodles packaged in O2 permeable bags and stored aerobically at ambient temperature. Hintlian and Hotchkiss (1986) suggested that the inclusion of  $O_2$  in the package headspace might delay the germination of C. botulinum spores. However, Whiting and Naftulin (1992) found that proteolytic spores of C. botulinum germinated in  $\leq 1\%$  O<sub>2</sub> while vegetative cells could grow in 15% O<sub>2</sub>. If spores germinated in low O<sub>2</sub> tensions or in pockets of food with suitable conditions, then growth and neurotoxin production was possible. These authors concluded that a low food redox

118

| Packaging treatment                      | Post-baki                         | ng inoculation             | Pre-baking inoculation            |                            |  |
|------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------------|----------------------------|--|
|                                          | Day of<br>neurotoxin<br>detection | Corresponding<br>log CFU/g | Day of<br>neurotoxin<br>detection | Corresponding<br>log CFU/g |  |
| Inoculated crumpets                      | <u></u>                           |                            |                                   |                            |  |
| Air                                      | 6                                 | 5.9                        | 6                                 | 5.3                        |  |
| Air + O <sub>2</sub> absorbent           | 5                                 | 5.3                        | 4                                 | 4.9                        |  |
| CO <sub>2</sub> / N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) | 4.5                               | 5.5                        | 4                                 | 5.5                        |  |
| Uninoculated                             |                                   |                            |                                   |                            |  |
| Air                                      | ND                                | NA                         | ND                                | NA                         |  |
| Air + O <sub>2</sub> absorbent           | ND                                | NA                         | ND                                | NA                         |  |
| CO <sub>2</sub> / N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) | ND                                | NA                         | ND                                | NA                         |  |
| Predicted <sup>c</sup>                   | 3.4                               | not stated                 | 3.4                               | not stated                 |  |

TABLE 3.2. Time of neurotoxin detection<sup>a</sup> in crumpets inoculated<sup>b</sup> and stored at

<sup>a</sup> Average of duplicate samples.

<sup>b</sup> Inoculated with 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g *C. botulinum* types A and B

<sup>c</sup> Calculated values using USDA Pathogen Modeling Program (ver. 5.1) based on conditions of 25°C, pH 6.5, a<sub>w</sub> 0.990 and 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g proteolytic *C. botulinum* NA: not applicable

ND: not detected

25°C

potential was more significant, in terms of growth, than the level of  $O_2$  surrounding the product. This study further confirms that  $O_2$  surrounding a food cannot be regarded as a barrier to prevent the growth of *C. botulinum* since during storage microbial or other respiratory activity may lead to depletion of  $O_2$  and generation of  $CO_2$ .

The actual time to toxigenesis (4 to 6 days) was within one to three days of the predicted time to toxigenesis (3.4 days) using the USDA Pathogen Modeling Program (Whiting and Call, 1993; Whiting and Oriente, 1997 [Table 3.2]). However, this model is based on microbial growth of pure cultures. Differences between actual versus predicted times may be due to strain differences, headspace gas composition, the food substrate, as well as the presence of competitive microorganisms, all of which may influence the growth of *C. botulinum* in food, but none of which were factored into the model.

This study confirms previous challenge studies in canned bread that high-starch foods stored at ambient temperature can support the growth of *C. botulinum* (Kadavy and Dack, 1951; Wagenaar and Dack, 1954; Denny et al., 1969). At the time of toxigenesis, all inoculated crumpets were organoleptically acceptable (Table 3.1). Furthermore, there was no significant difference between sensory analysis scores for control and inoculated crumpets (P < 0.005). Therefore, if modified-atmosphere-packaged or air-packaged crumpets were contaminated with *C. botulinum*, they could pose a serious public health threat since they would still be organoleptically acceptable to consumers. Toxigenesis has also been shown to precede spoilage in fresh pasta (Glass and Doyle, 1991), in raw, and baked vacuum-packaged potato (Sugiyama et al., 1981; Solomon et al., 1998) and gas-packaged (100%  $N_2$ ) hamburgers and sausage sandwiches (Kautter et al., 1981).

### 3.3.2 Time to toxicity studies: pre-baking contamination

To determine the effect of baking on the safety of packaged crumpets, crumpet batter was inoculated with 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g (baked weight basis) prior to baking on the griddle. Almost identical results were observed for changes in headspace gas (Figure 3.3), sensory evaluation scores (Table 3.3) and changes in pH for all crumpets inoculated prior to baking as were observed in the post-baking study.

### 3.3.2.1 Enumeration of C. botulinum

Counts of *C. botulinum* again increased throughout storage. After seven-days storage at ambient temperature, counts (CFU/g) for crumpets packaged in air, in air with an oxygen absorbent and in 60% CO<sub>2</sub> had increased from an initial level of 5 x  $10^2$  spores/g to  $5 \times 10^6$ ,  $1 \times 10^5$ , and  $2 \times 10^6$  (CFU/g), respectively (Figure 3.4). It is obvious that the baking process was insufficient to destroy the



FIGURE 3.3. Changes in headspace gas composition ( $\blacksquare O_2$ ,  $\bullet CO_2$ ) of crumpets inoculated pre-baking with 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g C. botulinum and packaged A, in air, B, in air with an oxygen absorbent or C, in  $CO_2 / N_2$  (60:40) and stored at 25°C

| Packaging Treatment                      | Swelling | Mould | Sensory scores <sup>c</sup> |         |                  |
|------------------------------------------|----------|-------|-----------------------------|---------|------------------|
|                                          |          |       | Colour                      | Texture | Odour            |
| Uninoculated crumpets                    |          |       |                             |         |                  |
| Air                                      | +        | -     | 0                           | 2       | 3 <sup>f</sup>   |
| Air + oxygen                             | +        | -     | 0                           | 1       | 1 <sup>f</sup>   |
| CO <sub>2</sub> / N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) | +        | -     | 0                           | 1       | 0.5              |
| Inoculated crumpets <sup>₅</sup>         |          |       |                             |         |                  |
| Air                                      | +        | -     | 0                           | 1.5     | 2.5 <sup>f</sup> |
| Air + oxygen                             | +        | -     | 0                           | 1       | 2                |
| CO <sub>2</sub> / N <sub>2</sub> (60:40) | +        | -     | 0                           | 1       | 0                |

TABLE 3.3 Summary<sup>a</sup> of sensory analysis of pre-baking inoculated<sup>b</sup> crumpets after seven-days storage at 25°C

<sup>a</sup> Average of duplicate samples

<sup>b</sup> Inoculated with 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g *C. botulinum* types A and B

<sup>c</sup> Scale of 0 to 5; 0 = no deterioration, 5 = extreme deterioration

<sup>f</sup> Fruity odour



FIGURE 3.4. Counts (log CFU/g) of C. botulinum in control crumpets ( $\Box$ , O,  $\triangle$ ) and crumpets inoculated pre-baking with 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g C. botulinum ( $\blacksquare$ ,  $\blacksquare$ ,  $\blacktriangle$ ) and packaged in air ( $\Box$ ,  $\blacksquare$ ), in air with an oxygen absorbent (O,  $\blacksquare$ ) or in CO<sub>2</sub> / N<sub>2</sub> (60:40)( $\triangle$ ,  $\blacktriangle$ ) and stored at 25°C

inoculated proteolytic spores. This is in agreement with Aramouni et al. (1994) who found that endogenous and inoculated spores of C. sporogenes PA 3679 survived baking in home-style quick-breads, thus demonstrating the potential for spores of C. botulinum to survive the baking process. Lund et al. (1988) reported neurotoxin production in inoculated vacuum-packaged potatoes after a double pasteurization process at approximately 90°C (total time of 27 minutes) and storage at ambient temperature. Similarly, spores of proteolytic strains of C. botulinum survived in vacuum-packaged potato heated in a water bath at 95°C for 40 minutes (Notermans et al., 1981a). To ensure spore destruction, retort temperatures (121°C) are necessary (Lynt et al., 1982) and heat processes should be equivalent to an F<sub>0</sub> of 3 minutes (Lund et al., 1988) even when pH is taken under consideration (Pflung et al., 1985). Since crumpets are cooked from the bottom only, they receive an uneven heat treatment. The maximum internal temperature reached during baking was 97°C (Figure 3.5A) and the total baking process (the area under the curve of Figure 3.5B) was equivalent to 0.03 minutes at 121.1°C (Figure 3.5B). This means that the heat treatment which resulted in crumpets of acceptable quality was only 1% of a target Fo of 3 minutes and therefore, almost complete spore survival would be expected. As shown in Figure 3.4, counts of C. botulinum were >5 x  $10^2$  CFU/g by day 1, confirming that virtually all of the initial inoculum survived the baking process.

125





FIGURE 3.5. A, Heat profile and B, total lethality (F<sub>0</sub>) of crumpets

# 3.3.2.2 Neurotoxin assay

As in the post-baking study, all crumpets inoculated pre-baking were toxic within one week, again, regardless of the packaging atmosphere (Table 3.2). Neurotoxin was detected first in modified atmosphere-packaged crumpets (day 4) and by day 6 in air-packaged crumpets. At the time of neurotoxin detection, counts were ~10<sup>5</sup> CFU/g (Table 3.2 and Figure 3.4). Time-to-neurotoxin production was within one to three days of the predicted time-to-toxicity (Table 3.2). It is evident from all sensory evaluation scores (Table 3.3) that toxigenesis again preceded spoilage, with crumpets packaged under modified-atmospheres being more acceptable than air-packaged crumpets.

# **3.4 CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, these studies have shown that high-aw high-pH crumpets can support the growth of C. botulinum, regardless of the initial gaseous atmosphere. However, no outbreaks of botulism have ever been attributed to either air- or modified-atmosphere-packaged high-moisture bakery products. The lack of reported botulism outbreaks may be attributed to several factors. Few bakery products have a water activity (a<sub>w</sub>) high enough to support the growth of C. botulinum. This is supported by an initial screening challenge study that showed that high-moisture bagels (aw 0.944) did not support growth of and neurotoxin production by C. botulinum (Daifas et al., 1999a). However, high-moisture pizza crust (a, 0.960) and crumpets (a, 0.990) supported growth of C. botulinum after six-weeks storage at ambient temperature, again regardless of the gaseous atmosphere (Daifas et al., 1999a). Another reason may be the presence of preservatives used to control mould growth and bacterial rope production in commerciallypackaged bakery products. These preservatives, typically sorbates and propionates, may act either alone or in combination to inhibit the growth of C. botulinum (Sofos et al., 1979; Lund et al., 1987; Miller et al., 1993). In these studies, no preservatives were added. Perhaps the most important reason for the lack of reported botulism outbreaks due to bakery products is that low levels of spores are associated with ingredients, specifically milk (Collins-Thompson and Wood, 1993) and flour (Elliot, 1980). No endogen-

128

ous spores were found in these studies either in control crumpets or in any of the raw ingredients (results not shown). Therefore, the probability of spores of *C. botulinum* occurring in bakery products either through ingredients or as a result of contamination may be assumed to be low. However, these studies also have demonstrated that neurotoxin production preceded spoilage in crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum*, especially in crumpets packaged under modified atmospheres. Growth of *C. botulinum* in crumpets to hazardous levels in the absence of organoleptic degradation is possible, and therefore, hurdles to the growth of this pathogen should be considered.

# **PREFACE TO CHAPTER 4.0**

Crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum* and packaged under various atmospheres, including 60% CO<sub>2</sub>, became toxic within one week when stored at ambient temperature (Chapter 3.0). Therefore, subsequent challenge studies were conducted to determine the effect of product pH and higher levels of CO<sub>2</sub> on the time-to-neurotoxin detection.

# 4.0 EFFECT OF pH AND CO₂ ON GROWTH OF AND NEUROTOXIN PRODUC-TION BY CLOSTRIDIUM BOTULINUM IN ENGLISH-STYLE CRUMPETS PACKAGED UNDER MODIFIED ATMOSPHERES

# **4.1 INTRODUCTION**

Modified-atmosphere packaging (MAP), involving packaging in CO<sub>2</sub>, alone or in combination with N<sub>2</sub>, can be used to extend significantly the shelflife of high- and intermediate-moisture bakery products (Seiler, 1978; Ooraikul, 1982; Brody, 1985; Smith et al., 1986). Carbon dioxide is used in MAP because it is both bacteriostatic and fungistatic. While most moulds and some yeasts can be inhibited by CO<sub>2</sub> (Skovholt and Bailey, 1933; Legan and Voysey, 1991), bacteria vary in their response to this gas (Hintlian and Hotchkiss, 1986; Farber, 1991). Carbon dioxide is effective in delaying the growth of gram-negative, aerobic spoilage bacteria commonly found in muscle foods (Daniels et al., 1985; Hintlian and Hotchkiss, 1986; Farber, 1991): however, several food pathogens are resistant to high levels of CO2 while some are even stimulated by this gas (Dixon and Kell, 1989; Jager and Lück, 1997). Carbon dioxide has been shown to enhance spore germination of clostridia (Enfors and Molin, 1978; Foegeding and Busta, 1983) and, depending on its level, may enhance or inhibit growth of and neurotoxin production by C. botulinum (Doyle, 1983; Lambert et al., 1991a, b). Anaerobic spore-forming bacteria are present in flour (Thatcher et al., 1953), and

occasional spores of *C. botulinum* can be expected in both flour and milk (Elliot, 1980; Collins-Thompson and Wood, 1993). The incidence of naturally occurring spores of *C. botulinum* in bakery products is probably low; however, the health risk of botulism associated with growth of this pathogen is high. The safety of MAP products is therefore of concern because pathogenic bacteria, specifically *C. botulinum*, may flourish in an anaerobic environment without competition from normal aerobic spoilage microorganisms (Hintlian and Hotchkiss, 1986; Farber, 1991; Church and Parsons, 1995).

Recently, growth of and neurotoxin production by proteolytic strains of *C. botulinum* have been reported in English-style crumpets ( $a_w 0.990$ ; pH 6.5) packaged initially in air, in air with an oxygen absorbent, or in 60% CO<sub>2</sub> (balance N<sub>2</sub>) and stored at ambient temperature. Neurotoxin was first detected after four- to six-days storage for all packaging conditions (Daifas et al., 1999a, b). However, the effect of higher levels of CO<sub>2</sub> was not investigated. Furthermore, some commercially produced, high-moisture crumpets are formulated to pH >8 to enhance product colour, i.e., increased non-enzymatic browning, and very little is known about the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in such alkaline bakery products. Thus, the objectives of this study were to determine the effects of product pH (6.5 and 8.3) and level of packaging CO<sub>2</sub> (60% and 100%) on the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in English-style crumpets.

### **4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### 4.2.1 Crumpets

English-style crumpets (a<sub>w</sub> 0.990; pH 6.5 and 8.3) were prepared in a food laboratory (McGill University, Montreal, QC) from all-purpose flour, sugar, yeast, reconstituted dry milk, salt, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and  $\alpha$ -amylase (Novamyl; Novo Nordisk; Danbury, CN) as described previously (Daifas et al., 1999a). Crumpet pH, as measured using a calibrated pH meter (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON), was set by varying the amount of NaHCO<sub>3</sub> in the formulation. The amount of NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (% wt/wt) required to formulate crumpets of pH 6.5 and 8.3 was determined from the regression equation pH = 0.374*x* + 6.52 (R<sup>2</sup> 0.97) where *x* is the weight of NaHCO<sub>3</sub> (% wt/wt). Following baking, crumpets were cooled to room temperature, placed in polyethylene bags, and stored for one week at -28°C.

### 4.2.2 Preparation of spore inoculum and sample inoculation

A composite inoculum of *C. botulinum* spores was prepared from four type A strains (A6, 17A, 62A, and CK2A) and five proteolytic type B strains (MRB, IB1-B, 13983IIB, 368B, and 426B) obtained from the Bureau of Microbial Hazards (Health Canada, Ottawa, ON). Spore crops of each strain were prepared separately, enumerated as described by Hauschild

and Hilsheimer (1977), and stored frozen at -80°C. Equal numbers of spores of each strain were then combined to form a single suspension of approximately 3 x 10<sup>5</sup> spores/mL. The spore mixture was heat-shocked at 75°C for 20 minutes prior to sample inoculation. Inoculum levels were verified prior to inoculation of samples by plating appropriate dilutions in duplicate on McClung Toabe Agar (Difco, Becton Dickinson; Sparks, MD) containing 0.5% yeast extract (Difco) and egg-yolk (Austin and Blanchfield, 1996), and incubating anaerobically in an atmosphere of 10% H<sub>2</sub>, 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, and 80% N<sub>2</sub> at 35°C for three days (Austin et al., 1998). Crumpets were stab-inoculated by pipette ~0.5 cm beneath the surface at six distinct, equidistant locations on the top surface of the crumpet with 180 µL (6 x 30 µL) spore suspension per 100-g sample to provide a final inoculum level of 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g. This inoculum level was chosen based on the results of previous challenge studies in which crumpets, inoculated with 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g C. botulinum, became neurotoxin within one week (Daifas et al., 1999b). Control samples were inoculated in a similar manner with an identical volume of 0.1% (wt/wt) peptone water.

### 4.2.3 Packaging

All inoculated and control crumpets (pH 6.5 and 8.3) were packaged under the following atmospheres: i) 60% CO<sub>2</sub> (balance N<sub>2</sub>) or ii) 100% CO<sub>2</sub>. Duplicate samples of crumpets (~50-g each, two per bag) were placed in 210-mm by 210-mm high gas barrier Cryovac bags (O<sub>2</sub> transmission rate: 3 to 6 cc/m<sup>2</sup>/day, 1 atm at 4.4°C, 0% ERH; Cryovac, Mississauga, ON). Gas packaging was achieved using a Multivac chamber type heat-seal packaging machine (model SP-300H; Multivac, Inc., Kansas City, MO) to obtain the desired mix of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub> (60:40 or 100:0). All packaged samples were stored at 25°C. Duplicate samples of uninoculated control crumpets were analysed at day 0 and after neurotoxin was detected in inoculated crumpets.

### 4.2.4 Headspace gas

At day 0 and after each 24-hour storage interval, samples were analysed for changes in headspace gas composition. Gas samples were withdrawn using a 0.5-mL gas-tight pressure-Lok syringe (Precision Sampling Co., Baton Rouge, LA) through a septum attached to the outside of each package. Headspace gas was analysed with a Varian gas chromatograph (model 3300; Varian Canada, Inc., Montreal, QC), fitted with a thermal conductivity detector and using Porapack Q and molecular sieve 5A (80 to 100 mesh) columns (Chromatographic Specialities, Brockville, ON) in series. Peaks were recorded and analysed with a Varian integrator (model 4270, Varian Canada, Inc.).

### 4.2.5 Sensory analysis

Each day, packaged crumpets were evaluated for package swelling, visible mould growth, texture, colour, and odour using a six-point hedonic scale (0 = no deterioration; 5 = extreme deterioration) as previously described (Daifas et al., 1999a, b). A sensory score of 2.5 was taken as the cut-off for acceptability and termination of shelf-life.

### 4.2.6 Neurotoxin assay

Each sample (two crumpets) was aseptically transferred to a stomacher bag. A 1:3 dilution was prepared by adding twice the sample weight of 0.1% (wt/wt) peptone water and then stomaching for two minutes using a Colworth Stomacher (Seward Medical Stomacher, London, UK). The homogenized samples were centrifuged at 23,500 x g for 20 minutes at 4°C. Botulinum neurotoxin was detected as described previously (Daifas et al., 1999b). An aliquot of the sample supernatant was filtered through a 0.45- $\mu$ m filter (Acrodisc; Gelman Sciences, Ann Arbor, MI) and 0.5 mL of this filtrate was injected intraperitoneally into each of two 20- to 28-g mice (Charles River, QC). Mice were observed for up to 72 hours for typical signs of botulism, including ruffled fur, pinched waist, laboured breathing, limb paresis, and general paralysis. Mice showing extreme distress were humanely asphyxiated with CO<sub>2</sub> according to Health Canada Animal Care Committee guidelines

(personal communication). Neutralization of neurotoxin was performed on randomly selected positive samples, representative of all packaging conditions, using antisera (Connaught Laboratories, North York, ON) to botulinum neurotoxins. Survival of mice that were injected but not protected with antisera, were interpreted as confirmation that toxicity could be attributed to *C. botulinum* (Austin and Blanchfield, 1996).

# 4.2.7 Changes in sample pH

The pH of the samples was determined using a previously calibrated Fisher Accumet pH meter (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON). Portions of filtered sample supernatant of the homogenized, centrifuged samples were transferred to glass tubes, and pH measurement was made by immersing the electrode directly into each tube.

### 4.2.8 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using analysis of variance for a 2 x 2 factorial experimental design (Steel and Torrie, 1980) using Prism 2.01 (Graph-Pad Software, Inc.; San Diego, CA).

### **4.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

# 4.3.1 Changes in CO<sub>2</sub> and pH

Changes in headspace gas composition for all crumpets are shown in Figure 4.1. For pH 8.3 crumpets packaged in 100% CO<sub>2</sub>, headspace CO<sub>2</sub> decreased rapidly to ~78% after one day at ambient temperature, then increased to ~95% by day 2, and remained at this level throughout storage. A similar trend occurred with pH 6.5 crumpets packaged in 100%  $CO_2$  (Figure 4.1). Headspace  $CO_2$  also initially decreased for crumpets packaged in 60% CO<sub>2</sub>; however, the initial decrease in headspace CO<sub>2</sub> was less marked in crumpets packaged in 60% CO<sub>2</sub> than was observed for crumpets packaged in 100% CO2. For all crumpets (pH 6.5 and 8.3) packaged in 60% CO<sub>2</sub>, headspace CO<sub>2</sub> decreased to ~50% to 55% after one day and then increased to, and remained at ~60% (Figure 4.1). The changes in headspace CO<sub>2</sub> can be attributed to the dissolution of CO2 in the aqueous and lipid phases of the food and subsequent equilibration within the package atmosphere. For each level of packaging CO<sub>2</sub> (60% or 100%), headspace CO<sub>2</sub> was consistently higher for pH 6.5 crumpets than for pH 8.3 crumpets (Figure 4.1). This can be attributed to the decreased solubility of CO2 at lower pH (Devlieghere et al., 1998) resulting in the higher levels of headspace CO2 that



FIGURE 4.1. Changes in headspace gas composition ( $O_2$ , open symbols;  $CO_2$ , closed symbols) of crumpets at pH 6.5 ( $\bullet$ ) and pH 8.3 ( $\blacksquare$ ) inoculated with 500 spores/g C. botulinum, packaged in 60%  $CO_2$  (----) or in 100%  $CO_2$  (----), and stored at 25°C

6.5 crumpets. The low levels of headspace  $O_2$  (<4%) observed in packaged crumpets (Figure 4.1) were attributed to residual  $O_2$  trapped within the porous structure of the crumpets (Piergiovanni and Fava, 1997).

The effect of headspace CO<sub>2</sub> on pH changes is shown in Figure 4.2. For pH 6.5 crumpets packaged in 60% CO<sub>2</sub>, pH remained constant throughout storage, while for crumpets of the same pH (6.5) packaged in 100% CO<sub>2</sub>, pH decreased gradually from pH 6.5 to ~pH 5.5 by day 7 (Figure 4.2). For pH 8.3 crumpets, identical changes in pH were observed for crumpets irrespective of the level of packaging CO<sub>2</sub> (Figure 4.2). Alkaline crumpets (pH 8.3) were formulated to contain five times as much (wt/wt) bicarbonate as pH 6.5 crumpets. Whether packaged in either 60% or 100% CO<sub>2</sub>, the pH of the alkaline crumpets (pH 8.3) decreased rapidly to approximately 7.3 within 24 hours and remained at this pH throughout storage (Figure 4.2). At pH 7.3, a buffering effect may have resulted because approximately equimolar amounts of dissolved CO<sub>2</sub> and bicarbonate would have been present (Daniels et al., 1985).

### 4.3.2 Neurotoxin detection

Neurotoxin was detected in inoculated crumpets regardless of product pH or level of packaging  $CO_2$  (Table 4.1). However, the time at



FIGURE 4.2. Changes in pH of crumpets at pH 6.5 ( $\bigcirc$ ) and pH 8.3 ( $\blacksquare$ ) inoculated with 500 spores/g C. botulinum, packaged in 60% CO<sub>2</sub> (----) or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> (----), and stored at 25°C

TABLE 4.1. Effect of pH and packaging atmosphere on sensory quality and toxicity of crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g C. botulinum and stored at 25°C

| % g<br>(vol/ | % gas pH<br>(vol/vol) |         | Sen    | isory analy<br>scores <sup>a, b</sup> | Accepta-<br>bility <sup>b</sup> | Time to<br>toxicity <sup>c</sup> |   |     |
|--------------|-----------------------|---------|--------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------------------|---|-----|
| CO₂          | N <sub>2</sub>        | Initial | Final⁵ | Colour                                | Texture                         | Odour                            |   |     |
| 60           | 40                    | 6.5     | 5.9    | 0                                     | 1                               | 1                                | + | 4   |
| 60           | 40                    | 8.3     | 7.1    | 1                                     | 0                               | 0                                | + | 4   |
| 100          | 0                     | 6.5     | 5.9    | 0                                     | 1.25                            | 1.5                              | + | 5.5 |
| 100          | 0                     | 8.3     | 6.9    | 0                                     | 2.5                             | 2.5                              | ± | 7   |

<sup>a</sup> 0, no deterioration; 5 extreme deterioration; > 2.5, termination of shelf-life

<sup>b</sup> At the time of earliest neurotoxin detection

° Day of earliest neurotoxin detection

which neurotoxin was first detected was significantly influenced by an interaction between initial product pH and initial level of packaging CO<sub>2</sub> (P < 0.001). The time-of-earliest neurotoxin detection was not influenced by pH when crumpets were packaged in 60% CO<sub>2</sub> (Table 4.1). All crumpets (pH 6.5 and 8.3) initially packaged in 60% CO<sub>2</sub> and stored at 25°C, were toxic by day 4 (Table 4.1). However, product pH was a significant factor (P < 0.015) influencing time-of-earliest neurotoxin detection when crumpets were packaged in 100% CO<sub>2</sub>. Spores of *C. botulinum* have been shown to germinate rapidly in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> (Foegeding and Busta, 1983; Kim and Foegeding, 1993b). However, packaging crumpets (pH 6.5 and 8.3) in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> resulted in a delay in the time of earliest neurotoxin detection of 1.5 days and 3 days, respectively (Tables 4.1 and 4.2). No neurotoxin was detected in any uninoculated crumpets after 10-days storage at ambient temperature (results not shown).

Whenever neurotoxin was detected in any crumpets, product pH at the time of detection was always  $\leq$ 7.9. However, the upper pH limit for neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in MAP crumpets is probably somewhat higher than 7.9 since preliminary studies have demonstrated neurotoxin production at pH 8.7 in crumpets packaged in air with an oxygen absorbent and stored at ambient temperature (unpublished data). Several commercially produced bakery products have an alkaline pH (7 to 9) (Denny et al., 1969; Aramouni et al., 1994; Jenson et al., 1994; Smith and Simpson, 1995), and such high-pH bakery products have the

| % gas     |                 |                |     | Neurotoxin analysis <sup>a</sup> |     |     |     |     |          |     |
|-----------|-----------------|----------------|-----|----------------------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|----------|-----|
| (vol/vol) |                 |                |     |                                  |     | (da | ay) |     |          |     |
| pН        | CO <sub>2</sub> | N <sub>2</sub> | 3   | 4                                | 5   | 6   | 7   | 8   | 9        | 10  |
|           |                 |                |     |                                  |     |     |     |     |          |     |
| 6.5       | 60              | 40             | 0/2 | 2/2                              | 2/2 | 2/2 | 2/2 | b   |          | —   |
| 6.5       | 100             | 0              | 0/2 | 0/2                              | 1/2 | 2/2 | 1/2 | 2/2 | 0/2      | 2/2 |
| 8.3       | 60              | 40             | 0/2 | 2/2                              | 2/2 | 2/2 | 2/2 | _   | <u> </u> |     |
| 8.3       | 100             | 0              | 0/2 | 0/2                              | 0/2 | 0/2 | 2/2 | 0/2 |          | 2/2 |

| TABLE 4.2. Neurotoxin detection in crumpets inoculated with 500 spores | :/g |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| C. botulinum packaged in 60% or 100% CO₂ and stored at 25°C            |     |

<sup>a</sup> Number of samples testing positive/number of samples analysed

<sup>b</sup> No samples analysed for neurotoxin

1-
potential to support growth of *C. botulinum* if packaged under MAP conditions. Foods are sometimes reformulated to pH < 4.6, the minimum pH for growth and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* (Dodds and Austin, 1997), in order to ensure food safety. However, the upper pH limit (~pH 9) (Hobbs, 1976) for growth for *C. botulinum* is not generally considered to be as significant to food safety because the pH of most foods is generally <7. Furthermore, because the pH of food may decrease during storage as a result of microbiological and chemical changes, reformulation to exceed the upper limit (pH >9) may not be sufficient to ensure safety with respect to *C. botulinum*.

Although neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* was not inhibited in crumpets packaged in  $CO_2$ , it was slightly delayed at a high  $CO_2$  level (100%), particularly in crumpets with an initial pH of 8.3 (Table 4.1). This study is in agreement with previous studies that reported a delay in neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in elevated levels of  $CO_2$ . Doyle (1983) observed a one-day delay in neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in media under 100%  $CO_2$  compared to media under 100%  $N_2$ . A delay in neurotoxin production has also been reported in MAP pork packaged in 45% to 75%  $CO_2$  compared to pork packaged in 15% to 30%  $CO_2$  (Lambert et al., 1991b).

When crumpets were packaged in 60% CO<sub>2</sub>, neurotoxin was first detected after four-days storage at 25°C, regardless of pH (Table 4.2). Once neurotoxin was first detected in crumpets packaged in 60% CO<sub>2</sub>, it

was consistently detected from day 4 to day 7 (Table 4.2). However, this trend was not observed for pH 6.5 or 8.3 crumpets packaged in 100%  $CO_2$  (Table 4.2). This suggests that as well as delaying toxicity by 1.5 days to 3 days (Table 4.2), packaging in 100%  $CO_2$  reduced the probability of detecting neurotoxin on subsequent sampling days after it was first detected. Several models, developed to predict i) the time-to-turbidity, or ii) the probability of neurotoxin formation in samples inoculated with *C. botulinum* under specified conditions, or ii) both, anticipate a lower probability of toxigenesis under less than optimal conditions (Whiting, 1995).

The mechanisms by which  $CO_2$  delays neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* is not entirely understood. However, it is generally accepted that the effect depends on the dissolution of  $CO_2$  in the food (Daniels et al., 1985) and the movement of  $CO_2$  or  $H_2CO_3$  into the cell. One explanation for the delayed growth of and neurotoxin production by *C botulinum* in crumpets may be that at high levels,  $CO_2$  may result in inhibition of decarboxylase reactions through mass action effects (Daniels et al., 1985).

#### 4.3.3 Sensory analysis

Sensory scores were similar for all crumpets throughout storage irrespective of product pH or level of packaging CO<sub>2</sub> (results not shown).

For most crumpets, shelf-life was terminated after seven-days storage at ambient temperature. While colour scores remained optimal throughout storage, deterioration in both texture and odour scores was observed. Shelf-life was considered to be terminated when texture scores, odour scores, or both were >2.5. All products were organoleptically acceptable when they became toxic (Table 4.1), although pH 8.3 crumpets packaged in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> were marginally acceptable (score = 2.5) when neurotoxin was first detected (day 7 [Table 4.1]). Neurotoxin production by proteolytic *C. botulinum* prior to spoilage in foods at ambient temperature has been reported by several researchers (Kautter et al., 1981; Sugiyama et al., 1981; Austin et al., 1998; Solomon et al., 1998; Daifas et al., 1999a, b). Neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* preceding spoilage of foods packaged under MAP conditions and stored at ambient temperature highlights the need for additional barriers to control the growth of this pathogen.

## **4.4 CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, this study confirms that high-moisture high-pH bakery products, if contaminated with spores of *C. botulinum*, may become hazardous if packaged in  $CO_2$ . Although toxigenesis was delayed in crumpets (pH 6.5 and 8.3) packaged in 100%  $CO_2$  and stored at ambient temperature, all products became toxic prior to spoilage. Further research is therefore required to determine the level of additional barriers to inhibit the growth of *C. botulinum* and ensure the safety of high-moisture low- and high-pH bakery products packaged under elevated levels of  $CO_2$ .

# **PREFACE TO CHAPTER 5.0**

Previous studies had determined the need to incorporate barriers to inhibit the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* into high-moisuture bakery products, specifically English-style crumpets packaged under various atmospheres and stored at ambient temperature. The present study was designed to evaluate the potential of ethanol applied in the vapour state as a potential barrier to the growth of *C. botulinum* in packaged crumpets with the objective of ensuring the safety of these products at ambient temperature.

# 5.0 EFFECT OF ETHANOL VAPOUR ON GROWTH OF AND NEUROTOXIN PRODUCTION BY *CLOSTRIDIUM BOTULINUM* IN A HIGH-MOISTURE BAKERY PRODUCT

## **5.1 INTRODUCTION**

Previous studies have demonstrated that high-moisture bakery products, when inoculated with spores of proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum* and packaged in high gas-barrier bags in air or under modified atmospheres, supported growth of and neurotoxin production by this pathogen at ambient temperature (Daifas et al., 1999a, b, c). The ability of such foods to become toxic prior to spoilage means that additional barriers need to be incorporated within the food product and/or packaging to ensure product safety.

Ethanol is well known for its antimycotic effect in foods, particularly bakery products. Ethanol has been shown to increase the mould-free shelflife of bread (Seiler, 1978, 1989; Seiler and Russell, 1991; Vora and Sidhu, 1987; Salminen et al., 1996), par-baked pizza (Seiler, 1989), pita bread (El-Khoury, 1999) and pasta (Giavedoni et al., 1994). Ethanol vapour has also been reported to inhibit fermentation in apple turnovers (Smith et al., 1987) as well as yeast and mould growth in pita bread (Black et al., 1993). Although Hall and Spencer (1964) observed a three- to five-day increase in the shelf-life of chickens that had been pre-dipped in ethanol, very little is known about the effect of ethanol on bacteria in food. To the best of our

knowledge there have been no reports of the effect of ethanol, specifically ethanol vapour, on the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in bakery products.

The objective of this study was to investigate the effect of ethanol vapour on the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in English-style crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum*, packaged in air in high barrier bags and stored at ambient temperature (25°C).

### **5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### 5.2.1 Formulation of crumpets

English-style crumpets (a<sub>w</sub> 0.990, pH 6.5) were prepared in a food lab (McGill University) from all-purpose flour, sugar, yeast, reconstituted dry milk, salt, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and  $\alpha$ -amylase (Novamyl; Novo Nordisk; Danbury, CT) and were baked in cylindrical moulds on a pre-heated griddle (204°C) as described previously (Daifas et al., 1999b). Baked crumpets measured approximately 8 cm × 1.6 cm and weighed approximately 50 g each.

#### 5.2.2 Preparation of spore inoculum/sample inoculation

A composite inoculum of *C. botulinum* spores was prepared from three type A strains (17A, 62A, and CK2A) and three proteolytic type B strains (MRB, 13983IIB, and 368B) (Health Canada). Spore crops of each strain were prepared separately, enumerated as described by Hauschild and Hilsheimer (1977), and stored at -80°C. Equal numbers of spores of each strain were then combined to form a single suspension of approximately 3 x 10<sup>5</sup> spores/mL. The spore mixture was heat shocked at 75°C for 20 minutes prior to sample inoculation. Inoculum levels were verified prior to inoculation of samples by plating appropriate dilutions in duplicate on McClung Toabe Agar (Difco, Becton Dickinson; Sparks, MD) containing 0.5% yeast extract (Difco) and egg-yolk (Austin and Blanchfield, 1996) and incubating anaerobically in an atmosphere of 10% H<sub>2</sub>, 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, and 80% N<sub>2</sub> at 35°C for three days (Austin et al., 1998). Crumpets were stab inoculated by pipette ~0.5 cm beneath the surface at six distinct, equidistant locations on the top surface of the crumpet with 180  $\mu$ L (6 x 30  $\mu$ L) of spore suspension per 100-g sample to provide a final inoculum level of 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g. Control samples were inoculated in a similar manner with an identical volume of 0.1% (wt/wt) peptone water.

#### 5.2.3 Packaging

All inoculated and control crumpets were packaged by placing two crumpets (~50 g each) into 210-mm x 210-mm high gas barrier Cryovac bags (O<sub>2</sub> transmission rate: 3 to 6 cc/m<sup>2</sup>/day, 1 atm at 4°C, 0% RH; ethanol transmission rate: 0.21 g/m<sup>2</sup>/day, 1 atm at 25°C; Cryovac; Mississauga, ON). Crumpets were packaged in duplicate, with or without ethanol. Crumpets packaged with ethanol contained either i) 2-, 4- or 6-G sachets of Ethicap<sup>®</sup>, a commercially available ethanol vapour generator (Freund Industrial Company, Ltd.; Tokyo, Japan) or ii) sterile cotton wool pads saturated with 2, 4, or 6 g of filter-sterilized 95% ethanol. Ethicap<sup>®</sup> (Antimold 102) consists of a heat-sealed sachet containing food grade

ethanol adsorbed onto silicon dioxide releasing at least 55% ethanol on a weight basis. Trace amounts of vanilla, citrus or other flavours are included to mask undesirable flavours. The ethanol sachets and ethanolsoaked pads were added to the bags immediately prior to sealing with an impulse heat-sealer. All packaged samples were stored at 25°C. Duplicate samples of inoculated crumpets were analysed at days 0, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9, 10, 14, and 21. Duplicate samples of uninoculated control crumpets were analysed at days 0 to 7, 10, 12, and 14.

#### 5.2.4 Headspace O<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> analysis

Changes in headspace O<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> were monitored using a previously calibrated Oxygen/Carbon Dioxide Analyser (Servomex, Food Package Analyzer Series 1400; Minneapolis, MN). Samples of headspace gas were withdrawn using a 0.5-mL gastight pressure-Lok<sup>®</sup> syringe (Precision Sampling Co; Baton Rouge, LA) through a septum attached to the outside of each package.

## 5.2.5 Oxidation reduction potential of crumpets

The oxidation reduction potential (ORP) of uninoculated crumpets was determined using a pH meter (Model 2220, Corning Glassworks; Corning, NY) fitted with a previously cleaned combination polished platinum oxidation reduction potential electrode containing a refillable KCI/AgCI reference electrode (model 3131B; Hanna Instruments; Bedfordshire, UK). The electrode was activated by pre-treatment in a reducing solution of ferrous sulphate in dilute HCI (HI 7091L; Hanna Instruments) and calibrated against a standard solution of potassium hydrogen phthalate-quinhydrone measuring 200 to 275 mV (HI 7020; Hanna Instruments). The ORP of crumpets was measured by positioning the electrode ~1.3 cm below the surface of two crumpets packaged in a high gas barrier Cryovac bag (O<sub>2</sub> transmission rate: 3 to 6 cc/m<sup>2</sup>/day, 1 atm at 4°C, 0% RH.; ethanol transmission rate: 0.21 g/m<sup>2</sup>/day, 1 atm at 25°C; Cryovac; Mississauga, ON). The bag was subsequently sealed tightly around the probe to minimize ingress of oxygen.

#### 5.2.6 Headspace ethanol

Changes in headspace ethanol were monitored using a Varian gas chromatograph (model 3300, Varian Canada, Inc; Montreal, QC), fitted with a flame ionization detector and using a Nukol column (30-M × 0.53-mm; Supelco, Canada, Ltd). Helium was the carrier gas with a flow rate of 30 mL/minute. The column temperature was set at 60°C and the injector port at 100°C. Headspace ethanol was anlaysed by withdrawing 0.5 mL of gas using a gastight pressure-Lok<sup>®</sup> syringe as described previously for headspace gas analysis and injecting into the chromatograph. Peaks were recorded and analysed with a Hewlett-Packard integrator (model 3390A, Hewlett-Packard Canada, Ltd.; Kirkland, QC). The concentration of headspace ethanol (% vol/vol) was determined from a standard curve ( $R^2$  0.998) generated by analysing, in triplicate, standard solutions of 95% food grade ethanol ranging in concentration from 0.25 to 10% (vol/vol).

## 5.2.7 Sensory analysis

On each sampling day, packages were evaluated for swelling and crumpets for visible mould growth. Texture, colour and odour of crumpets were evaluated by three untrained panellists using a six-point hedonic scale (0 = no deterioration; 5 = extreme deterioration) as previously described (Daifas et al., 1999a). A sensory score of 2.5 was taken as the cut-off for acceptability and termination of shelf-life.

## 5.2.8 Neurotoxin assay

Each sample (two crumpets) was aseptically transferred to a stomacher bag. A 1:3 dilution was prepared by adding twice the sample weight of 0.1% (wt/wt) peptone water and then stomaching for 2 minutes using a Colworth Stomacher (Seward Medical Stomacher; London, UK). The homogenized samples were centrifuged at 23,500 x g for 20 minutes at 4°C. Botulinum neurotoxin was detected as described previously (Daifas et al., 1999a, b, c). An aliquot of the sample supernatant was

filtered through a 0.45- $\mu$ m filter (Acrodisc, Gelman Sciences; Ann Arbor, MI) and 0.5 mL of this filtrate was injected intra-peritoneally into each of two 20- to 28-g mice (Charles River; QC). Mice were observed for up to 72 hours for typical signs of botulism including ruffled fur, pinched waist, laboured breathing, limb paresis and general paralysis. Mice showing extreme distress were humanely asphyxiated with CO<sub>2</sub> according to Health Canada Animal Care Committee guidelines (Daifas et al., 1999c). Neutralization of neurotoxin was performed on randomly selected positive samples, representative of all packaging conditions, using antisera (Connaught Laboratories; North York, ON) to botulinum neurotoxins. Survival of mice that were injected with a positive sample supernatant while protected with antisera and death of mice that were similarly injected, but not protected with antisera, was interpreted as confirmation that toxicity could be attributed to *C. botulinum* (Austin and Blanchfield, 1996).

## 5.2.9 Changes in sample pH

The pH of the samples was determined using a previously calibrated (buffers pH 4.0 and 7.0) Fisher Accumet<sup>®</sup> pH meter (Fisher Scientific; Ottawa, ON). Portions of filtered sample supernatant of the homogenized, centrifuged samples were transferred to glass tubes and pH measurement was made by immersing the electrode directly into each tube.

### 5.2.10 Ethanol content of crumpets

Changes in the ethanol content of crumpets were monitored using a Varian gas chromatograph (model 3300, Varian Canada, Inc; Montreal, QC). The column, carrier gas, carrier gas flow rate and column temperature were as described previously for headspace ethanol analysis; however, the injector port temperature was increased to 150°C. The ethanol content of crumpets was analysed by injecting 1 mL of supernatant of the centrifuged homogenized sample (1:3 dilution) into the chromatograph. Peaks were recorded and analysed with a Hewlett-Packard integrator (model 3390A; Hewlett-Packard Canada, Ltd.; Kirkland, QC). The ethanol content of crumpets (% wt/wt) was determined from a standard curve (R<sup>2</sup> 0.996) generated by analysing, in triplicate, standard solutions of 95% food grade ethanol ranging in concentration from 0.25 to 10% (wt/wt).

# 5.2.11 Statistical analysis

Non-linear regression (Steel and Torrie, 1980) curves were fit using Prism 2.01 (GraphPad Software, Inc.; San Diego, CA).

## **5.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

# 5.3.1 Changes in headspace oxygen, carbon dioxide and oxidationreduction potential

Changes in headspace  $O_2$  and  $CO_2$  of crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g *C. botulinum*, packaged in air with an ethanol vapour generator or with ethanol applied to a cotton pad and stored at 25°C, are shown in Figure 5.1A-B respectively. For control crumpets (inoculated and packaged in air without ethanol), headspace  $O_2$  decreased to <1% while headspace  $CO_2$  increased to ~45% by day 3. By day 7, headspace  $CO_2$  increased to ~75%, a level it remained at for the duration of storage (Figure 5.1A-B).

Similar trends were observed for crumpets packaged in air with 2- to 6-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> ethanol vapour generators or with 2 or 4 g of ethanol applied on pads. However, the rates at which headspace  $O_2$  decreased and headspace  $CO_2$  increased depended on the size of sachet or amount of ethanol applied to the pad (Figure 5.1A-B). The lowest levels of  $CO_2$  were observed for crumpets packaged with greater amounts of ethanol. For crumpets packaged with 6 g ethanol per pad, headspace  $O_2$  decreased only to ~10% while headspace  $CO_2$  was <10% after 21-days storage at 25°C (Figure 5.1B). None of these packages was visibly swol-



FIGURE 5.1. Changes in headspace  $O_2$  (---) and  $CO_2$  (—) in crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g C. botulinum, packaged in air without ethanol (\*) or with A, 2-G ( $\bigcirc$ ), 4-G ( $\square$ ), or 6-G ( $\triangle$ ) Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or B, 2 g ( $\bullet$ ), 4 g ( $\blacksquare$ ), 6 g ( $\blacktriangle$ ) ethanol and stored at 25°C

len; however, all crumpets were overtly spoiled before the end of storage.

Almost identical trends in headspace gas changes were observed for uninoculated control crumpets (results not shown). This suggests that *C. botulinum* did not influence changes in headspace CO<sub>2</sub> which may instead be attributed to the inhibitory effect of ethanol vapour on endogenous microorganisms. Concentration dependent inhibition of microorganisms by ethanol has been reported. Seiler and Russell (1991) observed that the mould-free shelf-life of bread increased with increasing ethanol concentration. Similarly, Yamamoto et al. (1984) reported a concentration dependent logarithmic inhibition of bacteria by ethanol.

Although lower headspace  $CO_2$  levels were associated with higher amounts of ethanol, headspace  $CO_2$  in all crumpets (with the exception of those packaged with 6 g ethanol/pad) still increased to >50% after seven days with most packages having a blown appearance. Although no microbiological testing (with the exception of botulinum neurtotoxin) was conducted in the present study, previous studies had shown that the background microflora of crumpets included yeasts, moulds, *Bacillus* spp. and heterofermentative lactic acid bacteria (results not shown). This is consistent with Smith et al. (1987) who reported that these microorganisms are common contaminants of crumpets. Therefore, these microorganisms may have contributed to the increase in headspace  $CO_2$ observed in this study.

The oxidation-reduction potential (ORP) of uninoculated control crumpets (packaged without ethanol) decreased rapidly to approximately -100 mV by day 3 (Figure 5.2), corresponding to a decrease in headspace O<sub>2</sub> to <0.1%. This rapid decrease in ORP may again be attributed to microbial respiration. When uninoculated crumpets were packaged with 6-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup>, the ORP decreased gradually to +50 mV by day 5 and remained at this level (Figure 5.2) even though headspace  $O_2$ eventually decreased to <0.1%. A positive ORP of a food is largely attributed to the presence of dissolved O<sub>2</sub>; however, positive conditions can also result from microbial oxidation of carbon sources in the absence of oxygen (Voet and Voet, 1990). The reported maximum ORP at which germination and growth of C. botulinum can be initiated ranges from +30 mV to +250 mV (Kim and Foegeding, 1993a). Therefore, although the minimum measured ORP of crumpets packaged with 6-G Ethicap® was +50 mV, it was within the range at which growth has been reported.

## 5.3.2 Headspace ethanol analysis

It was possible to measure headspace ethanol in packages of uninoculated crumpets only. Since no difference in changes in headspace O<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> was observed between uninoculated and inoculated crumpets (results not shown), changes in headspace ethanol of inoculated crumpets were assumed to be similar to those observed for



FIGURE 5.2. Changes in oxidation-reduction potential of crumpets packaged without (---) and with (---) 6-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> at 25°C

uninoculated crumpets. Headspace ethanol of packaged uninoculated crumpets increased with the size of Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or amount of ethanol that crumpets were packaged with. After one-days storage headspace ethanol ranged from 2.3% to 5.8% (vol/vol) for 2- to 6-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> and from 2.8% to 9% (vol/vol) for 2 to 6 g ethanol/pad (Figure 5.3). Headspace ethanol for crumpets packaged with 6 g ethanol was initially high [9% (vol/vol)]; however, headspace ethanol decreased to ~6% (vol/vol) after four days and remained at this level throughout storage (Figure 5.3). These trends are consistent with Salminen et al. (1996) and Smith et al. (1987) who also reported significant correlation between headspace ethanol and the size of ethanol vapour generator packaged with bakery products.

Crumpets packaged without ethanol had an initial headspace ethanol content ~0.5% ([vol/vol] day 1) which increased gradually to ~3% (vol/vol) after 14-days storage at 25°C (Figure 5.3). This increase in headspace ethanol can be attributed to yeast fermentation. Crumpets are cooked in metal rings on a griddle just until the top surface is no longer wet and yeast may survive baking.

## 5.3.3 Sensory evaluation

The shelf-life of crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g of *C. botulinum* and packaged with various sizes of ethanol vapour genera-



FIGURE 5.3. Changes in headspace ethanol in crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g C. botulinum, packaged in air without ethanol (\*), with 2-G ( $\bigcirc$ ), 4-G ( $\square$ ), 6-G ( $\triangle$ ) Ethicap<sup>®</sup> (---) or with 2 g ( $\bullet$ ), 4 g ( $\blacksquare$ ), 6 g ( $\blacktriangle$ ) ethanol (—) and stored at 25°C

tors or ethanol pads is shown in Table 5.1. Shelf-life of crumpets was terminated when odour and/or texture scores were  $\geq$ 2.5. At these scores crumpet texture was characterized as soft and mushy while off-odours were described as "fruity" and/or "alcoholic". No visible mould was observed on any crumpets throughout storage.

The shelf-life of control crumpets was terminated after six-days storage at ambient temperature, i.e., one day after neurotoxin was detected in these control crumpets (packaged in air without ethanol vapour) (Table 5.1). Packaging crumpets with ethanol vapour resulted in, at most, a three-day extension of sensory shelf-life (Table 5.1). When crumpets were packaged with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> ethanol vapour generators, no shelf-life extension was observed, i.e., crumpets were overtly spoiled by day 6. However, spoilage preceded toxigenesis as neurotoxin was first detected in these crumpets at day 10. Neurotoxin was not detected during the 21-day storage period in any other crumpets (packaged with 4-G or 6-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or with 2, 4 or 6 g ethanol/pad). However, all crumpets were overtly spoiled by day 9 (Table 5.1).

This slight increase in shelf-life was significantly less than the 16-day extension reported for bread (200- to 300-g) stored at ambient temperature in air with 1% (wt/wt) ethanol (Vora and Sidhu, 1987) or in air with 2-G to 3-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> (Salminen et al., 1996). In these two studies, the amount of ethanol used ( $\leq$ 1% [wt/wt]) did not affect changes in the sensory quality of the bread. Similarly, Seiler (1978) showed that cake

TABLE 5.1. Neurotoxin detection and shelf-life in crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g C. botulinum, packaged in air with ethanol and stored at 25°C

| Ethanol/100-g<br>crumpets            | Day neuro-<br>toxin first<br>detected <sup>ь</sup> | Day shelf-life<br>terminated° | % Absorbed<br>ethanol <sup>d.e</sup><br>(wt/wt) | Estimated<br>water activity <sup>d, f</sup> |
|--------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------|
| Control                              |                                                    |                               |                                                 |                                             |
| None                                 | 5                                                  | 6                             | 1.2                                             | 0.971                                       |
| Ethicap® ethanol vapour generator    |                                                    |                               |                                                 |                                             |
| 2-G *                                | 10                                                 | 6                             | 2.3                                             | 0.964                                       |
| 4-G                                  | >21 <sup>b,*</sup>                                 | 6                             | 2.7                                             | 0.960                                       |
| 6-G                                  | >21                                                | 7                             | 4.1                                             | 0.945                                       |
| Ethanol (95% [wt/wt]) applied to pad |                                                    |                               |                                                 |                                             |
| 2 g                                  | >21                                                | 6                             | 2.6                                             | 0.961                                       |
| 4 g                                  | >21                                                | 7                             | 3.2                                             | 0.955                                       |
| 6 g                                  | >21                                                | 9                             | 4.4                                             | 0.942                                       |

\* No samples were analysed for neurotoxin after day 21

<sup>a</sup> Ethicap<sup>®</sup> releases 55% (wt/wt) ethanol, i.e., 2-G releases 1.1 g ethanol (Freund, 1987)

<sup>b</sup> Neurotoxin was detected by mouse bioassay

<sup>c</sup> Shelf-life terminated when average sensory evaluation score was >2.5 where 0 = no deterioration and 5 = extreme deterioration

<sup>d</sup> Ethanol content of crumpets not inoculated with C. botulinum.

\* At time of first neurotoxin detection or at the end of storage.

<sup>f</sup> Calculated using Ross equation (1975).

and bread treated with 1% (wt/wt) of ethanol were sensorially acceptable but when treated with >2% (wt/wt), alcoholic flavours were very noticeable and products were rejected on the basis of flavour and/or odour. Alcoholic odours were often described in sensory analysis of crumpets used in this study irrespective of the amount of ethanol included in the package. Crumpets have a much higher water activity ( $a_w 0.99$ ) than bread ( $a_w 0.94$  [Salminen et al., 1996]) and therefore, would absorb more ethanol vapour from the package headspace than would bread–resulting in significant changes to the odour of crumpets. The higher ethanol content of crumpets may be acceptable as crumpets are usually toasted before consumption and heating products that have been packaged with ethanol vapour has been shown to reduce the ethanol content (Smith et al., 1987; Giavedoni et al., 1994).

#### **5.3.4 Neurotoxin detection**

Neurotoxin was detected after five days in all control crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum*, packaged in air without an ethanol sachet or pad and stored at 25°C (Table 5.1). These results are consistent with previous studies in which neurotoxin was first detected after six days in crumpets packaged in air and stored at ambient temperature (Daifas et al., 1999b). However, neurotoxin production was delayed when inoculated crumpets were packaged in air with ethanol vapour (Table 5.1). Neurotoxin was first detected after 10-days storage at ambient temperature in crumpets packaged with a 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> ethanol vapour generator. Headspace ethanol for uninoculated crumpets packaged with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> was ~2.3% (vol/vol) from days one to ten (Figure 5.3). When crumpets were packaged with larger sizes of ethanol vapour generators (4- or 6-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup>) or with 2 to 6 g of ethanol applied to pads, neurotoxin was not detected during 21-days storage (Table 5.1). The corresponding headspace ethanol in uninoculated crumpets packaged with larger sizes of Ethicap<sup>®</sup> (4-G, 6-G) or 2 g to 6 g ethanol on pads was always  $\geq$ 2.8% (Figure 5.3). No neurotoxin was detected in any uninoculated crumpets (results not shown).

These results agree with previous yeast and/or mould inhibition studies which showed that the effectiveness of ethanol vapour as an antimicrobial agent was dependent on growth conditions of the medium or food, particularly water activity (a<sub>w</sub>). At lower a<sub>w</sub>, smaller sizes of sachets and hence, lower levels of ethanol vapour, were required to inhibit microbial growth. As growth conditions became more optimal, the level of ethanol required for complete microbial inhibition increased (Smith et al., 1987). Salminen et al. (1996) reported that small ethanol emitters (0.6-G and 1-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup>) had no influence on the mould-free shelf-life of 200-g slices of rye bread. However, larger emitters (2-G and 3-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup>) extended the mould-free shelf-life for 8 days to 12 days

and 26 days to 27 days respectively at ambient storage temperature. Shapero et al. (1978) also reported that a combination of low  $a_w$  and 2% to 4% (wt/wt) could be used to inhibit the growth of *S. aureus* in model agar studies.

#### 5.3.5 Changes in pH

The pH of all inoculated crumpets packaged with ethanol vapour decreased over storage as a function of the size of the ethanol vapour generator or amount of ethanol per pad. The initial pH of crumpets was 6.5. The final pH at the end of storage (day 21) of crumpets packaged without ethanol was 5.5. In comparison, the final pH of crumpets packaged with the highest level of ethanol (6 g) was essentially unchanged at 6.2. This trend may be attributed to the inhibitory effect of ethanol on the growth and metabolism of spoilage microorganisms. However, the pH of all crumpets remained, throughout storage, conducive to the growth of *C. botulinum*.

#### 5.3.6 Ethanol content of crumpets

It was possible to measure the ethanol content of uninoculated crumpets only. The ethanol content of uninoculated crumpets also increased as the size of ethanol vapour generator or amount of ethanol per pad increased.

At the time at which neurotoxin was first detected (day 10) in crumpets packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> the corresponding ethanol content of uninoculated crumpets (packaged with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup>) was  $\sim$ 2.3% (wt/wt) (Table 5.1). However, uninoculated crumpets packaged in air with 2 g ethanol per pad contained, at day 10, ~2.6% (wt/wt) ethanol (Table 5.1). Complete inhibition of neurotoxin (>21 days) was observed in inoculated crumpets packaged with 2 g ethanol/pad. Assuming that headspace levels were similar for inoculated and uninoculated crumpets. this difference may be related to the slightly higher levels of headspace and/or absorbed ethanol in crumpets packaged with 2 g ethanol/pad than in crumpets packaged with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> (Figure 5.3 and Table 5.1). Therefore, since no neurotoxin was detected in any other crumpets packaged with higher amounts of ethanol, it would appear that 2% (wt/wt) of ethanol may be the approximate threshold level required to inhibit neurotoxin production by 500 spores/g C. botulinum in crumpets stored at 25°C. In previous studies in agar inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores of proteolytic C. botulinum and exposed to ethanol vapour, 3% (wt/wt) was needed to completely inhibit growth (unpublished results). Inhibition of C. botulinum in crumpets at a lower level of ethanol (2% [wt/wt]) may be partly due to the effects of pH, aw or the composition of the crumpets. However, the inhibitory effect of ethanol is principally attributed to its vapour pressure (Leirci et al., 1996). Although Seiler (1989) found no difference in the inhibitory effect of ethanol applied as liquid or as

vapour, Smith et al. (1987) reported that lower levels of ethanol were required in the vapour phase compared to direct addition to a medium or food for complete microbial inhibition.

The ethanol content of crumpets packaged without ethanol increased from 0.7% after baking to ~3% (wt/wt) at the end of storage and may be attributed to fermentation by yeast. Yeasts are generally less sensitive than moulds and bacteria to ethanol (Lücke and Jager, 1997). Some breads of acceptable guality may contain up to 1% to 2% ethanol (dry weight basis [Bonetto and Bortoli, 1996]); however, high levels of ethanol resulting from spoilage problems due to growth of S. cerevisiae in par-baked apple turnovers has been reported (Smith et al., 1987). In this study, the ethanol content of crumpets (including control crumpets) at the end of shelf-life (Table 5.1) exceeded the permitted level of 2% (wt/wt) in pizza crusts (Federal Register, 1974). The higher levels of ethanol detected in crumpets is due to their higher aw (0.990). Smith et al. (1987) and Leirci et al. (1996) observed that the amount of ethanol generated and absorbed in a medium or product was greater at higher aw than lower. As ethanol is absorbed by the crumpets. the a<sub>w</sub> will decrease. However, because of the volatility of ethanol it is impossible, after packaging with ethanol vapour, to measure the aw of crumpets. The aw of the crumpets packaged with ethanol vapour was estimated using Raoult's Law and the Ross equation (Ross, 1975). After 10-days storage at ambient temperature, at the time neurotoxin was

detected in crumpets packaged with ethanol vapour, the  $a_w$  of crumpets packaged with 2, 4 and 6 g ethanol was estimated to be 0.961, 0.955 and 0.942 respectively (Table 5.1). This lowering of  $a_w$  from 0.99 may have contributed to the delay and/or inhibition of neurotoxin observed during storage as the minimum  $a_w$  for growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* is ~0.95. However, inhibition of microorganisms by ethanol has been shown to be due to the presence of ethanol and not simply due to a reduction of  $a_w$  (Shapero et al., 1978; Smith et al., 1987).

In this study, neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in English-style crumpets was delayed at least five days using 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> ethanol vapour generators capable of generating ~1.1 g ethanol. Complete inhibition of neurotoxin was observed for 21 days when crumpets were packaged with larger sizes (4-G or 6-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup>) or with 2 g to 6 g ethanol/pad, corresponding to  $\geq$ 1.9 g ethanol. However, the shelf-life of all crumpets was terminated by day 10. Several studies have been done to determine the antimicrobial action of ethanol. Inhibition of DNA, RNA and protein biosynthesis has been reported in *Escherichia coli* exposed to ethanol while ethanol inhibited the glycolitic enzymes of yeast (Ingram and Buttke, 1984). However, although microoganisms vary in their response to ethanol, most studies agree that ethanol exerts its effect through disruption of the cell membrane structure and subsequent interference and/or inhibition of normal cell metabolic functions (Ingram,

1990). Whatever its mode of action, ethanol is a powerful antimicrobial agent and one that could be used to enhance the safety of food.

# **5.4 CONCLUSION**

Based on these preliminary studies, ethanol vapour would appear to be an effective additional barrier to control the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in high-moisture bakery products and increase the safety of these products at ambient temperature. While ethanol has GRAS status in the USA, it is only permitted at levels up to 2% by product weight in pizza whether the alcohol is added directly to the food or indirectly through a sachet. In these studies, the level of ethanol required to inhibit neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* was >2%. However, while lower levels of ethanol would probably increase the sensory shelf-life of crumpets, product safety may be compromised.

# **PREFACE TO CHAPTER 6.0**

Previous studies (Chapter 5.0) showed that while ethanol vapour had the potential to delay neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in high-moisture MAP crumpets, their sensory shelf-life was compromised. Therefore, in an attempt to determine if lower levels of ethanol could enhance safety of these crumpets, a subsequent study was conducted with media to investigate the effect of ethanol alone and in combination with other barriers on the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*.

## 6.0 EFFECT OF ETHANOL ON THE GROWTH OF C. BOTULINUM

## **6.1 INTRODUCTION**

Modified-atmosphere-packaging (MAP), involving vacuum-packaging, gas flushing and oxygen absorbent technology, has been used to extend the shelf-life of high-moisture bakery products (Smith, 1992). However, concern has been expressed about the safety of these products, particularly with respect to *C. botulinum*, a spore-forming anaerobe that produces a potent neurotoxin. In minimally-processed foods such as bakery products, spores of proteolytic *C. botulinum*, if present in the raw ingredients, will readily survive baking. Since many high-moisture bakery products have a water activity (a<sub>w</sub>) >0.95 and a pH >6 (Smith, 1992), these products have the potential to support growth of and neurotoxin production by this pathogen (Dodds and Austin, 1997). It is, therefore, important to ensure that the potential growth of *C. botulinum* in minimally-processed high-moisture MAP bakery products is prevented since the consumption of food in which this pathogen has grown and produced neurotoxin often results in fatal botulism.

To extend product shelf-life and increase safety, the food industry commonly uses a multi-barrier approach. This approach relies on several factors or hurdles which act in conjunction with each other, additively or synergistically, to inhibit or prevent microbial growth (Leistner, 2000). While appropriate combinations of low a<sub>w</sub> and pH may be effective against the

growth *of C. botulinum* in bakery products, many products cannot be reformulated to such levels without loss of sensory acceptability. However, optimum combinations of inhibitory factors, at lower levels of each factor, can often result in enhanced safety of products.

One additional barrier that, in conjunction with reduced a<sub>w</sub> and/or pH may prove effective in controlling the growth of *C. botulinum*, is ethanol. Recently, ethanol has been shown to inhibit growth of and neurotoxin production by proteolytic *C. botulinum* in English-style crumpets, a high-moisture bakery product that was toxic within one week in challenge studies with this pathogen at ambient temperature (Daifas et al., 1999b). Although ethanol delayed growth and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in inoculated crumpets, the shelf-life of this product was limited due to absorption of ethanol from the package headspace (Daifas et al., 2000). Nevertheless, these studies demonstrated the anti-bolulinal effect of ethanol. However, little is known about the minimum levels of ethanol that could be used to enhance the safety of minimally processed bakery products without compromising product quality. Therefore, the objectives of this study were to model the effects of ethanol, alone and in combination with a<sub>w</sub> and pH, on the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in model broth studies.

#### **6.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 6.2.1 Growth curve

# 6.2.1.1 Cultures and growth conditions

A total of six proteolytic strains of Group I C. botulinum (17A, 62A, CK2A, MRB, 13983IIB, and 368B) were used throughout this study. Each strain of C. botulinum was grown from frozen stock culture onto McClung Toabe agar (Difco, Becton-Dickinson; Sparks, MD) and incubated anaerobically in an atmosphere of 10% H<sub>2</sub>, 80% N<sub>2</sub>, and 10% CO2 at 37°C. Overnight broth cultures were prepared in trypticase peptone glucose yeast extract (TPGY) broth (Difco) and incubated anaerobically to provide final inoculum levels of approximately 10<sup>8</sup> CFU/mL. Inoculum levels were verified by plating appropriate dilutions in duplicate on McClung Toabe agar. Flasks of TPGY broth (500-mL), preheated to 37°C, containing 0, 1, 2, 3 or 4% (wt/wt) 95% ethanol were inoculated with 0.3 mL of the composite mixture of C. botulinum to provide a final inoculum level of  $2 \times 10^4$  CFU/mL. All flasks were tightly covered with sterile aluminum foil and incubated in an atmosphere of 10% H<sub>2</sub>, 80% N<sub>2</sub>, and 10% CO<sub>2</sub> in an anaerobic chamber (Coy Laboratories, Detroit, MI) at 37°C. Growth was monitored by plating (in the anaerobic chamber) appropriate decimal dilutions of inoculated TPGY broth onto TPGY agar and incubating anaerobically at approximately 90-minute intervals at 37°C for 28 hours. In addition to measuring viable cell counts, growth was simultaneously monitored by measuring optical density (OD) at 600 nm at 90-minute intervals using a Bausch and Lomb Spec 20 spectrophotometer (Fisher Scientific; Ottawa, ON) until the stationary phase was reached. At each sampling time, portions (4-mL) of culture from each flask were filter sterilized using a 0.22-µm filter (Acrodisc, Gelman Sciences, Ann Arbor, MI). Filtrates were held at 4°C until assayed for botulinal neurotoxin using the mouse bioassay.

#### 6.2.1.2 Data treatment

Growth curve data (CFU/mL) were fitted to sigmoidal curves with a four parameter logistic equation using Prism 2.01 (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA) and the first  $\left(\frac{\partial CFU/mL(t)}{\partial t}\right)$  and second derivatives of the sigmoidal curves were determined using Mathcad 5.0 (MathSoft Inc., Cambridge, MA). The times at which the absolute growth rates were greatest were determined as the maxima of the curves of the first derivatives plotted versus time. The ends of the lag and exponential growth phases were analysed as the maxima and minima respectively of the second derivatives plotted versus time
according to the method of Buchanan and Cygnarowicz (1990). The predicted level of ethanol for complete inhibition of proteolytic strains of *C. botulinum* used in this study was obtained from extrapolation of linear regression analysis of the maximal absolute growth rates versus %(wt/wt) ethanol. The effect of ethanol concentration on the time-of-first neurotoxin detection was fit by regression analysis using Prism 2.02 (GraphPad).

#### 6.2.2 Combined effect of ethanol, water activity (a<sub>w</sub>) and pH

# 6.2.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum and inoculation of TPGY broths

Equal numbers of spores of each strain were combined to form a single suspension of approximately 10<sup>5</sup> spores/mL. Inoculum levels were verified prior to inoculation of tubes of TPGY broth as described previously. The spore mixture was heat-shocked at 75°C for 20 minutes prior to inoculation. Flasks of TPGY broth were prepared at appropriate strengths to ensure that all broths would contain the same amount of medium after additions of ethanol. Flasks of TPGY broth were then adjusted with appropriate volumes of 0.1-N HCl or 0.1-N NaOH to provide a pH range of 6.2 to 8.2. The pH was checked using a previously calibrated Fisher Accumet<sup>®</sup> pH meter (Fisher

Scientific; Ottawa, ON). The pH-adjusted TPGY broths were subsequently adjusted with appropriate volumes of glycerol to provide a range of aw from 0.953 to 0.997, taking into account that ethanol would have a depressant effect on the a<sub>w</sub> of the broth (Ross, 1975). Water activity was determined using an Aqualab water activity meter (Decagon Devices, Inc.; Pullman, WA). After autoclaving and cooling to 25°C, portions of TPGY broth were aseptically dispensed into sterile tubes. Ethanol (0% to 8% [wt/wt]) was added to tubes of adjusted, sterile TPGY broth immediately prior to inoculating with 0.1 mL of spore suspension (10<sup>5</sup> spores/mL) to provide a final inoculum level of 10<sup>3</sup> spores/mL. Tubes were covered with approximately 3 mL of sterile Vaspar (45% paraffin, 55% white petroleum) and incubated at 25°C. The combinations of factors (ethanol, aw, and pH) and the number of replicate tubes in each treatment condition were based on the primary model used previously by Whiting and Call (1993) and are shown in Table 6.2. Tubes were checked twice daily for turbidity and/or gas production. Tubes showing evidence of growth were assayed for neurotoxin using the mouse bioassay.

#### 6.2.2.2 Data treatment

To determine the probability of growth as a function of time for a given condition (combination of %[wt/wt] ethanol, aw, and pH), data

were fitted to a logistic equation using Prism 2.01 (GraphPad Software, Inc.; San Diego, CA). This cumulative probability distribution function has been used previously by Whiting and Call (1993), and Whiting and Oriente (1997) to model the time-to-turbidity for proteolytic and non-proteolytic *C. botulinum* respectively. As outlined by these authors, the parameters of this primary model describe the accumulating number of positive samples with increasing storage time and provide information about the time-to-turbidity, the rate at which samples show evidence of turbidity, as well as the proportion of samples which do not become turbid:

$$P_{(t)} = \frac{P_{\max}}{(1 + e^{k(\tau - t)})}$$

where:

- $P_{(t)}$  is the cumulative probability of growth at time *t*, i.e., the probability that growth occurred between [0, *t*];
- t is the time in days;
- P<sub>max</sub> is the maximum probability of growth after 365 days, i.e. the number of tubes showing evidence of growth (turbidity and/or gas production divided by the total number of tubes in that condition;
- κ is the rate of increase in positive (i.e., turbid) tubes
  (days<sup>-1</sup>);

 τ is the time of the midpoint of the function (days), i.e., the time for 50% of the replicates that will eventually become toxic to show turbidity and/or gas production.

### 6.2.3 Transmission electron microscopy

Preparation for TEM essentially followed the method of Austin et al. (1990). Cells were fixed in 0.2-M cacodylate buffer pH 7.4 containing 2.5% (vol/vol) glutaraldehyde and post-fixed in 0.2-M cacodylate buffer pH 7.4 containing 1% osmium tetroxide. Cells were enrobed in 1% Noble agar and dehydrated through a graded series of ethanol (15 minutes each in 50%, 70% and 90% ethanol, followed by three 20-minute incubations in 100% ethanol). Samples were then infiltrated and embedded in Taab 812 resin (Marivac, Halifax, NS). Thin sections were cut on a Reichert-Jung Ultracut E ultramicrotome (C. Reichert Ag, Wien, Austria) and stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate (Reynolds, 1963). Thin sections were examined in a Zeiss EM902 transmission electron microscope (Carl Zeiss, Thornwood, NY) operating at 80 kV with the energy loss spectrometer in place.

# 6.2.4 Nature of the effect of ethanol

Portions (0.1-mL) from tubes of inoculated TPGY broths containing 0% to 8% ethanol (wt/wt) which did not show any evidence of growth (i.e.,

turbidity or gas production) or neurotoxin production after one year at 25°C were transferred into fresh TPGY broth to dilute the ethanol to less than 0.08% (wt/wt), and incubated anaerobically at 37°C and observed for evidence of growth. Supernatant from all subcultured tubes showing evidence of growth was subsequently assayed for neurotoxin.

#### 6.2.5 Detection of neurotoxin

Botulinum neurotoxin was detected using the mouse bioassay. Vaspar (used in the second study only) was removed using a sterile Pasteur pipette prior to filtering vortexed cultures through a 0.22- $\mu$ m filter (Gelman Scientific). A portion (0.5-mL) of filtrate was injected intraperitoneally into each of two 20- to 28-g mice (Charles River, QC). Mice were observed for up to 72 hours for typical signs of botulism including ruffled fur, pinched waist, laboured breathing, limb paresis and general paralysis. Mice showing severe distress were euthanised by asphyxiation with CO<sub>2</sub> according to Health Canada Animal Care Committee guidelines. Neutralization of neurotoxin was performed on randomly selected representative positive samples using antisera (Connaught Laboratories; North York, ON) to botulinum neurotoxins to confirm that toxicity was due to botulinum neurotoxin as described previously (Daifas et al., 1999b; 2000).

#### 6.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 6.3.1 Effect of ethanol on growth of C. botulinum

The growth profiles of the composite mixture of six proteolytic strains of *C. botulinum* grown in TPGY broth containing 0% to 4% (wt/wt) 95% ethanol as monitored by viable cell density (CFU/mL) and OD<sub>600-nm</sub> are shown in Figure 6.1A-B respectively. It is evident from Figure 6.1A-B that there was no linear relationship between the log of viable cell counts (CFU/mL) and OD<sub>600-nm</sub>. It has been shown that a limitation of monitoring growth by OD is that cell numbers cannot be determined from OD since cell number is generally only proportional to OD over a very narrow range. Accordingly, estimation of microbial growth parameters is best achieved using viable counts (Begot et al., 1996, Dalgaard and Koutsoumanis, 2001). Therefore viable count growth curves (Figure 6.1A) were used to estimate growth parameters. Growth of *C. botulinum* was rapid in control flasks of TPGY broth (0% ethanol). However, growth, as measured by log viable cell counts, was inhibited as the concentration of ethanol increased.

Increasing levels of ethanol resulted in a concentration dependent extension of the lag phase when *C. botulinum* was grown in TPGY broth (Figure 6.2B). The end of lag phase growth is represented as the maxima of the curves as shown in Figure 6.2B. While the end of the lag phase



FIGURE 6.1. Effect of %(wt/wt) ethanol ( $\blacksquare$ , 0;  $\bullet$ , 1;  $\blacktriangle$ , 2;  $\blacklozenge$ , 3;  $\bigstar$ , 4) on growth as measured by A, viable cell density (CFU/mL) and B, optical density at 600 nm of a composite mixture of proteolytic Clostridium botulinum in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 37°C

155.97 18.979 d (d CFU/mL) / dt 0.16 antes a sub a sub la sub fait a stat d CFU/mL/dt 9.49 2.308•10 -155.65 0.24 0.72 0.96 1.2 0.72 0 0.48 0.24 0.48 0.96 1.2 0 Time (days) Time (days) В Α

FIGURE 6.2. First (A) and second (B) derivative plots of growth curves (shown in Figure 6.1). Maximum absolute growth rates (maxima of curves in A) and the end of the lag phases (maxima of curves in B) for composite mixture of Clostridium botulinum grown in ( — , 0; — , 1; — 2; – -, 3; …, 4) % (wt/wt) ethanol

occurred after 4.6 hours in control broths (0% ethanol), it was delayed to 5.2, 5.3, 9, or 9.5 hours respectively in broths containing 1, 2, 3 or 4% ethanol (Figure 6.2B).

Although ethanol (1% to 4%) delayed the lag phase, the growth of *C. botulinum* was not prevented. Growth, once initiated, was rapid; however, the rate of growth  $\left(\frac{\partial CFU/mL(t)}{\partial t}\right)$  during the logarithmic phase was influenced by the concentration of ethanol in the medium. The times at which the maximum growth rates of *C. botulinum* occurred in TPGY containing ethanol (0% to 4%) are shown in Figure 6.2A. These times ranged from 6.4 hours for cultures grown without ethanol (0%) to 14.9 hours for cultures grown in 4% ethanol. Linear regression (R<sup>2</sup> 0.879) and extrapolation of this data predicted that a level of 5.5% (wt/wt) ethanol would result in complete inhibition of growth of *C. botulinum* in TPGY broth at 37°C (Figure 6.3).

The maximum growth reached at the stationary phase was also decreased in the presence of ethanol. The maximum log viable cell count for *C. botulinum* grown in TPGY broth without ethanol was approximately 8.3 compared to 7.6 to 7.3 for cultures grown in broth containing 1% to 4% ethanol (Figure 6.1A) i.e., ethanol resulted in less than a one-log reduction in counts at the stationary phase regardless of the concentration of ethanol.

In summary, the effects of ethanol on the growth of the strains of *C. botulinum* used in this study were: i) an increased lag phase, ii) a decreased rate of exponential growth, and iii) a one-log reduction in counts at the station-



FIGURE 6.3. Level of ethanol (%[wt/wt]) (intercept of x-axis) predicted to completely inhibit growth of mixture of proteolytic Clostridium botulinum in tripticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 37°C

ary phase. The effects of ethanol on growth of C. botulinum are consistent withthose of Yamamoto et al. (1984) who reported that ethanol exerted a concentration dependent inhibition of gram-positive food spoilage and pathogenic bacteria.

#### 6.3.1.1 Neurotoxin production

Since TPGY broths were inoculated from an overnight culture of C. botulinum, sufficient neurotoxin was transferred with the inouclum to result in neurotoxin being detected in the freshly inoculated broths (time = 0). Therefore, it was necessary to dilute the cultures 1:100 before testing for neurotoxin using the bioassay to ensure that no neurotoxin was detected initially. The times at which neurotoxin was first detected in TPGY cultures (1:100) containing 0% to 4% ethanol are shown in Table 6.1. Ethanol resulted in a concentration dependent delay in the time at which neurotoxin was first detected (R<sup>2</sup> 0.959). While neurotoxin was first detected after 9.8 hours in broths containing 0% and 1% ethanol, neurotoxin detection was delayed to 24.7 hours in broth containing 4% ethanol. For all concentrations of ethanol, when neurotoxin was first detected, log counts of C. botulinum were >7.0. While counts at the previous sampling times, at which neurotoxin was not detected, were approximately one-half log lower, these counts were, nevertheless, higher than expected. Previous studies found that the time-of-first neurotoxin detection in crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g

5

TABLE 6.1. Time of first neurotoxin detection in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth<sup>a</sup> containing 0% to 4% (wt/wt) ethanol inoculated with ~10<sup>4</sup> cells/mL proteolytic C. botulinum and incubated at 37°C

| Ethanol %<br>(wt/wt) |   | Tir     | me of first neu | rotoxin detect         | ion <sup>b</sup>    | Time of last negative neurotoxin detection <sup>°</sup> |            |                        |                     |  |  |
|----------------------|---|---------|-----------------|------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------------------------|------------|------------------------|---------------------|--|--|
|                      |   | Timed   | Neurotoxin      | Growth of C. botulinum |                     | Time                                                    | Neurotoxin | Growth of C. botulinum |                     |  |  |
|                      |   | (nours) |                 | log CFU/g              | OD <sub>600nm</sub> | (nours)                                                 |            | log CFU/g              | OD <sub>600nm</sub> |  |  |
|                      | 0 | 9.8     | +               | 7.8                    | 1.12                | 8.8                                                     | -          | 7.4                    | 0.51                |  |  |
| 192                  | 1 | 9.8     | +               | 7.4                    | 0.90                | 8.8                                                     | -          | 6.6                    | 0.45                |  |  |
|                      | 2 | 12.3    | +               | 7.2                    | 0.82                | 9.8                                                     | -          | 6.5                    | 0.48                |  |  |
|                      | 3 | 18.0    | +               | 7.0                    | 0.65                | 15.4                                                    | -          | 6.4                    | 0.55                |  |  |
|                      | 4 | 24.7    | +               | 7.5                    | 0.95                | 24.1                                                    | -          | 7.4                    | 0.82                |  |  |
|                      |   |         |                 |                        |                     |                                                         |            |                        |                     |  |  |

\* All TPGY cultures were diluted 1/100

<sup>b</sup> Time that neurotoxin was first detected using the mouse bioassay

<sup>c</sup> Corresponds to the time of the last sample before neurotoxin was detected

<sup>d</sup> The effect of % ethanol (x) on the time of first detection of neurotoxin (y) was fit to  $y = 7.837e^{(0.2809x)}$  (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.959)

*C. botulinum* corresponded to counts of approximately  $10^5$  CFU/g. The higher counts observed in this study may be due to the rapid exponential growth rates between sampling intervals. However, while growth of *C. botulinum* was inhibited by 1% to 4% (wt/wt) ethanol, neurotoxin was still detected in all cultures after 24-hours growth at 37°C, regardless of the concentration of ethanol.

#### 6.3.2 Combined effect of ethanol, water activity (a<sub>w</sub>) and pH

Based on extrapolation of the growth rate reduction by ethanol in the initial growth study, a level of 5.5% (wt/wt) ethanol was predicted to completely inhibit growth of the composite mixture of *C. botulinum* in TPGY broth at 37°C (optimal growth conditions). However, this level exceeds the maximum level of 2% (wt/wt) permitted for the shelf-life extension of certain bakery products, specifically, pizza crusts. Therefore, this second study was designed to determine the combined effect of ethanol,  $a_w$  and pH on the probability of growth of and neurotoxin production by a composite mixture of spores of the same six strains of proteolytic *C. botulinum* used in the initial growth study. Tubes of TPGY broth were observed for turbidity and gas production twice daily. For all broths containing 0% ethanol (conditions 1 to 10 [Table 6.2]), growth and neurotoxin production occurred within one to three days regardless of the levels of  $a_w$  or pH (*P* <0.005). Since growth was observed simultaneously in all replicate tubes of TPGY broths without ethanol, it was impossible to fit the parameters of the

logistic distribution ( $P_{[t]}$ ) to the data at 0% ethanol. However, since 100% of tubes were positive within three days, the maximum probability of growth and neurotoxin production for conditions with 0% ethanol at  $\geq$ 3 days was one ( $P_{3-days} = 1$ ).

In broths containing 2% ethanol, growth and neurotoxin production occurred within 2 to 4 days (conditions 11 to 17 [Table 6.2]), again regardless of the levels of  $a_w$  or pH (*P* <0.005). Since growth and neurotoxin production were observed simultaneously in all replicate tubes of TPGY broths at 2% ethanol, it was also impossible to fit the parameters of the logistic distribution to data at this level of ethanol. Nevertheless, the maximum probability of growth and neurotoxin production at  $\geq$ 4 days was one (P<sub>4-days</sub> = 1).

All combinations of 4% ethanol, a<sub>w</sub>, and pH (conditions 18 to 24 [Table 6.2]) also showed growth and neurotoxin production. However, the rate at which growth occurred in replicate tubes of broths containing 4% ethanol was influenced by the a<sub>w</sub> and/or pH of the medium. Complete inhibition of growth was observed at 6% and 8% ethanol. Furthermore, no neurotoxin was detected for any combination of factors (ethanol, a<sub>w</sub>, pH) at these levels of ethanol (conditions 25 to 30 [Table 6.2]) after one year (365 days) at 25°C. These results are consistent with the preliminary growth study which predicted inhibition of *C. botulinum* by 5.5% ethanol when overnight cultures were grown in TPGY at 37°C. Yamamoto et al. (1984) reported inhibition of gram-positive food spoilage and pathogenic bacteria with 9 to 11% ethanol while Cook and Pierson (1983)

reportedly inhibited *C. botulinum* type A with 10% ethanol. The inhibition of growth of *C. botulinum* 

| Condition | Levels of factors  |                   |     | Replicate<br>tubes | Day of<br>Growth <sup>a</sup> | Parameters of model <sup>b</sup> |                       |    |        |    |                 |
|-----------|--------------------|-------------------|-----|--------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------|----|--------|----|-----------------|
| -         | % (w/w)<br>Ethanol | Water<br>activity | рН  | -                  |                               | P <sub>max</sub>                 | s.e. P <sub>max</sub> | τ  | S.e. τ | κ  | <b>S. Θ</b> . κ |
| 1         | 0                  | 0.956             | 7.7 | 10                 | 3                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 2         | 0                  | 0.960             | 7.2 | 10                 | 3                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 3         | 0                  | 0.966             | 6.2 | 10                 | 3                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 4         | 0                  | 0.976             | 8.2 | 10                 | 3                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 5         | 0                  | 0.980             | 6.7 | 10                 | 2                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 6         | 0                  | 0.997             | 6.2 | 5                  | 1                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 7         | 0                  | 0.997             | 6.7 | 5                  | . 1                           | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 8         | 0                  | 0.997             | 7.2 | 5                  | 1                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 9         | 0                  | 0.997             | 7.7 | 8                  | 1                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 10        | 0                  | 0.997             | 8.2 | 5                  | 3                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 11        | 2                  | 0.954             | 7.7 | 20                 | 3                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 12        | 2                  | 0.959             | 7.2 | 20                 | 4                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 13        | 2                  | 0.965             | 6.2 | 15                 | 3                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 14        | 2                  | 0.970             | 8.2 | 15                 | 3                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |
| 15        | 2                  | 0.972             | 7.2 | 15                 | 3                             | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF              |

TABLE 6.2. Effect of combinations of ethanol, water activity and pH of probability of growth and neurotoxin production Clostridium botulinum (10<sup>3</sup> spores/mL) in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 25°C

-

Table continues

.

197

| Condition   | Levels of factors  |                   |     | Replicate<br>tubes | Day of<br>Growthª | Parameters of model <sup>b</sup> |                       |       |                |       |         |  |
|-------------|--------------------|-------------------|-----|--------------------|-------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------|-------|----------------|-------|---------|--|
| -           | % (w/w)<br>Ethanol | Water<br>activity | рН  | -                  | -                 | P <sub>max</sub>                 | s.e. P <sub>max</sub> | τ     | S. <b>e.</b> τ | κ     | S. e. ĸ |  |
| 16          | 2                  | 0.989             | 6.7 | 15                 | 2                 | NF                               | NF                    | NF    | NF             | NF    | NF      |  |
| 17          | 2                  | 0.989             | 7.2 | 10                 | 2                 | NF                               | NF                    | NF    | NF             | NF    | NF      |  |
| 18          | 4                  | 0.956             | 7.7 | 25                 | 49 to >365°       | 0.18                             | 0.01                  | 210.2 | 0.4            | 0.92  | 0.04    |  |
| 19          | 4                  | 0.959             | 7.2 | 25                 | 60 to 143°        | 1                                | 0.13                  | 96.66 | 1.5            | 0.298 | 0.07    |  |
| 20°         | 4                  | 0.962             | 8.2 | 25                 | 14 to 104°        | 0.22                             | 0.04                  | 59.4  | 0              | 0.93  | 0.08    |  |
| <b>20</b> ⁴ | 4                  | 0.962             | 8.2 | 25                 | 192 to 263°       | 1                                | 0.06                  | 232.9 | 5.0            | 0.026 | 0       |  |
| 21          | 4                  | 0.965             | 6.2 | 25                 | 23 to 26°         | 1                                | 0.1                   | 24.49 | 0.2            | 1.33  | 0.2     |  |
| 22          | 4                  | 0.967             | 7.2 | 25                 | 6 to 9°           | 1                                | 0.06                  | 8.97  | 0.2            | 4.8   | 4.7     |  |
| 23          | 4                  | 0.981             | 7.2 | 25                 | 4                 | NF                               | NF                    | NF    | NF             | NF    | NF      |  |
| 24          | 4                  | 0.981             | 7.7 | 25                 | 3                 | NF                               | NF                    | NF    | NF             | NF    | NF      |  |
| 25          | 6                  | 0.953             | 7.2 | 15                 | NG                | 0                                | NF                    | NF    | NF             | NF    | NF      |  |
| 26          | 6                  | 0.954             | 7.7 | 15                 | NG                | 0                                | NF                    | NF    | NF             | NF    | NF      |  |
| 27          | 6                  | 0.973             | 7.2 | 15                 | NG                | 0                                | NF                    | NF    | NF             | NF    | NF      |  |
| 28          | 6                  | 0.973             | 7.7 | 15                 | NG                | 0                                | NF                    | NF    | NF             | NF    | NF      |  |

TABLE 6.2. (cont'd). Effect of combinations of ethanol, water activity and pH of probability of growth and neurotoxin production of 10<sup>3</sup> spores/mL Clostridium botulinum in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 25°C

Table continues

TABLE 6.2. (cont'd). Effect of combinations of ethanol, water activity and pH of probability of growth and neurotoxin production of 10<sup>3</sup> spores/mL Clostridium botulinum in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 25°C

. .

| Condition | Levels of factors  |                   |     | Replicate<br>tubes | Day of<br>Growthª | Parameters of model <sup>b</sup> |                       |    |        |    |         |
|-----------|--------------------|-------------------|-----|--------------------|-------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------|----|--------|----|---------|
| -         | % (w/w)<br>Ethanol | Water<br>activity | рН  |                    |                   | P <sub>max</sub>                 | s.e. P <sub>max</sub> | τ  | S.Θ. τ | к  | S. e. к |
| 29        | 8                  | 0.964             | 7.2 | 5                  | NG                | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF      |
| 30        | 8                  | 0.964             | 7.7 | 5                  | NG                | NF                               | NF                    | NF | NF     | NF | NF      |

a Growth was observed simultaneously in all replicates on this day.

- b  $P_{max}$  is the maximum probability of growth after 365-days, i.e. the number of tubes showing evidence of growth (turbidity and/or gas production divided by the total number of tubes in that condition;  $\kappa$  is a rate constant (days-1);  $\tau$  is the time of the midpoint of the function (days), i.e., the time for 50% of the replicates that will become toxic to show turbidity and/or gas production
- c Data from days 1 to 190
- d Data from days 191 to 365
- e Indicates the range (days) when growth was first and last observed in replicate tubes
- NG No growth during 365-days

NF Not fit

observed in this study was concentration dependent. For example, in broths of  $a_w \sim 0.954$ , pH 7.7, and 0, 2, 4 or 6% ethanol, growth was first observed on days 3, 3, 49, and not within 365 days respectively (Table 6.2). The addition of ethanol to a liquid medium results in the depression of its  $a_w$ . TPGY broths containing 6% and 8% (wt/wt) ethanol would, based on the Ross equation (1975), have estimated  $a_w$  of 0.971 and 0.964 respectively. However, since growth was observed within three days in TPGY broths containing 0% ethanol and adjusted to  $a_w < 0.964$  (Table 6.2), the inhibitory effect of ethanol on *C. botulinum* is attributed to simply more than a depression of  $a_w$ . Similar conclusions on the antimicrobial effect of ethanol have been reached by other authors (Shapero et al., 1978; Smith et al., 1987).

As described previously, the rate of growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in replicate tubes of TPGY broths containing 4% ethanol (conditions 18 to 24 [Table 6.2]) was influenced by the a<sub>w</sub> and pH of the medium. These data were fitted to a mathematical model which describes the rate at which replicate tubes become toxic as a function of time. The fits of the model to each combination of 4% ethanol, a<sub>w</sub>, and pH, and the standard error for each parameter are shown in Table 6.2. Such models, which estimate the probability of growth and neurotoxin production for a given set of conditions, are generally considered valid for evaluating the hazard of botulism associated with growth of *C. botulinum* in food. There is evidence that considerable growth is

required before measurable neurotoxin is produced and that most neurotoxin is produced during cell lysis (Siegel and Metzger, 1979; 1980). Although in the first study counts of *C. botulinum* were >10<sup>7</sup> CFU/mL when neurotoxin was first detected in TPGY containing 0% to 4% ethanol (Table 6.1), Daifas et al. (1999b) observed that the time at which neurotoxin was first detected in crumpets inoculated with 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> spores/g proteolytic *C. botulinum* and stored at 25°C corrsponded to counts of approximately 10<sup>5</sup> CFU/g. However, growth of this pathogen, once initiated, is rapid and is always associated with a neurotoxin of extreme potency. Therefore, any growth of *C. botulinum* is considered as unacceptable (Whiting and Call, 1993).

Selected conditions containing 4% ethanol which inhibited growth of *C. botulinum* are shown in Figure 6.4. Describing the effect of selected levels of barriers such as ethanol,  $a_w$  and pH on growth of *C. botulinum* is a practical approach to food safety, since the safety of bakery products with an extended shelf-life, therefore, can be predicted. Furthermore, the results of this study indicate that, while some combinations of barriers could be used to enhance the safety of a bakery product with a short shelf-life, other combinations would be more effective for products with a longer shelf-life. For example, for 4% ethanol,  $a_w$  0.959 and pH 7.2 (condition 19 [Table 6.2]) the probability of neurotoxin at day 60 was 0.003 (P<sub>80-days</sub> = 0.003). However, the probability of growth and neurotoxin production increased rapidly with time. At day 97, one-half (50%) of all



FIGURE 6.4. Proportion of replicate tubes showing growth of and neurotoxin production by  $10^3$  spores/mL Clostridium botulinum for selected combinations of 4% (wt/wt) ethanol,  $a_w$  and pH ( $\mathbf{v}$ , 0.965, 6.2;  $\mathbf{O}$ , 0.962, 8.2;  $\mathbf{I}$ , 0.959, 7.2;  $\mathbf{\bullet}$  0.956, 7.7) in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 25°C

replicates were toxic (P97-days = 0.5) and by day 125, all replicates were toxic (P<sub>max</sub> = 1 [Figure 6.4]). Therefore, this combination of barriers may be appropriate to enhance the safety of a bakery product with a shelf-life of <30 days. However, although safety may be enhanced by this combination, sensory quality may be adversely affected. Foods of intermediate aw packaged with ethanol vapour have been shown to absorb less ethanol than similarly packaged foods of high a<sub>w</sub> (Smith et al., 1987; Seiler and Russell, 1991). Therefore, this level of ethanol vapour may be more suitable for intermediate-moisture bakery products. Furthermore, some studies have shown that alcohol-like aromas may dissipate once packages are opened and/or products are heated (Seiler and Russell, 1991). Although many bakery products are consumed without heating, par-baked breads and rolls and crumpets are examples of products that are further heated prior to consumption and may be appropriate for this type of packaging.

The time-to-neurotoxin for the median number of positive replicates ( $\tau$ ) of broths containing 4% ethanol ranged from less than 3 days for broth of a<sub>w</sub> 0.981 and pH 7.7 to 229 days for broth of a<sub>w</sub> 0.962 and pH 8.2. With the exception of one combination of barriers (condition 18 [Table 6.2]), the P<sub>max</sub> for all broths containing 4% ethanol was approximately one (P<sub>max</sub> = 1). The most inhibitory combination of barriers (4% ethanol, a<sub>w</sub> 0.956 and pH 7.7; condition 18 [Table 6.2]) had a P<sub>max</sub> = 0.22 and  $\tau$  = 207 days (Figure 6.4). Only data from one combination of barriers

(4% ethanol. av 0.962 and pH 8.2; condition 20 [Table 6.2]) did not fit the probability function used. The pattern of growth observed for these levels of barriers was different from all other growth conditions. At the onset of the study, several replicate tubes of this condition became positive and then no further growth was observed (Figure 6.4). Data from this condition (20, [Table 6.2]) fitted the model well for the first 200-days growth. Indeed, if this study had been terminated before 200 days, the Pmax of neurotoxin production would have been assumed to be 0.25 (Figure 6.4). However, after 200 days, tubes again showed evidence of growth and this trend continued until all tubes were positive by 263 days. Although the pattern of overall growth observed for these levels of barriers did not fit the model well, there was a good fit for data from both separate periods of growth (Figure 6.4). While It is possible that this combination of barriers inhibited the germination or outgrowth of spores of C. botulinum initially, this inhibition was overcome in time, resulting in more tubes showing visible signs of growth and becoming toxic. McMeekin et al. (2000) proposed a point, the growth/no growth interface, at which interacting hurdles restrict growth, and emphasized the importance of considering the physiological mechanisms that occur in pathogens at this interface. It is possible that this combination of barriers (4% ethanol, a<sub>w</sub> 0.962 and pH 8.2) was close to this growth/no growth interface.

#### 6.3.3 Effect of ethanol on cells

These two studies have confirmed the inhibitory effect of ethanol on C. botulinum. In order to investigate the effect of ethanol on vegetative cells, overnight cultures of C. botulinum 62A were grown in TPGY broth containing 0, 2, 4, 5, or 6% ethanol at 37°C. No growth was visible in cultures grown in 5% or 6% ethanol, again supporting the predicted inhibitory level of 5.5% ethanol. Micrographs of these cultures grown in TPGY broth with 0, 2, or 4% ethanol are shown in Figure 6.5A-D. Growth and cell division are evident in cultures grown with 0% ethanol (Figure 6.5A). The effect of 2% and 4% ethanol on cells is shown in Figure 6.5B-D. Interference of growth, as demonstrated by cell elongation and septation at 2% ethanol (Figure 6.5B), is even more pronounced at 4% ethanol (Figure 6.5D). Reversible interference with cell division and elongation of cells of E. coli grown with ethanol has been reported (Fried and Novick, 1973), although these authors also isolated mutants in which ethanol stimulated cell division. Ethanol has been shown to act primarily on the cell membrane, either directly on the membrane and/or membrane associated enzymes or indirectly through impairment of biosynthesis of membrane components (Seiler and Russell, 1991). Empty, "ghost-like" cells, i.e., cells that were collapsed and devoid of intracellular contents were observed in cultures grown with either 2 or 4% ethanol, but not in cultures grown with 0% ethanol. This may be due to leakage of solutes



FIGURE 6.5. Effect of A, 0% (bar represents 0.5  $\mu$ m); B, 2% (bar represents 1  $\mu$ m); and C-D, 4% (bars represent 2 and 1  $\mu$ m respectively) (wt/wt) ethanol on vegetative cells of Clostridium botulinum in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 37°C

across the membrane or cell lysis following decreased peptidoglycan cross-linking in the growing cell wall (Ingram and Buttke, 1984).

#### 6.3.3.1 Nature of the effect of ethanol

In the study on the combined effect of ethanol, aw and pH, some tubes of TPGY broths showed no evidence of growth (turbidity and/or gas production) even after one year at 25°C. This included all broths containing 6 or 8% ethanol (conditions 25 to 30 [Table 6.2]) and 20 of 25 replicates containing 4% (condition 18 [Table 6.2]). To determine if ethanol had a cidal or a static effect at these levels, all tubes of TPGY broths showing neither turbidity nor gas production after one year were subcultured into fresh TPGY broth and incubated anaerobically at 37°C for 24 hours. All of these subcultured tubes showed turbidity and gas production within 24 hours and subsequently tested positive for neurotoxin by the mouse bioassay. Although it is not clear how inoculated spores were inhibited from growth during 365 days at 25°C, the inhibitory effect of ethanol was clearly reversible. Reversible inhibition of germination of spores of Bacillus subtilis var. niger and B. pumilus by low levels of ethanol has been reported by Trujillo and Laible (1970). Reversible inhibition was attributed to an enzymatic mechanism. Possible mechanisms involve ethanol directly inhibiting lytic enzymes, which degrade peptoglycan in the spore

cortex, or hydrophobically interacting with the spore-coat structure which, in turn effects germination enzymes. Chaibi et al. (1997) reported that ethanol at 3% or less, did not inhibit spore germination, outgrowth or cell multiplication of *C. botulinum* 62A. Cook and Pierson (1983) reported inhibition of germination of *C. botulinum* type A spores with 10% ethanol but it is not known if the inhibition was reversible or not.

#### 6.4 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, these studies have confirmed that ethanol could be used to delay the growth of C. botulinum. Furthermore, modelling studies showed that the probability of growth and neurotoxin production is influenced by the concentration of ethanol, aw and pH in the medium. However, model broth studies have certain limitations with respect to the safety of bakery products. These are: i) they are done using pure cultures of C. botulinum spores and do not consider the background microflora of products and ii) they do not consider the sensory aspect of a product to determine if toxigenesis preceded spoilage or vice-versa. While caution must be exercised when extrapolating results from model broth systems to food products, nevertheless, these studies have shown that ethanol has the potential to be a viable part of a multi-barrier food safety system for bakery products. However, a limitation of ethanol in the liquid form is that high levels (≥4% [wt/wt]) of ethanol would be required to be sprayed on the product surface to prevent growth of and neurotoxin production by C. botulinum. To overcome this limitation, the inclusion of ethanol vapour-generating sachets within the package might reduce the amount of ethanol required since ethanol has been shown to be most effective in the vapour state (Smith et al., 1987). Therefore, lower levels of ethanol applied in the vapour phase used in conjunction with a<sub>w</sub> and/or pH reduction may give similar or greater inhibition

when compared to direct application of liquid ethanol onto the surface of bakery products.

# **PREFACE TO CHAPTER 7.0**

Previous studies have shown that ethanol vapour can be used to control the growth of *C. botulinum* in yeast-leavened crumpets. However, while the microbiological safety of these crumpets was enhanced, their sensory shelf-life was limited due to the absorption of ethanol vapour from the package headspace. While this problem may be overcome by reformulation of crumpets using chemical leavening and packaging with ethanol vapour, little is known about the safety of such formulated packaged crumpets with respect to the growth of *C. botulinum*.

# 7.0 CHALLENGE STUDIES WITH PROTEOLYTIC *CLOSTRIDIUM* BOTULINUM IN YEAST- AND CHEMICALLY-LEAVENED CRUMPETS PACKAGED UNDER MODIFIED ATMOSPHERES

#### 7.1 INTRODUCTION

Ethanol vapour-generating sachets (Ethicap®) are widely used in Asian markets to prevent mould spoilage and delay staling in high- and intermediate-moisture bakery products. Preliminary studies have shown that these interactive packaging sachets also have the potential to delay the growth of and neurotoxin production by C. botulinum, a pathogen of concern in high-moisture bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres. In challenge studies with yeast-leavened English-style crumpets, neurotoxin production by proteolytic strains of C. botulinum (500 spores/g) was completely inhibited for >21 days in crumpets (100-g) packaged in air with an Ethicap<sup>®</sup> sachet (4- or 6-G [Daifas et al., 2000]). However, a major limitation of using these larger sachets was that while the safety of highmoisture crumpets was enhanced, their sensory shelf-life was compromised. This was due to the high levels (3 to 4% [vol/vol]) of ethanol vapour in the package headspace, and its subsequent absorption by crumpets (Daifas et al., 2000). While such high levels of headspace ethanol were due mainly to its release from the interactive sachets, the metabolic activity of yeasts that survived the baking process also played a role. In air-packaged crumpets,

headspace ethanol levels of 1% to 3% (vol/vol) were detectable after 21 days at ambient storage temperature and were attributed to growth of and fermentation by endogenous yeasts. While a lower level of headspace ethanol and a longer sensory shelf-life of high-moisture crumpets may be achieved by product reformulation using chemical leavening and packaging with Ethicap<sup>®</sup>, little is known about the safety of such packaged crumpets. Therefore, the objective of this study was to determine the effect of leavening agent (yeast or chemical) on the anti-botulinal efficacy of ethanol vapour in challenge studies with *C. botulinum* in high-moisture crumpets.

#### 7.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 7.2.1 Preparation of crumpets

Two types of English-style crumpets were used in these studiesyeast- and chemical-leavened. Yeast-leavened crumpets were prepared from all-purpose flour, sugar, instant yeast, reconstituted dry milk, salt and baking soda as described by Daifas et al. (1999a). Chemicalleavened crumpets were prepared from a similar formulation; however, yeast and baking soda were omitted and replaced with baking powder. All dry ingredients in each formulation were calculated on a flour-weight basis. Crumpets were baked on an oiled griddle, preheated to 204°C, cooled to ambient temperature and subsequently stored at 4°C as described by Daifas et al. (1999a). Baked crumpets (pH 6.4, a<sub>w</sub> 0.990) weighed approximately 50 g each.

Crumpets were designated into two groups: i) non-sterile crumpets for the first study and ii) sterile crumpets for the second study. For the second study, equal numbers of yeast- and chemical-leavened crumpets were sterilized in autoclavable bags at 121°C and 15 psi for 15 minutes. Following cooling to ambient temperature, all sterile crumpets were stored at 4°C for approximately 24 hours prior to inoculation and packaging. The sterility of randomly selected yeast- and chemical-leavened crumpets was confirmed by aerobic and anaerobic plate counts at 25°C, 30°C and 37°C.

# 7.2.2 Preparation of spore inoculum and sample inoculation

In the first study, non-sterile crumpets were inoculated with *C. botulinum* only, while in the second study, sterile crumpets were inoculated with i) *C. botulinum* or ii) *C. botulinum* and *S. cerevisiae*.

#### 7.2.2.1 *C. botulinum*

A composite inoculum of *C. botulinum* spores (17A, 62A, CK2A, MRB, 13983IIB, and 368B) was used in both studies. Spore crops of each strain were prepared separately, enumerated as described by Hauschild and Hilsheimer (1977), and stored at -80°C. Equal numbers of spores of each strain were then combined to form a single suspension of approximately  $1.1 \times 10^6$  spores/mL. The spore mixture was heat-shocked at 75°C for 20 minutes prior to sample inoculation. Inoculum levels were verified prior to inoculation of samples by plating appropriate dilutions in duplicate on McClung Toabe agar (Difco, Becton-Dickinson, Sparks, MD) containing 0.5% yeast extract (Difco) and egg-yolk (Austin and Blanchfield, 1996) and incubating anaerobically in an atmosphere of 10% H<sub>2</sub>, 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, and 80% N<sub>2</sub> at 35°C for three days (Austin et al., 1998). In

both studies, crumpets were stab-inoculated by pipette approximately 0.5 cm beneath the surface at five distinct, equidistant locations on the top surface of the crumpet with a total of 45  $\mu$ L of spore suspension per crumpet (50-g) to provide a final inoculum level of approximately 1 x 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g of *C. botulinum*.

In addition, uninoculated control crumpets were inoculated with an identical volume of 0.1% (wt/wt) peptone water.

#### 7.2.2.2 S. cerevisiae

Cells of S. *cerevisiae* NCYC 1239 (National Collection of Yeast Cultures; Norwich, UK) were used in the second study only. The lyophilized yeast was rehydrated in malt yeast peptone dextrose (MYPD) broth (Difco), and incubated for 24 hours at 25°C on a platform shaker at 250 rpm (New Brunswick Scientific; New Brunswick, NJ). The yeast culture was subsequently stored in 50% glycerol (ICN Biomedicals, Aurora, OH) at -20°C. The yeast inoculum was prepared by transferring pure yeast culture into MYPD broth and incubating for 24 hours in a water-bath shaker (250 rpm) (New Brunswick Scientific) at 28°C. Cells from the stock solution were enumerated using an Improved Neubauer hemacytometer and diluted in 0.1% peptone water (Difco) to provide a final inoculum of 5.6 x 10<sup>8</sup> cells/mL. The inoculum was verified by plating appropriate decimal

dilutions on plates of oxytetracycline glucose yeast extract agar (OGYEA [Difco]) and incubating aerobically at 25°C for 48 hours. Only sterile yeast-leavened crumpets, previously inoculated with *C. botulinum* were surface inoculated with 45  $\mu$ L of *S. cerevisiae* inoculum per crumpet (50-g) to provide a final inoculum of 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells *S. cerevisiae* per gram in addition to 1 x 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g *C. botulinum*. Sterile yeast- and chemical-leavened control crumpets were inoculated with an identical volume of 0.1% peptone water.

#### 7.2.3 Packaging

In both studies, all inoculated and uninoculated control crumpets (50-g) were packaged in 210-mm x 210-mm high gas barrier Cryovac bags (O<sub>2</sub> transmission rate: 3 to 6 cc/m<sup>2</sup>/day, 1 atm at 4°C, 0% RH.; ethanol transmission rate: 0.21 g/m<sup>2</sup>/day, 1 atm at 25°C; Cryovac; Mississauga, ON). All crumpets (50-g [one per bag]) were packaged in triplicate, with either i) a 2-G sachet of Ethicap<sup>®</sup> (Freund Industrial Company, Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) releasing ~1.1 g ethanol or ii) 100% CO<sub>2</sub>. Ethanol vapour generators were placed inside of bags that were then sealed with an impulse heat-sealer. Gas (CO<sub>2</sub>) packaging was achieved using a Multivac chamber type heat-seal packaging machine (model SP-300H; Multivac Inc., Kansas, MO) to obtain the desired level of CO<sub>2</sub>. All packaged samples were stored at 25°C. Triplicate samples of inoculated
crumpets were analysed at days 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, and 30 while triplicate samples of uninoculated control crumpets were analysed at day 0 and day 30 only.

#### 7.2.4 Headspace O<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> analysis

In both studies, changes in headspace O<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> were monitored using a previously calibrated oxygen/carbon dioxide analyser (Servomex, Food Package Analyzer Series 1400; Minneapolis, MN). Samples of headspace gas were withdrawn using a 0.5-mL gastight pressure-Lok<sup>®</sup> syringe (Precision Sampling Co; Baton Rouge, LA) through a septum attached to the outside of each package.

#### 7.2.5 Headspace ethanol

Changes in headspace ethanol were monitored using a Varian gas chromatograph (model 3300, Varian Canada, Inc; Montreal, QC), fitted with a flame ionization detector and using a Nukol column (30-M × 0.53-mm; Supelco, Canada, Ltd). Helium was the carrier gas with a flow rate of 30 mL/minute. The column temperature was set at 60°C and the injector port at 100°C. Headspace ethanol was anlaysed by withdrawing 0.5 mL of gas using a gastight pressure-Lok<sup>®</sup> syringe as described previously for headspace gas analysis and injecting into the chromatograph. Peaks were recorded and analysed with a Hewlett-Packard integrator (model 3390A, Hewlett-Packard Canada, Ltd.; Kirkland, QC). The concentration of headspace ethanol (% vol/vol) was determined from a standard curve (R<sup>2</sup> 0.992) generated by analysing, in triplicate, standard solutions of 95% food-grade ethanol ranging in concentration from 0.25% to 10% (vol/vol).

#### 7.2.6 Enumeration of C. botulinum

On each sampling day, crumpets were aseptically transferred to a stomacher bag. A 1:3 dilution was prepared by adding twice the sample weight of 0.1% peptone water and then stomaching for two minutes using a Colworth Stomacher (Seward Medical Stomacher, London, UK). Decimal dilutions were subsequently prepared from this initial dilution. Growth of *C. botulinum* was monitored as described previously (Daifas et al., 1999b). *C. botulinum* was enumerated by spread plating 0.1 mL of appropriate decimal dilutions of the 1:3 homogenised sample, in duplicate, on *Clostridium botulinum* Isolation (CBI) agar (Dezfulian et al., 1981). CBI plates were incubated in an atmosphere of 10% H<sub>2</sub>, 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, and 80% N<sub>2</sub> for 72 hours at 35°C. Lipase-positive colonies, characteristic of *C. botulinum* were enumerated and identification was confirmed by neurotoxin neutralisation assays on trypticase peptone glucose yeast extract (TPGY) broth cultures of randomly selected colonies.

#### 7.2.7 Enumeration of S. cerevisiae

Growth of *S. cerevisiae* was monitored by spread plating 0.1 mL of the appropriate decimal dilutions of the 1:3 sample homogenate, in duplicate, on OGYEA (Difco). Plates of OGYEA were incubated aerobically for 48 hours at 25°C. Large, round, white, shiny, elevated colonies, with a characteristic odour of baked bread, were presumptively enumerated as *S. cerevisiae* and randomly selected colonies were confirmed as yeast by wet cell mounts.

#### 7.2.8 Neurotoxin assay

Botulinum neurotoxin was detected as described previously (Daifas et al., 1999a, b). An aliquot of the sample supernatant was filtered through a 0.45-µm filter (Acrodisc, Gelman Sciences; Ann Arbor, MI) and 0.5 mL of this filtrate was injected intraperitoneally into each of two 20- to 28-g mice (Charles River; QC). Mice were observed for up to 72 hours for typical signs of botulism including ruffled fur, pinched waist, laboured breathing, limb paresis and general paralysis. Mice showing extreme distress were humanely asphyxiated with CO<sub>2</sub> according to Health Canada Animal Care Committee guidelines (Daifas et al., 1999c). Neutralization of neurotoxin was performed on randomly selected positive samples, representative of all packaging conditions, using antisera (Connaught Laboratories; North York, ON) to botulinum neurotoxins.

Toxicity was attributed to *C. botulinum* since mice that were injected with a positive sample supernatant and antisera to botulinum neurotoxin survived while mice that were similarly injected, but not protected with antisera died (Austin and Blanchfield, 1996).

## 7.2.9 Changes in sample pH

The pH of crumpets was determined using a previously calibrated (buffers pH 4.0 and 7.0) Fisher Accumet<sup>®</sup> pH meter (Fisher Scientific; Ottawa, ON). Portions of filtered sample supernatant of the homogenized, centrifuged samples were transferred to glass tubes and pH measurement was made by immersing the electrode directly into each tube.

#### 7.2.10 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using analysis of variance for a 2 x 2 factorial experimental design (Steel and Torrie, 1980) using Prism 3.03 (Graph-Pad Software, Inc.; San Diego, CA).

#### 7.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

## 7.3.1 Challenge studies with non-sterile crumpets

In this first study, non-sterile crumpets (50-g) were inoculated with  $10^3$  spores/g *C. botulinum* only, packaged in air with an ethanol vapour generator (2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup>) or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> and stored at 25°C.

# 7.3.1.1 Changes in headspace carbon dioxide and oxygen

The levels of headspace  $CO_2$  in all inoculated  $CO_2$ -packaged crumpets (yeast- or chemically-leavened) were consistently  $\geq$ 95% (vol/vol) throughout 30-days storage while the levels of headspace  $O_2$  in these crumpets were <2% for the same period (Figure 7.1A).

For all inoculated crumpets packaged in air with Ethicap<sup>®</sup> (2-G), headspace  $O_2$  decreased to <1% while headspace  $CO_2$  in these packaged yeast- and chemical-leavened crumpets increased to approximately 22% and 38% respectively after 15-days storage at 25°C (Figure 7.1B). While similar changes in headspace  $CO_2$  were observed for both yeast- and chemical-leavened crumpets, levels of headspace  $CO_2$  in chemical-leavened crumpets were consistently higher, throughout storage, compared to yeast-leavened crumpets.



FIGURE 7.1. Changes in headspace oxygen (----) and headspace carbon dioxide (----) in yeast-leavened ( $\blacksquare$ ), and chemically-leavened ( $\bullet$ ) crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g C. botulinum, packaged in A , 100% CO<sub>2</sub>; or B, air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> and stored at 25°C

These changes in headspace gas composition can be attributed to the metabolism of yeasts, lactic acid bacteria and *Bacillus* spp.-the predominant spoilage microflora of crumpets (Smith et al., 1987).

Similar headspace gas profiles were observed for uninoculated control crumpets (results not shown).

## 7.3.1.2 Headspace ethanol

The levels of headspace ethanol throughout storage in yeastand chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum* and packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup>, or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> are shown in Figure 7.2. Levels of headspace ethanol throughout storage were consistently higher in yeast-leavened crumpets packaged with Ethicap<sup>®</sup> and lower in chemically-leavened crumpets packaged with  $CO_2$  (Figure 7.2). At the onset of storage (day 5), headspace ethanol in yeast-leavened crumpets packaged in air with Ethicap<sup>®</sup> was ~3% (vol/vol), a level that had increased to ~4.5% (vol/vol) after 30-days storage (Figure 7.2). The consistently higher headspace ethanol in yeast-leavened Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets can be attributed to the fermentative activity of yeast. Headspace ethanol levels (~2.1% to ~2.8%) were similar in both yeast- leavened  $CO_2$ -packaged crumpets and chemically-leavened Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets throughout



FIGURE 7.2. Headspace ethanol in yeast-leavened ( $\blacksquare$ ), or chemically-leavened ( $\bullet$ ) crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g C. botulinum, packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> (—) or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> (---) and stored at 25°C

storage, while the lowest levels of headspace ethanol (~1.7% [vol/vol]) were observed in chemical-leavened CO<sub>2</sub>-packaged crumpets (Figure 7.2).

Although organoleptic changes in crumpets were not monitored during the 30-day storage, at the termination of the study, all crumpets were overtly spoiled due to a strong alcoholic odour–regardless of the leavening agent or packaging atmosphere.

Headspace ethanol levels in uninoculated control crumpets were similar to those observed for similarly packaged inoculated crumpets, indicating that *C. botulinum* did not influence headspace ethanol levels (results not shown).

## 7.3.1.3 Changes in pH

The initial pH of crumpets of both formulations was 6.4. Minor changes in pH were observed throughout storage at ambient temperature. At the end of storage, the pH values of ethanol vapourand CO<sub>2</sub>-packaged crumpets were  $6.4 \pm 0.1$  and  $6.1 \pm 0.1$  respectively, regardless of the leavening agent (results not shown). The slightly lower pH of crumpets packaged in CO<sub>2</sub> may be due to dissolution of CO<sub>2</sub> in the aqueous phase of the crumpets.

# 7.3.1.4 Growth of yeast

In yeast-leavened crumpets inoculated with C. botulinum, total yeast counts were initially <1 CFU/g (Figure 7.3). However, by day 5, log yeast counts (CFU/g) had increased to >5, regardless of the packaging atmosphere (Figure 7.3). A similar, although more gradual trend was observed in chemical-leavened crumpets, packaged with either Ethicap® or CO2, in which log yeast counts (CFU/g) at the end of storage were 5 and 2 respectively, i.e., lower than counts observed for yeast-leavened crumpets (Figure 7.3.). Similar results were observed in all control crumpets, again regardless of the packaging atmosphere (results not shown). The higher yeast counts observed for yeast-leavened crumpets can be attributed to S. cerevisiae that survived the baking process since crumpets are baked on a griddle and only receive a minimum heat treatment (Daifas et al., 1999b). However, while the yeast counts observed in the chemical-leavened crumpets were unexpected, they can be attributed to post-baking contamination. Such contamination of products in the bakery environment by S. cerevisiae, as well as by wild yeasts, is common (Legan and Voysey, 1991) and spoilage of crumpets due to growth of S. cerevisiae has been reported (Smith et al., 1983). It is also interesting to note that the high levels of ethanol vapour, particularly in yeast-leavened Ethicap®-packaged crumpets, did not inhibit yeast



FIGURE 7.3. Average growth of yeasts (log CFU/g) in yeast-leavened ( $\blacksquare$ ) and chemically-leavened ( $\bullet$ ) crumpets inoculated with10<sup>3</sup> spores/g C. botulinum, packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup>(----) or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> (----) and stored at 25°C

growth (Figures 7.2 and 7.3). Sarais et al. (1996) reported that ethanol vapour failed to inhibit the growth of *S. cerevisiae* in cheese. However, ethanol vapour has been shown to control yeast growth in CO<sub>2</sub>-packaged pita bread (Black et al.,1993) and in par-baked apple turnovers (Smith et al., 1987). Ingram (1986) reported that *S. cerevisiae* exhibited an ethanol tolerance due to ethanol-induced changes in its fatty acid and sterol composition. Similarly, Seiler and Russell (1991) reported that high (>8%) concentrations of ethanol may be required for complete inhibition of yeast growth while Bundgaard-Nielsen and Nielsen (1995) showed that the antimycotic effect of ethanol varies with yeast strain.

#### 7.3.1.5 Growth of C. botulinum

Growth of *C. botulinum* was influenced by packaging atmosphere as well as by leavening agent. In all yeast- and chem- ical-leavened crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g *C. botulinum* and packaged in  $CO_2$ , counts of *C. botulinum* increased during storage (Figure 7.4). After five-days storage at ambient temperature, the average log counts of *C. botulinum* in all  $CO_2$ -packaged crumpets were consistently >5. However, in chemical-leavened,  $CO_2$ -packaged crumpets, log counts of *C. botulinum* were consistently one log higher throughout storage compared to similarly packaged yeast-



FIGURE 7.4. Average growth of C. botulinum (log CFU/g) in yeast-leavened ( $\blacksquare$ ) and chemically-leavened ( $\bullet$ ) crumpets inoculated with10<sup>3</sup> spores/g C. botulinum, packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup>(----) or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> (----)and stored at 25°C

leavened crumpets (Figure 7.4). Carbon dioxide and  $HCO_3^{-}$  are required for germination of *C. botulinum* (Kim and Foegeding, 1993b) and in addition,  $CO_2$  may enhance or inhibit growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* depending on its level in the package headspace (Doyle, 1983; Lambert et al., 1991a, b; Daifas et al., 1999c). In the present study, it is possible that the bicarbonate ion present in chemical-leavened crumpets contributed to the higher counts of *C. botulinum* in these crumpets, particularly those packaged in  $CO_2$ .

For yeast-leavened crumpets packaged in air with ethanolgenerating sachets (2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup>), counts of *C. botulinum* increased less than one log from the initial inoculum level of  $10^3$  spores/g (Figure 7.4). Again, as observed for CO<sub>2</sub>-packaged crumpets, counts of *C. botulinum* were higher in chemical-leavened Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets than in yeast-leavened crumpets packaged under similar conditions. In the chemical-leavened crumpets, log counts of *C. botulinum* were generally <4.5 although higher numbers (~ $10^5$ CFU/g) were enumerated on day 15 (Figure 7.4).

The growth patterns of *C. botulinum* in both yeast- and chemicalleavened crumpets may have been influenced by levels of headspace  $CO_2$  and ethanol in these packaged crumpets. Higher counts of *C. botulinum* were associated with higher levels of headspace  $CO_2$ . Indeed, the lowest increase in counts of *C. botulinum* (<1 log) were observed in yeast-leavened Ethicap<sup>®</sup>packaged crumpets in which levels of headspace  $CO_2$  were ~20% (vol/vol [Figure 7.1]). However, while  $CO_2$  has been shown to have a stimulatory effect on the growth of *C. botulinum*, it is unlikely that low levels of  $CO_2$  in these yeast-leavened Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets failed to be stimulatory, since growth at similar levels of  $CO_2$  has been reported (Lambert, 1991a).

A more plausible explanation for the differences in the growth patterns of C. botulinum, particularly between yeast- and chemicallyleavened crumpets packaged with an ethanol vapour sachet, is that growth was influenced by the level of headspace ethanol in these packaged crumpets. In the present study, growth of C. botulinum was associated with headspace ethanol levels ≤2.6% (vol/vol) (Figures 7.2 and 7.4) In yeast-leavened Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets, headspace ethanol was >2.6% throughout storage and increased to ~4.5% (vol/vol) by day 30. By this time (day 30), headspace ethanol levels were <2.8% for yeast-leavened CO<sub>2</sub>-packaged crumpets as well as for chemical-leavened Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets (Figure 7.2). Daifas et al. (2003) have shown in model broth studies that 4% liquid ethanol, in combination with the a<sub>w</sub> and pH of the growth medium, had an inhibitory effect on the growth of and neurotoxin production by C. botulinum. This present study confirms that levels of between 2.6% to 4% ethanol in the package headspace would be required to

inhibit the growth of this pathogen in high-moisture English-style crumpets. It is also apparent from these results that the method of leavening will influence the headspace ethanol and hence, the antibotulinal effect of ethanol vapour. Indeed, if Ethicap<sup>®</sup> sachets are to be used with chemically-leavened crumpets, then larger sachets would be required to enhance the safety of these crumpets.

#### 7.3.1.6 Neurotoxin detection

The times at which neurotoxin was detected in yeast- and chemical-leavened crumpets packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> and stored at ambient temperature are shown in Table 7.1. Neurotoxin was detected earlier in all CO<sub>2</sub>-packaged crumpets than in crumpets packaged with ethanol vapour-generating sachets (Table 7.1). Neurotoxin was detected in all CO<sub>2</sub>-packaged crumpets after five-days storage, regardless of the method of leavening. However, neurotoxin was first detected in chemical-leavened crumpets packaged with Ethicap<sup>®</sup> at day 10 (Table 7.1). More significantly, neurotoxin was not detected in any of the yeast-leavened Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets during 30-days storage at ambient temperature (Table 7.1). Furthermore, no neurotoxin was detected in any control crumpets packaged under these atmospheres (results not shown).

# TABLE 7.1. Toxin detection in crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g C. botulinum, packaged in air with ethanol vapour or CO₂ and stored at 25°C

| Leavening agent | Packaging atmosphere <sup>a</sup> | Neurotoxin analysis <sup>♭</sup> (day) |     |     |     |     |  |  |  |
|-----------------|-----------------------------------|----------------------------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|--|--|--|
|                 |                                   | 5                                      | 10  | 15  | 20  | 30  |  |  |  |
| Yeast           | Ethanol                           | 0/3                                    | 0/3 | 0/3 | 0/3 | 0/3 |  |  |  |
|                 | CO2                               | 3/3                                    | 2/3 | c   |     |     |  |  |  |
| Chemical        | Ethanol                           | 0/3                                    | 1/3 | 3/3 | 3/3 |     |  |  |  |
|                 | CO₂                               | 2/3                                    | 3/3 |     |     |     |  |  |  |

<sup>a</sup> Crumpets packaged in air with a 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> sachet or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> as indicated

- <sup>b</sup> Number of samples testing positive/number of samples analysed by mouse bio-assay
- ° Not tested for neurotoxin since neurotoxin production previously established

These trends can again be related to changes in the counts of C. botulinum, as well as to the level of ethanol vapour within the package headspace. Counts of C. botulinum were consistently higher in CO2-packaged crumpets, regardless of the method of leavening, than in crumpets packaged with ethanol vapour. In addition, counts of C. botulinum were also higher in chemical-leavened Ethicap®-packaged crumpets than in yeast-leavened crumpets packaged under similar conditions (Figure 7.4). The lower counts of C. botulinum, and hence longer time-to-neurotoxin, can also be related to changes in headspace ethanol (Figure 7.2) during storage. Ethicap<sup>®</sup> (2-G) releases up to 1.1 g ethanol per 50-g crumpet. Levels of headspace ethanol were consistently higher in yeast- than in chemicallyleavened crumpets packaged with Ethicap<sup>®</sup>. While neurotoxin was first detected at day 10 in chemical-leavened crumpets, growth of and neurotoxin production by C. botulinum was inhibited for >30 days. The higher levels of ethanol consistently observed in these crumpets, and subsequent inhibition of neurotoxin, may be attributed to ethanol producing microorganisms such as S. cerevisiae and other indigenous microflora of crumpets.

This present study confirms previous challenge studies with proteolytic *C. botulinum* that showed that packaging yeast-leavened crumpets with 2% (wt/wt) ethanol inhibited the growth of and neuro-toxin production by *C. botulinum* (Daifas et al., 2000). One possible

reason for the anti-botulinal effect of ethanol vapour may be an inhibition of spore germination. Ethanol-induced inhibition of L-alanine-initiated germination of *B. subtilis* spores has been reported (Curran and Knaysi, 1961; Trujillo and Laible, 1970). Whatever the reason, this study confirms the antibotulinal effect of ethanol vapour and demonstrates the importance of the method of leavening on the anti-botulinal efficacy of ethanol vapour. Bakery products typically contain ethanol, particularly if prepared with yeast, fruit, or alcohol. Ethanol contents of >1% have been reported for bourbon cake, apple cake, herb onion bread, and raisin bread (Logan and Distefano, 1998; Chiamoto and Maitani, 1984). While this study has shown that ethanol vapour can delay the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*, the ethanol content of a product can vary with its formulation.

## 7.3.2 Challenge studies in sterile crumpets

Based on the results of the initial study (section 7.3.1), there appeared to be an interactive effect between the method of leavening (yeast or chemical) of crumpets and the anti-botulinal effect of ethanol vapour. This was attributed to the survival of yeast (*S. cerevisiae*) in yeast-leavened crumpets and the subsequent growth of and ethanol production by these endogenous yeasts. This ethanol, in addition to the

ethanol vapour generated by Ethicap® sachets, may have resulted in headspace ethanol inhibitory to the growth of C. botulinum. However, other spoilage microorganisms such as LAB or Bacillus spp. in crumpets may have played a role by producing ethanol and/or other antimicrobial metabolites (Wentz et al., 1967; Lyver et al., 1999; Okereke and Montville, 1991; Giardin et al., 2002). Therefore, to determine the role of veasts on the anti-botulinal efficacy of ethanol vapour, a subsequent study was conducted using sterile yeast- and chemical-leavened crumpets to control the effects of background microorganisms on growth of C. botulinum. Sterile yeast-leavened crumpets were inoculated with a co-inoculum of C. botulinum (10<sup>3</sup> spores/g) and S. cerevisiae (10<sup>5</sup> cells/g). Co-inoculation with S. cerevisiae was done to simulate survival of baker's yeast in yeast-leavened crumpets at a level that represented the average yeast counts in CO<sub>2</sub>- and Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged yeast-leavened non-sterile crumpets in the first study (Figure 7.3). Sterile chemical-leavened crumpets were inoculated with C. botulinum (10<sup>3</sup> spores/g) only. All inoculated sterile crumpets were packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO2, stored (25°C) and monitored for changes in headspace gas, growth (CFU/g) of S. cerevisiae and C. botulinum and detection of botulinum neurotoxin.

# 7.3.2.1 Changes in headspace carbon dioxide and oxygen

The headspace gas composition of sterile yeast- and chemicalleavened crumpets packaged in 100%  $CO_2$  remained constant throughout storage ( $CO_2 > 96\%$  [vol/vol] and  $O_2 < 2\%$  [vol/vol] [results not shown]) and were consistent with those observed in similarly packaged non-sterile crumpets in the first study (Figure 7.1A).

However, changes in headspace  $O_2$  and  $CO_2$  of sterile yeast- and chemical-leavened crumpets packaged in air with an Ethicap<sup>®</sup> sachet (2-G), were more noticeable, particularly for sterile crumpets co-inoculated with *C. botulinum* and *S. cerevisiae* (Figure 7.5A-B). In these co-inoculated yeast-leavened crumpets, headspace  $O_2$  decreased steadily throughout storage, reaching levels of <2% (vol/vol) by day 15 while headspace  $CO_2$  steadily increased to levels of ~14% over the same period (Figure 7.5A-B). These changes in the headspace gas composition of co-inoculated yeast-leavened Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets can be attributed to facultative growth of and metabolism by *S. cerevisiae* only (Walker, 1998) since all uninoculated crumpets were sterile at the onset and end of storage (results not shown).

Furthermore, the headspace gas changes in these sterile co-inoculated crumpets were similar to those observed for non-sterile yeast-leavened crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum* only and



FIGURE 7.5. Changes in A, headspace  $O_2$  and B, headspace  $CO_2$  in sterile yeast-leavened crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g C. botulinum and 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/g S. cerevisiae ( $\Box$ ) and chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g C. botulinum (O), packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> and stored at 25°C

packaged in air with Ethicap<sup>®</sup> (Figure 7.1), and therefore confirm an important role played by yeasts in headspace  $O_2$  depletion and  $CO_2$  production–conditions conducive to the growth of *C. botulinum*.

In sterile chemical-leavened crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum* only and packaged with an Ethicap<sup>®</sup> sachet (2-G), headspace  $O_2$  and  $CO_2$  remained >16% and <3% respectively, throughout storage (Figure 7.1).

Headspace  $O_2$  and  $CO_2$  levels in all 100%  $CO_2$ -packaged sterile uninoculated control crumpets were consistently <2% and >98% respectively throughout storage. Over the same period, headspace gas levels of uninoculated control crumpets packaged in air with Ethicap<sup>®</sup> were consistently >19%  $O_2$  and <1%  $CO_2$ -further confirming the sterility of crumpets.

#### 7.3.2.2 Growth of S. cerevisiae

Yeast counts (log CFU/g) for sterile yeast-leavened crumpets co-inoculated with *C. botulinum* and *S. cerevisiae* and packaged in air with Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> are shown in Figure 7.6. Counts of *S. cerevisiae* increased gradually during storage and reached a level of ~10<sup>6.5</sup> CFU/g by day 20 (Figure 7.6). Yeast counts in these sterile crumpets were similar to similarly-packaged non-sterile crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum* only (Figure 7.3). Although similar



FIGURE 7.6. Growth (average log CFU/g) S. cerevisiae in yeast-leavened crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g C. botulinum and 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/g S. cerevisiae ( $\Box$ ), packaged in air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup>(—) or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> (----) and stored at 25°C

growth trends were again observed between Ethicap<sup>®</sup>- and  $CO_2$ -packaged crumpets, slightly higher counts were observed in all gas-packaged crumpets (Figure 7.6). Again, this trend is consistent with growth profiles of yeasts in non-sterile crumpets (Figure 7.3). Furthermore, these results, as indicated by the first study, confirm that *S. cerevisiae* can grow to similar levels in crumpets regardless of the packaging atmosphere and may deplete headspace  $O_2$  to levels conducive to the growth of *C. botulinum* (Figure 7.5).

No yeasts were observed in any sterile chemical-leavened crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum* only nor in uninoculated sterile control crumpets (results not shown).

#### 7.3.2.3 Growth of C. botulinum

Changes in the counts (log CFU/g) of *C. botulinum* in sterile crumpets packaged in air with Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> are shown in Figure 7.7A-B. Again, as observed for non-sterile crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum*, clearly different growth patterns were observed between Ethicap<sup>®</sup>- and CO<sub>2</sub>-packaged crumpets, with counts being consistently one to three logs higher in crumpets packaged in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> (Figure 7.7A-B).

In Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets, counts of *C. botulinum* increased less than one log cycle from the initial inoculum level of



FIGURE 7.7. Average growth of C. botulinum (log CFU/g) in sterile yeastleavened crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g C. botulinum and 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/g S. cerevisiae ( $\Box$ ) and sterile chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g C. botulinum ( $\bigcirc$ ) packaged in A, air with 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> (----); or B, in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> (----) and stored at 25°C

~10<sup>3</sup> spores/g throughout storage (Figure 7.7A) even though headspace O<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> levels were conducive to its growth after 15-days storage (Figure 7.5). This trend in the counts of C. botulinum was similar to that observed in the first study with non-sterile yeastleavened Ethicap®-packaged crumpets (Figure 7.4). In the second sterile chemical-leavened headspace levels in study,  $O_2$ Ethicap®-packaged crumpets remained high (>16%) throughout storage. However, although counts (log CFU/g) were low (<4.0), growth of C. botulinum was not completely prevented. Several studies have reported the growth of C. botulinum in elevated levels of headspace O<sub>2</sub> (Whiting and Naftulin, 1992; Clavero et al., 2000; Dufresne et al., 2000a, b).

In sterile CO<sub>2</sub>-packaged crumpets, counts of *C. botulinum* were approximately two logs higher in chemical-leavened crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum* compared with yeast-leavened crumpets co-inoculated with *C. botulinum* and *S. cerevisiae* (Figure 7.7B). Although headspace ethanol was not measured in the second study, the differences in counts between inoculated and co-inoculated crumpets can be assumed to be due to the inhibitory effect of yeast produced by *S. cerevisiae* in these co-inoculated sterile crumpets.

It is interesting to note that although similar trends were evident in the growth of *C. botulinum* and detection of its neurotoxin between non-sterile and sterile crumpets, counts were higher and neurotoxin was slightly delayed in the first study using non-sterile crumpets compared to the second study with sterile crumpets. This difference was surprising; however, it may be due to several interrelated factors including: i) the activity of background microflora in non-sterile crumpets; and ii) the differences in headspace gas composition, particularly CO<sub>2</sub>, which has been shown to enhance the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*.

No *C. botulinum* was detected in any sterile uninoculated crumpets after 30-days storage at 25°C.

#### 7.3.2.4 Neurotoxin detection

The times at which neurotoxin was detected in sterile crumpets packaged in air with Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> are summarised in Table 7.2. Packaging crumpets with CO<sub>2</sub> resulted in a highly significantly (P<0.001) increased frequency of detecting neurotoxin in crumpets. In addition, more chemical-leavened crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum* were toxic than yeast-leavened crumpets co-inoculated with *C. botulinum* and *S. cerevisiae* (P<0.001). Neurotoxin was detected earlier i) in crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum* only compared to those co-inoculated with *C. botulinum* and *S. cerevisiae*; and ii) in CO<sub>2</sub>-packaged crumpets compared with those packaged with Ethicap<sup>®</sup> (Table 7.2). Indeed, in sterile yeast-leavened

Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets co-inoculated with *C. botulinum* and *S. cerevisiae*,

TABLE 7.2 Neurotoxin detection in sterile crumpets inoculated with C. botulinum or co-inoculated with C. botulinum and S. Cerevisiae, packaged in air with ethanol vapour or CO₂ and stored at 25°C

| Leavening method | Inoculum ª                   | Packaging atmosphere <sup>b</sup> | Neurotoxin analysis ° (day) |     |     |     |     |
|------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|
|                  |                              |                                   | 5                           | 10  | 15  | 20  | 30  |
| N<br>ØYeast      | C. botulinum / S. cerevisiae | -<br>Ethanol                      | 0/3                         | 0/3 | 0/3 | 0/3 | 0/3 |
|                  | C. botulinum / S. cerevisiae | CO2                               | 0/3                         | 3/3 | 3/3 | 3/3 | 3/3 |
| Chemical         | C. botulinum                 | Ethanol                           | 0/3                         | 0/3 | 1/3 | 1/3 | 1/3 |
|                  | C. botulinum                 | CO2                               | 3/3                         | 3/3 | 3/3 | 3/3 | 3/3 |

<sup>a</sup> Crumpets inoculated with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g C. botulinum or with 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g C. botulinum and 10<sup>5</sup> cells/g S. cerevisiae

<sup>b</sup> Crumpets packaged in air with a 2-G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> sachet or in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> as indicated

° Number of samples testing positive/number of samples analysed by mouse bio-assay

neurotoxin was not detected during 30-days storage while sterile chemicalleavened crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum* only and packaged in 100% CO<sub>2</sub> were toxic after five-days storage. While headspace ethanol was not measured in the second study, it can be assumed that the ethanol vapour generated by Ethicap<sup>®</sup> delayed neurotoxin production in chemical-leavened crumpets and completely inhibited neurotoxin production in all co-inoculated yeast-leavened crumpets due, again, to additional ethanol production by yeast in the co-inoculum.

In both studies, the time at which neurotoxin was detected generally corresponded to log counts of *C. botulinum*  $\geq$ 4.4 (Figure 7.8). This is in agreement with previous studies of Daifas et al. (1999b) which showed that the time-to-neurotoxin in MAP crumpets coincided with log counts of *C. botulinum* of ~5.



FIGURE 7.8. Log count (CFU/g) C. botulinum in non-toxic (0) and toxic (1) non-sterile and sterile yeast- or chemically-leavened crumpets inoculated with  $10^3$  spores/g C. botulinum or  $10^3$  spores/g C. botulinum and  $5 \times 10^3$  cells/g S. cerevisiae, packaged in air with 2G Ethicap<sup>®</sup> or in 100% CO<sup>2</sup> and stored at 25°C

# 7.4 CONCLUSION

The results of both studies confirm the role of yeast, particularly in Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets, in delaying neurotoxin production. Furthermore, both studies confirm that ethanol vapour is not as an effective anti-botulinal agent in chemical-leavened crumpets compared to those leavened by yeast. In the first study, the complete inhibition of neurotoxin production in yeast-leavened Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets was assumed to be due to the additive effect of ethanol generated by i) the interactive sachets and ii) endogenous yeasts and other microorganisms. This second study with sterile crumpets confirms the significant role (P<0.001) played by *S. cerevisiae* in enhancing the anti-botulinal efficacy of ethanol vapour generating sachets. Based on these studies, the method of crumpet leavening appears to have a profound effect on the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in CO<sub>2</sub>- and Ethicap<sup>®</sup>-packaged crumpets.

In conclusion, Ethicap<sup>®</sup> sachets have the potential to provide an effective additional barrier to the growth of *C. botulinum* and to enhance the safety of high-moisture bakery products at ambient temperature. However, product safety must be assessed on a case-by-case basis, as formulation changes such as the method of leavening may influence the level of ethanol required to ensure product safety. While smaller Ethicap<sup>®</sup> sachets (2-G) could be used to enhance the safety of yeast-leavened crumpets, larger sizes ( $\geq$ 4-G) would be required to ensure the safety of chemical-leavened crumpets. However, regardless of the size of sachet used, the

sensory shelf-life of such packaged crumpets may be compromised due to absorption of ethanol from the package headspace.

## **PREFACE TO CHAPTER 8.0**

While ethanol vapour can be used to control the growth of *C. botulinum* in high-moisture bakery products, it is only effective at high levels in the package headspace. An alternative approach to reduce the levels of ethanol in the package headspace would be to combine ethanol vapour with a natural antimicrobial, such as oil-of-mastic. Since little, if anything, is known about the antibotulinal effect of mastic resin or oil, studies were designed to investigate its potential of these agents to inhibit the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in media and in crumpets.

#### 8.0 STUDIES ON THE ANTI-BOTULINAL ACTIVITY OF MASTIC

#### **8.1 INTRODUCTION**

High-moisture minimally-processed bakery products such as crumpets, have been shown to have the potential to support growth of *C. botulinum* when packaged under modified atmospheres and stored at ambient temperature (Daifas et al., 1999b). Since reformulation of these high-moisture products is not always practical due to sensory constraints, it has been recommended that additional barriers to the growth of *C. botulinum* be included in the product and/or package to reduce the hazardous, albeit unlikely, event that products become toxic.

One novel approach of inhibiting microbial growth in food is the use of certain plant extracts and essential oils. Many plant essential oils contain antimicrobial substances including flavanoids, triterpenoids, sesqiterpenoids and phenols (Rojas et al., 1992; Nychas, 1995). Most pathogens including *C. botulinum*, *Bacillus* spp., *S. aureus*, *Salmonella* spp., and *E. coli*, in addition to yeasts and moulds, are sensitive to compounds found in many essential oils (Beuchat and Golden, 1989). De Wit et al. (1979) reported that *C. botulinum* type A was inhibited by garlic and onion while clove, pimenta and black pepper oil were active against *C. botulinum* 67B (Ismaiel and Pierson, 1990a) and *C. sporogenes* was shown to be sensitive to citral (the primary component of lemon grass oil) and oregano (Paster et al., 1990; Deans et al., 1992). While Hall and Maurer (1986) reported that mace, bay leaf, and nutmeg extracts inhibited botulinum neurotoxin production, Chaibi
et al. (1997) reported that cedar, eucalyptus, camomile, savage carrots, vervain, grapefruit and orange oils inhibited germination of *C. botulinum* 62A.

The shrub *Pistacia lentiscus* var. *chia*, produces an essential oil with a pleasant characteristic balsamic odour. Both the resin and its essential oil are used as flavouring for breads, as well as for other foods and beverages (Wyllie et al., 1990), and have been shown also to have antioxidant properties (Abdel-Rahman and Soad, 1975). Although present in all tissue (leaves, twigs and stems) the major source of the oil is mastic, the resinous exudate of the plant. The antimicrobial activity of mastic against several foodborne pathogens including *S. aureus, S. enteriditis, B. cereus, E. coli, Helicobactor pylori* as well as many yeasts and moulds has been reported (Alippi et al., 1996; luak et al., 1996; Tassou and Nychas, 1996; Huwez et al., 1998; Magiatis et al., 1999; Koukoutsis, 2002) with gram-positive bacteria being generally more sensitive than gram-negative (Hussain and Tabji, 1997; Ali-Shtayeh et al., 1998). However, the effect of mastic on *C. botulinum* has not been reported.

The objective of this study was to determine the effect of resinous and essential oil-of-mastic on the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* i) in media and ii) in challenge studies with English-style crumpets.

### **8.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### 8.2.1 Preparation of spore inoculum

Spores of proteolytic C. botulinum (A6, 17A, 62A, CK2A, MRB, 13983IIB, and 368B) were used in these studies. Spore crops of each strain were prepared separately, enumerated as described by Hauschild and Hilsheimer (1977), and stored at -80°C. Spores of individual strains were used in the "spot on the lawn" and microtiter assays, while a composite inoculum was used in the agar plate study and in the challenge study with crumpets. For the agar plate and challenge studies, equal numbers of spores of each strain were combined to form a single suspension of approximately 3 x 10<sup>6</sup> spores/mL which was further diluted in 0.1% peptone water as required for individual studies. All spore mixtures were heat-shocked (75°C for 20 minutes) prior to sample inoculation and inoculum levels were verified using modified McClung Toabe Toabe (Difco, McClung agar (MMT) agar prepared from Becton-Dickinson; Sparks, MD) supplemented with 0.1% yeast extract (Difco) and egg-yolk as previously described (Daifas et al., 1999b).

### 8.2.2 Mastic

Mastic resin ("gum" [Chios Mastic Grower's Association {CMGA}; Chios, Greece]) and its oil (CMGA) were used throughout these studies. The sterility of both the resin and oil was confirmed by aerobic and anaerobic plate counts at 25, 30 and 37°C.

### 8.2.3 Media studies

The anti-botulinal activity of mastic resin and oil was examined by three methods: i) a modified "spot on the lawn" method to screen the resin for anti-botulinal activity, ii) a microtiter plate assay to determine the inhibitory effect of mastic oil against *C. botulinum*, and iii) an agar plate study to investigate the anti-botulinal potential of mastic volatiles.

### 8.2.3.1 Spot on the lawn

Preliminary screening of the anti-botulinal activity of resinous mastic against outgrowth of spores of *C. botulinum* was done using a modified "spot on the lawn" assay. Mastic resin (CMGA) was dissolved in 95% ethanol to make a 10% (wt/wt) solution, which was further diluted in 95% ethanol to provide a dilution series of 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10% (wt/wt) mastic. Solutions were filter-sterilized using a 0.45-µm filter (Ascrodisc; Gelman Scientific, Ann Arbor, MI). Plates of

MMT agar were spread with spore suspensions (0.1 mL) of individual strains of *C. botulinum* (~1 x 10<sup>6</sup> spores/g) prepared as previously described. Inoculated plates of MMT agar were spotted with 5  $\mu$ L each of the filter-sterilized mastic solutions (2% to 10%) or a control of 95% ethanol (0% mastic). Plates were incubated in an atmosphere of 10% H<sub>2</sub>, 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, and 80% N<sub>2</sub> at 37°C for three days. Following incubation, plates were observed and inhibition of *C. botulinum* was scored qualitatively as complete, partial, or no inhibition.

### 8.2.3.2 Microtiter assay

The antimicrobial activity of the essential oil-of-mastic (CMGA) was determined using a microtiter assay. Inocula used in this assay were prepared by adding an appropriate volume of spores of individual strains of *C. botulinum*, prepared as described previously, to 10 mL of Iso-sensitest (IST [Difco]) broth supplemented with 0.15% Bacto-agar (Difco) preheated to 37°C to provide final inocula of 10<sup>3</sup> spores/mL.

Forty (40)  $\mu$ L of 0.3% (vol/vol) essential oil of mastic (CMGA) in IST broth containing 0.15% agar to prevent separation (Mann and Markham, 1998) was dispensed into the first rows of microtiter plates and 1:2 row-wise serial dilutions were subsequently prepared leaving 20  $\mu$ L per well. Spore inocula (180- $\mu$ L) were dispensed in appropriate

wells providing a range of 0.3% to 0.008% (vol/vol) oil of mastic. Positive and negative controls consisted of inoculated (containing 0% mastic) and uninoculated (containing 0.3% to 0.008% mastic) IST broth respectively. Well contents were mixed seven times using a multi-channel pipetter. Plates were covered with sterile aluminium foil and were incubated in an atmosphere of 10% H<sub>2</sub>, 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, and 80% N<sub>2</sub> at 37°C for 48 hours prior to reading absorbance at 450 nm using a microplate reader (model ELx800 running KC-Jr. software, Bio-tek Instruments; Summit, NJ). The anti-botulinal activity of mastic was expressed as the inhibition index (I.I.)

 $I.I. = 1 - \frac{\Delta \text{ the experimental culture}}{\Delta \text{ the control culture}}$ 

where  $\Delta$  is the change in optical density at 450 nm, and the experimental and control cultures were individual strains of *C. botulinum* grown in IST broth with and without mastic respectively. The I.I. ranges from 0 for no inhibition to 1 for complete inhibition (Chaibi et al., 1997).

### 8.2.3.3 Vapour-phase inhibition agar plate study

The potential of mastic volatiles to inhibit growth of *C. botulinum* was investigated using an agar plate study. Powdered mastic resin was dispersed in 95% ethanol and was subsequently diluted with

distilled water to give a dispersion containing 1.9% mastic and 6.8% ethanol (wt/wt). This dispersion was further diluted (1/10) with distilled water and both mixtures were filter-sterilized using a 0.45-µm filter (Ascrodisc). Sterile cotton pads were placed in the lids of petri dishes and 1.5 mL of mastic solutions were dispensed onto the pads to provide 0.1% or 0.01% mastic (wt/wt [based on 20-g agar]). Plates of MMT agar previously spread, in triplicate, with a composite inoculum of C. botulinum (5 x 10<sup>1</sup>, 5 x 10<sup>2</sup> or 5 x 10<sup>3</sup> spores/mL), prepared as previously described, were immediately inverted over the lids prior to sealing each plate in a high gas barrier bag (O<sub>2</sub> transmission rate: 3-6 cc/m<sup>2</sup>/day, 1 atm at 4.4°C, 0% RH; Cryovac; Mississauga, ON) containing an AgelessFX<sup>®</sup><sub>200</sub> oxygen absorbent (Mitsubishi Gas & Chemical Company; Japan) with an impulse heat-sealer. Plates were incubated for three days at 37°C. The effect of mastic on C, botulinum was determined as log (N<sub>0</sub>/N) where N<sub>0</sub> and N are the counts (CFU/g) of C. botulinum grown without and with mastic respectively. Controls consisted of solutions of equivalent amounts of ethanol without mastic.

### 8.2.4 Transmission electron microscopy

Preparation for TEM essentially followed the method of Austin et al. (1990). Cells of *C. botulinum*, that had been grown anaerobically in trypticase peptone glucose yeast (TPGY [Difco]) containing 0%, 258 0.15% or 0.3% oil of mastic for 24 hours at 37°C, were fixed in 0.2-M cacodylate buffer pH 7.4 containing 2.5% (vol/vol) glutaraldehyde and post-fixed in 0.2-M cacodylate buffer pH 7.4 containing 1% osmium tetroxide. Cells were enrobed in 1% Noble agar and dehydrated through a graded series of ethanol (15 minutes each in 50%, 70% and 90% ethanol, followed by three 20-minute incubations in 100% ethanol). Samples were then infiltrated and embedded in Taab 812 resin (Marivac, Halifax, NS). Thin sections were cut on a Reichert-Jung Ultracut E ultramicrotome (C. Reichert Ag, Wien, Austria) and stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate (Reynolds, 1963). Thin sections were examined in a Zeiss EM902 transmission electron microscope (Carl Zeiss, Thornwood, NY) operating at 80 kV with the energy loss spectrometer in place.

### 8.2.5 Challenge study

### 8.2.5.1 Sample preparation, inoculation and packaging

Crumpet batter was prepared as described by Daifas et al. (1999a, b). Essential oil-of-mastic (40, 80, 120, 160, or 200  $\mu$ L [CMGA]) or powdered mastic resin (0.4 g, 0.8 g or 1.2 g [CMGA]) was added to 625 mL crumpet batter. Seven hundred twenty (720)  $\mu$ L of a composite inoculum (3 x 10<sup>5</sup> spores/mL) of proteolytic *C. botulinum*, prepared and verified as described previously, was added prior to

baking on a griddle as described previously (Daifas et al., 1999b). This resulted in baked crumpets (50 g) containing 5 x  $10^2$  spores/g *C. botulinum* and 0.1% to 0.5% (vol/wt) oil-of-mastic or 1% to 3% (wt/wt) mastic resin. In addition to adding mastic to crumpets prior to baking, mastic oil (0.1% to 0.5% [wt/wt]) was dispensed evenly on the surface of inoculated crumpets by pipette post-baking. All crumpets were packaged, in duplicate, in high gas barrier bags (Cryovac) with an Agleless® FX<sub>200</sub> oxygen absorbent (Mitsubishi), sealed with an impulse heat-sealer and were stored at 25°C. Controls consisted of i) crumpets inoculated with *C. botulinum* packaged without (0%) mastic and ii) crumpets inoculated only with 0.1% (wt/wt) peptone water and similarly packaged and stored.

### 8.2.5.2 Detection of neurotoxin

Crumpets were analysed for neurotoxin using the mouse bioassay at one week intervals until neurotoxin was detected. On each sampling day, crumpets were diluted 1:3 in 0.1% peptone water and stomached, centrifuged and filter-sterilized as described previously (Daifas et al., 1999b). Each filtrate (0.5 mL) was injected intraperitoneally into each of two 20- to 28-g mice (Charles River, QC). Mice were observed for up to 72 hours for typical signs of botulism including ruffled fur, pinched waist, laboured breathing, limb paresis and general paralysis. Mice showing severe distress were euthanised by asphyxiation with CO<sub>2</sub> according to Health Canada Animal Care Committee guidelines. Neutralization of neurotoxin was performed on randomly selected representative positive samples using antisera (Connaught Laboratories; North York, ON) to botulinum neurotoxins to confirm that toxicity was due to botulinum neurotoxin as described previously (Daifas et al., 1999b).

### **8.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

### 8.3.1 Preliminary screening

The effect of mastic resin (0% to 10% [wt/wt]) in 95% ethanol on five strains of proteolytic C. botulinum is shown in Table 8.1. When applied to MMT agar, the mastic solutions separated into two distinct, concentric phases-the outer of which had an iridescent, oil-like sheen (Figure 8.1). However, no such separation occurred when the control (0% mastic in ethanol) was applied to the agar. Furthermore, in all cases, no inhibition was observed with 0% mastic (Table 8.1). For mastic solutions, inhibition of C. botulinum was greater at the outer oil-like phase (Table 8.1). While partial inhibition was observed in the inner phase for all concentrations of mastic, for C. botulinum A6 and 62A, complete inhibition of growth also occurred at the outer phase (Figure 8.1). C. botulinum 17A was completely inhibited by  $\geq 2\%$  mastic. Although type B strains of C. botulinum were partially inhibited by mastic at  $\leq 6\%$ , complete inhibition of both type B strains was associated with the outer, oil-like phase at higher (≥8%) concentrations of mastic (Table 8.1). Generally, strains of C. botulinum type A were more inhibited by mastic than type B strains were (Table 8.1). This is consistent with De Wit et al. (1979) who reported that while garlic and onion oils partially inhibited C. botulinum type A, types B and E were not inhibited.

# TABLE 8.1. Effect of resinous mastic on C. botulinum

|              | % (wt/wt) Mastic <sup>a</sup> |     |                |   |   |          |   |   |   |    |   |
|--------------|-------------------------------|-----|----------------|---|---|----------|---|---|---|----|---|
| C. botulinum | 0                             |     | 2              | 4 |   | 6        |   | 8 |   | 10 |   |
|              |                               | lp. | 0 <sup>c</sup> | 1 | 0 | 1        | 0 | I | 0 | 1  | 0 |
| A6           |                               | ±   | +              | ± | + | <b>±</b> | ÷ | ± | Ŧ | ±  | Ŧ |
| 62A          |                               | ±   | +              | ± | + | ±        | + | ± | + | ±  | ÷ |
| 17A          |                               | +   | +              | + | + | ÷        | ÷ | ÷ | + | +  | + |
| 13983IIB     |                               | ±   | ±              | ± | ± | ±        | ± | ± | + | ±  | + |
| 368B         |                               | ±   | ±              | ± | ± | ±        | ± | ± | + | ±  | + |

<sup>a</sup> Mastic resin in 95% ethanol

- <sup>b, c</sup> I (inner) and O (outer) concentric circles into which the mastic solution separated when applied to the agar.
- No inhibition; ±, partial inhibition; +, complete inhibition



FIGURE 8.1. Inhibitory effect of resinous mastic (0 to 3% [wt/wt]) in ethanol on C. botulinum 62A

The major components of resinous mastic include 1% to 3% essential oil, 4%  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -mastichinic acid (C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>36</sub>O<sub>4</sub>), 0.5% masticholic acid (C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>36</sub>O<sub>4</sub>), 20%  $\alpha$ -mastichonic acid (C<sub>23</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O<sub>4</sub>), 18%  $\beta$ -mastichonic acid (C<sub>32</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O<sub>4</sub>), 30%  $\alpha$ -mastichorezene (C<sub>35</sub>H<sub>56</sub>O<sub>4</sub>) and 20%  $\beta$ -mastichorezene (C<sub>36</sub>H<sub>56</sub>O<sub>4</sub>) (Papageorgiou et al., 1991). The essential oil is a complex mixture of at least 70 compounds–primarily several monoterpenes: myrcene (39%),  $\alpha$ -pinene (28%), limonene (11%),  $\beta$ -pinene (5.4%) and  $\beta$ -caryophyllene (2.4%) as well as 7.3% aliphatic esters and ketones and 1.3% phenolic derivatives (Wyllie et al., 1990). Since no emulsifying agent was added to the filtered mastic-in-ethanol solutions, it is possible that phase separation occurred and that compounds with greater inhibitory activity were associated with the outer oil-like phase. However, since *C. botulinum* 17A was completely inhibited for both phases, it is clear that there are strain differences in sensitivity to mastic.

Nevertheless, since greater inhibition was observed with the oil-like phase than with ethanol alone (0% mastic control), this study has indicated, qualitatively, that mastic resin in ethanol had a greater inhibitory effect on proteolytic strains of *C. botulinum* than ethanol alone.

## 8.3.2 Effect of mastic oil on growth of C. botulinum

The activity of mastic oil against growth of *C. botulinum* in IST broth in the microtiter assay is shown in Table 8.2. Oil-of-mastic, at levels of

# TABLE 8.2. Inhibitory index<sup>a</sup> of oil of mastic on strains of proteolytic

### C. botulinum

| Strain of C. botulinum | % (vol/vol) Oil of mastic |      |      |      |  |  |  |  |
|------------------------|---------------------------|------|------|------|--|--|--|--|
|                        | 0.30                      | 0.20 | 0.10 | 0.01 |  |  |  |  |
| 62A                    | 0.84                      | 0.46 | 0    | 0    |  |  |  |  |
| A6                     | 0.83                      | 0.25 | 0    | 0    |  |  |  |  |
| CK2                    | 0.78                      | 0.33 | 0    | 0    |  |  |  |  |
| 17A                    | 0.63                      | 0.05 | 0    | 0    |  |  |  |  |
| 13983IIB               | 0.91                      | 0.02 | 0    | 0    |  |  |  |  |
| 368B                   | 0.63                      | 0.10 | 0    | 0    |  |  |  |  |
| MRB                    | 0.50                      | 0.24 | 0    | 0    |  |  |  |  |

<sup>a</sup> The inhibitory index is given as 1 minus the relative change in optical density (450 nm) between *C. botulinum* cultures grown with and without mastic

 $\geq 0.3\%$  (wt/wt) had an inhibitory effect on C. botulinum. The inhibitory indices for the strains tested, as shown in Table 8.2, ranged from 0.50 to 0.91. The inhibitory index, which reflects the change in optical density between spores with and without mastic oil, can range from 0 for no inhibition to 1 for complete inhibition (Chaibi et al., 1997). Although some strains of C. botulinum were inhibited by mastic at 0.2% (wt/wt), the inhibitory indices at this level were low, i.e., <0.5. Furthermore, no inhibition was observed at <0.2% mastic (Table 8.2). Chaibi et al. (1997) reported inhibition of C. botulinum 62A by essential oils (eucalyptus, camomile cedar, savage carrots, artemisia, grapefruit, vervain, and orange), while Ismaiel and Pierson (1990a) inhibited C. botulinum 67B with clove, thyme, cinnamon, pimento and origanum oils. However, lower concentrations (0.01% to 0.04%) of these oils were required to achieve similar inhibition to that observed in this study with 0.3% mastic. In this study, greater I.I.s were observed for type A than for type B strains of C. botulinum, with the exception of C. botulinum 13983IIB. This is consistent with the results of the "spot on the lawn" assay in which C. botulinum type A also showed greater sensitivity to mastic. However, in the microtiter assay, the largest I.I. (0.91) was observed for C. botulinum 13983IIB, again confirming a strain-specific inhibition.

# 8.3.3 Effect of mastic volatiles on C. botulinum

When solutions containing either 0.01% (wt/wt) or 0.1% (wt/wt) mastic were applied to cotton pads in the inverted lids of plates of MMT agar inoculated with 5 x  $10^1$ , 5 x  $10^2$ , or 5 x  $10^3$  spores/g C. botulinum, growth was partially inhibited (Figure 8.2). For 0.01% mastic, a  $\leq$ 1 log reduction of C. botulinum (CFU/g) was observed, regardless of the inoculum level. However, the 0.1% mastic solution resulted in greater inhibition. At this higher concentration of mastic, a 1.5 to 1.8 log inhibition was observed for all inoculum levels (Figure 8.2). Furthermore, since there was no direct contact between the agar plates and the mastic/ethanol solutions, the observed inhibition of C. botulinum can be attributed to the mastic volatiles alone or from the 0.01% and 0.1% ethanol/mastic aqueous solutions. Volatile constituents of other oils (horseradish, wasabi, wormwood, garlic and ginger) have been shown to inhibit bacteria including B. subtilis (Inouye et al., 1983; Yun et al., 1993; Delequis et al., 1999). However, when C. botulinum was grown in IST broth containing mastic oil, anti-botulinal activity was evident only at concentrations  $\geq$ 0.2%. The lower levels of mastic oil required to inhibit C. botulinum in this study may be due to several factors: i) mastic may have a greater anti-botulinal effect in the vapour state; ii) the anti-botulinal activity of the inhibitory compounds may be closely related to their solubility and



% (w/w) based on 20g agar

FIGURE 8.2. Effect of volatiles of 0.01% mastic with 0.05% ethanol ( $\blacksquare$ ); 0.1% mastic with 0.5% ethanol ( $\Box$ ); 0.05% ethanol ( $\blacksquare$ ); and 0.5% ethanol ( $\blacksquare$ ) [wt/wt]) on a composite inoculum of proteolytic C. botulinum (10<sup>1</sup>, 10<sup>2</sup>, or 10<sup>3</sup> spores/g) grown on McClung Toabe agar at 37°C

therefore, be dependent upon the solvent; and iii) volatile terpene alcohols that may be formed from the oxygenation of terpenes such as limonene and pinene, and which may possess greater activity than the parent compound (Megalla et al., 1990) may be present in the vapour. Furthermore, although ethanol in the vapour phase has been shown to be an effective antimicrobial (Smith et al., 1987, Daifas et al., 2000), the absence of inhibition observed for controls (0% mastic and  $\leq 0.5\%$ ethanol) indicates that ethanol at this level was sub-inhibitory. However, it is possible that the low, sub-inhibitory levels of ethanol enhanced the activity of the added mastic. Such synergistic effects of volatile inhibitors have been reported by Ahn et al. (1999). While these authors observed that vapourized isothiocyanates (ITCs) inhibited several microorganisms, including *B. subtilis*, grown on agar, their antimicrobial activity was increased two- to ten-fold when acetic acid was combined with the ITCs.

### 8.3.4 Effect of mastic on cells of C. botulinum

In order to investigate the effect of mastic on vegetative cells, 18-hour cultures of *C. botulinum* 62A were grown in TPGY broth containing 0%, 0.15%, or 0.30% mastic oil at 36°C. Micrographs of these cultures grown in TPGY broth with 0%, 0.15%, or 0.30% oil-of-mastic are shown in Figure 8.3A-C. Growth and cell division were evident in con-



FIGURE 8.3. Effect of A, 0%; B, 0.15%; and C, 0.30% (vol/wt) mastic oil on vegetative cells of Clostridium botulinum 62A in trypticase peptone glucose yeast broth at 36°C

trol cultures grown without (0%) mastic. Although spores were evident in control cultures (Figure 8.3A), no spores were observed in TPGY cultures containing 0.15% or 0.30% mastic. Furthermore, when cells of C. botulinum were grown with these levels of mastic, structural changes in the cells were observed. At 0.15% mastic areas of homogeneous but granular-appearing inclusions, which lacked evidence of ribosomes, were noticeable (Figure 8.3B). Effects were more pronounced in cells grown with 0.30% mastic. In these cells, large straight inclusions in the cells were evident (Figure 8.3C). Huwez et al. (1998) have also reported mastic induced ultrastructural changes in H. pylori, but these changes were not described. It is not clear how mastic inhibited C. botulinum. Although the antimicrobial action of essential oils has been established, the mechanisms of action are not known. Conner and Beuchat (1984a, b) suggested that essential oils might impair enzyme systems such as those involved in energy production and structural component synthesis. Ultee et al. (1999) showed that carvacol, the major constituent of oregano oil, interacts with the membranes of B. cereus by changing its permeability for cations leading to impairment of essential cell processes and finally to cell death. At non-lethal concentrations, B. cereus adapted to carvacol by changing its fatty acid composition (Ultee et al., 2000). Nevertheless, it is clear that structural changes occurred in cells of C. botulinum grown with mastic, particularly at a level of 0.30%.

### 8.3.5 Challenge study

Crumpets, inoculated with 500 spores/g of *C. botulinum* containing 0% to 3% mastic resin added pre-baking or 0% to 0.5% mastic oil, added pre- or post-baking, were stored anaerobically at 25°C.

### 8.3.5.1 Neurotoxin detection

Crumpets were first tested for neurotoxin after seven-days storage at ambient temperature. As shown in Table 8.3, neurotoxin was detected at this time in all crumpets regardless of the level of mastic. Clearly, packaging crumpets with mastic resin (1% to 3%) or mastic oil (0.1% or 0.5%), either pre- or post-baking, did not prevent toxigenesis. In this study, the spore inoculum was added to batter before baking. However, previous studies have established that such inoculation results in almost complete spore survival (Daifas et al., 1999b). Furthermore, neurotoxin was also detected at the same time (day 7) in inoculated crumpets containing no mastic (0%), packaged and stored under similar conditions (Table 8.3). Therefore, while mastic at lower levels had an anti-botulinal effect in media studies, it failed to prevent neurotoxin production even when used at higher levels in crumpets. Similar results have been observed with other antimicrobial oils. Clove and oregano oils, which were bactericidal against L. monocytogenes in media failed to inhibit this organism in meat when added at similar levels (Ting and Deibel, 1992; Aureli et al., 1992).

TABLE 8.3. Detection of botulinum neurotoxin in crumpets containing mastic oil or resin added pre- or post-baking, inoculated with 500 spores/g C. botulinum, packaged with an oxygen absorbent and stored at 25°C, after seven-days storage

| Mastic addition         |     |            | Mastic oil |     |     |     |           | Mastic resin |     |     |  |
|-------------------------|-----|------------|------------|-----|-----|-----|-----------|--------------|-----|-----|--|
|                         |     | % (vol/wt) |            |     |     |     | % (wt/wt) |              |     |     |  |
| Pre-baking              | 0   | 0.1        | 0.2        | 0.3 | 0.4 | 0.5 | 0         | 1            | 2   | 3   |  |
| Neurotoxin <sup>a</sup> | 2/2 | 2/2        | 2/2        | 2/2 | 2/2 | 2/2 | 2/2       | 2/2          | 2/2 | 2/2 |  |
| Post-baking             | 0   | 0.1        | 0.2        | 0.3 | 0.4 | 0.5 | NA        | NA           | NA  | NA  |  |
| Neurotoxin              | 2/2 | 2/2        | 2/2        | 2/2 | 2/2 | 2/2 | NA        | NA           | NA  | NA  |  |

<sup>a</sup> Number of samples testing positive for botulinum neurotoxin using the mouse bioassay out of the number of samples tested

NA: Not applicable, crumpets were not packaged post-baking with mastic resin

The reason for the lack of inhibition of C. botulinum by mastic in crumpets is not apparent. Food is a complex substrate and interactions between antimicrobials and food macromolecules, particularly proteins and fat, may reduce the activity of the antimicrobial (Shelef, 1983). Indeed, activity can be affected even by the composition of media (Blank et al., 1987). Although the lipid content of crumpets is expected to be low, the flour and skim milk powder would provide rich sources of protein. Cornell et al. (1971) reported that the activity of butylated hydroxyanisole was decreased when the antimicrobial bound reversibly to dry milk. It is possible that higher levels of mastic may be necessary for inhibition of C. botulinum in crumpets, although higher levels may lead to sensory rejection. Even though the sensory quality of crumpets was not quantitatively assessed in this study, it was obvious that crumpets packaged with mastic retained a firmer texture throughout storage than crumpets packaged without mastic. Therefore, mastic may have had an anti-staling effect on crumpets. In addition, the sensory quality of crumpets may have been enhanced by the antimicrobial activity of mastic against spoilage microorganisms, such as Bacillus spp., yeasts, moulds, and lactic acid bacteria. Inhibition of such spoilage microorganisms has been reported (Alippi et al., 1996; luak et al., 1996; Koukoutsis, 2002). At levels of ≤0.3% oil and 1% resin, crumpets had a pleasant, characteristic odour. However, packaging with higher levels of mastic imparted a very strong odour, which may be considered objectionable.

It is also possible that heating diminished the activity of mastic. The effect of heating on the activity of mastic cannot be determined from this study since neurotoxin was detected at the same time in crumpets regard-less of whether the mastic was added pre- or post-baking.

Another approach to enhancing the anti-botulinal activity of mastic in crumpets would be the addition of a potentiating agent. Chelators have been shown to increase antimicrobial activity by increasing cell entry (Kabara, 1991). Since the anti-botulinal activity of ethanol and ethanol vapour has been established, ethanol may be such an agent (Daifas et al., 2000; 2003). Furthermore, since lower levels of ethanol may, at reduced pH and a<sub>w</sub>, be effective in delaying growth of *C. botulinum* (Daifas et al., 2002) and since the anti-botulinal activity of mastic may be greater in the vapour state, it may be worthwhile to investigate the activity of mastic oil or vapour in combination with ethanol vapour to enhance crumpet safety.

### **8.4 CONCLUSION**

Studies using media clearly showed that mastic had a direct and an indirect inhibitory effect on strains of proteolytic *C. botulinum* and therefore mastic resin and oil have potential as an anti-botulinal agent. Since mastic is used as a flavouring agent in bakery products, it would have the additional advantage of being a "natural" alternative to preservatives typically used with bakery products. However, since packaging crumpets with mastic, either pre- or post- baking, failed to prevent neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in this study, further studies are required to determine the reason for the lack of inhibitory effect in food and the levels of additional agents, such as ethanol, that may enhance its anti-botulinal activity in the food matrix.

### 9.0 GENERAL CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY

Modified-atmosphere packaging using vacuum packaging, gas packaging with a mixture of gases or oxygen absorbent technology has been available for at least thirty years to extend the shelf-life of various food products. Most recently, this technology has been used extensively, particularly in Europe, to extend the mould-free shelf-life of many high-moisture bakery products. Despite the safety concerns about the growth of *C. botulinum* that are justifiably associated with this technology, few botulism outbreaks have been attributed to MAP products worldwide since the inception of this technology.

The safety record of the bakery industry, which generates sales in excess of \$50 billion dollars in North America alone, is very good. Minimally processed bakery products have been implicated in several outbreaks of foodborne disease; however, they have been mainly caused by *Salmonella* spp., *S. aureus*, *B. cereus* and NLVs. While there are regulatory concerns about the safety, with respect to *C. botulinum*, of high-moisture MAP bakery products, there have been no reports of botulism from such products. These regulatory concerns, and specific recommendations for additional microbial barriers, appear to be based on early challenge studies with bread products hermetically sealed in cans. However, there are no known challenge studies to date that have assessed the botulism hazard in high-moisture bakery products stored at ambient temperature; hence, the reason for undertaking this research.

Preliminary challenge studies with proteolytic *C. botulinum* (500 spores/g) demonstrated that selected high-moisture bakery products (crumpets and pizza crusts) could support the growth of *C. botulinum*, regardless of the packaging atmosphere. Furthermore, growth of *C. botulinum* to hazardous levels occurred in crumpets within seven days at ambient storage temperature prior to sensory rejection—a highly dangerous scenario. These studies confirm that such packaged high-moisture bakery products have the potential to support the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*; and therefore, these products may pose a safety risk if contaminated with this pathogen. Furthermore, they confirm regulatory concerns with respect to the safety of such products and justify the need to incorporate additional barriers into such packaged products to ensure their safety at ambient storage temperatures.

To achieve this objective, subsequent studies focused on the use of traditional barriers to the growth of *C. botulinum* including a<sub>w</sub> and pH as well as novel barriers, specifically ethanol vapour and mastic oil. Early challenge studies with proteolytic *C. botulinum* (500 spores/g) demonstrated the importance of a<sub>w</sub> as a barrier to its growth to ensure the safety of MAP high-moisture bakery products stored at ambient temperature. While crumpets (a<sub>w</sub> 0.990) and pizza crusts (a<sub>w</sub> 0.960) became toxic, bagels (a<sub>w</sub> 0.944) did not. However, not all bakery products can be reformulated to such a low a<sub>w</sub> due to undesirable sensory and textural changes in the final baked product. Another practical and cost effective approach that could be used to enhance the safety of bakery products would be pH modification. Preliminary challenge studies indicated that although reformulation of preservative-free MAP crumpets using lactic acid to pH 4.6 inhibited growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*, product taste was compromised. However, since some commercially produced high-moisture crumpets are formulated to alkaline pH to enhance browning, subsequent challenge studies were done using crumpets reformulated to pH 8.3. While reformulation of crumpets to this pH level delayed the growth of *C. botulinum*, it did not, even in the presence of elevated (100%) levels of CO<sub>2</sub>, prevent toxige-nesis. A further concern was that all high-moisture high-pH crumpets were organoleptically acceptable at the time of toxigenesis. Therefore, such high-pH bakery products, if contaminated with spores of *C. botulinum*, could also become hazardous when packaged in atmospheres containing CO<sub>2</sub>.

Subsequent studies focused on novel barriers (ethanol vapour, oil-ofmastic) to enhance the safety of crumpets. While the anti-mycotic effect of ethanol and ethanol vapour is well established, there was a paucity of data on its anti-botulinal effect. Extensive challenge studies have shown that ethanol, in the vapour phase, has the potential to enhance the safety of English-style crumpets stored at ambient temperature. However, a limitation of its use is that a high level of ethanol (~3% wt/wt) is required in the package headspace to prevent the growth of and neurotoxin production by proteolytic *C. botulinum*. Modelling studies in broth confirmed that a level of at least 4% liquid ethanol was required, depending on the a<sub>w</sub> and pH of the growth medium, for complete inhibition of *C. botulinum*. However, while such high levels of ethanol promoted

product safety, the sensory quality of crumpets was compromised due to absorption of ethanol from the package headspace.

To address these sensory concerns, challenge studies were conducted to determine the effect of the method of crumpet leavening (yeast or chemical) on the anti-botulinal efficacy of ethanol vapour and the potential of mastic extracts and oil as additional barriers to the growth of *C. botulinum*. While chemical-leavening decreased the level of ethanol in the package headspace, growth of *C. botulinum* was not prevented. Survival of *S. cerevisiae* in yeast-leavened crumpets was shown to contribute significantly to the anti-botulinal effect of ethanol. This study confirms that a level of ~3% (wt/wt) ethanol vapour would be required to ensure the safety of high-moisture MAP crumpets. Furthermore, it also demonstrates the importance of the method of leavening and the need to asses product safety on a case-by-case basis.

Studies were also done to determine the anti-botulinal effect of mastic oil and ethanolic extracts of resinous mastic as a potential additional barrier to be used in conjunction with lower levels of ethanol. While mastic showed promise as a novel anti-botulinal agent *in vitro*, it failed to control the growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in challenge studies with crumpets. Further research is required to determine the reason(s) for the lack of inhibitory activity of mastic oil in the food matrix.

While these challenge studies would appear to confirm regulatory concerns about the safety of high-moisture MAP bakery products, the results of these studies must be interpreted with caution. All of these studies were done using high inoculum levels of *C. botulinum* (10<sup>2</sup> to 10<sup>4</sup> spores/g)—levels that have not to date been verified in bakery ingredients or in final baked products. Based on this limitation, it is difficult to extrapolate these "worst-case-scenario" challenge studies to all high-moisture MAP bakery products.

A basic assumption in assessing the botulism risk of high-moisture, MAP bakery products is that they may be contaminated with spores of proteolytic C. botulinum. Although numerous surveys of flour and other bakery ingredients have shown a consistent pattern of microbial contamination with thermophilic and rope-forming Bacillus spores, few, if any surveys have specifically examined ingredients or products for spores of C. botulinum. While high levels of endogenous spores are indicative of the quality and spoilage potential of these bakery ingredients, there is no scientific evidence to verify that high levels of these spores are reliable indicators of the incidence and levels of contamination of spores of proteolytic C. botulinum in flour or other bakery ingredients such as herbs and spices. In the absence of such information, it is impossible to estimate the botulism risk of high-moisture MAP bakery products. While such surveys may provide useful empirical data on the levels of contamination of C. botulinum spores in bakery ingredients, they would be costly and impractical and not provide any information about a product's ability to support the growth of this important pathogen. Furthermore, it cannot be assumed, based on a limited number of challenge and modelling studies, that all high-moisture MAP bakery products, if contaminated with spores or vegetative cells of proteolytic C. botulinum, would support their growth. The composition, aw, pH, and ORP of the product substrate in addition to its complex background micro-flora may influence the ability of a bakery product packaged under modified atmospheres to support the growth of C. botulinum. Based on the fact that no endogenous spores of C. botulinum have been detected in these and other challenge studies with bakery products, a lack of epidemiological evidence, and the excellent safety record of the bakery industry, high-moisture MAP bakery products would appear to be extremely low-risk products with respect to botulism. However, in view of the severity of the disease and regulatory concerns about the safety of MAP bakery products with extended shelf-life, on-going research is required at the industrial, governmental and academic levels on shelf-life and safety studies of these products. Further studies are also required to examine the potential of novel barriers, such as oil-of-mastic or other antimicrobial oils and bio-preservative producing strains of LAB, on the growth of this important pathogen. Only when such sound empirical data is available will it be possible to accurately determine the botulism risk and safe shelf-life of high-moisture MAP bakery products and to formulate realistic guidelines concerning the levels of additional barriers, if any, required to ensure their continued safety at ambient storage temperature.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Abdel-Rahman, A.-H. Y., and A. M. Y. Soud. 1975. Mastich as an antioxidant. J. Amer. Oil Chem. Soc. 52:423.
- Advisory Committee on the Microbiological Safety of Foods (ACMSF). 2000. *Clostridium botulinum* and the ACMSF advice and industry code of practice on vacuum and modified atmosphere packaged products. Information Paper. HMSO Publication Center, London.
- Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC). 2000. The Canadian Bread and Bakery Industry: sub-sector profile. Food Bureau. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada.
- Ahn, E-S., J-H. Kim, and D-H. Shin. 1999. Antimicrobial effects of allyl isothiocyanates on several microorganisms. Korean J. Food Sci. Technol. 31:206-211.
- Alippi, A. M., J. A. Ringuelet, E. L. Cerimele, M. S. Re, and C. P. Henning. 1996. Antimicrobial activity of some essential oils against *Paenibacillus* larvae, the causal agent of American foulbrood disease. J. Herbs Spices Med. Plants. 4:9-16.
- Ali-Shtayeh, M. S., R. M.-R. Yaghmour, Y. R. Faidi, K. Salem, and M. A. Al-Nuri. 1998. Antimicrobial activity of 20 plants used in folkloric medicine in the Palestinian area. J. Ethnopharmacol. 60:265-271.
- Ando, Y. 1973. Studies on germination of spores of clostridial species capable of causing food poisoning. II. Effect of some chemicals on the germination of spores of *Clostridium botulinum* type A. J. Food Hyg. Soc. Jap. 14:462-5.
- Angelotti, R., M. J. Foster, and K. H. Lewis. 1961. Time-temperature effects on Salmonellae and Staphylococci in foods. III. Thermal death time studies. Appl. Microbiol. 9:308-315.

- Angulo, F. J., J. Getz, J. P. Taylor, K. A. Hendricks, C. L. Hatheway, S. S. Barth, H. M. Larson, E. A. Johnson, L. N. Nickey, and A. A. Ries. 1998. A large outbreak of botulism: the hazardous baked potato. J. Infect. Dis. 178:172-177.
- 10. Anne, C., F. Cornille, C. Lenoir, and B. P. Roques. 2001. High-throughput fluorogenic assay for determination of botulinum type B neurotoxin protease activity. Anal. Biochem. 291:253-261.
- 11. Anniballi, F., L. Fenicia, G. Franciosa, and P. Aureli. 2002. Influence of pH and temperature on the growth and toxin production by neurotoxigenic strains of *Clostridium butryricum* type E. J. Food Prot. 65:1267-1270.
- 12. AOAC. 1995. Microbial methods. *Clostridium*. AOAC official method 977.26 *Clostridium botulinum* and its toxins in foods. p. 46-48. *In* AOAC official methods of analysis.
- Aramouni, F., K. K. Kone, J. A. Craig, and D. Y. C. Fung. 1994. Growth of *Clostridium sporogenes* PA 3679 in home-style canned quick breads. J. Food Prot. 57:882-886.
- Arness, M., M. Canham, B. Feighner, E. Hoedebecke, J. Cuthie, E. Polyak, D. R. Skillman, D. English, C. Jenkins, T. Barker, W. Beaumont, T. Cieslak, and D. N. Taylor. 1999. Norwalk-like viral gastroenteritis in US army trainees Texas. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 48(11):225-227.
- 15. Ashton, A. C., J. S. Crowther, and J. O. Dolly. 1985. A sensitive and useful radioimmunoassay for neurotoxin and its haemagglutinin complex from *Clostridium botulinum*. Toxicon. 23:235-246.
- 16. Assouad, M. C. 1996. Reformulation/packaging studies to delay staling in a bakery product. MSc. Thesis. McGill University, Montreal, QC.
- 17. Aureli, P., A. Constantini, and S. Zolea. 1992. Antimicrobial activity of some plant essential oils against *Listeria monocytogenes*. J. Food Prot. 55:344-348.

- 18. Aureli, P., G. Franciosa, and M. Pourshaban. 1996. Foodborne botulism in Italy. Lancet. 348:1594.
- Austin, J. W. 2001. *Clostridium botulinum*. p. 329-350. *In* M. P. Doyle, L. R. Beuchat, and T. J. Montville (eds.). Food Microbiology–Fundamentals and Frontiers, 2<sup>nd</sup>. edition. ASM Press, Washington.
- Austin, J. W., and B. Blanchfield. 1996. Detection of *Clostridium botulinum* and its toxins in suspect foods and clinical specimens. MFHPB-16. Polyscience Publications, Morin Heights, Quebec.
- Austin, J. W., and K. L. Dodds. 2001. *Clostridium botulinum*. p. 107-138. *In* Y. H. Hui, M. D. Pierson, and J. R. Gorham, (eds.). Foodborne Disease Handbook, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. ASM Press, Washington.
- Austin, J. W., K. L. Dodds, B. Blanchfield, and J. M. Farber. 1998. Growth and toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* on inoculated fresh-cut vegetables. J. Food Prot. 61:324-328.
- 23. Austin, J. W., M. Stewart, and R. G. Murray. 1990. Structural and chemical characterization of the S layer of a *Pseudomonas*-like bacterium. J. Bacteriol. 172:808-817.
- 24. Baird-Parker, A. C., and B. Freame. 1967. Combined effect of water activity, pH and temperature on the growth of *Clostridium botulinum* from spore and vegetative cell inocula. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 30:420-429.
- 25. Bakry, N., Y. Kamata, and L. L. Simpson. 1991. Lectins from *Triticum vulgaris* and *Limax flavus* are universal antagonists of botulinum neurotoxin and tetanus toxin. J. Pharmacol. Exp.. Therap. 258:830-836.
- Balding, P., E. R. Gold, D. A. Boroff, and T. A. Roberts. 1973. Observations on receptor specific proteins. II. Haemagglutination and haemagglutination-inhibition reactions of *Clostridium botulinum* types A, C, D and E haemagglutinins. Immunol. 25:773-782.

- 27. Barker, Jr., W. H., J. B. Weissmann, V. R. Dowell Jr., L. Gutmann, and D. A. Kautter. 1977. Type B botulism outbreak caused by a commercial product. JAMA. 237:456-459.
- Bean, N. H., S. Joy, C. Goulding, F. Lao, and J. Angulo. 1996. Surveillance for foodborne disease outbreaks–United States, 1988-1992. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rpt. 45(SS-5):1-55.
- 29. Begot, C., I. Desnier, J. D. Daudin, J. C. Labadie, and A. Lebert. 1996. Recommendations for calculating growth parameters by optical density measurements. J. Microbiol. Methods. 25:225-232.
- 30. Bell, C., and A. Kyriakides. 2000. *Clostridium botulinum*-a practical approach to the organism and its control in foods. Blackwell Science, London.
- 31. Bergdoll, M. S. 1989. *Staphylococcus aureus*. p. 463-524. *In* M. P. Doyle (ed.). Foodborne Bacterial Pathogens. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- 32. Beuchat, L. R., and D. A. Golden. 1989. Antimicrobials occurring naturally in foods. Food Technol. 43:134-142.
- 33. Bever, J. S., and H. O. Halvorson. 1947. The possibilities of the growth of *Clostridium botulinum* in canned bread. Hormel Inst. Annual Rep. 43:53-58.
- Black, R. G., K. J. Quail, V. Reyes, M. Kuzyk, and L. Ruddick, L. 1993. Shelf-life extension of pita bread by modified atmosphere packaging. Food Austral. 4:387-391.
- 35. Blank, G., M. Al-Khayat, and M. A. H. Ismond. 1987. Germination and the resistance of *Bacillus subtilis* spores produced on clove and eugenol based media. Food Microbiol. 4:35-42.
- 36. Board, R. G. 1969. Microbiology of the hen's egg. Adv. Appl. Microbiol. 11:245-281.

- 37. Bonetto, J., and A. Bortoli. 1996. Development and retention of ethyl alcohol in sandwich loaves: The influence of production technology. Industrie Alimentari 35:1283-1286.
- 38. Boroff, D. A., and G. S. Chen. 1973. Radioimmunoassay for type A toxin of *Clostridium botulinum*. Appl. Microbiol. 25:545-549.
- 39. Briozzo, J. J., E. A. Lagarde, J. de Chirife, J. L. Parada. 1985. Influence of potassium sorbate on toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* type A in model system of cheese spread. J. Food Technol. 20:383-388.
- 40. Brody, A. 1985. Controlled atmosphere bakery product packaging. Cereal Foods World. 30:352.
- 41. Bryan, F. L. 1976. Public health aspects of cream-filled pastries-a review. J. Milk Food Technol. 39:289-296.
- Bryan, F. L., J. J. Guzewich, and E. C. D. Todd. 1997. Surveillance of foodborne disease. III. Summary and presentation of data on vehicles and contributory factors; their value and limitations. J. Food Prot. 60:701-714.
- 43. Buchanan, R. L., and M. L. Cygnarowicz. 1990. A mathematical approach to defining and calculating the duration of the lag phase. Food Micriobiol. 7:237-240.
- 44. Bullerman, L. B. 2000. Mold growth in bakery products and its prevention. Tech. Bulletin, American Institute of Baking. Vol. XXII, Issue 5.
- 45. Bundgaard-Nielsen, K., and P. V. Nielsen. 1995. Fungicidal effect of 15 disinfectants against 25 fungal contaminants commonly found in bread and cheese manufacturing. J. Food Prot. 59:268-275.
- 46. Cadieux, B. 2001. Development of a novel rapid *in vitro* assay for the development of *Clostridium botulinum* neurotoxin type E. M.Sc. Thesis, McGill University, Montreal, QC.
- 47. Cantoni, C., E. Marchisio, and P. Butta. 1998. Evaluation of some media for the isolation of *C. botulinum*. Industrie Alimentari. 37:33-36.
- 48. Capparelli, E., and L. Mata. 1975. Microflora of maize prepared as tortillas. Appl. Microbiol. 29:802-806.
- Casillas, D., R. Moncado, P. K. Raffer, C. Vista, D. G. Ramras, R. B. Redmond, G. Renger, W. A. Townsend, A. G. Vera, R. Casteneda, T. Cota, T. Midura, and S. B. Werner. 1978. Botulism–California. Morbid. Mortal. Weekly Rep. 27:501-504.
- 50. Castell, C. H. 1944. Thermophilic bacteria in foods and in various ingredients entering into the manufacture of foods. Food Res. 9:410-414.
- 51. Centers for Disease Control (CDC). 1998. Botulism in the United States, 1899-1966. Handbook for epidemiologists, clinicians, and laboratory workers.
   U.S. Dept. Health and Human Services.
- 52. Chiamoto, T., and T. Maitani. 1984. Simultaneous determination of ethanol and propionic acid in bread and cake by gas chromatography. J. Food Hyg. Soc. Japan. 25:342-346.
- Chaibi, A., L. H. Ababouch, K. Belasri, S. Boucetta, and F. F. Busta. 1997. Inhibition of germination and vegetative growth of *Bacillus cereus* T and *Clostridium botulinum* 62A spores by essential oils. Food Microbiol. 14:161-174.
- Chaudhry, R., B. Dhawan, D. Kumar, R. Bhatia, J. C. Gandhi, R. K. Patel, and B.
   C. Purohit. 1998. Outbreak of suspected *Clostridium butyricum* botulism in India. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 4:506-507.
- 55. Chaudhuri, A. K., G. Cassie, and M. Silver. 1975. Outbreak of food-borne type-A hepatitis in greater Glasgow. Lancet. 2(7927):223-225.

- 56. Chou, C. H., P. H. Hwang, and M. D. Malison. 1988. An outbreak of type A foodborne botulism in Taiwan due to commercially preserved peanuts. Int. J. Epidemiol. 17:899-902.
- 57. Church, I. J., and A. L. Parsons. 1995. Modified atmosphere packaging technology: a review. J. Sci. Food Agric. 67:143-152.
- Clavero, M. R. S., R. E. Brackett, L. R. Beuchat, and M. P. Doyle. 2000. Influence of water activity and storage conditions on survival and growth of proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum* in peanut spread. Food Microbiol. 17:53-61.
- Collins-Thompson, D. L., and D. S. Wood. 1993. Control in dairy products. p. 261-277. In A. H. W. Hauschild, and K. L. Dodds (eds.). Clostridium botulinum: Ecology and Control in Foods, 1<sup>st</sup> edition. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- 60. Conner, D. E., and L. R. Beuchat. 1984a. Sensitivity of heat-stressed yeasts to essential oils of plants. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 47:299-233.
- 61. Conner, D. E., and L. R. Beuchat. 1984b. Effects of essential oils from plants on growth of food spoilage yeasts. J. Food Sci. 49:429-434.
- 62. Cook, F. K., and M. D. Pierson. 1983. Inhibition of bacterial spores by antimicrobials. Food Technol. 18:115-126.
- 63. Cordoba, J. J., M. D. Collins, and A. K. East. 1995. Studies on the genes encoding botulinum neurotoxin type A of *Clostridium botulinum* from a variety of sources. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 18:13-22.
- 64. Cornell, D. G., E. D. Devilbiss, and M. J. Pallansch. 1971. Binding of antioxidants by milk proteins. J. Dairy Sci. 54:634-639.
- Cowden, J. M., P. G. Wall, G. Adak, H. Evans, S. LeBaigue, and D. Ross. 1995. Outbreaks of foodborne infectious intestinal disease in England and Wales 1992 and 1993. Commun. Dis. Rept. 5:R109-R117.

- 66. Coyne, F. P. 1933. The effect of carbon dioxide on bacterial growth with special reference to the preservation of fish. Part 1. J. Soc. Chem. Ind. 51:119T-121T.
- 67. Curran, H. R., and G. Knaysi. 1961. Survey of fourteen metabolic inhibitors for their effect on endospore germination in *Bacillus subtilis*. J. Bacteriol. 82:793-797.
- 68. Dack, G. M., 1961. Public health significance of flour bacteriology. Cereal Sci. Today. 6:9-10.
- Daifas, D., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, B. Cadieux, G. Sanders, and J. W. Austin.
   2002. Effect of ethanol on the growth of *Clostridium botulinum*. J. Food Prot. (in press).
- 70. Daifas, D. P., J. P. Simth, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 1999a. Challenge studies with *Clostridium botulinum* in high moisture bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres. Food Austral. 51:507-511.
- Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 1999b. Growth and toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in English-style crumpets packaged under modified atmospheres. J. Food Prot. 62:349-355.
- 72. Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 1999c. Effect of pH and CO<sub>2</sub> on growth of *Clostridium botulinum* in English-style crumpets packaged under modified atmospheres. J. Food Prot. 62:1157-1161.
- 73. Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, I. Tarte, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 2000. Effect of ethanol vapor on growth and toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in a high moisture bakery product. J. Food Sci. 20:113-127.
- 74. Dalgaard, P., and K. Koutsoumanis. 2001. Comparison of maximum specific growth rates and lag times estimated from absorbance and viable count data by different mathematical models. J. Microbiol. Methods. 43:183-196.

- Daniels, J. A., R. Krishnamurthi, and S. S. H. Rizvi. 1985. A review of the effects of carbon dioxide on microbial growth and food quality. J. Food Prot. 48:532-537.
- De Wit, J. C., S. Notermans, N. Gorin, and E. H. Kampelmacher. 1979. Effect of garlic oil or onion oil on toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in meat slurry. J. Food Prot. 42:222-224.
- 77. Deans, S. G., K. P. Svoboda, M. Gundidza, and E. Y. Brechany. 1992. Essential oil profiles of several temperate and tropical aromatic plants: their antimicrobial and antioxidant activities. Acta Horticulturae. 306:229-232.
- Delaquis, P. J., S. M. Ward, R. A. Holley, M. C. Cliff, and G. Mazza. 1999. Microbiological, chemical and sensory properties of pre-cooked roast beef preserved with horseradish essential oil. J. Food Sci. 64:519-524.
- Denny, C. B., D. J. Goeke Jr., and R. Steinberg. 1969. Inoculation tests of *Clostridium botulinum* in canned breads with special reference to water activity. Research Report No. 4-69. Washington Research Laboratory National Canner's Association, Washington, D.C.
- 80. Devlieghere, F., J. Debevere, and J. Van Impe. 1998. Concentrations of carbon dioxide in the water-phase as a parameter to model the effect of a modified atmosphere on microorganisms. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 43:105-113.
- 81. Dezfulian, M., and J. G. Bartlett. 1984. Detection of *Clostridium botulinum* type A toxin by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay with antibodies produced in immunologically tolerant animals. J. Clin. Microbiol. 19:654-648.
- Dezfulian, M., and J. G. Bartlett. 1985. Selective isolation and rapid identification of *Clostridium botulinum* types A and B by toxin detection. J. Clin. Microbiol. 21:231-233.

- 83. Dezfulian, M., and J. G. Bartlett. 1991. Identification of toxigenic *Clostridium botulinum* type E by enzyme immunoassay. Diag. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 14:11-15.
- 84. Dezfulian, M., L. M. McCroskey, C. L. Hatheway, and V. R. Dowell Jr. 1981. Selective medium for isolation of *Clostridium botulinum* from human feces. J. Clin. Microbiol. 13:526-531.
- 85. Divers, T. J., R. C. Bartholomew, J. B. Messick, R. H. Whitlock, and R. W. Sweeney. 1986. *Clostridium botulinum* type B toxicosis in a herd of cattle and a group of mules. J. Amer. Vet. Med. Assoc. 188:382-386.
- 86. Dixon, N. M., and D. B. Kell. 1989. A review. The inhibition by CO<sub>2</sub> of the growth and metabolism of micro-organisms. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 67:109-136.
- 87. do Carmo, L.S., and M. S Bergdall. 1990. Staphylococcal food poisoning in Belo Horizonte (Brazil). Rev. Microbiol. 21:320-323.
- Dodds, K. L. 1989. Combined effect of water activity and pH on inhibition of toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in cooked, vacuum-packed potatoes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 55:656-660.
- Dodds, K. L. 1993a. Clostridium botulinum in the environment. p. 21-51. In A. W.
   H. Hauschild, and K. L. Dodds (eds.). Clostridium botulinum: Ecology and control in foods, 1<sup>st</sup> edition Marcel Dekker, New York.
- Dodds, K. L. 1993b. Clostridium botulinum in foods. p. 53-69. In A. H. W. Hauschild, and K. L. Dodds (eds.). Clostridium botulinum: Ecology and control in foods, 1<sup>st</sup> edition. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- Dodds, K. L. 1993c. Worldwide incidence and ecology of infant botulism. p. 105-117. In A. W. Hauschild, and K. L. Dodds (eds.). Clostridium botulinum: Ecology and control in foods, 1<sup>st</sup> edition Marcel Dekker, New York.

- Dodds, K. L., and J. W. Austin. 1997. *Clostridium botulinum*. p. 288-304. *In* M. P. Doyle, L. R. Beuchat, and T. J. Montville (eds.). Food microbiology. Fundamentals and frontiers. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- 93. Doellgast, G. J. 1987. Enzyme-linked coagulation assay. IV. Sensitive sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays using Russell's viper venom Factor X activiator-antibody conjugates. Anal. Biochem. 167:97-105.
- 94. Doellgast, G., M. X. Triscott, A. Beard, and J. D. Bottoms. 1994. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for detection of *Clostridium botulinum* neurotoxins A, B, and E and solution-phase complexes with dual label antibodies. J. Clin. Microbiol. 32:105-111.
- 95. Doellgast, G. J., M. X. Triscott, G. A. Beard, J. D. Bottoms, T. Cheng, B. H. Roh, M. G. Roman, P. A. Hall, and J. E. Brown. 1993. Sensitive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for detection of *Clostridium botulinum* neurotoxins A, B, and E using signal amplification via enzyme-linked coagulation assay. J. Clin. Microbiol. 31:2402-2409.
- 96. Doyle, M. 1983. Effect of carbon dioxide on toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum*. Eur. J. Appl. Microbiol. Biotech. 17:53-56.
- 97. Draughton, F. A., M. Elahi, and I. E. McCarty. 1980. Microbial spoilage of Mexican-style sauces. J. Food Prot. 44:284-287.
- 98. Dufresne, I., J. P. Smith, J. N. Liu, I. Tarte, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 2000a. Effect of headspace oxygen and films of different oxygen transmission rate on toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* type E in rainbow trout fillets stored under modified atmospheres. J. Food Safety. 20:157-176.
- 99. Dufresne, I., J. P. Smith, J. N. Liu, I. Tarte, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 2000b. Effect of films of different oxygen transmission rate on toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* type E in vacuum packaged cold and hot smoked trout fillets. J. Food Safety. 20:251-268.

- 100. Edmonston, R. B., C. Thom, and L. T. Giltner. 1923. Experiments with Bacillus (Clostridium) botulinum under household conditions. Food Technol. 23:143-145.
- 101. Eklund, M. W. 1993. Control in fishery products. p. 209-232. In A. H. W. Hauschild, and K. L. Dodds (eds.). Clostridium botulinum: Ecology and Control in Foods, 1<sup>st</sup> edition. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- 102. Ekong, T. A. N., I. M. Feavers, and D. Sesardic. 1997. Recombinant SNAP-25 sp an effective substrate for *Clostridium botulinum* type A neurotoxin endopeptidase activity *in vitro*. Microbiol. 14:3337-3347.
- 103. Ekong, T., K. McLellan, and D. Sesardic. 1995. Immunological detection of *Clostridium botulinum* type A neurotoxin in therapeutic preparations. J. Immunol. Methods. 180:181-191.
- 104. El-Khoury, A. A. 1999. Shelf-life studies in pita bread. M.Sc. Thesis, McGill University, Montreal, QC.
- 105. Elliot, R. P. 1980. Cereals and cereal products. p. 669-730. In ICMSF (ed.). Microbial ecology of foods, vol. 2. Food commodities. Academic Press, New York.
- 106. Enfors, S. O., and G. Molin. 1978. The influence of high concentrations of carbon dioxide on the germination of bacterial spores. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 45:279-285.
- 107. Farber, J. M. 1991. Microbiological aspects of modified atmosphere packaging technology-a review. J. Food Prot. 54:58-70.
- 108. Farkas, J. 1997. Physical methods of food preservation. p. 497-519. In M. P. Dovle. L. R. Beuchat, and Τ. J. Montville (eds.). Food Microbiology-Fundamentals and Frontiers, 1<sup>st</sup> edition. ASM Press, Washington.
- 109. Federal Register (1974). 39 (185, Sept. 23):34185.

- 110. Fernández, R. A., and A. S. Ciccarelli. 1999. Botulism: laboratory methods and epidemiology. Anaerobe. 5:165-168.
- 111. Ferreira, J. L. 2001. Comparison of amplified ELISA and mouse bioassay procedures for determination of botulinal toxins A, B, E, and F. J. AOAC Int. 84:85-88.
- 112. Ferreira, J. L., M. K. Hamdy, Z. L. Herd, S. G. McCay, and F. A. Zapatka. 1987. Monoclonal antibody for the detection of *Clostridium botulinum* type A toxin. Molecul. Cell Probes. 1:337-345.
- 113. Ferreira, J. L., M. K. Hamdy, S. G. McCay, and B. R. Baumstark. 1992. Detection of type A *Clostridium botulinum* using the polymerase chain reaction. J. Rapid Methods Automat. Microbiol. 1:29-39.
- 114. Ferreira, J. L., M. K. Hamdy, S. G. McCay, M. Hemphill, N. Korma, and B. R. Baumstark. 1994. Detection of *Clostridium botulinum* type F using the polymerase chain reaction. Molec. Cell Probes. 8:365-373.
- 115. Ferron, P., and J. Michard. 1993. Distribution of *Listeria* spp. in confectioners' pastries from western France: comparison of enrichment methods. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 18:289-303.
- 116. Foegeding, P. M., and F. F. Busta. 1983. Effect of carbon dioxide, nitrogen and hydrogen gases on germination of *Clostridium botulinum* spores. J. Food Prot. 46:987-989.
- 117. Food Safety and Inspection Service (FSIS). 1998. United States Department of Agriculture. Washington, D.C. 20250-3700, Consumer Information, Volume 3 (4), The Food Safety Educator New Consumer Research Driving Food Safety Education.
- 118. Franciosa, G., L. Fenicia, M. Pourshaban, and P. Aureli. 1997. Recovery of a strain of *Clostridium botulinum* producing both neurotoxin A and neurotoxin B from canned macrobiotic food. Appl. Env. Microbiol. 63:1148-1150.

- 119. Franciosa, G., M. Pourshaban, M. Gianfranceschi, A. Gattuso, L. Fenicia, A. M. Ferrini, V. Mannoni, G. De Luca, and P. Aureli. 1999. *Clostridium botulinum* spores and toxin in mascarpone cheese and other milk products. J. Food Prot. 62:867-871.
- 120. Freund. 1987. No-mix-type mould inhibitor Ethicap. Technical brochure. Freund Ind. Co., Ltd. Tokyo, Japan.
- 121. Fried, V. A., and A. Novick. 1973. Organic solvents as probes for the structure and function of the bacterial membrane: effects of ethanol on the wild type of an ethanol-resistant mutant of *Escherichia coli* K-12. J. Bacteriol. 114:239-248.
- 122. Giardin, H., C. Albagnac, C. Dargaignaratz, C. Nguyen-The, and F. Carlin. 2002. Antimicrobial activity of foodborne *Paenibacillus* and *Bacillus* spp. against *Clostridium botulinum*. J. Food Prot. 65:806-813.
- 123. Giavedoni, P., W. Rodel, and J. Dresel. 1994. Betrag zur sicherheit und haltbarket von frischen gefullten teigwaren, abgepackt in modifizierter und in einer athanol-gas-atmosphare. Fleischwirtsch. 74:639-646.
- 124. Gibson, A. M., N. K. Modi, T. A. Roberts, P. Hambleton, and J. Melling. 1988. Evaluation of a monoclonal antibody-based immunoassay for detecting type B *Clostridium botulinum* toxin produced in pure culture and an inoculated model cured meat system. J Appl. Bacteriol. 64:285-291.
- 125. Gibson, A. M., N. K. Modi, T. A. Roberts, C. C. Shone, P. Hambleton, and J. Melling. 1987. Evaluation of a monclonal antibody-based immunoassay for detecting *Clostridium botulinum* type A toxin produced in pure culture and an inoculated cured meat culture. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 63:214-226.
- 126. Glasby, C., and C. L. Hatheway. 1985. Isolation and enumeration of *Clostridium botulinum* by direct inoculation of infant fecal specimens on egg yolk agar and *Clostridium botulinum* isolation media. J. Clin. Microbiol. 21:264-266.

- 127. Glass, K. A., and M. D. Doyle. 1991. Relationship between water activity of fresh pasta and toxin production by proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum*. J. Food Prot. 54:162-165.
- 128. Gobbetti, M., and A. Corsetti. 1997. *Lactobacillus sanfrancisco* a key sourdough lactic acid bacterium: a review. Food Microbiol. 14:175-187.
- 129. Goodburn, K. E., and A. C. Halligan. 1988. Modified atmosphere packaging-a technology guide. p. 1-44. Publication of the British Manufacturing Association, Leatherhead, U.K.
- 130. Goodnough, M. C., B. Hammer, H. Sugiyama, and E. A. Johnson. 1993. Colony immunoblot assay of botulinal toxin. Appl. Env. Microbiol. 59:2339-2342.
- 131. Granum, P. E. 1997. *Bacillus cereus.* pp. 327-336. *In* M. P. Doyle, L. R. Beuchat, and T. J. Montville (eds.). Food Microbiology–Fundamentals and Frontiers. ASM Press, Washington.
- 132. Gray, T. C., and M. S. Bulgin. 1982. Botulism in an Oregon dairy cow heard. J. Amer. Vet. Med. Assoc. 180:160-162.
- 133. Griffin, P. M., C. L. Hatheway, R. B. Rosenbaum, and R. Sokolow. 1997. Endogenous antibody production to botulinum toxin in an adult with intestinal colonization botulism and underlying Crohn's disease. J. Infect. Dis. 175:633-637.
- 134. Guilfoyle, D. E., and L. W. Mestrandrea. 1980. Problems encountered with the capillary tube immunodiffusion method for detection of botulinal toxin. Appl. Env. Microbiol. 40:847-851.
- 135. Hall, M. A., and A. J. Maurer. 1985. Spice extracts, lauricidin and propylene glycol as inhibitors of *Clostridium botulinum* in turkey frankfurter slurries. Poultry Sci. 65:1167-1171.

- 136. Hall, K. N., and J. V. Spencer. 1964. The effect of ethanol on shelf-life and flavor of chicken meat. Poultry Sci. 47:573-576.
- 137. Hallis, B., B. A. F. James, and C. C. Shone. 1996. Development of novel assays for botulinum type A and B neurotoxins based on their endopeptidase activities. J. Clin. Microbiol. 34:1934-1938.
- 138. Hao, Y-Y., A. J. Scouten, and R. E. Brackett. 1999. Cheesecake: a potential vehicle for salmonellsis? J. Food Prot., 62:26-29.
- 139. Hasan, S. 1997. M.Sc. Thesis, McGill University, Montreal, QC.
- 140. Hatheway, C. L. 1993. *Clostridium botulinum* and other clostridia that produce botulinum neurotoxin. p. 3-20. *In* A. W. H. Hauschild, and K. L. Dodds (eds.). *Clostridium botulinum*: Ecology and Control in Foods. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- 141. Hauschild, A. H. W. 1989. *Clostridium botulinum*, p. 111-189. *In* M. P. Doyle (ed). Foodborne Bacterial Pathogens. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York.
- 142. Hauschild, A. H. W. 1993. Epidemiology of human foodborne botulism. p. 69-104. *In* A. W. H. Hauschild, and K. L. Dodds (eds.). *Clostridium botulinum*: Ecology and Control in Foods. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- 143. Hauschild, A. H. W., B. J. Aris, and R. Hilsheimer. 1975. *Clostridium botulinum* in marinated products. Can. Inst. Food Sci. Technol. J. 8:84-87.
- 144. Hauschild, A. H. W., and R. Hilsheimer. 1977. Enumeration of *Clostridium botulinum* spores in meat by a pour-plate procedure. Can. J. Microbiol. 23:829-832.
- 145. Hauschild, A. H. W., R. Hilsheimer, K. F. Weiss, and R. B. Burker. 1988. *Clostridium botulinum* in honey, syrups and dry infant cereals. J. Food Prot. 51:892-894.

- 146. Hedberg, C. W., and M. T. Osterholm. 1993. Outbreaks of foodborne and waterborne viral gastroenteritis. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 6:199-210.
- 147. Heider, L. C., J. T. McClure, and E. R. Leger. 2001. Presumptive diagnosis of *Clostridium botulinum* type D intoxication in a herd of feedlot cattle. Can. Vet. J. 42:210-212.
- 148. Hesseltine, C. W., and R. R. Graves. 1966. Microbiology of flours. Economic Botany. 20:156-168.
- 149. Hintlian, C. B., and J. H. Hotchkiss. 1986. The safety of modified atmosphere packaging: a review, do modified atmospheres enhance pathogenesis but delay signs of spoilage? Food Technol. 40:70-76.
- 150. Hobbs, G. 1976. *Clostridium botulinum* and its importance in fishery products. Adv. Food Res. 22:135-185.
- 151. Holtman, D. B. 1935. The microbial content of soft wheat flour. J. Bacteriol. 30:359-361.
- 152. Huhtanen, C. N. 1980. Inhibition of *Clostridium botulinum* by spice extracts and aliphatic alcohols. J. Food Prot. 43:195-196.
- 153. Hussain, H., and R. S. Tabji. 1997. Antibacterial screening of some Libyan medicinal plants. 68: 467-470.
- 154. Husseman, D. L., and F. W. Tanner. 1947. Relation of certain cooking procedures to staphylococcus food poisoning. Amer. Public Health.37:1407-1414.
- 155. Huwez, F. U., D. Thirlwell, A. Cockayne, and D. A. A. Ala'Aldeen. 1998. Mastic gum kills *Helicobacter pylori*. N.E.J.M. 339:1946.
- 156. Ikawa, J. Y. 1991. *Clostridium botulinum* growth and toxigenesis in shelf-stable noodles. J. Food Sci. 56:264-265.

- 157. Infective Agents Surveillence Report (IASR) 1999. A 12-year-old case of botulism with acute flaccid paralysis, August 1999 Chiba. 20:272-273, 301-302.
- 158. Ingram, L. O. 1986. Microbial tolerance to alcohols: role of the cell membrane. Trends Biotechnol. 4:40-44.
- 159. Ingram, L. 1990. Ethanol tolerance in bacteria. Crit. Rev.Biotechnol. 9:305-319.
- 160. Ingram, L. O., and T. M. Buttke. 1984. Effects of alcohols on micro-organisms. Adv. Microbiol. Physiol. 25:253-300.
- 161. Ingram, M., and P. M. Handford. 1957. The influence of moisture and temperature on the destruction of *Cl. botulinum* in acid bread. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 29:442-453.
- 162. Inouye, S., H. Goi, K. Miyauchi, S. Muraki, M. Ogihara, and Y. Iwanami. 1983. Inhibitory effect of volatile constituents of plants on the proliferation of bacteria–Antibacterial activity of plant volatiles. J. Antibact. Antifung. Agents. 11:609-615.
- 163. Insalata, N. F., J. S. Witzeman, and J. H. Berman. 1970. The problems and results of an incidence study of the spores of *Clostridium botulinum* in convenience foods. Health Lab. Sci. 7:54-58.
- 164. International Commission for the Microbiological Specification of Foods. 1988.
   Microorganisms on foods. 4. Application of hazard analysis critical control point (HACCP) system to ensure microbiological quality. Blackwell Scientific, London.
- 165. Ismaiel, A. A., and M. D. Pierson, M.D. 1990a. Inhibition of germination, outgrowth, and vegetative growth of *Clostridium botulinum* 67B by spice oils. J. Food Prot. 53:755-758.

- 166. Ismaiel, A., and M. D. Pierson. 1990b. Inhibition of growth and germination of *Clostridium botulinum* 33A, 40A and 1623E by essential oil of spices. J. Food Sci. 55:1676-1678.
- 167. Ito, K. A., J. K. Chen, M. L. Seeger, J. A. Unverferth, and R. N. Kimball. 1978. Effect of pH on the growth of *Clostridium botulinum* in canned figs. J. Food Sci. 43:1634-1635.
- 168. luak, L., S. Ragusa, A. Rapisarda, S. Franco, and V. M. Nicolosi. 1996. *In vitro* antimicrobial activity of *Pistacia lentiscus L*. extracts: preliminary report. J. Chemother. 8:207-209.
- 169. Jager, M., and E. Lück. 1997. Carbon dioxide, p. 72-80. In Antimicrobial food additives, 2nd ed. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- 170. James, L. H., and Smith, K. N. 1948. Studies on the microflora of flour. Can. J. Research 26C:479-485.
- 171. Jenson, I. L., Baird, and J. Delves-Broughton. 1994. The use of nisin as a preservative in crumpets. J. Food Prot. 57:874-877.
- 172. Johnson, E. A., and M. Bradshaw. 2001. *Clostridium botulinum* and its neurotoxins: a metabolic and cellular perspective. Toxicon 39:1703-1722.
- 173. Johnson, H. M., K. Brenner, R. Angelotti, and H. E. Hall. 1966. Serological studies of types A, B, and E botulinum toxins by passive haemagglutination and bentonite fluctuation. J. Bacteriol. 91:964-974.
- 174. Julseth, R. M., and R. H. Deibel. 1974. Microbial profile of selected spices and herbs at import. J. Milk Food Technol. 37:414-419.
- 175. Kabara, J. J. 1991. Phenols and chelators. p. 200-214. *In* N. J. Russell, and G. W. Gould (eds.). Food Preservatives. Blackie, Glasgow.

- 176. Kadavy, J. L., and G. M. Dack. 1951. The effect of experimentally inoculating canned bread with spores of *Clostridium botulinum* and *Bacillus mesentericus*. Food Research. 16:328-337.
- 177. Kadis, V. W., D. A. Hill, and K. S. Pennifold. 1971. Bacterial content of gravy bases and gravies obtained in restaurants. Can. Inst. Food Technol. J. 4:130-132.
- 178. Kaur, P. 1986. Survival and growth of *Bacillus cereus* in bread. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 60:513-516.
- 179. Kautter, D. A., R. K. Lynt, and H. M. Solomon. 1984. *Clostridium botulinum*. FDA Bacteriological Analytical Manual, 6th ed. AOAC International, Arlington.
- 180. Kautter, D. A., R. K. Lynt, R. Lilly, Jr., and H. M. Solomon. 1981. Evaluation of the botulism hazard from nitrogen-packed sandwiches. J. Food Prot. 44:59-61.
- 181. Keltch, W. J., L. A. Kerr, J. K. Pringle, B. W. Rohrbach, and R. H. Whitlock. 2000. Fatal *Clostridium botulinum* toxicosis in eleven Holstein cattle fed round bale barley haylage. J. Vet. Diagn. Invest. 12:453-455.
- 182. Kim, J., and P. M. Foegeding. 1993a. Control of *Clostridium botulinum* in foods. p.
  121-232. *In* A. H. W. Hauschild, and K. L. Dodds (eds.). *Clostridium botulinum*;
  Ecology and control in foods, 1<sup>st</sup> edition. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- 183. Kim, J., and P. M. Foegeding. 1993b. Principles of control. p. 121-176. In A. H. W. Hauschild, and K. L. Dodds (eds.). *Clostridium botulinum*: ecology and control in foods, 1<sup>st</sup> edition. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- 184. Kim, H. U., and J. M. Goepfert. 1971. Occurrence of *Bacillus cereus* in selected dry food products. J. App. Bacteriol. 60:513-516.
- 185. King, B. D. 1981. Microbial inhibition in bakery products-a review. Baker's Digest. 10:8-11.

- 186. Kohn, S. 2000. An Update of the U.S. Baking Industry. Cereal Foods World. 45(3):94-97.
- 187. Korkeala, H., G. Stengel, E. Hyytia, B. Vogelsang, A. Bohl, H. Wihlman, P. Pakkala, and S. Hielm. 1998. Type E botulism associated with vacuum-packaged hot-smoked whitefish. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 43:1-5.
- 188. Koukoutsis, J. 2002. Novel methods to control growth of *Bacillus cereus* in English-style crumpets. M.Sc. Thesis, McGill University, Montreal, QC.
- 189. Kramer, J. M., and R. J. Gilbert. 1989. Bacillus cereus and other Bacillus species. p. 22-70. In M. P. Doyle (ed.). Foodborne Bacterial Pathogens. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- 190. Kuritsky, J. N., M. T. Osterholm, H. B. Greenberg, J. A. Korlath, J. R. Godes, C. W. Hedberg, J. C. Jorfang, A. Z. Kapikian, J. C. McCullough, and K. E. White.
  1984. Norwalk gastroenteritis: a community outbreak associated with bakery product consumption. Ann. Int. Med.100:519-521.
- 191. Labbe, R. G. 1989. *Clostridium perfringens*. p. 192-134. *In* M. P. Doyle (ed.). Foodborne Bacterial Pathogens. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- 192. Lacy, D. B., W. Tepp, A. C. Cohen, B. R. DasGupta, and R. C. Stevens. 1998. Crystal structure of botulinum neurotoxin type A and implications for toxicity. Nature Struct. Biol. 5:898-902.
- 193. Lambert, A. D., J. P. Smith, and K. L. Dodds. 1991a. Effect of initial O<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> and low-dose irradiation on toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in MAP fresh pork. J. Food Prot. 54:939-944.
- 194. Lambert, A. D., J. P. Smith, and K. L. Dodds. 1991b. Effect of headspace CO<sub>2</sub> concentration on toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in MAP, irradiated fresh pork. J. Food Prot. 54:588-592.

- 195. Lawlor, K. A., M. D. Pierson, C. R. Hackney, J. R. Claus, and J. E. Marcy. 2000. Nonproteolytic *Clostridium botulinum* toxigenesis in cooked turkey stored under modified atmospheres. J. Food Prot. 63:1511-1516.
- 196. Lee, H. W. 1988. *Bacillus cereus* food poisoning associated with crumpets. Abstracts, 6th Australian Food Microbiologists Conference, September 4-7th, Surfers Paradise, Queensland, Australia.
- 197. Legan, J. D., and P. A. Voysey. 1991. Yeast spoilage of bakery products and ingredients. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 70:361-371.
- 198. Leirci, C. R., M. C. Nicoli, and L. Manzocco. 1996. Influence of water activity on ethanol vapour pressure in food model systems. Industrie Alimentari. 35:13-16, 23.
- 199. Leistner, L. 1994. Principles and applications of hurdle technology, p. 1-21. In G.W. Gould (ed.). New methods of food preservation. Blackie Academic and Professional. Glasgow. U.K.
- 200. Leistner, L. 2000. Basic aspects of food preservation by hurdle technology. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 55:181-186.
- 201. Linnan, M. J., L. Mascola, X. D. Lou, V. Goulte, S. May, C. Salminen, D. W. Hird, M. L. Yonekura, P. Hayes, R. Weaver, A. Audurier, B. D. Plikaytis, S. L. Fannin, A. Kleks, and C. V. Broome. 1988. Epidemic listeriosis associated with Mexican-style cheese. N.E.J.M. 319:823-828.
- 202. Lioutas, T. S. 1988. Challenges of controlled and modified atmosphere packaging: a food company's perspective. Food Technol. 42:78-86.
- 203. Liu, J. N. 2000. Formulation, shelf-life and safety studies on value-added trout products packaged under modified atmospheres. M.Sc. Thesis, McGill University, Montreal, QC.

- 204. Logan, B. K., and S. Distefano. 1998. Ethanol content of various foods and soft drinks and their potential for interference with a breath-alcohol test. J. Anal. Toxicol. 22:181-183.
- 205. Lombard, G. E., I. A. G. Weinert, A. Minnaar, and J. R. N. Taylor. 2000. Preservation of South African steamed bread using hurdle technology. Lebensm.-Wiss.u-Technol. 33:138-143.
- 206. Lovett, J., and R. M. Twetd. 1988. Listeria. J. Food Technol. 42(4):188-191.
- 207. Lücke, E., and M. Jager. 1997. Ethanol. p. 120-124. In Antimicrobial Food Additives. Characteristics, Uses, Effects. 2nd. edition. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- 208. Lund, B. M. 1990. Foodborne disease due to *Bacillus* and *Clostridium* species. Lancet. 336:982-986.
- 209. Lund, B. M., S. M. George, and J. G. Franklin. 1987. Inhibition of type A and type B (proteolytic) *Clostridium botulinum* by sorbic acid. App. Env. Microbiol. 53:935-941.
- 210. Lund, B. M., A. F. Graham, and S. M. George. 1988. Growth and formation of toxin by *Clostridium botulinum* in peeled, inoculated, vacuum-packed potatoes after a double pasteurization and storage at 25°C. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 64:241-246.
- 211. Lynt, R. K., D. I. Kautter, and H. M. Solomon. 1982. Differences and similarities among proteolytic and nonproteolytic strains for *Clostridium botulinum* types A, B, E and F: a review. J. Food Prot. 45:466-474.
- 212. Lyver, A., J. P. Smith, J. W. Austin, and B. Blanchfield. 1998. Challenge and safety studies with *Clostridium botulinum* in a value-added seafood product packaged under a modified atmosphere. J. Food Safety 18:1-23.

- 213. Lyver, A., J. P. Smith, J. W. Austin, and B. Blanchfield. 1999. Inhibition of *Clostridium botulinum* type E in a value-added seafood product packaged under a modified atmosphere. Food Res. Int. 31:311-319.
- 214. Lyytikäinen, O., T. Autio, R. Maijala, P. Ruutu, T. Honkanen-Buzalski, M. Miettinen, M. Hatakka, J. Mikkola, V. Anttila, T. Johansson, L. Rantala, T. Aalto, H. Korkeala, and A. Siitonen. 2000. An outbreak of *Listeria monocytogenes* serotype 3A infections from butter in Finland. J. Infect. Dis.181:1838-1841.
- 215. MacDonald, K. L., R. F. Spengler, C. L. Hatheway, N. T. Hargrett, and L. Mitchell. 1985. Type A botulism from sautéed onions. J. Amer. Med. Assoc. 253:1275-1278.
- 216. Magiatis, P., E. Mellious, A.-L. Skaltsounis, I. B. Chinou, and S. Mitaku. 1999. Chemical composition and antimicrobial activity of the essential oils of *Pistacia lentiscus* var. *chia.* Planta Med. 65:749-752.
- 217. Malloy, C. D., and J. S. Marr. 1997. Mycotoxins and public health: a review. J. Pub. Health Management Prac. 3:61-69.
- 218. Mann, C. M., and J. L. Markham. 1998. A new method for determining the minimum inhibitory concentration of essential oils. J. Appl. Microbiol. 84:538-544.
- 219. Marston, P. E., and T. L. Wannan. 1976. Bread baking: the transformation from dough to bread. Baker's Digest. 50:24-28, 49.
- 220. Martinez-Anaya, M. A., B. Pitarch, P. Bayarri, and C. Benedito de Barber. 1990. Microflora of the sourdoughs of wheat flour bread x interactions between yeasts and lactic acid bacteria in wheat doughs and their effects on bread guality. Cereal Chem. 67:85-91.
- 221. Mälkki, Y., and O. Rauha. 1978. Mold inhibition by aerosols. Baker's Digest. 52:47-50.

- 222. McClane, B. A. 1997. *Clostridium perfringens.* p. 305-325. *In* M. P. Doyle, L. R. Beuchat, and T. J. Montville (eds.). Food Microbiology–Fundamentals and Frontiers. ASM Press, Washington.
- 223. McClure, F. D. 1990. Design and analysis of qualitative collaborative studies: minimum collaborative program. J. Assoc. of. Anal. Chem. 73:953-960.
- 224. McKinley, T. W., and E. J. Clarke, Jr. 1964. Imitation cream filling as a vehicle of staphylococcal food poisoning, J. Milk Food Technol. 27:302-304.
- 225. McMeekin, T. A., K. Presser, D. Ratkowsky, T. Ross, M. Salter, and S. Tienungoon. 2000. Quantifying the hurdle concept by modelling the bacterial growth/ no growth interface. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 55:93-98.
- 226. Mead, P. S., L. Slutsker, V. Dietz, L. F. McCaig, J. S. Bresee, C. Shapiro, P. M. Griffin, and R. V. Tauze. 1999. Food-related illness and death in the United States. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 5:607-625.
- 227. Megalla, S. E., N. E. M. Tel-Keltawi, and S. A. Ross. 1990. A study of antimicrobial action of some essential oil constituents. Herba Polonica 26:181-186.
- 228. Meng, X., T. Karasawa, K. Zou, X. Kuang, X. Wang, C. Lu, C. Wang, K. Yamakawa, and S. Nakamura. 1997. Characterization of a neurotoxigenic *Clostridium butyricum* strain isolated from the food implicated in an outbreak of foodborne type E botulism, J. Clin. Microbiol. 35:2160-2162.
- 229. Miller, A. J., J. E. Call, and R. C. Whiting. 1993. Comparison of organic acid salts for *Clostridium botulinum* control in an uncured turkey product. J. Food Prot. 56:958-962.
- 230. Mills, D. C., and F. M. Thaddeus, and S. S. Arnon. 1985. Improved selective medium for the isolation of lipase-positive *Clostridium botulinum* from feces of human infants. J. Clin. Microbiol. 21:947-950.

- 231. Modi, N. K., C. C. Shone, P. Hambleton, and J. Melling. 1988. Amplification systems in ELISA: use of NAD recycling system in the immunoassay of *Clostridium botulinum* toxins types A and B in food. p. 325-332. *In* B. A. Morris, M. N. Clifford, and R. Jackman (eds.). Immunoassays for veterinary and food analysis. Elsevier Applied Science, London.
- 232. Money, R. W., and R. Born. 1951. Equilibrium humidity of sugar solutions. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2:180-185.
- 233. Montville, T. J. 1982. Metabiotic effect of *Bacillus licheniformis* on *Clostridium botulinum*: implications for home-canned tomatoes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 44:334-338.
- 234. Montville, T. J. 1983. Interaction of pH and NaCl on culture density of *Clostridium botulinum* 62A. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 46:961-963.
- 235. Morse, D. L., L. K. Pickard, J. J. Guzewich, B. D. Devine, and M. Shayegani. 1990. Garlic-in-oil associated botulism: Episode leads to product modification. Amer. J. Pub. Health. 80:1372-1373.
- 236. Notermans S., J. Dufrenne, and M. van Schothorst. 1978. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for detection of *Clostridium botulinum* type A. Jap. J. Med. Sci. Biol. 31:81-85.
- 237. Notermans, S. H. W. 1993. Control in fruits and vegetables. p. 233-260. *In* A. H.
  W. Hauschild, and K. L. Dodds (eds.). *Clostridium botulinum*: Ecology and Control in Foods, 1<sup>st</sup> edition. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- 238. Notermans, S., R. Beumer, and F. Rombouts. 1997. Detecting foodborne pathogens and their toxins. Conventional versus rapid and automated methods. p. 697-709. In M. P. Doyle, L. R. Beuchat, and T. J. Montville (eds.). Food Microbiology–Fundamentals and Frontiers, 1<sup>st</sup>. edition. ASM Press, Washington.

- Notermans, S., J. Dufrenne, and M. J. Keibets. 1981a. Vacuum-packed cooked potatoes: toxin production of *Clostridium botulinum* and shelf life. J. Food Prot. 44:572-575.
- 240. Notermans, S., J. Dufrenne, and J. Oosterom. 1981b. Persistence of *Clostridium botulinum* type B on a cattle farm after an outbreak of botulism. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 41:179-183.
- 241. Notermans, S., S. Kozaki, Y. Kamato, and S. Sakaguchi. 1984. Use of monoclonal antibodies in enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for detection of botulinum type B toxins. Jpn. J. Med. Sci. Biol. 37:137-140.
- 242. Notermans, S., and J. Nagel. 1989. Assays for botulinum and tetanus toxins. p. 319-331. *In* L. L. Simpson (ed.). Botulinum neurotoxin and tetanus toxin. Academic Press, New York.
- 243. Nychas, G. J. E. 1995. Natural antimicrobials from plants. p. 58-89. *In* G. W. Gould (ed.). New methods of food preservation. Blackie, London.
- 244. O'Leary, D. K., and R. D. Kralovec. 1941. Development of *Bacillus mesentericus* in bread and control with calcium acid phosphate or calcium propionate. Cereal Chem. 18:730-741.
- 245. O'Mahony, M., E. Mitchell, R. J. Gilbert, D. N. Hutchinson, N. T. Begg, J. C. Rodhouse, and J. E. Morris. 1990. An outbreak of foodborne botulism associated with contaminated hazelnut yoghourt. Epidemical. Infect. 104:389-395.
- 246. Oblinger, J. L. 1988. Bacteria associated with foodborne diseases. Food Technol. 42:181-200.
- 247. Odlaug, T. E., and I. J. Pflug. 1979. *Clostridium botulinum* growth and toxin production in tomato juice containing *Aspergillus gracilis*. Appl. Environ. 37:496-504.

- 248. Okereke, A., and T. J. Montville. 1991. Bacteriocin inhibition of *Clostridium botulinum* spores by lactic acid bacteria. J. Food Prot. 54:349-353.
- 249. Ombui, J. N., M. M. Kagiko, and S. M. Arimi. 2001. Foodborne diseases in Kenya. East Afr. Med. J. 78:40-44.
- 250. Ooraikul, B. 1982. Gas packaging for a bakery product. Can. Inst. Food Sci. Technol. J. 15:313-315.
- 251. Ooraikul, B. 1991. Modified atmosphere packaging of food. p. 49-117. Ellis Horwood, New York.
- 252. Papageorgiou, V. P., M. N. B. Bakola-Christianopoulou, K. K. Apazidou, and E. E. Psarros. 1997. Gas chromatographic-mass spectroscopic analysis of the acidic triterpenic fraction of mastic gum. J. Chromatograph. 769:263-273.
- 253. Parekh, K. G., and Solberg, M. 1970. Comparative growth of *Clostridium perfringens* in carbon dioxide and nitrogen atmospheres. J. Food Sci. 35:156-159.
- 254. Parry, R.T. (ed.). 1993. p. 1-18. *In* Principles and applications of modified atmosphere packaging of food. Blackie Academic & Professional (Chapman & Hall), Bishopbriggs, Glasgow.
- 255. Paster, N. B., J. Juven, E. Shaaya, M. Menasherov, R. Nitzan, H. Weisslowicz, and U. Ravid. 1990. Inhibitory effect of oregano and thyme essential oils on moulds and foodborne bacteria. Let. App. Microbiol. 11:33-37.

256. Peck, W. M. 2002. Clostridia and food-borne disease. Microbiol. Today. 29:9-12.

257. Pflung, I. J., T. E. Odlaug, and R. Christensen. 1985. Computing a minimum public health sterilizing value for food with pH values from 4.6 to 6.0. J. Food Prot. 48:848-850.

- 258. Piergiovanni, L., and P. Fava. 1997. Minimizing the residual oxygen in modified atmosphere packaging of bakery products. Food Addit. Contamin. 14:765-773.
- 259. Pinegar, J. A., and J. D. Buxton. 1977. An investigation of the bacteriological quality of retail vanilla slices. J. Hyg. 78:387-394.
- 260. Pivnick, H. 1980. Spices. p. 730-751. In International Commission on Microbiological Specifications for Foods. Microbial Ecology of Foods, Food Commodities, volume 2. Academic Press, New York.
- 261. Potter, M. D., J. Meng, P. and Kimsey. 1993. An ELISA for detection of botulinal toxin types A, B, and E in inoculated food samples. J. Food Prot. 56:856-861.
- 262. Potter, M. E., S. G. Ayala, and N. Silarug. 1997. Epidemiology of foodborne diseases. p. 376-390. In M. P. Doyle, L. R. Beuchat, and T. J. Montville (eds.). Food Microbiology - Fundamentals and Frontiers, ASM Press, Washington.
- 263. Powers, E. M., and D. Berkowitz. 1990. Efficacy of an oxygen scavenger to modify the atmosphere and prevent mold growth on meal, ready-to-eat pouched bread. J. Food Prot. 53:767-771.
- 264. Powers, E. M., T. G. Latt, and T. Brown. 1976. Incidence and levels of *Bacillus cereus* in processed spices. J. Milk Food Technol. 39:668-670.
- 265. Powers, E. M., D. T. Munsey, C. Hernandez, N. G. McCormick, L. Hallberg, and G. J. Silverman. 1988. Studies of tray pack coffee cakes and spice cakes adjusted to water activities 0.86 to 0.93 and inoculated with *Clostridium botulinum*. Technical Report, Natick/TR-88/056. United States Army Natick RD&E Center, Natick, MA.
- 266. Pusztai, A., and S. Bardocz. 1996. Biological effects of plant lectins on the gastrointestinal tract: metabolic consequences and applications. Trends Glycosci. Glycotechnol. 8:149-465.

- 267. Ramaswamy, H. S., and K. Abdelrahim. 1991. Thermal processing and computer modelling. p. 2538-2552. In Encyclopedia of food science and technology. VCH Publishers Inc., Cuttern, CA.
- 268. Reddy, N. R., M. G. Rjoman, M. Villanueva, H. M. Solomon, D. A. Kautter, and E. J. Rhodehamel. 1997. Shelf life and *Clostridium botulinum* toxin development during storage of modified atmosphere-packaged fresh catfish fillets. J. Food Sci. 62:878-884.
- 269. Report on Vacuum Packaging and Associated Processes. 1992. p. 1-69. Advisory Committee on the Microbiological Safety of Food. HMSO Publications, London.
- 270. Reynolds, E.S. 1963. The use of lead citrate as high pH as an electron-opaque stain in electron microscopy. J. Cell Biol. 17:208-212.
- 271. Richter, K.S., G. L. Weaver, E. Dorneanu, and A. E. Cagampang. 1991. Survival of *Listeria monocytogenes* in cake and straight grade flour heat and non-heat processed. Cereal Foods World. 36:729.
- 272. Rodriguez A., and M. Dezfulian. 1997. Rapid identification of *Clostridium botulinum* and botulinal toxin in food. Folia Microbiol. 42:149-151.
- 273. Rogers, R. F., and C. W. Hesseltine. 1978 Microflora of wheat and wheat flour from six areas of the United States. Cereal Chem. 55:889-898.
- 274. Rojas, A., L. Hernandez, R. Pereda-Miranda, R. Mata. 1992. Screening for antimicrobial activity of crude drug extracts and pure natural products from Mexican medicinal plants. J. Ethnopharm. 35:275-283.
- 275. Roman, M. G., J. Y. Humber, P. A. Hall, N. Rukma, H. M. Solomon, M. X. Triscott, G. A. Beard, J. D. Bottoms, T. Cheng, and G. J. Doellgast. 1994. Amplified immunoassay ELISA-ELCA for measuring *Clostridium botulinum* type E neurotoxin in fish fillets. J. Food Prot. 57:985-990.

- 276. Rosenkvist, H., and Å. Hansen. 1995. Contamination profiles and characterization of *Bacillus* species in wheat bread and raw materials for bread production. Int.
  J. Food Microbiol. 26:353-363.
- 277. Rosenkvist, H., and Å. Hansen. 1998. The antimicrobial effect of organic acids, sour dough and nisin against *Bacillus subtilis* and *Bacillus licheniformis* isolated from wheat bread. J. Appl. Microbiol. 85: 621-631.
- 278. Ross, K.D. 1975. Estimation of water activity in intermediate moisture foods. Food Technol. 29:26-34.
- 279. Sarais, I., D. Piussi, V. Aquili, and M. L. Stecchini. 1996. The behavior of yeast populations in stracchino cheese packaged under various conditions. J. Food Prot. 59:541-544.
- 280. Salminen, A., K. Latva-Kala, K. Randell, E. Hurme, P. Linkot, and R. Ahvenainen. 1996. The effect of ethanol and oxygen absorption on the shelf-life of packed sliced rye bread. Packaging Technol. & Sci. 9:29-42.
- 281. Sandler, R. H., S. M. Finegold, E. R. Bolte, C. P. Buchanan, A. P. Maxwell, M.-L. Vaisanen, M. N. Nelson, and H. Wexler. 2000. Short-term benefit from oral vancomycin treatment of regressive-onset autism. J. Child Neurol. 15:429-435.
- 282. Schiavo, G., M. Matteoli, and C. Montecucco. 2000. Neurotoxins affecting neuroexocytosis. Physiol Rev. 80:717-766.
- 283. Schiavo, G., O. Rossetto, F. Benfenati, B. Poulain, and C. Montecucco. 1992. Tetanus and botulinum B neurotoxins block transmitter release by proteolytic cleavage of synaptobrevin. Nature. 359:832-835.
- 284. Schiavo, G., A. Santucci, B. R. DasGupta, P. P. Mehta, J. Jontes, F. Benfenati, M. C. Wilson, and C. Montecucco. 1993. Botulinum neurotoxin serotypes A and E cleave SNAP-25 at distinct COOH-terminal peptide bonds. FEBS Letters. 335:99-103.

- 285. Schmidt, D., and S. C. Ridley. 1985. Microbiological and sensory characteristics of a home-style confectionary product prepared with cream cheese. J. Food Qual. 7:283-288.
- 286. Schocken-Iturrino, R. P., M. C. Carneiro, E. Kato, J. O. B. Sorbara, O. D. Rossi, and L. E. R. Gerbasi. 1999. Study of the presence of the spores of *Clostridium botulinum* in honey in Brazil. FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 24:379-382.
- 287. Seiler, D. A. L. 1968. Prolonging the shelf life of cake. Brit. Baker. 156:25-26, 60-62.
- 288. Seiler, D. A. L. 1978. The microbiology of cake and its ingredients. Food Trade Rev. 48:339-344.
- 289. Seiler, D. A .L. 1988. Microbiological problems associated with cereal based foods. Food Sci. Technol. Today 2:37-41.
- 290. Seiler, D. A. L. 1989. Modified atmosphere packaging of bakery products. p. 119-133. In A.L. Brody (ed.), Controlled/modified atmosphere/vacuum packaging of foods. Food & Nutrition Press, Inc. Trumbull, Connecticut.
- 291. Seiler, D. A. L., and N. J. Russell. 1991 Ethanol as a food preservative. p. 153-171. *In* N. J. Russell, and G. W. Gould (ed.), Food preservatives. Blackie, London, U.K.
- 292. Shapero, M., D. A. Nelson, and T. P. Labuza. 1978. Ethanol inhibition of *Staphylococcus aureus* at limited water activity. J. Food Sci. 43:1467-1469.

293. Shelef, L. A. 1983. Anti-microbial effects of spices. J. Food Safety. 6:29-44.

294. Siarakas, S., A. J. Brown, and W. G. Murrell. 1999. Immunological evidence for a bacterial toxin aetiology in sudden death syndrome. FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 25:37-50.

- 295. Siegel, L. S., and J. F. Metzger. 1979. Toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* type A under various fermentation conditions. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 38:606-611.
- 296. Siegel, L. S., and J. F. Metzger. 1980. Effect of fermentation conditions on toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* type B. Appl. Env. Microbiol. 40:1023-1026.
- 297. Silliker, J. H., and S. A. McHugh. 1967. Factors influencing microbiological stability of butter-cream-type filling. Cereal Sci. Today. 12:63-65, 73-74.
- 298. Simpson, M. V. 1993. Shelf-life and microbiological safety studies on minimally processed refrigerated sous-vide products. Ph.D. Thesis, McGill University, Montreal, QC.
- 299. Skovholt, O., and C. H. Bailey. 1933. The influence of humidity and carbon dioxide upon the development of molds on bread. Cereal Chem. 10:446-451.
- 300. Smith, J. P. 1982. Ph. D. Thesis. University of Alberta. Edmonton, Alberta.
- 301. Smith, J. P. 1992. Bakery products. p. 134-169. *In* R.T. Parry (ed.), Principles and applications of modified atmosphere packaging of food. Blackie Academic and Professional, London, U.K.
- 302. Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, W. El-Khoury, and J. Koukoutsis. 2002a. Foodborne illnesses associated with bakery products. American Institute of Baking, Technical Bulletin. XXIV(4).
- 303. Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, W. El-Khoury, J. Koukoutsis, and El-Khoury, A. 2002b. Shelf life and safety concerns of minimally processed bakery products - a review. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nut. (in press).
- 304. Smith, J. P., E. D. Jackson, and B. Ooraikul. 1983. Microbiological studies on gas-packaged crumpets. J. Food Prot. 46:279-283.

- 305. Smith, J. P., S. Khanizadeh, F. R. van de Voort, R. Hardin, B. Ooraikul, and E. D. Jackson. 1988. Use of response surface methodology in shelf-life extension studies of a bakery product. Food Microbiol. 5:163-176.
- 306. Smith, J. P., B. Ooraikul, W. J. Koersen, E. D. Jackson, and R. A. Lawrence. 1986. Novel approach to oxygen control in modified atmosphere packaging of bakery products. Food Microbiol. 3:315-320.
- 307. Smith, J.P., B. Ooraikul, W.J. Koersen, F.R. van de Voort, E.D. Jackson, and R.A. Lawrence. 1987. Shelf life extension of a bakery product using ethanol vapor. Food Microbiol. 4:329-337.
- 308. Smith, J. P., H. S. Ramaswamy, and B. K. Simpson. 1990. Developments in food packaging technology. Part II: Storage aspects. Trends in Food Sci. and Technol. 1:111-118.
- 309. Smith, J. P., and B. K. Simpson. 1995. Modified atmosphere packaging of bakery and pasta products. p. 207-242. In K. L. Dodds, and J. Farber, (eds.). Principles of modified atmosphere and sous-vide product packaging. Technomic Publishing Co. Inc., Lancaster, PA.
- Smith, J. P., and B. K. Simpson. 1996. Modified atmosphere packaging. p.
   205-237. In R. E. Hebeda, H. F. Zobel (eds.). Baked Goods Freshness, 1<sup>st</sup> edition. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- 311. Smoot, L. A., and M. D. Pierson. 1981. Mechanisms of sorbate inhibition of Bacillus cereus T and Clostridium botulinum 62A spore germination. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 42:477-483.
- 312. Snyder, O. P. Jr. 1996. Redox potential in deli foods: botulism risk? Dairy, Food Env. San. 16:546-548.
- 313. Sockett, P. N., J. M. Dowden, S. LeBaigue, D. Ross, G. K. Adak, and H. Evans.
  1993. Foodborne disease survey in England and Wales 1989-1991. Commun.
  Dis. Rep., 3:R164-R173.

- 314. Sofos, J. N., J. F. Busta, and C. E. Allen. 1979. Sodium nitrite and sorbic acid effects on *Clostridium botulinum* spore germination and total microbial growth in chicken frankfurter emulsions during temperature abuse. App. Env. Microbiol. 37:1103-1109
- 315. Solomon, H. M., and D. A. Kautter, D.A. 1986. Growth and toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in sautéed onions. J. Food Prot. 49:618-620.
- 316. Solomon, H. M., and D. A. Kautter. 1988. Outgrowth and toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in bottled chopped garlic. J. Food Prot. 51:862-865.
- 317. Solomon, H. M., E. J. Rhodehamel, and D. A. Kautter. 1998. Growth and toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* on sliced raw potatoes in a modified atmosphere, with and without sulfite. J. Food Prot. 61:126-128.
- 318. Soloski, T., and J. Cryns. 1950. Practical and theoretical considerations in the manufacture of canned bread. American Association of Cereal Chemists 8:107-112.
- 319. Squarcione S., A. Prete, L. Vellucci. 1999. Botulism surveillance in Italy: 1992-1996. Eur. J. Epidemiol. 15:917-922.
- 320. St. Louis, M. E., H. S. Shaun, M. B. Peck, D. Bowering, G. B. Morgan, J. Blatherwick, S. Banerjee, G. D. M. Kettyls, W. A. Black, M. E. Milling, A. H. W. Hauschild, R. V. Tauxe, and P. A. Blake. 1988. Botulism from chopped garlic: delayed recognition of a major outbreak. Ann. Intern. Med. 108:363-368.
- 321. Steel, R. D., and J. H. Torrie. 1980. Principles and procedures of statistics: a biometrical approach, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. McGraw Hill, Inc., New York.
- 322. Sugihara, T. F. 1977. Non traditional fermentations in the production of baked goods. Baker's Digest. 51:76, 78, 80, 142.
- 323. Sugiyama, H. 1980. Clostridium botulinum neurotoxin. Microbiol. Rev. 44:419-448.

- 324. Sugiyama, H., M. Woodburn, K. H. Yang, and C. Movroydis. 1981. Production of botulinum toxin in inoculated pack studies of foil-wrapped baked potatoes. J. Food Prot. 44:896-898.
- 325. Sumner, S. S., J. A. Albrecht, and D. L. Peters. 1993. Occurrence of enterotoxigenic strains of *Staphylococcus aureus* and enterotoxin production in bakery products. J. Food Prot. 56:722-724.
- 326. Szabo, E. A., J. M. Pemberton, A. M. Gibson, M. J. Eyles, and P. M. Desmarchelier. 1994. Polymerase chain reaction for detection of *Clostridium botulinum* types A, B and E in food, soil and infant faeces. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 76:539-545.
- 327. Szilagyi M., V. Rivera, D. Neal, G. Merrill, and M. Poli. 1999. Development of sensitive colorimetric capture ELISAs for *Clostridium botulinum* neurotoxin serotypes A and B. Toxicon. 38:381-389.
- 328. Tassou, C. C., and Nychas, G. J. E. 1995. Antimicrobial activity of the essential oil of mastic gum (*Pistacia lentiscus* var. *chia*) on gram positive and gram negative bacteria in broth and in model food system. Int. Biodeter. Biodegrad. 36:411-420.
- 329. te Giffel, M. C., R. R. Beumer, S. Leijendekkers, and F. M. Rombouts. 1996. Incidence of *Bacillus cereus* and *Bacillus subtilis* in foods in the Netherlands. Food Microbiol. 13:53-58.
- 330. Thatcher, F. S., C. Coutu, and F. Stevens. 1953. The sanitation of Canadian flour mills and its relationship to the microbial content of flour. Cereal Chemistry 30:71-102.
- 331. Ting, E. W. T., and K. E. Deibel. 1992. Sensitivity of *Listeria monocytogenes* to spices at two temperatures. J. Food Safety. 12:129-137.
- 332. Todd, E. C. D. 1982. Foodborne and waterborne disease in Canada–1977. Annual summary. J. Food Prot. 45:865-873.

- 333. Todd, E. C. D. 1996. Worldwide surveillance of foodborne disease: the need to improve. J. Food Prot. 59:82-92.
- 334. Todd, E. C. D., G. A. Jarvis, K. F. Weiss, and G. W. Riedel. 1983. Microbiological quality of frozen cream-type pies sold in Canada. J. Food Prot. 46:34-40.
- 335. Townes, J. M., P. R. Cieslak, C. L. Hatheway, H. M. Solomon, I. T. Holloway, M. P. Baker, C. F. Keller, L. M. McCroskey, and P. M. Griffin. 1996. An outbreak of type A botulism associated with a commercial cheese sauce. Ann. Intern. Med. 125:558-563.
- 336. Tranter, H.S. 1990. Foodborne staphylococcal illness. Lancet. 336:1044-1046.
- 337. Trujillo, R. and N. Laible. 1970. Reversible inhibition of spore germination by alcohols. Appl. Microbiol. 20:620-623.
- 338. Ulrich, J. A., and H. O. Halvorson. 1949. The possibilities of the growth of Clostridium botulinum in canned bread. Ann. Rep. The Hormel Institute of the University of Minnesota. 1948-1949:45-50.
- 339. Ultee, A., E. P. Kets, M. Alberda, F. A. Hoekstra, and E. J. Smid. 2000. Adaptation of the food-borne pathogen *Bacillus cereus* to carvacrol. Archives Microbiol. 174:233-238.
- 340. Ultee, A., E. P. Kets, and E. J. Smid. 1999. Mechanisms of action of carvacrol on the food-borne pathogen *Bacillus cereus*. Appl. Env.Microbiol. 65:4606-4610.
- 341. Vermilyea, B. L., H. W. Walker, and J. C. Ayres. 1968. Detection of botulinal toxins by immunodiffusion. Appl. Microbiol. 16:21-24.
- 342. Voet, D., and J. Voet. 1990. Introduction to metabolism. p. 394-424. *In* Biochemistry. John Wiley and Sons, New York.

- 343. Vora, M., and J. Sidhu. 1987. Effects of varying concentrations of ethyl alcohol and carbon dioxide on shelf life of bread. Food Chem. Microbiol. Technol. 1:56-59.
- 344. Wagenaar, R. O., and G. M. Dack. 1954. Further studies on the effect of experimentally inoculating canned bread with spores of *Clostridium botulinum*. Food Res. 19:521-529.
- 345. Wagenaar, R. O., and G. M. Dack. 1959. Studies on canned chocolate nut roll experimentally inoculated with spores of *Clostridium botulinum* types A and B. Food Res. 24:646-653.
- 346. Wagenaar, R. O., and G. M. Dack. 1960. Studies on canned chocolate nut roll experimentally inoculated with spores of *Clostridium botulinum* types A and B. Food Res. 25:646-653.
- 347. Walker, G. M. 1998. Yeast physiology and biotechnology. John Wiley and Sons, Toronto.
- 348. Weckel, K. G., R. Hawley., and E. McCoy. 1964. Translocation and equilibration of moisture in canned frozen bread. Food Technol. 18:234-236.
- 349. Weidenborner, M., C. Wiezorek, S. Appel, and B. Kunz. 2000. Whole wheat and white wheat flour-the mycobiota and potential mycotoxins. Food Microbiol. 17:103-107.
- 350. Weltman, A. C., N. M. Bennett, D. A. Ackman, J. H. Misage, J. J. Campana, L. S. Fine, A. S. Doniger, G. J. Balzano, and G. S. Birkhead. 1996. An outbreak of hepatitis A associated with a bakery, New York, 1994: the 1968 West Branch Michigan Outbreak Repeated. Epidemiol.Infect. 117:333-341.
- 351. Wentz, M. W., R. A. Scott, and J. W. Vennes. 1967. *Clostridium botulinum* type F: seasonal inhibition by *Bacillus licheniformis*. Science. 155:89-90.

- 352. Whiting, R. C. 1995. Microbial modeling in foods. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr. 35:467-494.
- 353. Whiting, R. C., and J. E. Call. 1993. Time of growth model for proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum.* Food Microbiol. 10:295-301.
- 354. Whiting, R. C., and K. A. Naftulin. 1992. Effect of headspace oxygen concentration on growth and toxin production by proteolytic strains of *Clostridium botulinum*. J. Food Prot. 55:23-27.
- 355. Whiting, R. C., and J. C. Oriente. 1997. Time-to-turbidity model for non-proteolytic type B *Clostidium botulinum*. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 35:49-60.
- 356. Wictome, M., K. A. Newton, K. Jameson, P. Dunnigan, S. Clarke, J. Gaze, A. Tauk, K. A. Foster, C. C. Shone. 1999a. Development of *in vitro* assays for the detection of botulinum toxins in foods. FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 24:319-323.
- 357. Witcome, M., K. Newton, K. Jameson, B. Hallis, P. Dunnigan, E. Mackay, S. Clarke, R. Taylor, P. Gaze, K. Foster, and C. Shone. 1999b. Development of an *in vitro* bioassay for *Clostridium botulinum* type B neurotoxin in food that is more sensitive than the mouse bioassay. Appl. Env. Microbiol. 65:3787-3792.
- 358. Witty, H., and E. Schneider Colchie. 1979. p. 112-113. Better than store-bought. Harper and Row Publishers, New York
- 359. Wu, H. C., Y. L. Huang, S. C. Lai, Y. Y. Huang, and M. F. Shaio. 2001. Detection of *Clostridium botulinum* neurotoxin type A using immuno-PCR. Letters Appl. Microbiol. 32:3221-325.
- 360. Wyllie, S. G., J. J. Brophy, V. Sarafis, and M. Hobbs. 1990. Volatile components of the fruit of *Pistacia lentiscus*. J. Food Sci. 55:1325-1326.
- 361. Yamamoto, Y., K. Higashi, and H. Yoshi. 1984. Inhibitory activity of ethanol on food spoilage bacteria. (Studies on growth inhibition of food spoilage

microorganisms for low salt foods. Part II). Nippon Shokuhin Kogyo Gakkaishi. 31:531-535.

- 362. Yamasaki, S., T. Binz, T. Hayashi, E. Szabo, N. Yamasaki, M. Eklund, R. Jahn, and H. Niemann. 1994. Botulinum neurotoxin type G proteolyses the Ala81-Ala81 bond of rat synaptobrevin 2. Biochem. Biphys. Res. Commun. 200:829-835.
- 363. Young, L. L., R. D. Reviere, and A. B. Cole. 1988. Fresh red meats: a place to apply modified atmospheres. Food Technol. 42:65-69.
- 364. Yun, K. W., B. S. Kil, and D. M. Han.1993. Phytotoxic and antimicrobial activity of volatile constituents of *Artemisia princeps* var. *orientalis*. J. Chem. Ecol.19:2757-2766.

## APPENDIX A. COMPARISON OF TWO SELECTIVE MEDIA FOR ENUMERA-TION OF *C. BOTULINUM* IN CHALLENGE STUDIES

## **I. INTRODUCTION**

The growth of *Clostridium botulinum* in food products is hazardous since ingestion of food in which this pathogen has grown and produced potent botulinum neurotoxin (BoNT) can result in fatal botulism. Recently, minimally processed bakery products inoculated with spores of proteolytic *C. botulinum* (types A and proteolytic B) and packaged in air or under modified atmospheres in high gas barrier bags, were shown to support growth and neurotoxin production within four to six days at ambient storage temperature (Daifas et al., 1999a, b).

In foods such as bakery products that have the potential to support growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*, selective agars may be useful for isolating this pathogen from food samples. Selective and differential media commonly used for the isolation of *C. botulinum* include *Clostridium botulinum* isolation (CBI) agar (Dezfulian et al., 1981) and botulinum selective medium (BSM) (Mills et al., 1985). While both media contain identical antibiotics for the selection of *C. botulinum*, BSM also contains thymidine phosphorylase which reportedly results in an enhanced antibiotic effect and decreased "background" micro-flora with clinical samples (Mills et al., 1985). However, few studies have evaluated these media for either isolation of

A-1
*C. botulinum* from foods or for monitoring its growth by plate counts in challenge studies.

Therefore, the objectives of this study were to compare BSM and CBI agar for the recovery and enumeration of *C. botulinum* from crumpets challenged with proteolytic strains of *C. botulinum*.

#### **II. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 1. Preparation of media

Three media were used in this study, *Clostridium botulinum* isolation (CBI) agar, botulinum selective medium (BSM) and modified McClung Toabe (MMT) agar. CBI agar (Dezfulian et al., 1981) was prepared using McClung Toabe agar (Difco; Becton-Dickinson; Sparks, MD), 0.5% yeast extract (Difco), 5% egg yolk and 2.5% cycloserine, 0.4% sulfamethoxazole, and 0.4% trimethoprim. BSM (Mills et al., 1985) was prepared from Brain Heart Infusion (Difco), Bacto-agar (Difco), 1.5% egg-yolk (Austin and Blanchfield, 1996), 2.5% cycloserine, 0.4% sulfamethoxazole, 0.4% trimethoprim and 100 IU/L of thymidine phosphorylase (Sigma-Aldrich Co.;St. Louis, MO). MMT agar was prepared as previously described for CBI agar, but without the addition of antibiotics (Austin and Blanchfield, 1996).

#### 2. Sample preparation and inoculation

Crumpets, a high-moisture bakery product ( $a_w$  0.99, pH 6.5), were prepared, and then were inoculated with 90  $\mu$ L of a composite inoculum (5.6 x 10<sup>5</sup> spores/mL) to provide a final inoculum level of 500 spores/g of

C. botulinum, and packaged in high gas barrier bags in air or under modified atmospheres as described previously by Daifas et al. (1999b). Crumpets were sampled after three- and five-days storage at ambient temperature. On sampling days, appropriate decimal dilutions of homogenates of inoculated and uninoculated crumpets were prepared using 0.1% peptone water. Aliquots (0.1-mL) of appropriate decimal dilutions were then spread plated, in duplicate, on BSM and CBI agar plates until dry. In addition, on day one, decimal dilutions of the spore suspension were similarly plated on BSM, MMT, and CBI agar. Following spreading, plates were incubated anaerobically in an atmosphere of 10% H<sub>2</sub>, 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, and 80% N<sub>2</sub> at 35°C and were checked for growth at 18, 24, 36, 48 and 72 hours. Lipase-positive colonies on plates were identified and enumerated presumptively, as C. botulinum. Representative presumptive colonies of C. botulinum were sub-cultured and grown anaerobically in cooked meat medium (Austin and Blanchfield, 1996). All supernatants were tested by the mouse bioassay for confirmation of botulinum neurotoxin.

#### 3. Detection of neurotoxin

A modification of the AOAC mouse bioassay (Austin and Blanchfield, 1996) was used. Culture supernatants (0.5-mL) were injected intraperitoneally into each of two mice (20- to 28-g; Charles River, QC). Mice were

A-4

observed for up to 72 hours for typical signs of botulism including ruffled fur, pinched waist, laboured breathing, limb paresis and general paralysis. Mice showing severe distress were euthanised by asphyxiation with CO<sub>2</sub> according to Health Canada Animal Care Committee guidelines. Neutralization of BoNT was performed on randomly selected representative positive samples using antisera (Connaught Laboratories; North York, ON) to BoNTs to confirm that toxicity was due to BoNT as described previously by Austin et al. (1998).

#### **III. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### 1. Recovery of C. botulinum from spore inoculum

When decimal dilutions of the initial inoculum (5.6 x  $10^5$  spores/mL) were plated on BSM, MMT or CBI agar, there was no significant difference (*P*<0.05) in the numbers of lipase-positive colonies recovered from each medium (Table A-1). Equivalent recovery of *C. botulinum* using these three media has been reported previously (Dezfulian et al., 1981; Mills et al., 1985; Glasby and Hatheway, 1985). Furthermore, colony morphology of *C. botulinum* was similar on all media. However, *C. botulinum* colonies were larger and more elevated and had a more prominent (i.e., larger) lipase zone on MMT and CBI agar compared to plates of BSM.

#### 2. Recovery of C. botulinum from crumpets

Equivalent numbers of *C. botulinum* colonies were recovered from inoculated crumpets (500 spores/g) on both BSM and CBI agar (Table A-2). On BSM, colonies of *C. botulinum* were visible after 18 hours with lipase activity evident at 24 hours, while growth and lipase activity were only visible on CBI agar after 24 and 36 hours respectively. Again, *C. botulinum* colonies were larger and more elevated on CBI agar TABLE A-1. *Recovery*<sup>a</sup> of Clostridium botulinum (5.6 x 10<sup>5</sup>/mL) from modified McClung Toabe (MMT) agar, Clostridium botulinum isolation (CBI) agar and botulinum selective medium (BSM)

| MMT agar     | CBI agar     | BSM          |
|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| (log CFU/mL) | (log CFU/mL) | (log CFU/mL) |
| 3.86         | 3.89         | 3.90         |

<sup>a</sup> Average of 12 replicate plates

Standard deviation (%): MMT 31%; CBI 25%; BSM 29%

TABLE A-2. Comparison of Clostridium botulinum isolation (CBI) agar and botulinum selective medium (BSM) for enumeration of C. botulinum from crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g C. botulinum types A and proteolytic B

| Storage<br>Atmosphere <sup>1</sup> | Incubation<br>time (days) | CBI<br>(log CFU/g) | BSM<br>(log CFU/g) |
|------------------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|
| A                                  | 3                         | 2.5                | 2.7                |
| А                                  | 3                         | 2.8                | 2.7                |
| В                                  | 3                         | 2.9                | 2.8                |
| В                                  | 3                         | 2.9                | 2.8                |
| С                                  | 3                         | 2.8                | 3.0                |
| С                                  | 3                         | 4.5                | 3.0                |
| A                                  | 5                         | 6.2                | 6.3                |
| А                                  | 5                         | 6.4                | 6.3                |
| В                                  | 5                         | 6.3                | 6.3                |
| В                                  | 5                         | 5.4                | 5.4                |
| C                                  | 5                         | 6.3                | 6.3                |
| С                                  | 5                         | 6.5                | 6.4                |

<sup>a</sup> Atmospheres: A, air; B, oxygen absorbent; C, 60:40 CO<sub>2</sub>:N<sub>2</sub> (all crumpets stored in high barrier bags at 25°C)

compared to plates of BSM. Isolated lipase-positive colonies from BSM and CBI agar were grown on MMT agar, transferred to cooked meat medium (CMM) and confirmed as *C. botulinum* using the mouse bioassay as described by Austin and Blanchfield (1996).

No endogenous C. botulinum were recovered from uninoculated crumpets. Occasionally, lipase-positive colonies, uncharacteristic of the strains of C. botulinum used in this study, were isolated from both inoculated and uninoculated crumpets plated on BSM or CBI agar. BSM has been shown to suppress background microflora in clinical samples due to the incorporation of thymidine phosphorylase which enhances the antimicrobial action of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (Mills et al., 1985). However, no difference in the suppression of background crumpet microflora was observed in this study (results not shown). Furthermore, these uncharacteristic, smaller lipase-positive colonies had "weaker" lipase activity (i.e., smaller and less opalescent lipase zones). In addition to being lipase-positive and non-toxic, all isolates were gram-positive, lecithinase-negative, spore-forming, motile rods. All isolates were strict anaerobes, growing preferentially at 37°C compared to 25°C. Dezfulian et al. (1981) reported that five out of 35 other species (i.e., not C. botulinum) of clostridia tested grew on CBI agar. Of these clostridia, only C. sporogenes, which phenotypically resembles C. botulinum, is lipase-positive. Although it is likely that the observed lipase-positive colonies were C. sporogenes, the isolates were distinguishable on the

A-9

basis of morphology and lipase activity patterns (as previously described) from the strains of *C. botulinum* used in this study. However, since *C. sporogenes* and *C. botulinum* are generally indistinguishble from each other on selective media, culture supernatants of isolates grown in CMM were tested for neurotoxin using the mouse bioassay. All supernatants of the cultures of the uncharacteristic lipase-positive isolates were negative for neurotoxin. *C. sporogenes* has been associated with flour and milk (ingredients used in preparation of crumpets) and, in addition, has been isolated from crumpets and canned quick-breads (Smith, 1982; Aramouni et al., 1994). However, the non-toxic lipase-positive colonies isolated from the crumpets in this study were <1% of the total lipase-positive colonies enumerated.

In summary, selective and differential media (CBI agar and BSM) enabled isolation of presumptive *C. botulinum* from inoculated crumpets. While these media were developed for the isolation of C. *botulinum* from clinical samples, there are few reports of their use with food. Cantoni et al. (1998) reported that CBI agar resulted in better recovery of *C. botulinum* type A from cheese than either royal clostridial agar (RCA), or sulfite cycloserine (TSC) agar. However, in the present study, *Clostrid-ium botulinum* isolation (CBI) agar and BSM were equivalent in their recovery of *C. botulinum* and exhibited similar background microflora from inoculated crumpets. Furthermore, although growth of *C. botulinum* 

A-10

was visible earlier with BSM, enumeration was easier with CBI agar since colonies of *C. botulinum* were larger and more elevated with CBI agar.

#### **IV. CONCLUSION**

Based on these results, CBI would be the preferred medium of choice for the isolation of presumptive colonies of *C. botulinum* in challenge studies with high-moisture bakery products.

*Clostridium botulinum* isolation (CBI) agar has been used in challenge studies to presumptively enumerate *C. botulinum*. Lyver et al. (1998) used this medium to enumerate non-proteolytic *C. botulinum* in inoculated value added surimi shrimp nuggets. Daifas et al. (1999a, b) also sucessfully used this medium to monitor growth of proteolytic strains of *C. botulinum* in challenge studies with high-moisture bakery products. However, it cannot be assumed, even in challenge studies, that all lipase-positive, lecithinase-negative colonies are proteolytic *C. botulinum*. Confirmation of *C. botulinum* can be achieved by using an assay method capable of detecting botulinum neurotoxin. While this is usually achieved using the mouse bioassay, rapid immuno-chemical methods such as the ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup> are being developed. However, prior to being used as an alternative to the mouse bioassay, such methods must be compared to the standard bioassay.

A-12

# APPENDIX B. COMPARISON OF TWO ASSAY METHODS FOR DETECTION OF BOTULINUM NEUROTOXIN IN CHALLENGE STUDIES WITH BAKERY PRODUCTS

#### **I. INTRODUCTION**

Growth of and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum* in foods packaged under modified atmospheres is of major food safety concern. The botulinum neurotoxins (BoNTs) are zinc endopeptidases and clostridia producing BoNTs can be divided on the basis of the antigenic specificity of their neurotoxins, into seven types A through G and four sub-types, A-b, B-a, A-f, and B-f. Alternatively, *C. botulinum* can be classified on the basis of physiologic and nucleic acid relatedness into four distinct groups–I through IV (Austin, 2001). Foodborne botulism is associated with proteolytic strains of Group I and non-proteolytic strains of Group II.

Growth of Group I strains of *C. botulinum* producing BoNT/A or B are of concern in bakery products since, if spores are present in the raw ingredients, they will readily survive baking (Daifas et al., 1999a, b). In bakery products such as crumpets that have the potential to support growth and neurotoxin production by *C. botulinum*, detection of the neurotoxin is necessary in order to ensure product safety. Selective media may be useful for isolating *C. botulinum* from foods or for monitoring its growth in challenge studies. However, since the neurotoxin produced by this pathogen is potent,

it is generally necessary to detect the neurotoxin itself. The standard method for detecting BoNTs is the AOAC-approved mouse bioassay (AOAC, 1995) which has a sensitivity of approximately 10 pg/mL neurotoxin. However, this method has several disadvantages. It is time consuming, taking from 3 to 6 days, and requires many mice. Furthermore, the method is not entirely specific for BoNT and positive samples must be confirmed by neutralization with antisera to BoNTs. There is also increasing public pressure about the use of *in vivo* tests, particularly those requiring the sacrificing of animals.

One alternative approach to the mouse bioassay for the detection of BoNT is the ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup> (Elcatech, Inc.; Salem, NC). This method couples an enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay, which relies on the antigenic specificity of Groups I and II neurotoxins, to an enzyme-linked coagulation based amplification step. This amplified ELISA has reportedly achieved equivalent sensitivity to the mouse bioassay for BoNT/E in challenge studies with *C. botulinum* type E with fish (Roman et al., 1994; Reddy et al., 1997). However, the use of the ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup> for the detection of BoNT/A and B in food has not been reported.

Therefore, the objectives of this study were to evaluate the ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup> as an alternative method to the mouse bioassay for the detection of BoNT/A and B in crumpets inoculated with spores of proteolytic *C. botulinum*.

#### **II. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 1. Sample preparation

Fifty-eight filter sterilized ([0.45-μm]; Acrodisc, Gelman Sciences; Ann Arbor, MI) extracts were used in this study. Forty-two extracts were from crumpets that had been inoculated with 500 spores/g of a composite inoculum of *C. botulinum* (A6, 17A, 62A, CK2A, MRB, 1B1-B, and 13983IIB), while the remaining 16 crumpet extracts were from uninoculated control crumpets. All extracts were stored at 4°C for a maximum of ten days prior to being tested as a group. Extracts were analysed using i) the mouse bioassay, and ii) the ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup> amplified immunosorbant assay using both antibodies specific for BoNT/A and B.

#### 2. Detection of neurotoxin using the ELISA-ELCA®

BoNT was assayed for using an enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay coupled to an enzyme-linked coagulation assay (ELISA-ELCA®) according to the manufacturer's instructions (Elcatech, Inc.; Winston-Salem, NC). The assay methodology and reactions, which have been described in detail (Doellgast, 1987; Doellgast et al., 1993, 1994), are based on the solid- phase capture of the BoNT and the subsequent amplification of its detection using enzymes of the blood clotting cascade. At the end of the amplification step, botulinal neurotoxin was detected as absorbance at 550 nm ( $A_{550-nm}$ ) with simultaneous subtraction of  $A_{450-nm}$  using a microplate reader (model ELx800 running KC-Jr. software, Bio-tek; Summit, NJ). Results were positive when  $A_{550-450-nm}$  was twice the  $A_{550-450-nm}$  of the background.

Positive controls of pure BoNT (Elcatech) in gelatine phosphate buffer and negative controls of gelatine phosphate buffer only, in triplicate, were included with every plate.

#### a. Optimization of assay

The assay was optimized for both sensitivity and reproducibility. Sensitivity was optimized by varying the amplification (enzyme-linked coagulation assay [ELCA]) and detection incubation times as per manufacturer's recommendation. As shown in Table B-1, the first ELCA step (thrombin formation) was varied from 25 to 45 minutes, in increments of 5 minutes, while the second ELCA step (fibrin formation) was arrested after either 30 or 60 minutes. Following fibrin formation, the A<sub>550-450-nm</sub> was read at 10-minute increments (up to 60 minutes) to determine the optimum timing for the detection step (hydrolysis of phenolphthalein monophosphate). The precision of the method was estimated by assaying plates of triplicate dilution series of BoNT/A and B ranging from 2,000 to 0 pg/mL prepared as

described above. Results were averaged and the standard deviation and coefficient of variation calculated.

#### 3. Detection of neurotoxin using mouse bioassay

A modification of the AOAC mouse bioassay (Austin and Blanchfield, 1996) was used. Filter-sterilized crumpet extracts (0.5-mL) were injected intraperitoneally into each of two mice (20- to 28-g; Charles River, QC). Mice were observed for up to 72 hours for typical signs of botulism including ruffled fur, pinched waist, laboured breathing, limb paresis and general paralysis. Mice showing severe distress were euthanised by asphyxiation with CO<sub>2</sub> according to Health Canada Animal Care Committee guidelines. Neutralization of BoNT was performed on randomly selected representative positive samples using antisera (Connaught Laboratories; North York, ON) to BoNTs to confirm that toxicity was due to BoNT as described previously by Austin et al. (1998).

#### 4. Statistical analyses

The presumptive results of the ELISA-ELCA® were compared to the modified mouse bioassay method using the NcNemar statistic  $\chi^2 = \frac{(|a-b|-1)^2}{a+b}$  (Steel and Torrie, 1980) where a and b are the number of positive and negative results of the two assays as indicated:

|             |     | Mouse bioassay |   |  |  |
|-------------|-----|----------------|---|--|--|
|             |     | +              | - |  |  |
| ELISA-ELCA® | + [ | С              | b |  |  |
|             | -   | а              | d |  |  |

The methods were significantly different when  $\chi^{2}$ > 3.84 (*P* <0.05). Agreement between methods was calculated as  $(\frac{c+d}{a+b+c+d})$  (McClure, 1990) where a, b, c, d are the number of positive and negative results of both methods as previously indicated. Specificity was calculated as the proportion of extracts not containing BoNT which tested negative for neurotoxin. All uninoculated crumpet extracts were assigned a negative sample status since decimal dilutions of homogenized crumpets plated on *Clostridium botulinum* isolation (CBI) agar (Dezfulian et al., 1981) had not previously resulted in the recovery of any lipase-positive colonies characteristic of *C. botulinum* (Daifas et al., 1999b). The false-positive rate was determined as [1 - specificity] (McClure, 1990).

#### **III. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### 1. Effect of ELCA incubation time on sensitivity

amplification (ELCA) incubation The optimized times were determined to be 40 minutes for the first ELCA step (thrombin formation), 60 minutes for the second ELCA step (fibrin formation) and 20 minutes for hydrolysis of phenolphthalein monophosphate ([40 + 60 + 20] [Table B-1]). Varying incubation times by as little as five minutes influenced the sensitivity of the assay. It was critical to adhere to the optimized times and protocol temperature since this assay depends on immunochemical and enzymatic reactions characterized by affinity and avidity. Using these optimized conditions, standard curves of purified neurotoxins A and B were prepared (Figure B-1). The resulting sensitivity, under optimum conditions, was < 12.3 pg/mL for BoNT/A and 12.3 pg/mL for BoNT/B (Table B-1). However, Doellgast et al. (1993), using the ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup>, reported a greater sensitivity-detecting 5 to 10 pg/mL of neurotoxin. Nevertheless, the sensitivity observed in this study was similar to that of the mouse bioassay which can detect approximately 10 pg/mL or <5 MLD<sub>50</sub>/mL of purified BoNT (Kautter et al., 1984; Fernández and Ciccarelli, 1999).

Between and within plate reproducibility was determined by following the recommended timed steps supplied with the ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup> kit. Coefficients of variation ranged from 10% to 26%, with the highest

| TABLE B-1. Effect of varying each enzyme-linked coagulation assay      |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| (ELCA) step on the limit of detection for botulinum neurotoxin types A |
| and B                                                                  |

| Time (minutes) of L               |    | Limit of detection | Limit of detection (pg/mL) |      |  |  |
|-----------------------------------|----|--------------------|----------------------------|------|--|--|
| ELCA incubation steps * BoNT type |    | type               |                            |      |  |  |
|                                   |    | 111                | A                          | В    |  |  |
| 25                                | 30 | 30                 | 37                         | 111  |  |  |
| 25                                | 30 | 60                 | 111                        | 333  |  |  |
| 35                                | 60 | 10                 | >37                        | 20.8 |  |  |
| 40                                | 60 | 10                 | 20.8                       | 31.3 |  |  |
| 45                                | 60 | 10                 | >37                        | >37  |  |  |
| 35                                | 60 | 20                 | 13.9                       | 18.5 |  |  |
| 40                                | 60 | 20                 | <12.3                      | 12.3 |  |  |
| 45                                | 60 | 20                 | >37                        | >37  |  |  |
| 35                                | 60 | 30                 | <12.3                      | 37   |  |  |
| 40                                | 60 | 30                 | >37                        | >37  |  |  |
| 45                                | 60 | 30                 | >37                        | >37  |  |  |

\*ELCA incubation steps: I, thrombin formation; II, fibrin formation; and III, hydrolysis of monophosphase-phenolphthalein



FIGURE B-1. Standard curve using enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay-enzyme linked coagulation assay (ELISA-ELCA®) specific for type A ( $\star$ ) and type B ( $\phi$ ) botulinum neurotoxin

values occurring near the limits of detection (results not shown). Similar results were observed for between plate reproducibility (results not shown).

#### 2. Inoculated samples

No significant ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) difference was observed between the mouse bioassay and the amplified immunosorbant assay (using anti-BoNT/A or B antibody) for the detection of botulinum neurotoxin in inoculated crumpets. Agreement between both methods was 95% when antibody specific for BoNT/A was used, and was 88% when antibody specific for BoNT/B was used (Table B- 2). The number of extracts that tested positive by either method generally increased with storage time of crumpets (Figure B-2). In the original challenge studies, counts of presumptive *C. botulinum* (CFU/g), using CBI agar, increased over seven days (Daifas et al., 1999b). It is probable that the amount of BoNT in the extracts testing positive also increased. On each day, the number of extracts testing positive by the immunoassay was as great as, or greater than, by the mouse bioassay.

For both serotypes, BoNT was detected with the ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup> as early as, or earlier than, with the mouse bioassay. Neurotoxin was first detected at day 3 by the immunoassay specific for BoNT/A and at day 4

TABLE B-2. Comparison of mouse bioassay and ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup>\* methods for detection of botulinum neurotoxin in crumpets inoculated with 500 spores/g C. botulinum types A and proteolytic B and stored at 25°C

| ELISA-<br>ELCA<br>result | Mouse I<br>res | bioassay<br>sult<br>oculated o | Methods<br>equivalent<br>(α=0.05)<br>crumpets | Agreement | ELISA-<br>ELCA<br>result | A- Mouse bioassay<br>A<br>It<br>Uninoculated |    | Methods<br>equivalent<br>(α=0.05)<br>crumpets | Agreement |
|--------------------------|----------------|--------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|-----------|--------------------------|----------------------------------------------|----|-----------------------------------------------|-----------|
| BoNT/A                   | ÷              | -                              |                                               | ·         | BoNT/A                   | +                                            | -  |                                               |           |
| +                        | 20             | 2                              |                                               |           | +                        | 0                                            | 0  |                                               |           |
| -                        | 0              | 20                             | yes                                           | 0.95      | -                        | 0                                            | 16 | yes                                           | 1         |
|                          | L              |                                | -                                             |           |                          |                                              | L  | 1                                             |           |
| BoNT/B                   | +              | -                              |                                               |           | BoNT/B                   | +                                            | -  |                                               |           |
| +                        | 17             | 2                              |                                               |           | +                        | 0                                            | 12 |                                               |           |
| -                        | 3              | 20                             | yes                                           | 0.88      | -                        | 0                                            | 4  | no                                            | 0.25      |

\* Enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay-enzyme-linked coagulation assay (Elcatec)

\*\* Agreement is proportion of results which agree



Time (days)

FIGURE B-2. Detection of BoNT by the mouse bioassay, ( ) the immunoassay specific for BoNT/A (), or BoNT/B ()

by both the immunoassay specific for BoNT/B and the mouse bioassay (Figure B-2). This may be attributed to greater sensitivity of the immunosorbant assay for BoNT/A or may be attributed to a decreased specificity of the immunosorbant assay, i.e., a false-positive result. Since extracts from crumpets that had been inoculated with *C. botulinum* were used, the amount of BoNT in the extracts was not known.

One advantage of ELISA assays is that since neurotoxin type specific antibodies are used, the neurotoxin serotype can be easily determined. This offers an advantage over the bioassay when "cocktail spore inoculums" of multiple serotype strains are used in challenge testing. Neurotoxin typing, using the mouse bioassay, requires as many as 30 mice and additional time (up to three more days) (AOAC, 1995). In this study, BoNT/A and B were detected, indicating that strains of both proteolytic types of *C. botulinum* had grown and produced neurotoxin in inoculated crumpets.

However, one disadvantage of ELISA techniques is that strain specific variation in reactivity has been reported. Neurotoxins produced by different strains of *C. botulinum* within the same neurotoxin serotype can have different primary structures (Cordoba et al., 1995) and therefore can have anti-genic variation. ELISAs which use a single monoclonal antibody as a solid-phase capture system may be prone to false-negative results due to antigentic variation within serotypes (Hallis et al., 1996). Although Notermans et al. (1984) observed cross-reactivity between proteolytic and non-proteolytic strains of

*C. botulinum*, Doellgast et al. (1993) reported a non-proteolytic B strain having weak reactivity with the ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup>.

#### 3. Uninoculated samples

When the mouse bioassay was compared to the amplified ELISA using antibody specific for BoNT/A, there was no significant difference ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) between methods. Indeed, the methods agreed 100% of the time, with neither method detecting botulinum neurotoxin in uninoculated samples (Table B -3).

However, when the bioassay was compared to the immunoassay using anti-BoNT/B antibody, agreement between methods was only 25%, and thus, in this instance, the methods were significantly different ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) (Table B-2). The false positive rate of the amplified ELISA using antibody for BoNT/B was 0.75. It could be assumed that uninoculated control crumpets contained no endogenous spores since no lipase-positive colonies, characteristic of *C. botulinum*, were recovered from these crumpets (Daifas et al., 1999b). Furthermore, in all studies to date, no uninoculated control crumpets that were stored under conditions conducive to growth have ever tested positive for botulinum neurotoxin using the mouse bioassay (Daifas et al., 1999a, b).

All positive controls of pure BoNT tested positive while all negative controls of gelatine phosphate buffer tested negative. Since all samples (from uninoculated crumpets) that tested positive by the ELISA-ELCA® were negative by the mouse bioassay, an interfering substance capable of cross-reacting with

BoNT/B antibody may have caused the observed false-positive results. The casein blocking agent and washing protocol supplied with the test kit are designed to eliminate all non-specific proteases. However, extracts were from uninoculated crumpets that had been stored for six to seven days at ambient temperature and were close to the end of their shelf-life. Microbiological analysis of these crumpets showed high counts of aerobic organisms, lactic acid bacteria, yeasts and Bacillus spp. (results not shown). It is possible that other neurotoxins or proteins originating either from these spoilage microorganisms, or from chemical reactions, may have reacted non-specifically, thereby resulting in false-positive results. Widely found in plants including wheat (Triticum vulgaris), and in some bacteria (Pusztai and Bardocz, 1996), lectins are heat stable and bacterial resistant proteins that bind specifically with sugar residues of polysaccharides, glycoproteins, or glycolipids. Notermans and Nagel (1989) hypothesised that proteins such as lectins, could cross-link with anti-BoNT antibodies. Since lectins are structurally similar to BoNT (Lacy et al., 1998), and are competitive antagonists of BoNT (Bakry et al., 1991) they could presumably cross-link the carbohydrate residues on the antiBoNT and BoNT antibody. The false positive rate (0.75) calculated in this study was for BoNT/B extracts from uninoculated crumpets only. It was not possible to calculate a false positive rate for inoculated crumpets since they were inoculated with C. botulinum, and thus, absence of growth and neurotoxin production could not be predicted. However, although the false positive rate could not be calculated for inoculated crumpets, there was no evidence of inconsistent or unusual

positive results. Inoculated crumpets were sampled over time. At days 1 and 2, all extracts were negative for both methods. On day 3, only one of six extracts was positive using the immunosorbant assay specific for BoNT/A while all extracts were negative using either the mouse bioassay or the amplified ELISA specific for BoNT/B (Figure B-2). These results suggest that prior to day 4, *C. botulinum* had not produced sufficient neurotoxin for detection. Nevertheless, these results are incongruent with the false-positive results observed for uninoculated crumpets. It is possible, however, that the activity or avidity of an interfering substance could have increased as the indirect result of different microbiological activity in the control and inoculated crumpets.

#### **IV. CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, this study has shown that the ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup>, using antibody specific for either type A or B botulinum neurotoxin, was statistically equivalent to the mouse bioassay. However, the false-positive rate (0.75) observed using the ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup> specific for BoNT/B makes the immunoassay, at this time, unacceptable for challenge testing or screening of bakery products for *C. botulinum*, especially with proteolytic *C. botulinum* type B. Further studies are required to determine the factors responsible for the false-positive results observed in this study from uninoculated control crumpets in order to optimize the reproducibility and accuracy of the ELISA-ELCA<sup>®</sup>.

I <u>bankes P Smith</u> give my permission to Daphne Phillips (Daifas) and to McGill University to reproduce the following published papers, of which I am a co-author as part of the thesis entitled "Safety studies with proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum* in high-moisture bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres" submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research of McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctorate of Philosophy.

- Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, B. Cadieux, G. Sanders, and J. W. Austin. 2002. Effect of ethanol on the growth of *Clostridium botulinum*. J. Food Prot. (Accepted for publication)
- 2. Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, and W. El-Khoury. 2002. Are minimally processed, high moisture bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres a botulism risk? Food Science Central. (In press).
- **3.** Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, W. El-Khoury, A. A. El-Khoury, and J. Koukoutsis. 2002. Shelf life and safety concerns of minimally processed bakery products. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutrit. (In press).
- **4.** Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, I. Tarte, and W. El-Khoury. 2002. Microbial safety of bakery products. *In* J. Novak, G. M. Sapers, and V. K. Junega (eds.). Safety of minimally processed foods. Technomic Publishing Co. Inc., Lancaster, PA. (In press).
- 5. Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, W. El-Khoury, and J. Koutkousis. 2002. Food borne illnesses associated with bakery products. American Institute of Baking. Volume XXIV (4).
- 6. Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, I. Tarte, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 2000. Effect of ethanol vapor on growth and toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in a high moisture bakery product. J. Food Safety. 20:113-127.
- Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 1999. Effect of pH and CO<sub>2</sub> on growth of *Clostridium botulinum* in English style crumpets packaged under modified atmosphere. J. Food Prot. 62:1157-1161.
- 8. Daifas, D. P., **J. P. Smith**, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 1999. Challenge studies with *Clostridium botulinum* in bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres. Food Austral. 51:507-511.
- 9. Daifas, D. P., **J. P. Smith**, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 1999. Growth and toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in English-style crumpets packaged under modified atmospheres. J. Food Prot. 62:349-355.

31 Detaber, 2002

Signature

- (

Date

I <u>W. El-Khoury</u> give my permission to Daphne Phillips (Daitas) and to McGill University to reproduce as part of the thesis entitled "Safety studies with proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum* in high-moisture bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres" submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research of McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctorate of Philosophy, the following published papers, of which I am a co-author.

- 1. Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, and W. El-Khoury. 2002. Are minimally processed, high moisture bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres a botulism risk? Food Science Central. (In press).
- Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, W. El-Khoury, A. A. El-Khoury, and J. Koukoutsis. 2002. Shelf life and safety concerns of minimally processed bakery products. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutrit. (In press).
- 3. Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, I. Tarte, and W. El-Khoury. 2002. Microbial safety of bakery products. *in* J. Novak, G. M. Sapers, and V. K. Junega (eds.). Safety of minimally processed foods. Technomic Publishing Co. Inc., Lancaster, PA. (In press).
- 4. Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, W. El-Khoury, and J. Koutkousis. 2002. Food borne illnesses associated with bakery products. American Institute of Baking. Volume XXIV (4).

OCTOBER 30, 2002

Signature

Date

OCT 31 '02 13:11

 $\triangleleft$ 

6139410280 PAGE.002

I <u>Brigitte Cadieux</u> give my permission to Daphne Phillips (Daifas) and to McGill University to reproduce as part of the thesis entitled "Safety studies with proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum* in high-moisture bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres" submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research of McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctorate of Philosophy, the following published papers, of which I am a co-author:

Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, **B. Cadieux**, G. Sanders, and J. W. Austin. 2002. Effect of ethanol on the growth of *Clostridium botulinum*. J. Food Prot. (Accepted for publication)

Oct 31/02 Date

Signature

I John Austin give my permission to Daphne Phillips (Daifas) and to McGill University to reproduce as part of the thesis entitled "Safety studies with proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum* in high-moisture bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres" submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research of McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctorate of Philosophy, the following published papers, of which I am a co-author:

- Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, B. Cadieux, G. Sanders, and J. W. Austin. 2002. Effect of ethanol on the growth of *Clostridium botulinum*. J. Food Prot. (Accepted for publication)
- 2. Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, I. Tarte, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 2000. Effect of ethanol vapor on growth and toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in a high moisture bakery product. J. Food Safety. 20:113-127.
- Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 1999. Effect of pH and CO<sub>2</sub> on growth of *Clostridium botulinum* in English style crumpets packaged under modified atmosphere. J. Food Prot. 62:1157-1161.
- 4. Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, and J. W. Austin. 1999. Challenge studies with *Clostridium botulinum* in bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres. Food Austral. 51:507-511.
- 5. Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Bianchfield, and J. W. Austin. 1999. Growth and toxin production by *Clostridium botulinum* in English-style crumpets packaged under modified atmospheres. J. Food Prot. 62:349-355.

Sous of redokad

Signature

Date

I <u>Greg Sanders</u> give my permission to Daphne Phillips (Daifas) and to McGill University to reproduce as part of the thesis entitled "Safety studies with proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum* in high-moisture bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres" submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research of McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctorate of Philosophy, the following published papers, of which I am a co-author:

Daifas, D. P., J. P. Smith, B. Blanchfield, B. Cadieux, G. Sanders, and J. W. Austin. 2002. Effect of ethanol on the growth of *Clostridium botulinum*. J. Food Prot. (Accepted for publication)

Signature

123455430 B B C B E B C S I

Signature

OCT 30, 02 15:03

#### **CO-AUTHOR WAIVER FORM**

I John Koukoutsis give my permission to Daphne Phillips (Daifas) and to McGIII University to reproduce as part of the thesis entitled "Safety studies with proteolytic *Clostridium botulinum* in high-molsture bakery products packaged under modified atmospheres" submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research of McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctorate of Philosophy, the following published papers, of which I am a co-author:

- Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, W. El-Khoury, A. A. El-Khoury, and J. Koukoutsis. 2002. Shelf life and safety concerns of minimally processed bakery products. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutrit. (In press).
- Smith, J. P., D. P. Daifas, W. El-Khoury, and J. Koutkousis. 2002. Food borne illnesses associated with bakery products. American Institute of Baking. Volume XXIV (4).

30-10-2002

Date